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Ch. Hogue: We will open the hearing on SB 2279. 

Sen. C. Nelson: Sponsor, support (see attached #1  ). I also have a copy of 
Tom Fiebiger's testimony (he was not present). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support of SB 2279. 

Rep. Joshua Boschee: Sponsor, support (see attached #2). 

Ch. Hogue: You indicated that the Dept of Labor doesn't have any data on 
number of complaints. Is there an authoritative source that would tell us how 
many gay and lesbian citizens we have in ND? 

Rep. Joshua Boschee: The most accurate results that we could pull from 
was the 2010 census. Fewer than 3°/o of those identified as lg. 

Ch. Hogue: Three percent of what number. 

Rep. Joshua Boschee: Of the overall state population that are self-identified. 
There are a number of people who don't report that data accurately. 

Sen. Luick: Can you give me an example of what you were seeing or is the 
discrimination. 

Rep. Joshua Boschee: I referred to two different instances in my testimony. 
Two years ago I know a college student at NDSU, who was active in student 
leadership and one of those organizations was the gay/straight alliance; which 
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is a good group at NDSU. When the employer found out that he was actually 
part of a gay/straight alliance, they just fired him based on that. The student 
was fired for that reason. He had no recourse. Since there isn't recourse with 
the Dept. of Labor, because it isn't in code currently. The second example 
was, in visiting with a physician at Essentia Health in Fargo, he was recruiting 
nurse practitioners and one of the nurse practitioner is a lesbian woman who 
was moving to Fargo with her partner. In one instance they were looking for a 
rental, once the landlord found out that she had a same sex partner that would 
be living with her, the option to rent was no longer available. Those are 
anecdotal stories and because those individuals couldn't go to the Dept of 
Labor, we aren't able to verify the accuracy of that, if it was discriminatory or 
not. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Rep. Kylie Oversen: Support. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Peg Haug, citizen: Support. I was an employee of the Dept of Labor in 2013. 
I worked there for four years and I fielded thousands of phone calls. At an 
EEOC meeting prior to that date, they said that the federal government was 
going to look at sexual orientation under the protected category of sex. She 
was from Williston and working for a business with 11  employees. She was 
not eligible under the federal law because they have to have 15 employees. 
couldn't help her. 

Ch. Hogue: Rep. Boschee says that the Dept doesn't track complaints from g 
or I complainants. Can you give us any idea how many complaints that the 
dept. received, even though you don't officially track them. 

Peg Haug: I didn't have access to that. I left the Dept. of 2013. The Labor 
Commissioner is here, he might have more information. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Jared Kellerman, citizen: Support (see attached #3). 

Ch. Hogue: You mentioned teaching Sunday School at your Lutheran church. 
This bill would allow your church to prevent you from teaching because of your 
sexual orientation. Do you support that? 
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Jared Kellerman: As an individual, no. I believe everyone has a right to their 
own beliefs; my personal belief is that someone else's impinge on or impede 
my own rights to live my life the way I want. 

Ch. Hogue: If your local church said, we're exempted under this bill, and we 
don't want you teaching our young children, you'd be okay with that. 

Jared Kellerman: You can't win everything. I support this bill, but I may not 
agree with that part of the bill that exempts religious organizations. I respect 
people's rights to have their own rights, I guess. 

Ch. Hogue: Was that an issue in your situation or did you not identify yourself 
as gay. 

Jared Kellerman: I wasn't able to identify myself. I lived in an environment of 
silence; there wasn't any conversation about it and when it was talked about it 
was in a Biblical sense of sin. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Jeff Hoverson, citizen: I am against this bill, for two reasons that have 
already been given on the supportive side. One is the whole issue of love and 
bullying. It is unfortunate but it doesn't have anything to do with this bill. I am 
against bullying. That's a personal issue. Another thing that is very offensive 
to me is that when it get framed in a context of being the same as Native 
Americans and the rights that they fought for. I oppose it for those two 
reasons. I have friends that have chosen the gay lifestyle. I don't bully them 
but I have expressed my view in those circles and I've been bullied. It goes 
both ways. I don't think this is a bill about bullying and when it's made about 
bullying, the problem is in the script that is being written. We have two women 
who have chosen the homosexual lifestyle that come to our church and sit in 
the front row and every time they come we give each other a big hug and 
there is a lot of love between us. There isn't bullying. A lot of North Dakotans 
don't feel comfortable that's how it is being presented that we need to have 
this law because of the bullying; as if it's going to do anything about that issue. 
The other concern that was expressed is regarding the business of attraction. 
"Are we going to codify that into law" just because I have an attraction for 
another man doesn't mean that I have to identify myself as homosexual any 
more than if I have an attraction for more women than just my wife. Does that 
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mean that I should identify myself as an adulterer and that I should fight for 
rights; I have the right to have three wives, that every business and every 
rental should accept that and hire me or let me live in their rental facility 
because I have my rights. I think once we go there we are stepping away 
from what makes, not only this state but our country exceptional is that all of 
these people do have their rights already, just like I do. You have the right to 
be married in the same way I can't marry my sister, neither can you, we have 
equal rights. We have the right to get married in the same way. Once we 
start to legislate, we start to step away from what makes America and North 
Dakota exceptional and that is this; private property is sacred. Your rights 
stop at my driveway. You don't have the right to cross the boundary. Your 
rights stop at, whether it's my business or my facility, whatever is mine, we 
respect that and what's yours is yours. I think North Dakota has already done 
a good job of doing that already. A lot of North Dakotans are not buying these 
arguments that we have to raise this to the level of gender and race just 
because someone has an attraction. If they want to identify themselves as 
homosexuals, they have to live with their attractions. I have to live with the 
circumstances where I have to say "no". I have an attraction to chocolate; it's 
quite unhealthy for me, but I have to live with it. I can't tell everyone else that 
they have to accept that. I cannot cross their boundaries. 

Sen. Grabinger: You mentioned that you have friends, and you talk about 
bullying; my understanding of this law would address this. If you, as a 
property owner or an employer and one of your employees is homosexual, do 
you think that that's not bullying if you fire them because you found out that 
they were homosexual or that you're not going to rent an apartment because 
you found out that they have a partner. 

Jeff Hoverson: That's what I was getting at when I said "would it be any 
different if I had three wives" or I love my cat or dog. That might be an 
extreme example but it's making a point that I wouldn't consider that bullying. 
In this country, we hold our private property as sacred. I may disagree with 
your reasoning for why you were discriminating against me, but that's your 
right and I have the right too. I think what is actually going to happen is that it 
is going to backfire. Sooner or later there's going to be someone who has 
gotten their right to cross your boundary and all of a sudden someone else is 
going to want to cross their boundary. They are going to say I don't want you 
to live in my basement if you have three wives or if you're this or that. It cuts 
both ways. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony. 
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Ken Connelly, Legal Counsel, Alliance Defending Freedom: Opposed (see 
attached 4A). We litigate religious liberty cases throughout the country. 

Sen. Casper: Can you elaborate on your experience with regard to the 
litigation that takes place and what goes into proving the case. I am more 
concerned about the law and the litigation. 

Ken Connelly: These should be easy cases. The first amendment protects 
free exercise, that's more than free belief. These laws place the religious 
business owner in the dock first. Then the religious business owner then 
almost has to plead the first amendment as a defense. It unnecessarily drags 
the religious business owner into court, when the default position, under the 
US Constitution and the supremacy clause should be that the religious 
business owner never has to do anything that his conscience won't permit. He 
never has to speak a message that he doesn't want to speak, and that's been 
borne out in cases like the NH license plate case, the Pledge of Allegiance 
case, the Boston homosexual St. Patrick's Day parade case. All of those 
things happened. In these cases, you have the business owner who doesn't 
agree with the message that someone else wants them to propound; they get 
dragged into court and generally it lasts quite a long time in our experience. 

Sen. Casper: I'm thinking more outside the realm of the question of religious, 
or free speech in the first amendment. I am thinking more about the practical 
application of the company working here in ND that has 20 employees, and for 
whatever reason they are downsizing. They fire five employees, two 
employees fall under this legislation after it is enacted and what happens with 
the litigation moving forward when the onus is put on the business owner to 
defend their decision that it wasn't based on homosexual discrimination found 
under SB 2279, but for another reason, do you have any experience with that. 

Ken Connelly: Yes. I think you are speaking more logistically how it 
happens. I t  can vary depending on the jurisdiction. 

Sen. Casper: I'm asking how you can prove a mindset. 

Ken Connelly: It's very difficult to do that. You will probably hear this from 
some business owners who have taken the time to read this bill. Perceived 
sexual orientation and perceived sexual gender identity; it's unclear to me in 
the bill whether that means the perception of the person claiming the gender 
identity or the sexual orientation or the perception of the business owner, the 
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housing facility provider or the employer. To answer your question, it's 
essentially impossible. In my opinion, it's not only impossibly vague, it's 
unconstitutionally vague. If a person were to present as bisexual and the 
employer did not know that and he's called before a human rights commission 
and/or district court, and they said he discriminated against this person 
because he's homosexual. If that employer doesn't know the person's 
perceived identity, how is he to handle that, he is in the dock, but can't answer 
the question. It is an impossible task to defend. Practically all he can do is 
plead the first amendment, which he shouldn't have to plead in the first place; 
he should never be in court in the first place. 

Sen. Casper: You mentioned that the Catholic Charities and the Knights of 
Columbus. Can you elaborate why you don't see those falling under the 
exemption in this bill? I thought that they would. 

Ken Connelly: As I read the exemptions, the major exemptions in this bill, 
as a general principle - religious exercise shouldn't need exemptions in this 
country; so we are already starting from a position of a flaw in the bill. 
Specifically, those exemptions are placed in the employment context. So 
what they do, they say that a religious organization can, for religious positions 
and non-religious positions prefer someone of the same religion or someone 
who shares the same tenets of the religion. Then there is a clause, which I 'm 
not sure why it is in the employment section, but it says that you can prefer 
people or restrict the employment to people who share your faith or people of 
the same religion in houses of worship and/or parochially schools. When it 
comes to public accommodations, for instance if Catholic Charities takes 
funds from the State of North Dakota to place needy children into homes 
(foster care) that's been viewed in places like I llinois, MA and Washington DC 
to say we're not going to give you that money unless you agree to place 
children with same sex couples. That means that they are being viewed as a 
public accommodation. There is no exemption for that as far as I can see in 
the bill. The Knights of Columbus, for instance, if they have a facility that they 
generally rent out for a small fee or a gratuity as a fundraising activity, they 
then give to needy families, if they happen to rent that facility for weddings and 
maybe that's one of their significant collections for a week or month. They can 
be brought up under a public accommodations statute because they invite the 
public in; they take a gratuity or fee or charge a fee. If the same sex couple 
comes in and says that they would like to rent this pavilion for our wedding. If 
they say no, they'd be hooked by this statute, as far as I can tell. I don't there 
is anything that would bar that. 
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Sen. Casper: You mentioned an anti-discrimination training, diversity 
training, so where you have seen that happening, I 'm thinking of things that 
you brought up that I don't see in the bill. Are those things that are getting put 
in place by the beaurocracy once the legislation has passed? Can you 
elaborate a bit more on that issue, is there some place in the country where 
someone was being prosecuted and the penalty was that they had to go to 
"change your mind-set training". 

Ken Connelly: Generally, you aren't going to see these - one of the more 
pernicious effects of these bills, is that when you see the relief section of these 
bills, they are fairly open-ended. In other words, in this bill, equitable relief is 
one of the permitted remedies. Generally, we're not going to see anything that 
says diversity training right out front in the statute itself; but say in the case of 
the CO baker, they've been ordered to diversity training as part of the relief. 
We obviously object to that and we think it is unconstitutional under the first 
amendment. This is not a totalitarian state. You cannot be reeducated here; 
if the first amendment means anything, it means that. Generally the 
movement is towards getting that business owner to believe what he doesn't 
want to believe. That's the whole thrust of these laws. That's what we see all 
around the country. Everywhere that passed, that's what happens. 

Ch. Hogue: Please submit your written testimony. Tell us, you referred to 
these individuals as your clients. Are they personally your clients or are you 
employed by an advocacy organization that represents the clients. 

Ken Connelly: Alliance Defending Freedom is the organization. For instance, 
one of the cases is my personal client, but we have teams that work on the 
cases. I would be happy to get you a written legal analysis. I didn't have a 
chance to copy my testimony and spent 14 hours in the airport system in 
Phoenix; you can't be too careful with that Phoenix winter weather. 

Sen. Grabinger: You mentioned the Knights of Columbus. I am a member of 
that organization. I understand that there are 23 states that have adopted a 
bill very similar to this. My question is have you seen where that has ever 
happened, that the KC's have been in that position where it has caused a 
problem because there is a same sex wedding reception. Knowing from my 
KC's in Jamestown, I can't imagine that they would question a wedding 
reception, whether or not. Has that happened or is it just a hypothetical. 

Ken Connelly: With respect to the Knights of Columbus, I give that example 
because most people would know it. It's a fairly common quasi-religious entity 



Senate Judiciary Committee 
SB 2279 
2/2/201 5 
Page 8 

under the auspices of the Catholic Church. I don't have an example for the 
Knights of Columbus. I don't think there is any doubt that this bill, if somebody 
were to bring a case against the Knights of Columbus, this bill would permit 
them to drag them into court. We do have a past client, called Ocean Grove 
Community Association, which was a Methodist association that pledged 
essentially fealty or allegiance to the Methodist Church. They owned a 
wedding pavilion in Ocean Grove, NJ and when a homosexual woman 
approached them to use the pavilion; they declined based on their Methodist 
safe, which is in the Book of Common Prayer that marriage is between a man 
and a woman exclusively. They were brought up under the NJ law against 
discrimination. They threatened to take away their tax exemption and they 
were forced to be out of the business of renting that wedding pavilion. It is an 
analogous situation. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony. 

Caleb Wiechmann, citizen: I am opposed to this bill. I think there are two 
issues; a freedom issue and a moral issue that are somewhat intertwined. 
The freedom issue has been addressed quite well already that in this country 
a person should be able to do what he or she wants with his own property, 
especially with regard to religious beliefs. The bill gives exemptions to 
religious entities, but doesn't for individuals, even though those individuals, 
might have strongly held religious beliefs; this could put them in a very difficult 
situation. As to the moral side of it, of course, this type of activity as we all 
know has traditionally been considered sinful. Sen. C. Nelson brought up the 
point that Jesus loves all the children and that is, of course, absolutely true. 
He came here to help us with our problems. Our main problem was sin and 
he dealt with that by sacrificing himself for us and He loves us all but he 
doesn't love our sin and he expects us to forsake it. Certainly we all have 
sinful tendencies of one kind or another. Those sinful tendencies should not 
be encouraged by forcing other people to accept against their will whatever 
my sinful tendencies might be. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Derek LaBrie, Government Affairs Commissioner at UNO: Support (see 
attached #4 ). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. 

Kevin Tengesdal, homosexual: Support (see attached #5). 
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Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Joan Glaser, citizen: Support (see attached #6). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Nancy Willis, Government Affairs Director for the ND Assoc. of Realtors: 
Support (see attached 7). 

Sen. Grabinger: I understand from your testimony, you say that it is already 
covered under federal and state Fair Housing Laws. Does it apply to ND? 

Nancy Willis: No, not in ND yet; that is what we are saying it should be echo 
federal law. 

Sen. Grabinger: How many states do have this? 

Nancy Willis: I don't know. 

Sen. C. Nelson: You're with Realtors which sell real estate. 

Nancy Willis: Yes. 

Sen. C. Nelson: Do you know what the position is on the part of the 
apartment owners or are some of them part of your organization. 

Nancy Willis: No, the Apartment Association has its own organization that 
represents apartment owners. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Tim Johnson, Pastor: Support (see attached #8). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Suzie Bartosh, homosexual: Support (see attached #9). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. We will recess the hearing. 
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Recording #22983 ended. The hearing on SB 2279 continued in the 
afternoon of 2/2/15. Recording #23009. 

Ch. Hogue: We will come back to order and resume testimony in support of 
SB 2279. 

Wayne Kutzer, citizen: Support (see attached #10). 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Tom Ricker, President of ND AFL-CIO: Support (see attached #11  ). 

Ch. Hogue: Do the collective bargaining agreements that your organization 
negotiates, do they ever having to advocate for equal treatment for 
homosexuals. 

Tom Ricker: I 've seen contracts that have language included and I've also 
seen contracts that don't. At least those workers have an advocate. They 
have a union representative they can go to if they feel that they've been wrong 
or discriminated against. 

Ch. Hogue: In the contracts where they don't, do you specifically advocate for 
that. 

Tom Ricker: We advocate for no discrimination of any type in the work place, 
whether it's a protected class or not. 

Ch. Hogue: Do you advocate for those types of provisions or is it not an 
issue. 

Tom Ricker: Generally not an issue. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Aaron Weber, NDSU Student Government: Support (see attached #12). 

Sen. Casper: Was this part of a meeting at NDSU's student government. 

Aaron Weber: Yes. 
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Sen. Casper: Was that a highly attended meeting, was there good attendance 
there in support from University and to what extent in your experience, as a 
student leader here, are you seeing this take place on the ground in Fargo, 
that this law would ramify for those students are recent graduates. 

Aaron Weber: This was first read at NDSU Student Senate. It needs a 
second reading, but we did a preliminary poll that indicated that the resolution 
would be passed based on that vote. There were 34 student senators at 
NDSU and there are five open spots now, but otherwise the survey was 
completed by all of them. As far as evidence or data that would suggest that 
this is a problem at NDSU, we don't have any hard data. Typically students 
don't think of student government as the first place to come and report that 
this behavior is happening. 

Sen. Grabinger: Do you when the NDSU adopted this policy. 

Aaron Weber: I believe it was 2011, following the State Board of Higher 
Education adopting the same policy. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

T. J. Jerke, ND Human Rights Coalition: Support (see attached #13a,b and c). 

Sen. Casper: Who else, besides the homosexual community, does the 
Human Rights Coalition represent? 

T. J. Jerke: We're broad based, of course. We are a growing organization but 
our focus is on human trafficking legislation, as well as the pay equity issues, 
minimum wage issues. We just want to make sure that individuals in ND are 
given their full human rights. I t's a broad based mission and vision of the 
organization. 

Sen. Casper: Sure. Is it the position of the Human Rights Coalition that you 
are saying that it's not a special privilege to have access to earned income 
that essentially a job is a human right. 

T.J. Jerke: Access to an earned income is going to read that this is a basic 
human right that should be afforded to all people. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 



Senate Judiciary Comm ittee 
SB 2279 
2/2/201 5 
Page 1 2  

Stuart Savelkoul, Asst. Exec. Director of ND United: Support. ND United 
represents over 11,000 members across the state of ND including folks in K-
12 schools, state government and also higher education as has been 
mentioned several times today. The NOUS affords protections very similar to 
those proposed by SB 2279 to its employees; state government does not and 
not necessarily every school district in the state. 

Sen. Casper: Do you know of anybody who is an employee of the state 
government or employee of a school district that was fired for being 
homosexual. 

Stuart Savelkoul: I do not. That doesn't mean that it hasn't happened. It 
doesn't mean that they chose to leave their job before such an occasion 
occurred. Like Mr. Ricker mentioned earlier, in state government, many 
employees are not what would be traditionally be considered "at will 
employment". Of course, those in non-classified positions are a little more at 
will. For a lot of the employees that are in classified service, there is still a 
progressive discipline process in place that would usually need to be observed 
before a dismissal could take place. 

Sen. Casper: Regardless of someone's sexual orientation in the jobs you are 
talking about, there's a contractual right outside of whatever would happen 
with this legislation that those people are afforded. 

Stuart Savelkoul: For a lot of our members, yes. There are employees of 
state government or school districts that are "at will" employees, for which 
such protections would go a long way. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Chris Linblad, citizen: Support. I am concerned about civil rights issues. 
believe that all citizens, regardless of their race, religion, gender, sexual 
orientation should be treated the same and they should be afforded the same 
protections. Fifty years ago, the US Congress passed the Civil Rights Act at 
that time. It might not have been supported by the majority of the public, but 
those leaders did the right thing when they provided protections to those 
citizens who had not been part of the favored majority. I would point out that 
under the first amendment, the government shall establish no official religion 
and as such it is not appropriate to legislate based on one's religious views. 
Essentially it is my opinion that the book of Leviticus should not be dictating 
public policy. If so, divorce, tattoos, pork, shellfish would all be illegal. That's 
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not the case. I believe that this is an important opportunity for you as leaders 
of our state to do the right thing and to pass protections for those citizens that 
are homosexuals. I believe that the opponent's arguments do highlight that 
this is indeed a problem because there are a lot of people, apparently willing 
to fight for their right to discriminate against somebody based on their own 
religious beliefs. 

Sen. Casper: You're all right with codifying someone's thought as long as it 
agrees with yours. 

Chris Linblad: No, I'm saying that, in my view, one's religious views should 
not dictate public policy; essentially this country was founded on freedom and 
equality. We should be treating everyone equally and I believe that the 
homosexual community does face discrimination and that this bill would 
provide the state an opportunity to help provide protections for those folks. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. 

Jennifer Cook, Policy Director for American Civil Liberties Union of ND: 
Support (see 14 a and b ). 
Sen. Luick: On the second page of your testimony, you had indicated results 
from a 201 1  UCLA survey. Do you have any numbers for ND on that kind of 
survey? 

Jennifer Cook: I don't have any. 

Sen. Luick: Are the issues getting worse, getting better or staying the same. 
Obviously there is more focus in the news today than there has been in years 
past. I'm wondering if the numbers are changing or where we are heading "as 
is" today. 

Jennifer Cook: Are you referencing numbers across the United States in 
general, or in ND. 

Sen. Luick: Just in ND, I don't have much control over what happens on the 
other side of the borders. 

Jennifer Cook: I don't have any numbers from the state pertaining specifically 
to ND; I couldn't say what the numbers are, if they are getting better or not. 
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Sen. Casper: You said you were a law clerk. You drafted a number of 
summary judgment opinions in your day. In a court of law, how would you 
prove that someone got fired or removed from an apartment, or the apt. wasn't 
rented to them because of their sexual orientation? 

Jennifer Cook: I dealt with varied cases. Primarily I was focused on civil law. 
In the first case I ever assisted the judge in drafting was an age discrimination 
claim brought under both the federal law and the ND Human Rights Act. In 
fact, I am familiar with a case called Sprat v. MDU. It is the go-to case when 
you look at law in this area. The employees have the burden initially, whether 
you are an employee or a renter. When you file a complaint in court, whether 
it's federal or state court, the plaintiff has the initial burden to prima fascia 
case. Then the burden switches once they met the elements of that case to 
the employer, let's say for purposes of discussion. The employer then has the 
opportunity to show that there was a legitimate business reason for that 
employee's discharge. Once that happens, the case is resolved. If the 
business can come back and show there was a legitimate reason besides the 
fact that the employee was a member of the protected class, then the case 
goes away. 

Sen. Casper: So what would be prima fascia case for the plaintiff here? 

Jennifer Cook: For example, if you wanted to model it after the age 
discrimination case, in Sprat v. MDU, where most cases you will see indirect 
evidence, there isn't a proverbial smoking gun that plaintiffs usually have 
because they are either an employee and don't have access to the records of 
the business or the employer has, usually most cases are brought on indirect 
evidence and there is a modified McDonnell Douglass test in this state. So to 
prove a prima fascia case, the plaintiff first has to show that they a member of 
the protected class, that there was an adverse employment decision (firing) 
and that they were unfairly treated as opposed to anyone else in that class. 
Then the burden shifts to the employer to show that there was at least one 
legitimate business reason for that firing that had nothing to do with the 
individual's class or membership in that class. 

Ch. Hogue: Going back to the UCLA study, not wanting you to kill a tree, but 
is that study available on-line. 

Jennifer Cook: I can definitely give you a link to that study. I did not provide it 
with my testimony, but there is an interesting report by the US Government 
Accountability Office that was reported on July 31, 2013 and the Office 
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surveyed the 22 states that currently have statutes that protect either sexual 
orientation and gender identity, both or just sexual orientation. They surveyed 
each of those states and the states reported back and they had numbers on 
how many cases the employment discrimination and particularly in relation to 
sexual orientation or gender identity that they have received over a certain 
time period, from 2009. It specifically references the fact that someone before 
who had testified before, said this would open the flood gates of litigation. 
You can't have it both ways. Is discrimination against sexual orientation 
generating a problem and if not, then there wouldn't be a flood gate of 
litigation and in fact in Minnesota, they have only encountered about 20 claims 
filed from 2009 to when the survey was published. It's a helpful study to show 
what is really going on out there. 

Sen. Casper: Is the ACLU currently getting complaints right now or a list of 
people that felt that their civil rights are being violated and tracking that. 

Jennifer Cook: There are two main arms to the ACLU in general and the 
ACLU in ND we have the advocacy portion which is what you are seeing here, 
and we also have the litigation arm and we've certainly received complaints. I 
just started in December, I haven't seen any cases personally, however, our 
executive director, of both ND and SD, that represented a client who worked 
for an employer in SD and it was based on discrimination for his sexual 
orientation. 

Sen. Casper: When you were in the National Guard for those 8 years, do you 
know of anybody who was removed from the National Guard for any reason 
because of their sexual orientation. 

Jennifer Cook: Yes I do have a personal experience with that. 

Ch. Hogue: You referenced a Sprat v. MDU case; I thought you said that 
involved assertion of claims under the federal discrimination statute and our 
ND Human Rights Act is that correct. 

Jennifer Cook: I believe that it was solely on the ND Human Rights Act. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in support. Testimony in 
opposition. 

Tom Freier, Executive Director, ND Family Alliance: Opposed (see attached 
15). I will pass out testimony from Focus on the Family (see attached 16). 
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Sen. Casper: You say that everyone should be treated with dignity and 
respect in the workplace, both employers and employees. If we don't pass 
this law, someone could be fired in the state of ND simply because they are 
homosexual. 

Tom Freier: I think the marketplace and the people of ND are handling that 
issue very well, we believe. I think that we fine in ND, as we look at all the 
entities that we see here today have proven and given a general awareness to 
the issue of treating others with dignity and respect. We see that is working. I 
think we can continue to see that, to prove over the next years that that will 
affect. I don't think the answer to trying to prevent someone from being fired is 
having the owner being forced to protect that person's ability to work. When 
you take away someone's rights, someone else has to give those rights. 
Individuals in this case, if we're protecting a class, then the owner of the 
business is the one that is going to have to give up their rights. 

Sen. C. Nelson: I've had several people question if Mr. Connelly is a 
registered lobbyist. 

Tom Freier: No, he isn't. 

Sen. C. Nelson: You just said on page 2 of your testimony that first 
amendment rights of men and women of faith don't cease after they leave the 
church building. The law in various places says that you shall not discriminate 
the status with respect to participation in lawful activities off the employer's 
premises during non-working hours; which do not directly conflict with the 
essential business related interests of the employer. In my testimony this 
morning, I mentioned that there are a number of large stores that do business 
in ND, that have very good anti-discrimination policies. The problem with 
some of those people is not in the workplace. The problem is in health care, 
in some of the soft benefits - such as do we provide healthcare benefits for the 
partners or the family. Do we have a problem with, for instance, my 
granddaughter and her best friend asking for an apt. and are they judged as 
homosexuals or are they judged as college students, who is going to make 
that determination. I don't see much difference in your people of faith rights 
and the homosexual's rights. Why should there be a difference. 

Tom Freier: I think you make a good case. I think today we have that. I think 
we have the opportunity for men and women of faith, when they leave the 
church to exercise their rights that we find in the first amendment to the 
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constitution to express their faith through carrying out what they do at their 
workplace. I think that same thing can be afforded to those you've just 
referenced. We have that today. You referenced the people that are working 
on this issue, I know that there is a homosexual chamber of commerce and all 
the other entities that are here today and I think that's really why in ND today 
we have the diversity and the robustness of an economy. I don't believe that 
there is an inability of people in ND to find jobs without regard to their sexual 
orientation. I think that is working very well in ND. 

Sen. C. Nelson: In 2002, when there were 13 businesses that basically had 
good policies and now there are 366. It shows that there has been a change 
of attitude in the last 10-15 years. I think there is going to continue to be that 
change of attitude. You and I are from a different generation. You heard the 
young people today they don't have the same message that I am hearing. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in opposition. 

Clint Fleckenstein, citizen, photographer: Opposed. This bill is presented in 
the name of equality but it is actually legalized bullying. You've heard 
emotional testimony, anecdotes; Scripture twisted out of context, although no 
one quoted from the Koran, for instance. They go after the Christians but the 
Christians aren't the only people of faith who have an opinion on 
homosexuality. We've heard no testimony based on hard data related to 
discrimination. This particular type of legislation using the exact same kind of 
language has an established and well-documented track record, which has 
been used to harass, intimidate, and destroy small businesses; people who 
are photographers, cake baking or even a second job. Those are the people 
discriminated against by bullying and using this as a bludgeoning tool to 
harass. As a Christian photographer, if somebody came to me and asked if I 
would take an artistic nude photo, I'd say that's against my beliefs; but I can 
recommend someone to do that for you. If they want to do pornography, 
obviously the same answer. If they wanted to do some alternative sexuality 
type behavior, homosexual ceremony, same answer. I would tell them that I'm 
not their guy. The problem is that this bill would allow them to use the force of 
law to then compel me to do this against my beliefs. While I don't have to go 
ahead and provide you with a list, the ADF fellow is going providing that. I 
found those very same cases of the great-grandmother who's going to lose 
her house in Washington. The print shop guy, the baker, etc. All of those 
have happened since last session, when this very same bill came before you. 
Here is the scenario: a person or persons belonging to this protected class, 
encounter a small business, this person doesn't decline to serve them. In the 
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case of the great-grandmother, this was a friend who she hugged at the 
deposition but as soon as she said, well I can't do this particular service, which 
they declined because of their faith. Now, rather than find someone else, this 
aggrieved person gets all lawyered up and back they come, and they are 
going to punish this person using the legal system. It's a one-way street by 
the way. In 2012, homosexual marriage was all the talk in the legislature in 
NM and Gov. Martinez's hairdresser, dropped her because of her views on 
homosexual marriage. That's not discrimination. Two months ago, Theodore 
Shubat called 13 bakeries that were identified as homosexual owned or 
homosexual supported. He asked them to make a cake with the frosting 
message that said "gay marriage is wrong". All 13 of them refused because 
they couldn't do something they didn't believe in. In addition, a cookie 
company said they would, but they were going to draw male genitalia on it too. 
That is basically their idea of equality. They aren't interested in equality, they 
want others to embrace their lifestyle choice and punish those who don't. 
They paint a picture of some huge, sinister entity persecuting them because of 
their sexuality. Sen. C. Nelson and Rep. Boschee, and other have testified 
that an ever-increasing number of companies have taken it upon themselves, 
for their own policies, where this sort of matter belongs to go ahead and make 
these accommodations. They've got all the large corporations out there, the 
Fortune 500 and things like that. They've got media outlets that produce 
programming favorable to them and identifying people who disagree with them 
as homophobes or haters. By the way, I'm not afraid of homosexuals. I don't 
hate homosexuals. I'm afraid of their advocacy groups, their activists that 
pack the room, they've got public relations firms, legal foundations, financial 
resources, and they've got the ACLU all pushing their agenda and ready to 
punish me for simply the act of disagreeing with them. Even more alarming is 
what I found out in researching the case of the great-grandmother with the 
flower shop is now that this sort of legislation has passed, the Human Rights 
Commission or whoever it is that handles the complaints on this, has now 
declared that, regardless of how her corporation or her company is set up, that 
now they can go after her personal assets because"she doesn't have her mind 
right". It's amazing; they want to send people to sensitivity training. They are 
taking private citizens, going after their private assets, and going after their 
private thoughts and beliefs inside their head. I t's unbelievable. Now all 
citizens have a first amendment right to the free exercise of their religion. The 
sexual activists want to keep people of faith inside the church or within your 
home. I found a court case, Puroota vs. San Diego; this was in the gth circuit 
court, no bastion of wild-eyed right wing ism, they ruled that second 
amendment rights are not limited to a person's home or private property, that 
once you give someone a right, it is what they call portable. How can this right 
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be any different that it's not portable? I do know that vague law is bad law. 
We start off with public accommodation that can mean anything, that can 
mean a multi-billion dollar corporation or a lemonade stand. The same with 
actual or perceived. Who is perceiving, who is determining actions. Once you 
get the sexual orientation in the door, it opens it up. I was looking to see what 
the activists for homosexual issues and other sexuality issues say and I found 
that the current acronym is actually lgbtqqiaap. This acronym is already twice 
as long as it was the last time you heard this bill. The problem is, if you pass 
this law saying sexual orientation, you have opened door and said come on in. 
All the other acronyms now are welcome. Pandora's box has been opened. 
Vague law is bad law. Even the President of the US, two weeks ago, he did 
this famous YouTube interview with this person, Glozal Green and he 
corrected identified alternative sexuality as a lifestyle choice. If you pass SB 
2279, you're going to put the entire legislative body on a slippery slope. What 
happens next biennium, two years from now, you find yourselves in this room 
and now it's all the people who say that they are being discriminated because 
they have tattoos, or some other sort of behavior. Once you grant protected 
status to a lifestyle choice or behavior, you can't go back. Is that really the 
position that this legislature wants to be in. One other thing, I 've heard that 
some people want to consider this economic or workforce development bill, as 
they hope it will attract others to ND. I would like to say that I think that giving 
a tool to activists, who can be used to sue ND businesses or private citizens, 
is a horrible means of economic development. I urge a Do Not Pass. 

Sen. Luick: You are closer to the younger ages than I am. I'm wondering 
how and why is it that there seems to be a precedence as to why we want to 
get it well-known of our sexual orientation. Why is that in the public eye, more 
so now than ever before? I wouldn't go down the street holding a sign saying 
I'm heterosexual or I'm homosexual myself because maybe I am a little older, 
why is it so important that we're even discussing this if we don't have these 
problems. 

Clint Fleckenstein: I don't know that I can really speak to that in that regard. 
do know that I live my life according to my faith. I vote that way, I spend my 
money that way, I do everything that way. When it comes to these sorts of 
sexual issues, that's not really within my sphere. I just believe what the Bible 
says and I don't need to convince you what the Bible says. The law says all 
that matters is that people like me simply believe it. In my testimony, I said 
that the major media, I used to be in broadcasting, has been putting out 
programming, kind of pushing this agenda, perhaps that's why all of a sudden 
that it's coming to the forefront. I, for one, was astonished given what you 
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would see on TV and how things are implied that the CDC says that less than 
3% of the population falls into this age group. Yet, two weeks ago, I had the 
TV on in my office and KFYR was on and the Today Show, in the middle of a 
news program and suddenly there is a promo for Days for Our Lives with two 
men passionately making out, one of whom was married to another man. 
Maybe the media has something to do with the awareness or the fact that it's 
in the public venue. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Further testimony in opposition. Neutral testimony. 

Troy Seibel, Commissioner, Dept. of Labor: Neutral (see attached 17). I 
would like to provide the committee with a little bit of background about how 
our office currently handles any complaints of discrimination where the basis 
is sexual orientation or gender identity. One of our former employees this 
morning testified fairly accurately on that point. Generally speaking now, if we 
get a call from an individual who is making an allegation that he/she is being 
discriminated against on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity, we 
will draft the intake on that complaint and then we will go ahead under our 
work sharing agreement with the EEOC, we will then refer that complaint to 
the EEOC. The primary reason we do that is because the Dept. has 
interpreted the legislative actions over the last three sessions, I believe this is 
the fourth session in a row that this bill has come before this body, that there 
is clearly not the legislative intent that our current state law, the Human Rights 
Act covers sexual orientation. For those reasons, we won't open up a 
complaint under our state law, given its current status. We go ahead and refer 
those complaints to the feds. The EEOC specifically takes the position that 
discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or gender identity is actually 
prohibited under current law under Title 7 of the Civil Rights Act on the basis 
of sex. The EEOC takes the position that that type of discrimination right now 
is discrimination on the basis of sex; therefore, the EEOC has been pretty 
aggressive on this front. They've even had some courts agree with them on 
that. I just wanted to be clear about how we handle those complaints. We 
don't track this particular statistic, so I can only give you some anecdotal 
evidence. I would say, on average, we typically refer between 1 and 2 cases 
per year to the EEOC on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity. 
As far as the impact, if SB 2279 would pass, it's very difficult for me to gauge 
the impact it would have on the Dept. and how many additional cases we 
would receive. Some federal agencies have done some studies and those 
studies generally come in that the consensus of between 5 and 7°/o increase 
in caseload. Last calendar year, 2014, our office closed 206 investigations 
into complaints of discrimination. Based on that number, is we use an 
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average of 6°/o that would mean an additional 12 cases per year. Again, this 
number is based on a lot of anecdotal evidence and it's pretty speculative. It's 
difficult for me to determine what the impact would be. If this bill would pass, 
we generally speaking would be able to bring it in fairly easily into our system. 
I don't think it would have a significant impact on the department's caseload, 
mainly from the grounds that it would fit into our wheelhouse. We investigate 
several discrimination cases per year; therefore, I think it is something that we 
would be able to handle should this legislation passes. Otherwise I won't go 
into detail about the law; I think that's been covered. 

Sen. Armstrong: Do you know what percentage of your cases that goes 
through your organization that ends up in civil litigation. 

Troy Seibel: I do not. That's not something that we track. In terms of cause 
findings, when we make a determination that we believe probable cause 
exists, that a discrimination statute has been violated, in most of those cases, 
the individual elects to go the district court route because I think that they feel 
as though their remedies may be broader in district court as opposed to the 
administrative hearing route. I can't give you a definite number on that. 

Sen. Casper: What is the percentage that had a probable cause finding? 

Troy Seibel: It's very low; approx. 4% of the discrimination complaints that we 
investigate end up with a cause finding. The vast majority are cases where 
we've determined that there is no merit to the allegations. 

Sen. Casper: You said you thought the caseload would go up if this law 
passed 5-7%. If you have 200 cases, it would go up 5-7°/o, so 10-12 cases. 
So of those 10-12 cases that reported, 4% of which would result in a probable 
cause finding, am I understanding that right or not. 

Troy Seibel: I think that's my speculation, but I don't have any numbers. If we 
use the federal study and we look at that and say that it's a 5-7°/o increase, 
that would result in about 10-12 additional cases based on numbers from last 
year. What percentage of those 10-12 cases would have merit, I would have 
no idea. 

Ch. Hogue: You referenced the 206 cases. I assume that the vast majority of 
your cases are employment discrimination type of cases and not 
discrimination for failure to provide some public accommodation. Is that true. 
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Troy Seibel: That's correct. 

Ch. Hogue: How many cases relate to a complaint about a failure to provide 
public accommodations? 

Troy Seibel: Of those 206 cases, 150 were employment discrimination 
complaints, so approx. 75%. Of the employment discrimination complaints 
we, for the most part, those breakdown into several categories but they really 
run the gamut. The bulk of them are sex, disability, race, those make up the 
largest amount of cases. A public service, public accommodation cases, they 
were in the ballpark of about 30 cases last year. 

Ch. Hogue: Are you aware of cities that have passed ordinances on this 
issue. Can you tell me if you're aware of cases out there that are brought to 
city commissions or somebody within the city that relate to discrimination 
based on sexual orientation. 

Troy Seibel: I'm not aware of any. If it's happening, it's not being brought to 
the Dept's attention. 

Ch. Hogue: Thank you. Any further neutral testimony. We will close the 
hearing. 

Written testimony was brought to the committee that was not read. They are 
as follows: Bernie Erickson, support (see attached 18); Jennifer Weisgerber, 
support (see attached 19); Christopher Dodson, Exec. Dir. ND Catholic 
Conference, opposed (see attached 20); Murray Sagsveen, Chief of Staff for 
Chancellor in NOUS office, support (see attached 21  ). 
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Ch. Hogue: Let's take a look at SB 2279. 

1 

Sen. Nelson: I had an amendment drawn up 15.0742.0 1003 (see attached 
#1  ). This amendment takes gender identity out of the definition of sexual 
orientation and takes it out of the whole set of sections dealing with 
employment. Because it is no longer in the definition, we have to insert 
gender identity throughout the rest of the section of the NDCC. That is why 
you see all of those inserts because it is no longer in the general definition 
(explained the amendments). I move amendment 15.0742.0 1003. 

Sen. Grabinger: Second the motion. 

Ch. Hogue: What is the intent of the amendments? 

Sen. Nelson: The intent was to remove gender identity from the definition of 
sexual orientation, first and foremost. To remove it from the entire section that 
deals with employment. To add it because it is no longer apart of sexual 
orientation to sections 1, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 18 19, 20, 21, 22, 
23, 24, and 25; essentially leaves gender identity out of employment 
protections and puts it into the rest of the sections dealing with the other 
segments of the bill. 

Ch. Hogue: To provide protection for the definition of gender identity for 
public accommodations and housing, but not employment. 

Sen. Nelson: Yes. The way I understand it is that many of the companies 
that do business in ND now, have a position on sexual orientation and their 
definition blends more with the new definition than it did with others. 
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Ch. Hogue: I think I have an understanding, you're still keeping those 
definitions but for purposes of employment discrimination, we're tightening the 
definition to exclude the gender identity definition. Does everyone have a 
clear understanding of the amendments? 

Sen. Armstrong: I do appreciate the attempt to try and do this. I view this 
issue as one of those deals where you have people who are never going to 
support it, people who are always going to support it and people who fall 
somewhere in between. I think the people who fall in between feel it is never 
going to be narrow enough who don't accept it ; anything they would be willing 
to accept would be way too narrow for the people who support it to accept. At 
this point, given where we are at, I'm not going to support the amendment and 
my issue isn't with the exclusion; it's with the reintroduction in other areas. I 
think the bill should get a vote on the Floor and I think it will. 

Ch. Hogue: We will take a roll call vote on the amendment. 2 Yes 4 No 0 
absent. Motion on the amendment fai led. What are the committee's 
wishes. 

Sen. Casper: I move a Do Not Pass. 

Sen. Luick: Second the motion. 

Sen. Grabinger: I was here last session and we struggled with this. We 
struggle with it every time and people are on the fence one way or another. 
think it is something that is happening across our country, recognizing this 
issue and these problems associated with this. My personal thinking is we are 
here for all North Dakotans and I do not want to see discrimination anywhere 
where we can stop it. I think we see discrimination and by not supporting this 
and pushing this through, I think we are allowing that to continue and I think 
it's wrong. Hopefully, I firmly believe, that I'll be on the right side of society 
years from now for taking this stand. 

Sen. Nelson: I'm not the prime sponsor on this bill for no reason at all. I think 
there is a problem. I think many people have seen the problem. Don't be 
surprised if a floor amendment doesn't show up, because the fight's not over. 

Ch. Hogue: This is an issue that divides legislative bodies across the nation. 
I think a lot of people know where they are at, like Sen. Armstrong said, a lot 
of people are in the middle as well, and they are looking for a middle ground. 
don't think this amendment, for me, provides middle ground. 
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Sen. Luick: I'm probably one of those a little closer to the middle ground, 
because of being hard right, hard left is probably not where I'm at; when I look 
at this bill and I look at the problems it could cause and I think about not 
necessarily the human rights issues of maybe somebody is being 
discriminated against, but the possibilities of the negative effect it could have 
to businesses because of it going it the other way, where a business is forced 
to make decisions that they would not have to make today. If we were talking 
about discrimination, that's one thing. But if we're talking about the possibility 
of somebody being bullied, which could be entirely different there is a need 
then to consider those people who are initiating that bullying tactic to get some 
restraints put on them, but not to put it into NDCC to say that everybody has to 
act this way or that way, or another way. That shouldn't be our responsibility 
to do that, to put it into law that everybody has to act a specific way. That's 
why I can't support this bill. I understand the need/or desire for respect for a 
person's choices but I don't think we should be mandating how everybody else 
should feel about those issues. 

Ch. Hogue: The clerk will take the roll. 

4 YES 2 N O  0 ABSE NT DO N OT PASS CARRI ER: Ch.  Hogue 
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Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Nelson 

February 13, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2279 

Page 1, line 13, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 2, line 13, after "disability" insert", sexual orientation" 

Page 4, line 29, after the second underscored comma insert "or" 

Page 4, line 30, remove", or gender identity" 

Page 8, line 20, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 9, line 2, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 9, line 10, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 9, line 22, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 1, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 6, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 20, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 25, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 5, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 12, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 18, after "origin" insert ", sexual orientation, gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 28, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 12, line 17, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 12, line 21 , after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 12, line 26, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 13, line 1, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 13, line 8, after "or" insert "based upon" 

Page 13, line 8, after "orientation" insert "or gender identity" 

Page 13, line 30, after "orientation" insert "or gender identity" 

Page 14, line 7, after "orientation" insert "or gender identity" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0742.01003 
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REPORT OF STANDING COMMITTEE 
SB 2279: J udiciary Committee (Sen. Hogue, Chairman) recommends DO NOT PASS 

(4 YEAS, 2 NAYS, 0 ABSENT AND NOT VOTING). SB 2279 was placed on the 
Eleventh order on the calendar. 
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Explanation or reason for introduction of 

Relating to prohibition of d iscrimination on the basis of sexual orientation 

M inutes: Testimonies 1 -25 

Chairman Weisz opened the hearing on SB 2279.  

Rep. Joshua Boschee: From District 44 introduced and supported the bi l l .  (See Testimony 
#1 and Handout #2) 

1 8 :09 
Rep . Mooney: What is the n umbe r  of LGBT in N D? 

Rep. Boschee: 1 .8% of N D .  

Rep . Damschen: You asked is it better to al low a couple employers d iscriminate against 
sexual orientation or gender identity to continue to do so; and then you go on to say the 
result of that is hundreds of LGBT North Dakotans leave the state. Who is the employer 
that wou ld employ that many? 

Rep . Boschee: I 'm not implying that it is one or two employers that would employ all of 
those LGBT people . I 'm saying as an economy workforce we are losing people by the 
hundreds each year. 

Rep. Damschen : Is  that the on ly reason people are leaving? 

Rep . Boschee: I think there are a lot of reasons people leave the state. 

Rep . Porter: I n  your  testimony you talked about larger employers in N D  that already have 
pol icies in  place. One of the ind ividuals that contacted a number of us in  an e-mail talking 
about gender d iscrimination ; when I followed up ,  actually l isted one of the ones you l isted 
as being the one who was d iscrim inatory against them. In  your l ist are you saying they 
have specific written pol icies or it is j ust perceived they don't d iscriminate? 
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Rep. Boschee: That l ist includes a l l  employers who have sexual orientation as a protected 
class and a number of them include gender identity. They may not be al l  inclusive of 
gender identity, but do al l  i nclude sexual orientation as a protected class. 

Rep . Porter: Do you think  in  that group you gave us there are companies l isted that just put 
a policy in place and are not fol lowing it? 

Rep . Boschee: I don't think so. Most employers try their hardest to fol low the policies. 

Rep . Porter: It seems l ike the individual even though the company had a policy in place, 
were using that j ust to sound the alarm rather than what the real reason was. That causes 
concerns among employers in N D .  As you start developing more and more laws and 
eroding the right to work side of the equation that a l l  of a sudden you can sound the alarm 
rather than real ly looking at the reason for your employment issues. 

Rep. Boschee: I wou ld agree. We don't want people sounding the alarm if it not the actual  
case. That is  where the Dept. of Labor steps in and filters that out. That is not an option 
today. There is no one to referee that. 

Rep. Porter: U nder North Dakota's right to work laws,  I don't have to provide a reason why 
I don't employ someone. I just pay employment benefits right away. I can fire with or 
without cause. How do you see this p laying into the current N D  right to work laws? 

Rep . Boschee: We have protected areas where you can't d iscriminate based on certain 
things. We are looking at this at the same level so that employers aren't using that reason 
to terminate . 

Rep . Porter: I nside the Dept. of Labor and if there are perceived problems and issues, how 
many cases do you see per year the Dept. of Labor handl ing? How many calls have they 
received and they say that isn't what we deal with right now? I need to know if we need a 
fiscal note for FTE's for the Dept. of Labor to make this work. 

Rep . Boschee: They don't currently keep track of those calls . They can transfer some files 
depending on the nuances of the claim to the Federal EOC. There have been two cases 
where straight men were being perceived as homosexual .  There cou ld be a potential of 4-
5 cases per year.  

Rep. Porter: The national spotlight has been in a couple of situations where this particular 
chapter protects rel ig ious organizations, but not an individual's beliefs .  I nside of this bi l l  
what happens to the photographer who refuses to do the business? 

Rep. Boschee: The same thing would happen to them if they used their rel ig ion to not 
serve a black person. It wou ld be seen as a d iscriminatory p ractice. 

Rep. Porter: Who then enforces that complaint? 

Rep. Boschee: I ' l l  refer that to the Dept. of Labor. 
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Rep . Porter: Is there a state penalty, a misdemeanor or what is the ind ividual charged 
with? 

Rep. Boschee: I'd have to defer that to the Dept. of Labor as wel l .  

Rep . Damschen: There h as been a vote on gay marriage and a significant majority of 
North Dakotans oppose it. Would you give that the same credence as the other vote you 
mentioned? 

Rep. Boschee: That vote was 1 0  years ago, but this isn't about gay marriage. 

Rep . Damschen:  I understand that. I just wonder i f  you give that the same respect to that 
vote. 

Rep. Boschee: I would . 

Rep. Damschen : I know you have it defined in the bi l l ,  gender identity and sexual 
orientation,  but looking at a report from Dr. Palmer H ug h  MD at the John Hopkins School of 
Medicine and Jerard B .  Bradley Professor of Law at the Un iversity of Notre Dame report 
that social  science research continues to show that sexual orientation unl ike color and 
ethn icity is neither a clearly defined concept or nor immutable characteristic of human 
beings. They go on to say there is no scientific consensus on how to define sexual 
orientation or various defin itions proposed by experts, produced substantially different 
g roups of people. There seems to be a concern because it is so elastic the definition even 
though you have got those terms defined in the bi l l .  How do we guarantee that does not go 
beyond as to what is defined in the bi l l? 

Rep . Boschee : That is why we define it so we know where the parameters are.  

36 :00 
Rep . Thomas Beadle: I don't believe homosexual is a choice. You are that way. If you 
bel ieve it is a choice than you wi l l  never support non-d iscrimination protection laws. I stand 
in support of SB 2279. There is a generational d ivide occurring across the country and 
even if it doesn't change now it wil l in the future as more young people get involved and 
civically engaged . I was working on an amendment to get word of the "perceived" 
wordage. 

Rep . Damschen:  This g roup or deleted or made an exception in the Constitution. I believe 
the rights that a re g uaranteed al l  of us are for al l of us. I don't th ink any group is excluded . 

Rep. Beadle: I don't d isagree with you .  We need to clarify our civil l iberties. The 
Constitution has not been interpreted properly by the law to apply to everyone. 

Rep. Damschen: Don't we run the risk of l isting everyone when we enumerate the people 
to be covered by non-discrimination acts? 

Rep. Bead le: I don't disagree. 
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Rep. Mooney: Do you think that would be a good idea to l ist everyone? 

Rep . Beadle: We don't want to leave anyone out and put as many as possible under the 
same umbrel la .  

44:20 
Sen. Erin Oban :  Supported the b i l l ,  handed in  a Testimony of Lucas Stroh and read it. 
(See Testimony #3) (Handed in Testimony for herself. See Testimony #4) 
49: 00 
Aaron Weber: N DS U  Student (See Testimony #5) 

54: 1 6  
Becky Lamboley: Director of Student Affairs for the N D U  System testified in  support of the 
bi l l .  (See Testimony #6) 

58:52 
Rep. Oversen :  The pol icy you mentioned you said they appl ied to students and I assume 
also applies to faculty and staff? 

Lamboley: We have a separate policy for faculty and staff. 

Rep. Porter: I on the back of your  testimony you talked about if the LBGT student were to 
step off campus. Does the university system track any of the incidences that have taken 
place in regards to that statement or is it just conjecture on your part? 

Lamboley: What is formally filed we do have records of that, but when you know there is 
no law to support who you are ,  I 'm not sure I would bring that forward . I don't have 
numbers for you .  

Rep . Porter: But, you d o  have some numbers o r  you don't have n umbers? If you do, I 
would l ike to see them.  

Lamboley: I ' l l  see what numbers we have. 

Rep. Damschen:  How do you determine if someone was denied some public service 
because of perceived sexual orientation? 

Lamboley: It has to be reported to know the n umbers and what it looks l ike .  People make 
assumptions on my looks. They may think I 'm gay when I 'm straight and fire me , or fire me 
because I 'm gay. 

Rep. Damschen : If someone made that assumption and they were wrong , wouldn't that be 
violating the rights of the heterosexual? 

Lamboley: Can you clarify? 
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Rep. Damschen:  If a person was going to deny renting an apartment because he thought 
someone was gay and they weren't; wouldn't that be a violation of heterosexual rights? 

Lamboley: Right now that isn't p rotected at al l .  This bi l l  would protect heterosexual rights 
as wel l  as non-heterosexua l  rights . 

Rep. Damschen:  But, they aren't l isted in the bi l l .  

Lamboley: They aren't l isted . We could make a friendly amendment to that. 

Rep . Damschen : We may h ave some classes that are unprotected and need to be listed . 

Lamboley: It's possible. 

Chairman Weisz: You referenced earlier about numbers off campus. Do you have any data 
on students you send out for internship programs as discrimination that has occurred within 
that? I wou ld th ink that wou ld come back to the un iversity system .  

Lamboley: I know we h ave n umbers of those who participate in internships as a 
requirement of their program . I may be able to gather data of those who have internships 
just as a personal choice of that student. I 'm not sure we have data on any d iscrimination , 
but I ' l l  look into it. 

Rep . Porter: I n  you r  previous comment you talked about a look or the look. If an ind ividual 
is employed and part of their job responsibil ity is to deal with the genera l  public and went 
out and got a tattoo on their face. And the owner  of the business perceived it was a look 
that was costing them business; would you see inside of that look that they could fire that 
person because of the look? 

Lamboley: I bel ieve businesses have the right to make those decisions .  

Rep . Porter: It is  ok to d iscriminate against those individuals that do that? 

Lamboley: It is never right to d iscriminate. 

Rep . Rich Becker: My wife and I were in a restaurant several months ago and across the 
aisle and a table up another  couple were engaging in comment with the waitress. The 
waitress had ear, tongue and nose piercings and they were qu izzing the young lady why 
she had such excessive piercings and she said it was her right to do that. They asked for a 
d ifferent waitress. She ca l led the manager over and he told the couple that he totally 
agreed with them , but h is hands were tied and there was nothing he could do and he had 
lost other customers because of that waitress. Do you think that is fair? 

Lamboley: I 'm not prepared to comment on that today. 

Rep. Damschen: I assume you are aware that a person can l ike a person , but sti l l  not l ike 
the things they do. Is it right that a person has a strong religious conviction about the 
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homosexual l ifestyle and that it is not acceptable to rent an apartment to a homosexual 
couple? He shouldn't he have that r ight to not rent it to them? 

Lamboley: When I am employed to rent out apartments, do I have my employee hat on 
and my rel ig ion is separate from that? How do a g rapple with that personally having a 
belief system that is d ifferent from what I 'm asked to do as an employee? 

Rep . Damschen :  That doesn't answer my question. If a person owns a bui ld ing and he 
would be enabl ing a l ifestyle if he does not promote; does he have the right to say no? 

Lamboley: No he shouldn't have that right. 

Rep . Damschen : In th is case we wou ld be violating h is rel igious rights. 

Lamboley: We could g rapple with this. 

Rep. Damschen : You think it is alright to restrict his rel igious freedom for sexual 
orientation? 

Lamboley: I believe the employee has to g rapple with an eth ical decision. 

Rep . Damschen:  He is the owner. 

Lamboley: That is the part of it. 

Rep. Mooney: There are 47,660 students out of 1 1  campuses. That seems l ike qu ite an 
expansive organization .  Does that include the contract with non-state related companies? 

Lamboley: That is incorrect. That is only 1 1  publ ic institutions. 

Rep. Mooney: Does the campus contract with non-state related entities for catering, etc .? 

Lamboley: This is just students enrolled for the purpose of completing courses. 

Rep. Mooney: As a campus, do you not contract for certain  services that are not 
specifically state paid employees? 

Lamboley: Some are and some aren't. 

Rep. Mooney: Do you have knowledge of complaints, resistance or reports of objections to 
the anti-discriminatory pol icies in  place by the h igher education system .  

Lamboley: I don't have that information, but could seek it. 

1 : 1 7  
Mack Schneider: Testified i n  support of the bi l l .  (Handed i n  testimony of Max Maltese. (See 
Testimony #7) 



House Human Services Committee 
SB 2279 
March 23, 201 5 
Page 7 

1 :20 
Chairman Weisz: Do we open up  a potential that someone fired for a tattoo and now can 
claim they were fired because of d iscrimination? How does the employer prove they fired 
the employee because of other reasons? 

Schneider: The burden wou ld be on the employee that they were fired for d iscriminatory 
reason .  That is d ifficult to p roof in  many cases. I don't think it opens it up any more than a 
person with a tattoo says he was fired because he was Catholic. 

1 :22 - 1 :26 
Tom Ricker: P resident of the N D  AFL-CIO in ND .  (See Testimony #8, and Handout #9) 

Bernie Erickson,  Fargo ND :  Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #1 0 . )  

1 :33 
Rep . Mooney: Mr. Chairman ,  this is an important issue. I strongly object that these people 
have to do a qu ick time order to testify. I respectfu l ly request that these people have time 
to testify. (Audience erupts . )  

Chairman Weisz: (H its gave l . )  Could we please have order in the committee? Order please. 
(Hits gavel . )  P lease. This is a com mittee hearing . It is not my intent to l imit testimony. I am 
asking for comments to be brief if they are repeating the previous testimony. We are 
l imited in  the total amount of time we have. That is the way this process works. We have 
l imited many hearings in the past. It is not my intent to stop anyone. If you are saying the 
same thing , often times we ask for people to keep it brief and not to repeat what has 
a l ready been said . It is not out of l ine and the same rules will apply to the other side. Are 
there are questions for the presenter at this time? 

1 : 36 
David Hamilton :  (See Testimony # 1 1 ) (His testimony is on the backside of Testimony #1 0) 

Faye Seid ler: Testified in support. (See Testimony #1 2) 

1 :44 
Rep. Mooney: When it had been better for you not to d isclose your  gender identity? 

Seidler: I know businesses don't have fami liarity with this and I forgive them if they don't 
have it, but I wou ld l ike them to work with me on it. I had to come out so they could have 
the pol icies in p lace when I d id my transition . I n  May of last year I told them I wou ld be 
transitioning. 

Chairman Weisz: Sanford had no policy at al l  when you were h ired , correct? 

Seid ler: They have no transgender specific policy. They have a sexual orientation policy 
which I asked them about. There was no pol icy for transgender. 

Kristen Benson : Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #1 3) 
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1 :52 
Rep. Damschen : I 've heard from several recovered homosexuals who are no longer 
practicing. How do you explain that? 

Benson : Those cases are general ly through faith communities and not practices endorsed 
by any mental health association. There is no scientific evidence that orientation or identity 
itself can be changed . Those are core (inaudible) of who a person is. 

Rep .  Damschen :  There is no gene known that causes it. 

Benson : That research is inconclusive . 

Andrea Rebsom: Testified in  support of the bi l l :  (See Testimony #14) 

2 :06 
Brad Aune: Retired US Marine and US Army testified in  support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony 
#1 5) 

2 : 1 1  - 2 :29 
Jennifer Cook: Policy Director for American C ivi l Liberties U nion of ND .  (See Testimony 
#16 ,  and Handout #1 7) . 

Micki Mertz: Testified in  support of the bi l l .  (Testimony #1 8) 

2 :34 
Nancy Wil l is :  Director of Government Affairs of N D  Association of Realtors testified in 
support of the b i l l .  (See Testimony #1 9) 

2 :35 
Joan G laser: Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #20) 

2 :40 
Kevin Tengesdal :  Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #2 1 )  

2 :45 
Rev. Gretchen Deeg : Testified in support of the b i l l .  (See Testimony #22) 

2 :49 
Peg Haug: Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #23) 

2 :53 
Joe Vetter: Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #24) 

2 :55 
Ann Porter: Testified in support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #25) 

Chairman Weisz: We are going to recess for l unch and wil l finish the hearing after the floor 
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session. 

Handed In Testimony and Handouts in Support 

Susanna Warner (See #26) 

Riah Roe (See #27) 

Derek LaBrie (See #28) 

Sen. Carolyn Nelson (#29) 

ND Realtors Association (#30) 
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Chairman Weisz reopened the hearing SB 2279. 

Jared Kellerman : Testified i n  support of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #1 ) 

9 : 1 0  
Tim Johnson:  Pastor of Evangel ical Lutheran Church i n  America testified in support of the 
b i l l .  (See Testimony #2) 

1 2 : 1 8  
Kyle Thorson :  Testified i n  support of the bi l l .  (Read the testimony of Karyn H ippen See 
Testimony #3) Kyle reads his testimony. (See Testimony #4) 

1 7 :00 
T J Jerke: Legislative Coordinator for the N D  Human Rights Coal ition testified in support of 
the bi l l .  (See Testimony #5) (Handed out a testimony for Suzie Bartosh .  See Testimony 
#6) 

27:59 
Rep . Damschen : I assume you verified all the charges in  this letter. 

Jerke: The ones in the USC? 

Rep.  Damschen : The accusations against Teen C hal lenge? 

Jerke: Susie wou ld be here today to testify, but she can 't be with us today. 

Rep. Damschen: She wou ld have a way to verify them? 

Jerke: Yeah .  I can work with her to communicate with the committee. 
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Rep. Damschen: I 'd l ike to hear the discussion on both sides and not take just one 
person's word for it. 

Jerke: I 'm sure Teen Chal lenge would be happy to. 

OPPOSITION 

30:00 
Tom Freier: With the N D  Family Al l iance testified in opposition of the bi l l  (See Testimony 
#7) 

38:48 
Kell ie Fiedorek: Testified in opposition of the bil l . (See Testimony #8) 

56: 1 6  
Rep. Fehr: Can you tel l  u s  of any states that model laws to sexual orientation,  anti­
d iscrimination ,  but don't have these unintended consequences you were talking about? 

Fiedorek: I have traveled a l l  over the U nited States speaking and I have not seen any that 
have been enacted that don't raise the same exact concerns. The cases we l itigate are in a 
wide variety of states under a wide variety of laws. These laws empower the government 
to threaten the Constitutional freedoms and there is no way around that. 

Rep. Fehr: Are you saying every single state where they have passed these laws they 
have these examples. 

Fiedorek: Many states that have these laws have cases pending and if not now l ikely soon 
because of the way they are written .  

Rep. Damschen: We heard testimony from the other side p reparing this subject to race 
and gender. Is that a fair comparison? 

Fiedorek: It is an unfair and unjust comparison .  The government forced our African 
American brother and sisters to d rink from separate fountains and go to separate schools 
and be at the back of the bus. Our country ral l ied against that and good men and women 
stood up to fig ht what they had to endure .  To equate the type of d iscrimination they had to 
endure for years is an unfai r  comparison. 

Rep. Mooney: Based off from what you have mentioned there,  how many instances are 
ok? 

Fiedorek: Obviously, what they are talking about today is the dignity of every single person 
a lways needs to be respected and upheld . The government is here to pass protect and 
sustain Constitutional freedoms not to undermine those freedoms. Laws l ike this 
undermine the freedom of everybody regardless of sexual  orientation .  
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Rep. Mooney: You mentioned several law suits with regards to other states with LBGT 
state laws that had been enacted . Do you have examples of lawsuits derived from the 
d isabi l ities act, age d iscrimination ,  etc? 

F iedorek: There has been a lot of research done on that. When laws were changed to 
a llow inter-racial marriage to happen,  a law professor looked at lawsu its that challenged 
rel igious beliefs that were not let them photograph or participate in some way. They found 
none. These laws across the country are forcing people to violate their beliefs at the hands 
of the government. 

Rep . Mooney: Are you a registered lobbyist? 

Fiedorek: I 'm here as a rol l  of a g uest of Tom.  

Rep . Oversen :  I support the rights of relig ious bel iefs . Why is that protection afforded to 
them say there is a Christian who doesn't bel ieve in Judaism or H induism? We don't a l low 
them to d iscriminate against them so why is it ok for them to d iscriminate at sexual 
orientation? 

Fiedorek: It comes down to the issue on what is non-expression versus expression and 
what does the Constitution protect? You should be free to engage in  expression that is 
consistent with you r  sincerely held beliefs. It is not so much an issue of sexual orientation , 
but what is expression and what is if you are engaging a certain kind of expression. The 
Supreme Court is very clear on that. You should be able to engage in speech that is 
consistent in what you bel ieve. 

Rep . Oversen: She the florist that has a lawsuit against her, she should have been al lowed 
to refuse service to a couple who was marrying in a faith she didn't agree with? 

Fiedorek: In her situation it came down to a belief of what kind of events does she want to 
lend her creative abi l ity to. For her marriage is sacred and such to participate in something 
she doesn't bel ieve i n  wou ld violate her beliefs. We could talk about hypotheticals al l  day 
long , but what it comes down to is that the first amendment does apply to everyone and 
applies to businesses. You should be free as a business owner to engage in  expression 
that is consistent with you r  bel iefs. 

Rep . Oversen :  Could you provide the committee information on the Catholic Charities case 
you mentioned? 

Fiedorek: I 'd be happy to do that. 

Rep . Mooney: Are you saying the first amendment rights supersede the other amendment 
rights? 

F iedorek: I 'm saying the first amendment is one of our fundamental freedoms. The 
freedom to exercise our  faith and the freedom to speak freely if something is of paramount 
importance .  The government has compelling i nterests at times that do supersede those 
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i nterests. By the end of the day there are very important freedoms that I th ink we are al l  
grateful to have as Americans. 

Rep . Mooney: You agree the fourteen amendment is important? 

F iedorek: Obviously they are both important amendments . 

1 : 1 1 
Tom Fre ier: F in ished reading his testimony. (Refer  to Testimony #6) 

1 : 1 2  
Rep. Oversen :  Regard ing a self-identified perceived characteristic means that it is not 
immutable; can you draw a d istinction for me between that and rel ig ion? Why is rel igion a 
protected class? 

Freier: The immutable part in this context of course g iven the transgender component of it, 
we know there is an abi l ity there to change. The bi l l  itself talks about that you are able to 
self-identify to fal l  with in  the contracts of the b i l l  so it does not j ive with immutable. I think 
religion as Kel l i  mentioned that the first amendment is very strong on our abi l ity to exercise 
the freedom of relig ion and expression thereof. So the folks that fal l  i nto that category can 
easily use that to substantiate the i r  views. 

Rep. Oversen: I th ink there is a d ifference of your first amendment of freedom of 
expression and the freedom of d iscrimination based on your rel ig ion .  

Freier: There is a foundational factor involved i n  the first amendment right that real ly does 
precede our d iscrim ination law. And that is our freedom of rel ig ion and our exercise 
thereof. That is fou ndational to the rel igious aspect of it. 

Rep. Damschen : Do you feel  l i ke our Constitution found wanting i n  declaring that al l  men 
are created equal and everybody has inal ienable rights and those rights are protected? Do 
you see any exceptions in  the Constitution? 

Fre ier: The Constitution is very clear and provided for the freedom in many aspects for a l l .  

Rep. Mooney: The three that have common denominators were, prejud ice, supremacy, 
unreasonable accommodations, special class, a nd relig ious l iberties for why we should not 
have included race, women's rights, and d isabi l ity d iscrim ination and anti-discrimination 
laws. Are you saying we need to do away with all of those if LBGTs shouldn't be 
considered in a class of p rotection? 

Freier: No, I am not saying that at a l l .  I am saying that I believe that as I share my 
testimony in  ND today, I am comfortable that we are showing respect and d ignity for a l l  i n  
this state. The b i l l  talks about employment, accommodations and al l  those things and I fa i l  
to understand that those areas are being compromised to a great degree. 

Rep . Fehr: Can you g ive us evidence of what you are referr ing to i n  you r  testimony? Are 
you stating that people can change their sexual orientation and that it is wi l lfu l? 
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Freier: I am referencing there because it is self-identified and self-perceived of sexual 
orientation to their employer may change. They may represent themselves as something 
one day and the next day it may be something d ifferent. 

Rep. Fehr: You are saying they can claim something d ifferent and doesn't mean something 
is really d ifferent? 

Freier: When we talk about the transgender and that sort of issue,  they perceive there is a 
change. 

Rep. Fehr: This relates to the Supreme Court criteria and immutable so my question is 
does it imply that if in  fact the preponderance of the evidence says it is immutable in terms 
of sexual  orientation; and therefore that should be a protected class? 

Freier: I don't q u ite understand the question . 

Rep Fehr: The question is because that is part of the criteria you l isted with the Supreme 
Court, that if the evidence that is presented to us is p retty convincing that it is immutable, 
does that immutable mean it should be a protected class? 

Freier: The immutable part of it is pretty clear. The bi l l  does not lend itself to that defin ition 
of immutable. 

Rep Oversen: On self-expression , if there is a Christian business that says same sex 
marriage is wrong , then they would be able to d iscriminate against single parents ,  and 
adultery? Where do we draw that l ine? 

Freier: The First Amendment right of expression al lows a business owner to express 
themselves in thei r  artistic abi l ity and made that determination. We are treading on 
hypotheticals. I bel ieve in N D  and we are doing okay and we are looking for a pol itical 
solution which is not as prevalent as some bel ieve. The bil l  is on sexual d iscrimination 
based on sexual orientation and gender identity. The (inaudible) that could be open to 
l itigation . 

Rep Oversen :  Are you suggesting that the fear  of litigation is a reason not to pass a bil l 
p rotecting someone against d iscrimination? 

Freier : I bel ieve there is a b it amount of fear and a sense of intimidation that come from not 
wanting to be on the wrong side of this issue that may open cases of l itigation . If this bi l l  
would pass that wou ld open that up to a g reat extent. 

Rep Damschen: Do you see concerns in that sexua l  orientation is considered to be by 
some a frame of mind , but race is not. With race there is fiscal evidence that we don't deny 
and in gender too. How do you get a handle on some that feels they are not what the 
physical evidence indicates? There are cases where sexual orientation has changed and 
maybe changed back aga in .  What determines that to enforce the law? What do you use? 

-------------------��--�-- ----
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Freier: This is defined by conduct, behavior, perception,  mannerisms and the d ifficulty in 
fact with which someone who could be potentially accused of that d iscrimination, how 
would they know? The opportunity for someone in a religious organization ,  business or 
anyone to respond is rea l ly d ifficult g iven how that criteria is set forward . 

Rep. Rich Becker: Rep. Oversen's comment about fear of this vote and fear of the law; the 
comment I want to make is through the correspondence, phone calls and e-mails I 've heard 
about sexual orientation ties into what I am hearing so much more now than I 've ever heard 
before which is the heavy hand of government. I 'm concerned that the heavy hand of 
government is having an impact on how people feel about this specific topic. I know people 
in the Senate voted for this a couple of weeks ago in fear of how their smal l  businesses 
would be perceived and thought of if they d id not support the bi ll . I think there is a heavy 
hand of government that is a factor in  here. 

Freier: This is an issue of treating people with respect and dignity. What this does is 
places government in  the position of coercively enforcing that. The inabi l ity to d iscern 
someone's sexual orientation is rather d ifficult. 

Cl int Fleckenstein:  Photographer, testified in opposition of the bi l l .  (See Testimony #9) 

1 :42 
Rep. Oversen :  Where in the Bible does it say that it is ok to d iscriminate and treat others 
d ifferent. 

F leckenstein:  You have heard of a d ifferent Jesus today than the Jesus in the Bible 
because Jesus said He came to bring sinners to repentance. The whole idea of Jesus 
coming is that everyone of us in  this room, clergy or not are sinners.  We all admit it as 
Christians and we need Him for redemption .  The fact of the matter is He came point out 
our sin and is on ly because He d idn 't sin that through his death , burial and resurrection that 
we are able to meet God and go to Heaven.  That is the fundamental tenant of Christianity 
and dare say that rel igious freedom was a fundamental tenant of which the United States 
was founded . 

Rep . Oversen :  What is your  ful l  time employment? 

F leckenstein:  I 'm testifying as a part-time photographer. 

1 :44 
Al ison Grotberg: Testified in  opposition of bi l l .  (See Testimony #1 0) 

1 :54 
Rep. Mooney: Do you feel you have lost you r  religious liberties because people of race, 
women and d isabi l ities; people of class of population that req uire protections? 

Grotberg : There is no law in the Bible that says thou shal l  not love a black person, or not 
have b lack skin . Sexual immorality is addressed frequently in the Bible and according to 
Bibl ical definitions does fal l  under that. 
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Rep. Mooney: I am a Christian .  What are some of the arguments used for some of the 
other d iscrim ination laws we have enacted state or federal ly? In  each of those cases 
religious l iberties is used as an example. Do you think your  rel ig ious l iberties have been 
trampled on by those three instances? 

Grotberg : I have no idea what that has to do with th is testimony because this testimony is 
about being forced to make a t-shirt for gay pride or strip tease club when you don't feel 
comfortable with the ( inaud ible) female body for the purpose of the ( inaudible) or a l ifestyle 
that goes against Bibl ical teaching .  

Christopher Dobson :  President of the N D  Catholic Conference testified in  opposition of the 
b i l l .  (See Testimony #1 1 )  

2 :00 
Chairman Weisz: Can you expand on your  statement of the bi l l's exemptions do not 
exempt any rel ig ious entities? 

Dobson: The first exemption only applies to employment s ituations. It does not apply to 
housing or publ ic accommodations. To employment matters, only which regards to how 
rel igious positions. That is a l ready protected under the U .S .  Constitution it is cal led the 
min isterial exception which was held up unanimously by the U . S. Supreme Court a few 
years ago. It does not apply to the sexual orientation p rovisions of the bi l l .  It is mostly with 
regards to relig ious d iscrimination claims. The second one only applies to employment 
matters when h i ring for non-rel ig ious positions, but on ly extends to preference for h i ring 
individuals of the same rel igion or adherence to the religious tenants. That is a defense 
against a not a sexual orientation claim . It basical ly requires the church to have an 
( inaudible) pol icy of l imiting non-re l ig ious positions to ind ividuals of the same religion or 
adhere to the rel igion 's tenants instead of al lowing the church to make that decision on a 
case by case basis. The th i rd exemption only applies to l imiting admission to places of 
worship. Another defense about religious d iscrimination to p laces of worship and only 
appl ies to parochial  schools. It doesn't apply to sexual orientation provisions. The very 
idea that the state could create an exemption on matters of admission raises a host of 
Constitutional q uestions. Many rel igious schools are not parochial so it doesn't cover them, 
an example is Shi loh .  Not one of the three exemptions does anything to address the 
problems raised about sexual orientation claims that would be g iven the protection under 
the law in this b i l l .  

Rep . Oversen: Maybe you could e-mail the committee with better suggestions to address 
those exemptions. 

Dobson: I have to tried to d raft, I think you would have to exempt completely the 
accommodation section ,  add the Relig ious Freedom Restoration Act into it and then 
exempt completely a l l  rel igious organizations and then that sti l l  wou ldn't address our 
fundamental concern of the bi l l ,  which it g ives special legal protection to acts. 

2 :05 
Reed Soderstrom: An attorney from Minot stated h is opposition of the bi l l .  My concerns 
echo Mr. Dobson's. The b ill as it exists now contains ambiguity and creates legal issues of 
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uncertainty. There is more confusion than clarity. The defin ition of gender identity itself 
speaks of in terms of subjective perception of one's related identity. And I th ink to put that 
burden on N D  employers to interpret that is nearly an impossible standard .  There is no 
definition of a relig ious association or society, religious organization or even non-profit 
institution that operates in conjunction with them. I 'm wondering if  this so called religious 
exception includes groups l ike we had in  Minot included Youth for Christ and Campus 
Crusade. I was wondering about Teen Challenge and we have already heard comments 
about them. Add iction counseling centers, domestic violence groups, p regnancy centers 
and the l ist goes on .  There is a lot of ambiguity and there is no clarity. Does it include 
volunteers? I think the answer is no and it puts them at risk for l itigation and exposure. For 
those reasons I am u rging the committee a Do Not Pass on this bi l l .  

Rep. Oversen: When we look that th is language was pu l led from other states as an 
attorney, have you researched other cases to know if that ambigu ity has been a problem 
and is it something we can address? 

Soderstrom: We heard from Ms. Fiedorek and al l  read the articles that is going on 
nationwide it is not good and I hope it never comes to this state. 

Rep. Oversen :  Is that because of the ambiguity of the law? 

Soderstrom : It is because of the enforcement and the lack of protection of religious 
l iberties, yes. 

Rep. Mooney: I 'm looking at our human rights act now, we a lso don't define religion or 
rel igious practice accord ing to the human rights act in that section of code. Is that a 
problem for l itigation purposes? 

Soderstrom: I think it is. Some of the comments I heard today that concerned me include 
this is a real good first step.  This is a starting point. I total ly buy into to that what we are 
seeing nationwide. This is the beginning of what I see is bad things to come for religious 
l iberties. There are a lot of people who think you can put God in a box and pull Him out on 
Sunday morning when there are a lot of people of faith that are doing the best they can to 
fol low the written word of God throughout their l ives dai ly in their work place and vocation .  
This bi l l  2279 has the potential to trample on  that. 

Rep. Mooney: You mention that bad things to come for rel ig ious l iberties based on this 
piece of legislation. 

Soderstrom: Not necessarily on this. But I heard this is a starting point of further 
legislation . 

Rep . Mooney: Based on this legislation wouldn't it be a good first step for the LBGTs who 
currently have silent laws. 

Soderstrom: We heard compassionate heart breaking stories. We want to make the world 
a better place. My brother is gay so I understand it and I love h im dearly, but let's not get 
off into the periphery and talk about solving the world's problems. We are here today about 
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d iscrimination and how it exists today in ND .  We are here today primari ly about 
employment and the vocation , and housing. When you break it down what I heard was 
employee harassment not employer. I didn't hear a lot of need for this law. 

Kathy Stein :  Lives in Rugby, N D  testified in opposition of the b i l l .  I ask you to vote against 
SB 2279. Society accepts the LGBT l ifestyle. 

2 : 1 7  
John Legonfelder: Stated h is opposition of the bi l l .  

No more opposition testimony to the bi l l .  

Troy Seibel :  Labor Commission provided information. 

Chairman Weisz: If someone has put in a complaint about harassment at work for any 
reason,  what does the department do about it? 

Seibel :  They wou ld have to fal l  under one of the protected categories that are set forth in 
the Statute. I n  order to bring a hosti le work environment claim you have to allege that the 
hosti le work environment was because of your  race, color, national orig in ,  gender etc. 

Rep . Mooney: If this wou ld pass, how many cases wou ld you anticipate? 

Seibel: I n  Minnesota , sexual orientation has been a protected category since 1 993.  On 
average of their total d iscrimination load , sexual orientation complaints are 4%. In ND 
maybe 1 0-1 2 cases in a year  in the caseload . 

Rep. Mooney: How many cases do you have right now and how many are enforced as an 
end result? 

Seibel :  We should get about 300 d iscrimination cases and approximately 30 publ ic service 
publ ic accommodation cases. And probably about 30 housing cases. Maybe one case in 
twenty is a cause finding case. About 5% of our cases in a typical year resu lt in a cause 
finding. 

Rep. Mooney: When you have a cause finding ,  what does the processes look l ike? 

Seibel : It depends if you are u nder the human rights act or housing d iscrimination act. If 
u nder the human rights act if we make a finding of no probable cause that individual has 
the abil ity to go to court. If we make a cause finding the charging party are g iven the option 
to go to d istrict court on their own or have the department conduct an administrative 
hearing with the office of admin istrative hearing. U nder the housing d iscriminatory act either 
the complaining or respond ing party can make an election between going to d istrict court or 
having an administrative hearing.  Either way the department brings that complaint. The 
Attorney General represents the department. 

Rep. Mooney: How many were found gui lty? 
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Seibel :  They are settled on the front end . I don't have specific data for you on how many 
resulted in a favorable verdict for the charg ing party. 

Rep. Damschen : Do you deal with employee vs. employee? 

Seibel : It comes down if the employer is l iable for the acts of its employees. The situation 
wi l l  be the employee bringing al legations against their employer. It is employee vs. 
employer. 

Rep. Damschen:  I n  a criminal  offense who would the offended party go to in a case l ike 
that? 

Seibel : We would look at it from if the human rights or housing d iscrimination acts were 
violated. That individual  could go to law enforcement if criminal  charges were going to be 
brought by the State's Attorney. 

Rep . Porter: A coup le of the examples passed out in one of the packets had actual letters 
from your department that in the letter is states it was a transfer of charge because it was a 
lack of jurisdiction. I nside of your department how often are you doing that service? 

Seibel :  Is your  question in general? 

Rep. Porter: In genera l .  You are doing an action that should be trackable. 

Seibel: Correct. We can track the number of cases we refer to the EEOC. That number is 
few. We have referred only 7 cases in total to the EEOC. 

Rep. Porter: There was a lot of d iscussion about an individual business refusing to do 
business with an individual .  Do you view this law as you being the enforcer of that 
component of the law? What do feel  the number of cases from that aspect would be? 

Seibel: It is referred to as a public accommodation case and that involves anyone who 
provides services to the publ ic and charges a fee or goods for its services. General ly you 
wi l l  be covered by that piece within  the h uman rights act. Our office does enforce violations 
of the h uman rights act so that would include al legations where there has been a 
d iscrimination in the area of public accommodations. I do not recal l  a case of a sexual 
orientation discrimination of accommodation a llegation coming to our office. To my 
knowledge we have not received a complaint. We do enforce the public accommodations 
portion of the human rights act. 

Rep. Porter: By using the word perceived . How wou ld your  agency when pursuing the law 
view perceived? Is it perceived at a particular moment in time, over the course of a 
relationship between employee and employer or renter and landlord? 

Seibel : It wou ld be the charg ing party's burden to  establ ish that their employer or landlord 
perceived them as a certain  type of orientation . If the employer wou ld say I 'm firing you 
because I think you are straight, that would be essential ly what wou ld trigger this 
protection . The same as vice versa. Right now under the h uman rights act and the and 
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ADA I can perceive you as someone with a d isabi l ity and take adverse employment action 
against you .  The perceived claim gets you in the protective category. The charging party 
sti l l  has to show they were subject of a discriminatory practice. The perception has to 
occur at the time of the d iscriminatory practice. 

Rep. Porter: What about the employee that walks in on Monday and has total ly changed 
their appearance with a ful l  faced tattoo or piercings or something that is not going to fit my 
business model and they comp lain to you because they were fired because of their 
appearance? What if Sam who I h i red comes the next day as Samantha and that doesn't 
fit my business model ,  how a re you as an agency going to look at those two d ifferent 
scenarios in regards to this law and d iscrimination? 

Seibel :  The tattoo and piercing does not fit into a protected category and we wouldn't take 
that charge. The charging party is a prima fascia case. The have to show a, b and c and 
prove it before they get their foot in the door. Once they have their foot in the door then 
there is something we cal l  the McDonald Douglas burden shifting frame work. That shifts 
to the employer and says we h ave a prima fascia case; why did you terminate that 
employee? If the employer comes to us with a legitimate non-discriminatory business 
reason for the determination, then the burden shifts back to the charging party to show that 
is pretechual .  I n  other words the employer is lying and making that up.  If the employer can 
show a legitimate non-d iscriminatory business reason the case wi l l  fai l .  

Rep. Porter: At some point a l l  of these cases become he said she said . I come back and 
say no this is what I perceive. My business has been affected this act. You look at it and 
say whether or not it is enough to shift the burden back to the other side. 

Seibel :  Some cases may become he said she said because that is the only evidence out 
there .  We wou ld show ever since this individual has been working can you show with 
receipts at the ti l l  or business performance or testimony from customers. What are the 
facts being a l leged we investigate everything. 

Rep . Porter: How does it play into loss of productivity if it  causes a d isruption in the rest of 
your workforce and how would you go about proving that side of the same claim against the 
newly establ ished protected class? 

Seibel :  If you can talk  to the 1 0  employees and talk about how this is being d isruptive in 
the work place, that could be a good non-d iscriminatory business reason .  It would be 
testimony of others saying there is a d isruption in the workplace. 

Rep. Porter: Wouldn't that also a l low a group of employees gang up on one ind ividual use 
that to get rid of them? 

Seibel :  It is possible. We train our people to assess credibil ity. 

Chairman Weisz: If a business d idn't want to make a cake because they didn't support 
marriage accept within their own church could you have a complaint in that nature? 

Seibel : Yes you could .  
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Chairman Weisz: If a cake business said I won't do business with you because I don't 
believe in your  relig ion, they wouldn't be able to bring a claim for public accommodation, or 
could they? 

Seibel: They could .  

Chairman Weisz: So currently you could force them to bake a cake? 

Seibel: In theory we could ,  but more than l ikely by the time it gets to us it is long in the past 
and already had the cake made. Yes I guess we could .  

Rep. Porter: (Microphone off so inaudible.) 

Seibel :  We don't have authority u nder the human rights act to fine. The only thing we can 
do is issue an injunction to either prohibit or force someone to do something . If we gave an 
injunction and they violated that we wou ld have to go to  a d istrict court and a judge wou ld 
decide if there would be any fine. 

Chairman Weisz closed the hearing on SB 2279 

Handed in Testimony in Support 

Grand Forks Herald (See #1 2) 

See Testimony #1 3 - Approximately 1 ,000 additional letters of support filed in the 
Legislative Council Library.  
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Chairman Weisz took up SB 2279. 

Rep . Fehr: (Handed out his and Rep . Bead le's amendments. See Handout #1 and #2 . )  On 
page 8 ,  remove l ines 1 0  through 31  and on page 9 ,  removes l ines 1 through 3 .  This 
removes Sections 9 and 1 0  wh ich are the accommodations sections. The concerns about 
the cake lady and the bathrooms, this would remove the cond itions that led to those 
situations. It keeps the anti-d iscrimination in tact in terms of h i ring and housing . In my 
understand ing with ta lk ing to Rep. Bead le, his is simi lar and does overlaps with what I 
presented . He says his takes out Section 1 and changes the language by taking out the 
actual and perceived language. Our amendments kind of overlap.  

Rep . Porter: By removing publ ic accommodation when you look on page 1 ,  l ine 17 i t  talks 
about publ ic accommodation in that other section of the code.  It talks about d iscrimination 
in employment relations, public accommodations, housing , state and local government 
services. I find it d ifficult that you cou ld split any one component out of the whole grasp of 
the entire bi l l .  To me it is an al l  or noth ing concept. 

Rep .  Fehr: I had the same question and spent some time talking to Troy Seibel of the 
Labor Commission and based on his feedback to me is that section 1 ,  the 1402 .201 policy 
statement against d iscrimination; he emphasized that this is a policy statement and not 
enforceable by law. He made it clear that if we remove the other sections of the publ ic 
accommodation that even though it is in the pol icy statement, it wouldn't be something that 
the Labor Commission would do with. 

Rep . Porter: When the State of ND makes a pol icy statement against or for something then 
it may take it out of the realm of the agency to enforce, but it makes a nice stand ing in a 
civi l case. I nside of the publ ic accommodations components of the b i l l ,  Mr .  Seibel said they 
wouldn't be necessarily the ones doing anything about that. That would be a civil 
proceed ing. I would sti l l  see even having a pol icy statement wou ld sti l l  leave it  wide open 
to the civil cou rts to decide whether or not it was against the pol icy of the State of N D  in 
regards to d iscrim ination, by having it back and forth l ike that. 
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Rep. Fehr: Rep. Bead le told me he was going to remove section 1 of the bi l l ,  but I don't 
see that, but I see that as a possibi l ity. I don't know if a policy statement if it is there or not 
makes any d ifference in the law. 

Rep . Porter: It certain ly does in court. 

Rep . Mooney: When you say take out Section 1 ,  you mean just remove it from the b i l l .  

Rep. Fehr: Correct. 

Chairman Weisz: Are you saying if you remove Section1 that wou ldn't be a d iscriminatory 
practice? 

Rep . Fehr: Are you saying if we remove Section 1 ?  

Chairman Weisz: If you remove Sections 9 and 1 0  then it is no longer considered a 
d iscriminatory practice? 

Fehr: There wouldn't be any enforcement of the accommodation component. 

Chairman Weisz: How do you reconcile the pol icy with the law? 

Rep. Oversen :  Essentia l ly that is a statement of legis lative intent. The only time a cou rt is 
going to do that is if the law is unclear. If we don't include sexual orientation in the law 
relating to publ ic accommodation and our leg islative records shows that we intentiona l ly 
d idn't i nclude it there that is very clear. 

Rep. Rich Becker: The word you used of intent, if we leave it in are we setting ourselves 
up in dealing with this a year or two down the road? 

Rep. Oversen: Maybe I d idn't make myself clear. In my understanding in looking at 
legis lative intent a court only looks to leg is lative intent if the law is unclear. Removing 
sexual orientation from the public accommodation section is pretty clear. 

Chairman Weisz: It's true that courts use intent when they are not clear of the law. But, that 
is part of the problem . We are putting the legislature at odds, not necessari ly the court. 

Rep. Oversen: I th ink it is fine to take it out of the pol icy statement because the law we are 
add ing into housing and employment says that the leg is lature intended to include it in  just 
housing and employment not in publ ic accommodations. This goes beyond my expertise. I 
don't want to step out of my bounds. 

Chairman Weisz: On Rep. Beadle's amendments on page 3, h is language was to say, 
"gender identity means gender related identity, appearance, mannerisms or other gender 
related characteristics regard less of the ind ividual" .  That is also on page 4. 

Rep. Porter: I think the language in these two areas is clear without the amendment then 
with the amendment. I don't think is reads even close to being what I understand it to be. 
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Chairman Weisz: The rest of the phrase is defin itely, you might say perception when it is 
ta lking appearances or mannerisms. In some ways I don't know what actual gender 
identity would mean because that is inherent with the individ ual and not with the other. 

Rep . Oversen :  We heard that it was a heterosexual who was perceived to be gay and 
d iscriminated against. If we don't include perception , cases l ike that would not be covered . 

Chairman Weisz: That would be related more to the page 4 defin ition under sexual 
orientation .  

Rep . Oversen : I th ink there are times when someone's gender identity i s  a lso questioned . 

Rep . Mooney: D id the Dept. of Labor commissioner speak to the actual perceived and they 
are accustomed to that type of language in other areas of d iscrimination? 

Chairman Weisz: I don't bel ieve he brought it up. 

Rep . Oversen :  He said they are equ ipped to handle that in  relation to d isabi l ity. 

Chairman Weisz: He d id mention d isabi l ity. These amendments raise questions so if any 
of you want to do research we are qu itting for the day and wi l l  take this up on Monday. 

Rep. Seibel : If we take publ ic accommodations out, do we also need to look at page 2 ,  l ine 
20,  26, 29,  and 30, page 3 ,  l ine 2? 

Chairman Weisz: That was part of my question is that we define d iscriminatory practice 
and public accommodations are in current law. I wou ld l ike more answers. 
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Chairman Weisz: Let's take up 2279 . 

Representative Mooney: Makes a motion to adopt Representative Boschee's amendment 
1 5 .0742 .01 005. (Attachment 1 ) . 

Representative Hofstad: Second . 

Representative Feh r: I wou ld l ike clarification on page 6, the deletions clause? 

Representative Mooney: As I recal l ,  Representative Boschee was explain ing that he was 
presenting a l l  of these in context of cleaning it up for a more streamline language? 

Representative Oversen: Representative Boschee testimony, they are cleanup in nature 
related to two sections where the add ition of sexual orientation was left out and the 
rel ig ious exemptions to put the language in l ine with the exemptions al lowed at the federal 
level so our Department of Labor doesn't have investigate any more or less that is required 
under federal law. It's mi rroring after federal law. 

Roll call  was taken on amendment 1 5.0742.01 005 with 7 yes, 6 no, 0 absent-Motion 
ca rried. 

Representative Weise: The other proposed amendment that were identical with one 
exception with the change in actual and perceived . Both amendments delete the publ ic 
accommodation portions that are currently in the bi l l .  

Representative Mooney: As far as I 'm concerned , I real ly wou ld have a major problem 
venturing into removing certain aspects from the proposed law and leaving certain aspects. 
There were a l l  types of compl ications that arrive and what are the impacts. Two th ings 
were playing out s imultaneously, as we attempt to fiddle, are we actual ly accomplishing 
anyth ing? I concluded that it felt to me l ike we real ly weren't concluding anything that 
would be of g reat benefit e ither to the commun ity at large or with the ind ividuals within the 
state who have to try to enforce and track. This is making it more complicated than it 
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needs to be. I understand that part of the reasoning for wanting to do that is for an honest 
attempt at trying to make it more palatable for a broader popu lation of people who are 
opposed to it. As I further consider that, I begin to wonder if we actually wou ld accomplish 
that, in doing so, if we don't muddy the waters again even further. 

In  my world , what I wou ld wish is that we wou ld have the d iscussion on Senate Bi l l  2279 as 
now amended to us and kick it out of here in that form, have it on the floor and have the 
d iscussion on whether or not as a state that we can abide by certain forms of d iscrimination 
or not abide. Considering everything that we've heard and read in the language, that truly, 
the "don't ask, don't tel l" idea l ism, is an ugly step that we have taken .  I wou ld be in favor of 
the bi l l  as it is .  

Representative Feh r: We do have the labor commissioner here who cou ld address what 
this wou ld look l ike if we took out the accommodations section .  

Troy Seibel-North Dakota Labor Commissioner: When we look at the Human Right 
Act, there is employment, public accommodation, publ ic service and credit transactions 
sections. They are all separate types of cases and causes of action .  Should this body 
choose to have a set of protected categories for employment and a d ifferent set of 
protected categories for public accommodations & services, which is something that the 
department wou ld enforce . It's possible to do the two sets of protected classes depending 
on the cause of action that is brought before the department. 

Representative Fehr: In section 1 ,  l ine 1 7, it has it for publ ic accommodations and there 
was some d iscussion as to whether or not we take out the publ ic accommodations 
sections, what the impact wou ld by passing the sexual one with sexual orientation given it 
to say "publ ic accommodations"? 

Seibel: When we look at l ines 1 1  through 1 9  on page 1 of the bi l l ,  that's the first of the 
human rights . We don't use that pol icy statement. That doesn't g ive rise to a cause of 
action . It is a pol icy statement of the state that th is body has made. The causes of action 
real ly arise later on in the Human Right Act where the act discusses what discriminatory 
practices are and types of activities are prohibited . That's what g ives rise to somebody to 
be able to come to department and bring an administrative claim with us.  The policy 
statement, it does not and I don't th ink that is something in of itself that g ives rise to a 
cause of action .  I think it wouldn't necessarily create a cause of action and that's the way 
our department would interpret it, it's simply a policy statement. 

Representative Fehr: You are talking about a cause of action in term of your department. 
Let me ask you this, if section 1 with the languages in it, you are saying it wouldn't rise to a 
cause of action with your  department? Do you have any comments in terms that they 
could fi le a civil law su it? 

Seibel: I have to speculate what a court may do or not do with that language. I can only 
speak to what we wou ld do but my opin ion is that the judge would fol low on those same 
l ines. 
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Representative Mooney: On page 3 & 4 and in a couple of other places, it refers to actual 
perceived gender related identity, how do those words compl icate that code? 

Seibel: When we look at actual or perceived claims, right now under current law, you can 
have what is regarded as a d isabil ity claim.  Somebody can come to us and say, my 
employer regards me as being d isabled even though I am not d isabled . I look at the 
regarded language as being simi lar to the perceived as language. We do those cases now 
but I would emphasize the point that it's the charg ing party's burden . That's the charging 
party's that has to come into our office and prove that the employer perceived that 
individual whatever sexua l  orientation that may be. Perception is typica l ly going to requ i re 
some other evidence and that burden rests with the charging party to show that the 
employer perceived the individual as having a certain sexual orientation .  

Representative Mooney: I would imagine that the burden of proof must be fairly 
sign ificant? 

Seibel: The burden is essentially more l ikely than not standard .  Sometimes probably 
cause is used and it's not as high as a criminal or civi l standard .  Basica l ly it's 50% plus 1 ,  
it's more l ikely than not, that the employer perceived that ind ividual  as have a certain sexual 
orientation .  It's going to requ i re something more than the charging party coming to our 
office and saying "they thought I was gay, so they fired me" . They are going to have to 
bring us either witness statements, emails or whatever the case may be that show that the 
employer regarded or perceived that individual as being gay. 

Representative Weisz: Committee, what are your  wishes? Representative Fehr, do you 
want to offer your amendment? 

Representative Fehr: Move the amendment to remove sections 9 & 1 0 . 

Representative Oversen :  Second . 

Representative Weisz: Further d iscussion? 

Representative Mooney: I want to make the point that yes, I wi l l  resist the motion and I 
real ly do bel ieve strongly by removing this from the d iscussion and part of the bi l l  concept 
as a whole, that we are opening up a very sl ippery slope on legitimate l ine of question ing of 
if we are able to remove in one place, why we would remove the others? I just think it 
doesn't accompl ish anyth ing .  

Representative Weisz: We wi l l  take a rol l  cal l .  

Rol l  cal l  was take on the amendment to remove sections 9 & 10 with 2 yes, 1 1  no,  0 
absent, motion fa iled. 

Representative Fehr: Moves a Do Not Pass as Amended . 

Representative Rich Becker: Second. 
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Representative Oversen: I 'm d isappointed in the d irection the committee has gone. If 
you bel ieve that d iscrimination is ok or you don't, if it's not ok, we bel ieve people should 
have protections and recourses in the court of law. Right now as this bi l l  fa i ls, these 
ind ividuals that we've heard from , we are tel l ing them it's ok that they have been treated 
that way. I u rge you to vote against the Do Not Pass, but I 'm not hopefu l of that. 

Representative Fehr: I strongly disagree with that statement. A vote of Do Not Pass just 
does not bel ieve that anyone bel ieves in discrimination , it simply says " I 'm not ready to vote 
positively on this particular bi l l" ,  wh ich is true for the common core and a lot of other bi l ls if 
you vote on it. The bi l l  in front of you ,  it's not a public statement in terms of bel iefs . 

Representative Damschen: I too want to d isagree with the statement by Representative 
Oversen .  I certain ly do not endorse discrimination against people who are addressing here 
or anyone else. If we set groups aside, especial ly when we have ambiguous definitions in 
this b i l l ,  that are probably not going to usual ly be clarified ever. I think our constitution is 
adequate and the rights guarantees al l  of us and voting for the motion but I'm not voting 
against any person. I strongly disagree with the practice and I'm not endorsing 
discrim ination. 

Representative Mooney: My nephew is gay and when he learned we were having this 
hearing,  we spent some time visiting about th is. One of the th ings that he is completely 
unaware of and most of the younger generations are ,  many d iscriminations have taken 
place throughout our history. When we go back in history and remember some of the 
egreg ious acts of d iscriminations and the justifications for those, its heart breaking . To g ive 
Caleb some context what th is means to ind ividuals in North Dakota. In  Minnesota, he can't 
be fi red because of his sexual orientation and he assumed that that's the truth everywhere .  
Those basic protections for human rights to me is what this is al l  about and the fact that the 
state of North Dakota wou ld be saying,  yes we bel ieve in the right of human d ign ity exactly 
as our constitution states. Through history, we have had to protect certain populations and 
is an unsavory real ity but it is a reality of our society. I wil l  vote against the motion and 
stand in favor of SB 2279. I do believe that perception is real ity and out there in the world 
and what the people in North Dakota are hearing this as a negative action and we are not 
standing with them. As a leg islation , we are not prepared to deal with this, it's not going 
away and it's going to keep coming back in some sort of fashion or another. 

Representative Rich Becker: All I want to say at the moment is we each have to have 
our own personal inner voice that is saying this is right. Is th is d iscrim ination or is this 
special privileges? What has guided me in my decision is my own worry about the moral 
values slide that our country is in and this is one more piece of it, I have a concern for that. 
I have friends who are gay, or friends who has child ren who are gay, I don't see the 
d iscrimination.  I see th ings changing ever so slowly but none the less, the overriding factor 
that I 'm hearing from the majority of people, don't continue this sl ide. Vote against this bi l l ,  
I personal ly feel this way, wi l l  vote against i t  and I can look myself in  the mirror. A l l  th ings 
considered , we have looked at this and I 'm not going to change along with anyone else 
overnight in their views. The pendulum is going too far, too fast and I 'm very content to 
vote against this b i l l . 
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Representative Oversen :  I want to clarify, my comments were not i ntended to be 
offensive or harsh to anyone on this committee because I respect and u nderstand where 
people are coming from. I know we have young people watching this vote and it means a 
lot to them to say that we as a state, believe they have protections or not. That's a l l  my 
statement meant. 

Representative Weisz: Further d iscussion? 

Roll call was taken on SB 2279, for a Do Not Pass as Amended with 1 1  yes, 2 no, 0 
a bsent and Representative Weisz is the carrier. 
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Government and Veterans Affairs 

I n  1953 when I moved to N D  from Monta na, the Native Ame rica ns  were fi n a l ly 

gett i ng rights from the Federa l government.  They had been m a d e  citize ns i n  

o rd e r  to fight i n  WWI I  but d id not yet have the vote; that d id n't ha ppen u nti l the 

I nd ia n  Civi l R ights Act of  1968. I n  the 1960s when I was newly ma rried, the race 

ca rd was sti l l  be i ng p layed with the i ntegration of schools a nd the Civi l  R ights Act 

of 1964.  Today we sti l l  have not provided civi l rights for a l l  o u r  citizens.  Do you 

rem e m be r  the Su nday school song, "Jesus Loves the Litt le C h i l d ren"? It says he 

loves ALL the l itt l e  c h i l d re n  of the world a nd that inc l udes eve ryone i n cl u d i ng 

people who a re lesb i a n, gay, bisexua l , tra nsgender or  q u estion i ng.  

I n  the d raft ing of t h i s  b i l l , the Legis lative Cou nc i l  a d m its to an e rror that was not 

ca ught u nti l after the b i l l  was fi led . You have a copy of that a me n d ment. 

My job is  to te l l  you what the b i l l  does and there a re a n u m be r  of people h e re 

today to spea k i n  favor of the b i l l .  I know you have a lso rece ived a n u m be r  of 

e m a i l s, both person a l  a nd i n  the form of a form lette r. You a lso have a very 

perso n a l  e m a i l  from o u r  former senator, Tom F ieb iger, which I hope you w i l l  ta ke 

the ti m e  to rea d .  I saw Tom on Satu rday a nd he sends h i s  greeti ngs to members 

of h i s  former "A" com m ittee . 

Th is  b i l l  a mends  3 t it les i n  the Centu ry Code .  Sections 1-19 dea l with the N D  

H u ma n  R ights Act. There a re two new defi n it ions, page 3; l i ne 22, "ge n d e r  

identity" mea ns  a ctua l  or  pe rce ived ge nder-related identity, a ppea ra n ce, or  

m a n ner isms, or  oth e r  gender-re lated cha racterist ics of  a n  i n d ivid u a l  rega rd less of 

the i n d ivid ua l 's  des ignated ge nder  at b i rth;  a nd page 4, l i ne 29, "sex u a l  
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o rientation" m e a n s  actua l  or perce ived heterosexua l ity, b isexua l ity, 

homosexua l ity or gender ide ntity. Section 3, page 5, l i n e  27 exe m pts re l ig ious 

o rga n izations, associations or  society or  a nonprofit i n stitution or  orga n ization 

u nder  ce rta i n  c i rcu msta nces. The rema inder  of the sections u nd e r  the H u ma n  

Rights Act d e a l  with e m p l oyment agencies, l a bor  orga n izations, certa i n  

e m p loyment a dvertis i ng, e m ployment q u a l ifications, sen iority a n d  m e rit systems, 

p u b l ic  accom modations, pu b l ic  services, cred it tra nsa ctions, sa le  or  re nta l of rea l  

estate a n d  b rokerage services. 

Sect ions 20-24 d e a l  with p ro h i bited practices in i n s u ra nce a nd section 25 dea ls  

with  the j u ry se lection a nd service act.  

Cu rre ntly there a re 2 1  states a nd the District of Co l u mbia  that h ave tota l non­

d iscri m i nation po l ic ies.  Add to that over two h u n d red cities and cou nties a n d  

m a ny Fort u n e  1000 com pa n ies a nd America n 200 l a w  fi rms that have s i m i l a r  

pol ic ies.  I n  t h e  past 1 0  yea rs, major bus inesses have gone from 13 t o  366 with 

scores of 100 from H RC, m a ny of those com pa n ies ope rate in N D. We need to 

m a ke the state of N D  an a ccepting state to keep o u r  you ng peop le  h e re a nd 

e n cou rage oth e rs to com e .  I ask  you to read the h a n douts I have provided a nd 

p lease l iste n to those here today. 
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SB 2279 - Test imony of Tom F iebiger 

Cha i rm a n  H ogue, m e mb e rs of the Senate J ud icia ry Committee, my n a me is  Tom 

Fiebiger, a nd I s u b m it th is  test imony today i n  support of S B  2279.  I h ave testified 

twice previou sly on s i m i l a r  legis lation i nvo lving this  i m porta nt  issue.  

I wea r  severa l d ifferent hats.  I am a former legis lato r. I am an attorney who has 

rep resented N o rth  Da kota citizens in  civi l rights cases for a l most 25 yea rs .  I am a 

member of the N D  H u m a n  Rights Com m i ssion a nd former m e m be r  a n d  cha i r  of 

the Fargo H um a n  Re lat ions Com m ission.  Li ke many others i n  N o rth  Da kota, I a m  

also the pa rent of a wonderfu l,  b right a nd ca ring son - who j u st happens  to be 

gay. 

What SB 2279 d oes is  extend basic protections in the home a n d  workp lace to 

mem bers of the LG BT com m u n ity i n  North Dakota by i n c l u d i ng sexua l  orientation 

to the N orth Da kota F a i r  Housing Act a nd the N o rth Da kota H u ma n  Rights Act. 

The people  th is  legis lat ion is  designed to p rotect from los ing the i r  j o b  or  being 

evicted from thei r homes beca use they a re gay, lesbian,  b isexua l  or  tra nsgender  

a re o u r  sons, d a u ghters, brothers a nd s isters. They a re the fo l ks we work with a nd 

the wor;s h i p e rs that we sit n ext to in  the pews on S u n d ay. They a re o u r  friends 

and fam i ly .  They a re the peop le  we love . 

As a practic ing attorney I have fie lded ca l ls over the yea rs from N o rt h  Da kota 

cit izens a s ki ng me for l ega l assista nce beca use they lost t h e i r  job  beca use they 

were gay. Sad ly, there was not h i ng I could do to h e l p  them .  People now no longer 

ca l l, but not beca use it's  not h a p p e n i ng, but beca use t hey now know they h ave no 

such p rotections in N o rth  Da kota . I fi nd it a sad state of affa i rs when in 2015 
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someone ca n sti l l  be fi red fro m t h e i r  job  or  evicted fro m the i r  h o m e  beca use of 

who th ey l ove if  they h a p p e n  to work on the N o rt h  Da kota s i d e  of the  Red R ive r -

but a re p rotecte d if  they work on the M i n nesota s i d e  of t h e  r ive r .  

There is a reason a l m ost 90% of the  Fort u n e  500 co m pa n ies i n c l u d e  sexua l  

o ri e ntat ion a s  a p rotected c lass i n  t h e i r  company h a n d books .  They wa nt t h e i r  

b u s i n ess t o  be successfu l - a nd that's  accom p l i shed b y  be i ng i nv itat i o n a l  t o  t h e  

best a n d the  br ightest  - n o  m atte r w h a t  t h e i r  sexu a l  o r ie ntat io n .  A s k  Sa nford why 

the i r  pe rso n n e l  po l ic ies  i n c l u d e  such a p rovis i o n .  It' s  j u st good b u s i n ess .  

I ma g in e  having to wo rry that  if you ta l k  a bout yo u r  p e rso n a l  l i fe at work o r  have a 

p ictu re of yo u r  pa rt n e r  o n  you r  desk  at  work - som et h i ng m ost of us  ta ke for 

gra nted, you ca n be fi red . That's  the rea l ity i n  2015 fo r m a ny of o u r  fe l l ow North 

Da kota n LG BT cit i z e n s  without  th is  leg is lat i o n .  Th is  leg is lat ion w i l l  s e rve to 

i n crease the state's a b i l ity to attract, reta i n  a nd e)( p a n d  its pool  of ta le nted 

workers.  We wa nt to e n cou rage o u r  yo u ng people to stay in the state a n d  m a ny 

of them d es i re i n c l u s i ve a nd d i verse co m m u n it ies .  P a s s i ng th is  b i l l  i s  n ot o n ly the 

r ight  t h i ng to do - it  i s  a b ig step i n  the r ight  d i rect i o n .  

T h e  fi rst t i m e  I i ntro d u ced a b i l l  s i m i l a r  t o  SB  2279 was i n  the  2009 leg is lat ive 

sessio n .  After  t h e  b i l l  p a ssed the  Senate, I was in a groce ry store in B i sma rck one 

eve n i ng when a B i s m a rck State Col lege stu d ent a p p roached m e  with a big gr in  

and h is h a n d  o u tstretc h e d .  H e  was wea r i ng a tuxed o .  I l e a rned l ate r he  h a d  j u st 

fi n ished a n  o rch est ra conce rt that  eve n i ng .  But what struck m e  was how excited 

. a nd gratefu l he was, s h a k i n g  my h a n d  a nd t h a n ki ng me p rofu s e l y  for t ry i ng to 

m a ke it so that  p e o p l e  w h o  were gay in N o rt h  Da kota d id n ot h a ve to wo rry a bout 

gett ing  fi red o r  los i ng t h e i r  a p a rtment - j u st beca use they were gay.  N ow, s ix 
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yea rs later, I sti l l  tea r  u p  w h e n  I t h i n k  of that enco unter a nd wonder  where that 

you ng man a nd oth e rs l i ke h i m  a re today. I t h i n k  of their p arents a n d  s i b l i ngs. Did 

h e  stay in North Dakota . . . o r  l eave for a state friend l ier  to those who h a ppen to 

be b iologica l ly att ra cted to someone of the same sex? We s h o u l d  a l l  be t h i n ki ng 

of these fol ks, a (e fe l l ow N o rth  D a kota ns, today, i n  2015, as  we d i scuss th is  

i mportant b i l l .  Ufe i s  h a rd enough without us ma king it  h a rder .  

Th is  legis lat ion s h o u ld n ot be a pa rtisa n issue.  We have s u pp o rt from both s ides 

of the a is l e  . .It is  a fa m i ly a nd bus iness issue that affects us  a l l .  It  is  a bout creating 

i nc lus ive, s u pportive a nd d ive rse comm u n ities a s  ou r state contin ues to expan d  

a n d  p rogress . It i s  a n  e q u a l  rights issue - a civi l  r ights issue.  It w a s  M a rt in  Luther 

King, J r . who sa id  t h e  t i m e  is a lways right to do what's right. I u rge you as  

members of  the Senate J ud icia ry Com m ittee to do what's r ight a nd give SB 2279 a 

D O  PASS reco m m e n d at ion .  

Tha n k  you for you r t h o ughtfu l consideration of th is  i m po rta nt legis lati o n .  
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CEI 2015 Executive Summary 

Even after two 
significant revi­
sions resulting 
in  more strin ­
gent criteria,  this 
is the highest 
n umber of 1 00 
percent-rated 
busin esses i n  
the entire h istory 
of the CEI. 

Corporate Equal ity Index 201 5 
A New Standard of Equality 
Emerges from Corporate America 

In this 1 3th edition of the Human Rights 
Campaign Foundation's Corporate Equality Index, 
a record 366 businesses achieved a top rating of 
1 00 percent. Even after two significant revisions 
resulting in more stringent criteria, this is the 
highest number of 1 00 percent-rated businesses 
in the entire history of the CEI. 

I n  the first year of the CEI a decade ago, 1 3  
businesses achieved a top score of 1 00 percent 
and in the 20 1 2  CEI, the year of the most recent 
scorecard updates, just 1 89 businesses earned 
top marks. 

that specifically include definitions and/ or 
scenarios on gender identity in the workplace; 
and , 

e Hundreds of major businesses have adopted 
gender transition guidelines for employees 
and their teams to establish best practices in 
transgender inclusion. 

The policies, benefits and practices businesses 
must implement to earn a perfect score are 
best-in-class demonstrations of corporate 
commitments to LGBT workers and the broader 
community at-large. 

�. / � ! 

Highly rated businesses span nearly every 
industry and major geography of the United 
States. In addition, more and more businesses 
are going global with their LGBT in itiatives. 

In addition to the depth of investment the top- !� 
rated businesses have made in the name of \ 

This year marks another set of records with 
regard to comprehensive transgender inclusion 
initiatives :  

9 Two-thirds of the Fortune 500 and 8 9  percent 
of the entire CEI universe of businesses offer 
explicit gender identity non-discrimination 
protections; 

It One-third of the Fortune 500 and over half 
of the CE! universe of businesses offer 
transgender-inclusive health care coverage, 
up from 0 in  2002 and nearly ten times as 
many businesses as five years ago; 

• A majority of CEl·rated b usinesses (eight in 
ten) offer education and training programs 

Fortune 500 

Sexual Orientation In  Non-Discrimination Policy 

Gender I dentity in Non-Discrimination Policy 

6 C O R P O RATE EQUALITY I N D EX 20 1 11  

equality, the 2015 CEI shows an unprecedented 
bre�dth of brand new businesses. This year's CEI 
contains an i mpressive 48 new businesses that 
opted into the survey. 

A grand total of 4,446 m ajor brands fall under 
rated CEI businesses. 

The following report is reflective of primarily 
verified data submitted to the HRC Foundation as 
well as independent research on non-responding 
businesses. Wherever credit can be verified, all 
ranked businesses will receive it, irrespective of 
their participation in the CEI survey. 

The HRC Foundation has worked with hundreds 
of businesses to promote workplace equality for 
LGBT workers. 

2op2 2008 2013 201 4 2015 

61:% 88% 88% 91% 89% 

3o/o 25% 57% 61% 66% r) 
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CEI 2 0 1 5  

This year, a record 
366 businesses 

achieved a 
top rating of 

1 00 percent. 

In the first year of 
the CEI a d ecade 

ago, 1 3  businesses 
achieved a top score 

of 100 percent. 

1 00% by I n d ustry 

Law Firms 

Banking and Financial Services 

Retail a nd Consumer Products 

Food, Beverages and G roceries 

· I n surance 

Consulting a n d  Business Services 

Healthcare 

Hotels, Resorts and Casinos 

Manufacturing 

Advertising and Marketing 

Pharmaceuticals 

Computer Software 

Entertainment and Electronic Media 

Auto motive 

Telecom m u nications 

Chemicals and Biotechnology 

Computer Hardware and Office Equipment 

Energy a nd Utilities 

High-Tech/Photo/Science Equip. 

I nternet Services and Retailing 

Airlines 

Computer and Data Services 

Aerospace and Defense 

Apparel, Fashion, Textiles, Dept. Stores 

Real Estate, Commercial 

Home Furnishing 

Mining and Metals 

Oil and Gas 

Publishing and Printing 

Transportation and Travel 

Miscellaneous 

El www. h rc.org/cei 
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SB 2279 Testimony 
Representative Josfi.Ua A. Boschee, District 44 

Senate Judiciary Committee - February 2, 2 1 05 

Chairman Hogue and Committee Members, 

For the record, my name is Joshua Boschee and I have the privilege of representing District 44, 
which is comprised of parts of north Fargo. 

As Senator Nelson indicated, the bill before you is the same bill that was introduced last session, 
which amends the ND Human Rights Act and the ND Fair Housing Act to ensure that North 
Dakotans are protected from discrimination in employment, housing, public services, credit 
transactions and a number of other forms of everyday personal and professional transactions. 

This legislation is important and needed as North Dakota works to recruit and retain a talented 
workforce and new businesses to our state. My generation no longer looks j ust for a j ob to work 
at, but a community to thrive in and for most of my generation, those communities should 
provide culture, creativity and great opportunities for community engagement. SB 2279 does 
this by sending a signal to LGBT North Dakotans that they can be honest about who they are 
and whom they call family, without the fear of losing their j ob or housing. Furthermore, it 
signals to people from all over the country, that North Dakota is open for business and looking 
for hardworking, talented individuals to keep our economy and communities growing. 

In its 20 1 5  Legislative Agenda Value Statements, the Economic Development Association of 
ND states: 

"Quality of place is essential to attracting talent to live and work in communities and in 
revitalization, diversification, and creation of new wealth."  

Their Agenda continues to say: 
"North Dakota has unmatched economic opportunity for industry and individuals. The 
state must support a quality of life that attracts and retains talent to maximize it's 
growth potential. "  

The Department o f  Commerce's N D  Economic Development Strategic Plan: 20 1 0-2020 is 
comprised of the following goals: 

Goal 1 :  Create, attract, and retain quality jobs and workforce targeted industries and 
high-demand occupations. 
Goal 2 :  Strengthen North Dakota's business climate and image to increase national and 
global competitiveness. 
Goal 3 :  Enhance North Dakota's image. 

The 20 1 4  Update from ND 2020 and Beyond states: 
"North Dakota must capitalize on the opportunities that have emerged as a result of our 
state's impressive economic growth. We must continue to work to create an excellent 
quality of life for our most important asset, our people. Access to safe communities, 
exceptional education, quality healthcare and j obs are an important part of the future for 



• 
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our citizens. We must continue to strengthen our overall business climate to ensure our 
people continue to have ample opportunities, while still diversifying our economy." 
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Currently, 89% of Fortune 500 companies provide protections against discrimination based on 
sexual orientation and 66% based on gender identity. Employers in North Dakota like Wal-Mart, 
Verizon Wireless, Wells Fargo, Microsoft, Best Buy, Target and US Bank to name a few offer 
these protections to their employees. In the public sector, the Federal government, including the 
military and National Guard, along with the ND University System provides protections 
to LGBT employees; employees that live and work in our state. Employees who are protected 
while at work, but when they leave the parking lot to head to their apartment or part-time job, 
those protections only exist in their rearview mirror. 

When employees look for a place to work and live, North Dakota has to compete with 2 1  other 
states that have nondiscrimation policies already in place including several in our region MN, IA, 
IL, WI, CO and NM. Passing SB 2279 will open up North Dakota to a number of employers and 
employees who may have never considered the opportunities our great state provides. 

Some of you have expressed concerns that enhancing nondiscrimination policies will 
provide special rights to one group of people over another. I disagree with this 
sentiment. Enhancing nondiscrimination policies recognizes that in our society, certain people 
become targets and are more likely to be treated unfairly than others. The opportunity for this 
type of treatment is detrimental for our families, our communities, and our state. Our state and 
our nation have a history of overcoming these forms of discrimination. At one point in our 
nation's short history discrimination occurred based on sex, race, and religion. Many times it 
took courage for elected leaders to say "No More" to protect groups that have historically been 
discriminated against. Now it is North Dakota's turn to ensure that our family members, friends, 
co-workers and neighbors are judged by the content of their character, not whom they love or 
call family. 

As elected leaders, we cannot bury our heads in the sand and continue to be naYve that 
discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender North Dakotans does not 
occur. While we all know that the majority of businesses and landlords in our state do not 
discriminate; you will shortly hear from opposition to this legislation that it is in fact, their right 
to discriminate in whom they hire, rent to, or even provide service to in facilitating commerce. 

Since the Department of Labor does not collect data on individuals who request assistance, that 
are not covered under their obligations, we don't the number of North Dakotans that have 
experienced workplace or housing discrimination. However, I can share anecdotally that I 
personally know of three to four individuals a year that feel they have been discriminated based 
on their sexual orientation or gender identity. These individuals include college students 
working part time at a convenience store to a nurse practitioner looking for an apartment with her 
partner, as they considered moving to Fargo to work for one our healthcare providers. 

Passing SB 2279 tells the employers and landlords who wish to discriminate based on who 
someone is, that North Dakota is home to a variety of people and as long as they are doing their 
job and paying their rent on time, discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 
is wrong and illegal. Passing SB 2279 is a statement to LGBT North Dakotans, their families 



and those North Dakotans that oppose discrimination in any form, that we value our family, 
friends, neighbors, co-workers and those we worship with, and we value all that they contribute 
to our great state. 

In fact, the majority of North Dakotans agree, that discrimination is not a North Dakota 
value. Included in my testimony are the results of a phone survey conducted last week by DFM 
Research of 400North Dakota residents over the age of 1 8 .  You will find that: 

• 59% of North Dakotans support SB 2279, including 
• 68% of east city residents and 62% of west city residents 
• 61  % of east rural residents 
• 63% of self-identified independents and 
• 65% of self-identified moderates 

It is clear that North Dakotans value hard work and talent. They do not value discrimination, 
which is why if a North Dakotan is discriminated against, they should be able to work with the 
Department of Labor to rectify the situation. 

Chairman Hogue and committee members, I ask for a DO PASS recommendation on SB 2279 so 
that our LGBT family members, friends and constituents can live free from the fear of 
discrimination in North Dakota. 
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Interviews: 
Margin of Error: 
Interview Dates: 

Sample: 

Survey Sponsor: 

400 residents over the age 18 that reside in North Dakota 

±4.9 percentage points 

January 26- 31, 2015 

DFM RESEARCH 

Landline and cell phone sample. Random digit numbers provided by Survey Sample 
International (SSI) of Fairfield, CT. SSI provided Stone Research with 4,000 residential 
random phone numbers from a pool of listed and unlisted numbers in the boundary area, 
and 1, 700 cell phone numbers; which then were stratified into five distinct regions. 

Friends of Joshua Boschee 

Q: North Dakota prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, age, but 
not on the basis of sexual orientation. Some in the legislature want to change that, and 
have introduced Senate Bill 2279 which would also prohibit discrimination on the basis 
of sexual orientation. Suppose you had a vote on Senate Bill 2279, would you vote YES 
to pass the bill, or NO to reject the Bill? 

Yes, to pass . . ..... ..... ... ... .. ........ ... ...... ...... .. ................. ........ ..... ........... 59°/o 
No, to reject..... ................................. ................................................ 31 
{VOL) Unsure ......... ........ ......... ... :...... ............................ ................. .. 10 

Gender Yes No Unsure GAP 

Men 58% 33 9 +25 
Women 59 30 11 +29 

Age Yes No Unsure GAP 

18-39 60 30 10 +30 
40-64 56 36 9 +20 
65 plus 60 26 14 +34 

Education Yes No Unsure GAP 

High School/Less 58 28 14 +30 
Some College/ AA Degree 54 37 9 +17 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 66 28 6 +38 

Region Yes No Unsure GAP 

East City 68 26 6 +42 
West City 62 27 10 +35 
East Rural 61 33 7 +28 
Central Rural 49 37 14 +12 
West Rural 49 36 15 +13 

Parll'. Identification Yes No Unsure GAP 

Democrat 73 18 9 +55 
Independent 63 30 8 +33 
Republican 45 41 13 +4 

Ideology Yes No Unsure GAP 

Liberal 71 19 10 +52 
Moderate 65 26 9 +39 
Conservative 49 40 11 +9 
Tea Party (Favorable) 38 53 10 -15 



Good morn ing committee members and thank you for this opportunity to offer my 
testimony. My name is Jared Kellerman and I 'm here in support of SB 2279. Before I 
explain why I support this bi l l  I need to tel l  you a l ittle bit about myself and how I came to 
stand before you today. 

I grew up on a beef and grain farm outside of Sheldon , ND.  I had the privi lege of helping 
my parents corral beef cattle, do night watches during calving season, and run the grain 
cart during fall harvest. I maybe didn't see working on the farm as a privi lege in  my 
youth , but I know in h indsight that these experiences taught me to value my work and to 
put myself into an effort wholehearted ly in  order to see a return. Undoubtedly, this work 
ethic drove me to do my best in school where I came pretty close to getting 4.0's in high 
school and col lege. But one thing that tainted this experience was the constant fear that 
I might be gay !  

Growing up in  a small town , my only exposure to the words lesbian or  gay - to say 
nothing of bisexual or transgender - were through hal lway gossip and locker room slurs. 
It wasn 't uncommon to hear boys in my school say "don 't be queer" and for boys and 
gir ls to ask, "you don 't have girlfriend ? what are you gay?" Growing up in  that 
environment, I d idn 't real ly know what gay meant except that I would be bul l ied or 
socially ostracized if I were labeled as gay. As a Lutheran that taught Sunday-school ,  I 
enjoyed talking about the love God had for us but couldn't help but wonder if God was 
waiting to judge me for having same-sex attractions accord ing to my churches lack of 
conversation on the topic. This fear of being labeled gay continued from high school to 
college; it led to a hyper-vigi lant self-conciousness and cl in ically significant levels of 
depression and anxiety. Although I was doing wel l  academically, I strugg led to make 
genuine connections with people, cou ldn 't sleep wel l ,  and always exerted a lot of effort 
just to be in  publ ic (al l hal lmarks of mental i l lness) . My parents, knowing I was suffering 
but not knowing where to go, supported my choice financial ly to try conversion therapy. I 
went to a couple of sessions hoping that there was some technique I had overlooked 
that would take my same sex attractions away and that I might be "normal . "  It wasn 't 
unti l  my last year of college that I recognized the connection between my years of 
fearing being gay to my mental health problems ; that's when I decided that I needed to 
tel l myself that I was gay and that that was okay. I wasn 't going to survive, otherwise . 

Although I was able to come out to myself, I sti l l  d idn 't feel l ike I was welcome in  ND 
because no one was talking about LGBT North Dakotans. I had tried so hard for so long 
to fit in  that I decided to give myself a break by l iving abroad for a year in  South Korea 
teaching Eng l ish. It was a privi lege to l ive abroad because I met so many diverse people 
and felt l ike it was safe for me to publ icly share that I was gay; people were more 
shocked by the fact that I was North Dakotan more so than I was gay . . .  they had never 
seen one of us before. Living in this environment, I found the support and affirmation I 
needed to integrate al l  of the parts of my identity. As a result, my mental health 
improved , my self confidence went up, and I was and am happy with who I am. 
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It is for these strugg les that I have just shared with you that I support SB 2279. I 
suffered in  silence for a long time because no one in my hometown or my academic 
career was talking about LGBT identities in a positive way if at al l .  I left ND once 
because I felt l ike no one wanted me here and I wanted to survive. In the next year, I wil l 
graduate with a master's in couple and fami ly therapy and wil l  be ready to join the 
workforce. Having this bil l supported today would tell me and every other LG BT North 
Dakotan that we're wanted here, that our efforts matter, and that we will have the same 
rights and responsibi l ities as every straight North Dakotan does. 

I 've heard in conversation that some people doubt that LG BT d iscrimination is a 
problem because no one is speaking up. Although I 'm speaking up in front of you today, 
not everyone that is LGBT in North Dakota feels l ike they have a voice or are not wi l l i ng 
to raise their concerns at work or in their housing because they have more to lose by 
talking than by remaining si lent. I have talked to you today about the damage that 
si lence can cause ; it compromises your wel l-being and your abil ity to fully do your work. 
If you doubt that this is a struggle for North Dakotans, I warmly invite you to Fargo to the 
Pride Collective & Community Center to hear the stories of LG BT community members 
and their struggles. I hope today that you wil l break the damaging silence we as LG BT 
North Dakotans have had to l ive with by supporting this bi l l .  
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DATE: 

RE : Legal Analysis o 

I ntroduction 

Enacting North Dakota Senate Bil l  2279 ("SB 2279")-the proposed legislation to expand 
North Dakota' s  nondiscrimination l aws to include the categories of "sexual orientation" and "gender 
identity"-wil l  threaten North Dakotans' First Amendment freedoms and expose the State to legal and 
fiscal liabili ty. 1 H erein, we examine some of the legal concerns posed by S B  2279, should it be 
enacted: 

I .  S B  2279 will violate constitutional rights by requiring North Dakotans to participate in 
events, or produce messages, with which they disagree. 

I I .  S B  2279 threatens child-welfare providers, and those they serve. 

I l l .  S B  2279 will require schools, businesses, gyms, and other locations to make their 
restrooms, locker rooms, and shower rooms gender neutral . This will violate North 
Dakotans' constitutional right to privacy and place these organizations and businesses at 
risk of lawsuits. 

I .  S B  2279 will violate constitutional rights b y  requiring North Dakotans t o  participate 

in events, or produce messages, with which they disagree. 

Both the United States and North Dakota Constitutions protect freedom of expression from 
government coercion.2 The constitutional right to free speech "includes both the right to speak freely 
and the right to refrain from speaking."3 A long l ine of U.S .  Supreme Court precedent establishes that 
the government cannot force citizens or organizations to convey messages that they deem 
obj ectionable; nor may it punish them for declining to convey such messages.4 

1 SB 2279 defines "sexual orientation" to include "gender identity": '"Sexual orientation' means actual or perceived 
heterosexuality, bisexuality, homosexuality, or gender identity." SB 2279, � 1 4-02.4-02, 20, 64th Leg. Assem.,  Reg. Sess. 
(N.D. 20 1 5) .  "Gender identity" is defined as "actual or perceived gender-related identity, appearance, or mannerisms, or 
other gender-related characteristics of an individual, regardless of the individual's designated gender at birth." SB 2279, � 
1 4-02.4-02, 1 0, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess. (N.D. 20 1 5) .  

2 See U.S. CONST. amend. I ;  N.D.  CONST. art. I , * 4 .  
3 Wooley v .  Maynard, 430 U.S .  705,  7 1 4  ( 1 977). 
4 See, e.g. , Hurley v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian & Bisexual Group of Boston, 5 1 5  U.S. 557, 572-73 ( 1 995) (government may 
not require a public-accommodation parade organization to facilitate the message of a gay-advocacy group); Pacific Gas 
and Elec. Co. v. Public Utils. Comm 'n of Cal. , 475 U.S .  l ,  20-2 1 ( 1 986) (plurality) (government may not require a business 

1 
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But if  S B  2279 is enacted, it will  violate North Dakotans' constitutional ly protected freedoms 
of speech and conscience by coercing individuals to participate in events or faci l itate messages with 
which they disagree. This proposed legislation could also subj ect the State to lawsuits for which the 
State may be l iable for attorneys' fees. 

For example, the vast majority of businesses and organizations, including those owned by 
people of faith, prioritize treating all people with dignity and respect, including those who identify as 
gay, lesbian, or transgender. Indeed, research was unable to identify a substantiated, or even alleged, 
pattern and practice of sexual-orientation or gender-identity discrimination in North Dakota. But some 
business owners, because of their religious or moral beliefs, are unable to faci litate or participate in 
certain expressive events, such as same-sex ceremonies. Similarly, some business owners are unable 
to create messages that are contrary to what their faith commands. Because S B  2279 lacks protections 
for rights of conscience, the enactment of SB 2279 will  allow the government to discriminate against 
good North Dakotan citizens who are simply trying to run their businesses consistent with their faith 
or mission. The adoption of SB 2279 thus will present these individuals and businesses with an 
intolerable choice:  violate their conscience or face legal action, including fees, and possible 
tennination of employment.5  Moreover, SB 2279 wil l  stifle the diversity, choice, and freedom that are 
essential to flourishing communities and economic growth. 

Legal action taken against business owners simply trying to l ive and work according to their 
conscience is not mere speculation. On the contrary, measures simi lar to SB 2279 enacted in other 
jurisdictions have resulted in government coercion and legal action taken against individuals and 
businesses that declined to express a message, or participate in, support, or host an event inconsistent 
with their deeply held religious beliefs. Some examples include: 

• Barronel l e  Stutzman, the 70-year-old owner of Arlene' s  Flowers in Richland, Washington, has 
served and employed people, including those who identify as gay and l esbian, for her entire 40-
year career. But in 20 1 3 , both the Washington State Attorney General and a same-sex couple 
sued Barronel le in her personal and business capacities pursuant to a law similar to S B  2279.6 

to include a third party's expression in i ts  bill ing envelope); Wooley, 430 U.S.  at  7 1 7  (government may not require citizens 
to display state motto on license plates); Miami Herald Publ 'g Co. v. Tornillo, 4 1 8  U.S .  24 1 ,  258 ( 1 974) (government may 
not require a newspaper to include a third party's writings in its editorial page). 

5 See N.D.  CENT. CODE § 1 4-02.4-20.  "If the department, as the result of an administrative hearing, or the court 
determines that the respondent has engaged in or is engaging in a discriminatory practice, the department or the court may 
enjoin the respondent from engaging in the unlawful practice and order temporary or permanent injunctions, equitable 
relief, and backpay limited to no more than two years from the date a minimally sufficient complaint was filed with the 
department or the court."  
6 For more information about Barronelle Stutzman and Arlene's Flowers, including links to relevant legal documents, see 
the Alliance Defending Freedom media page, available at http://www.alliancealert.org/tag/zz-state-of-washington-v­
arlenes-flowers/ ( last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) .  The complaints against Barronelle are available at 
http://www.adfmedia.org/files/ ArlenesFlowersAGcomplaint.pdf (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) and 

http://www .adfmedia.org/files/ ArlenesFlowersACLUcomplaint.pdf (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 20 1 5) .  A short video featuring 
Barronelle telling her story is available at http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=M DETkcCw63c (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  2 0 1 5) .  

S6 ::>:d1 � 2 
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These legal actions resulted when Barronelle referred one of the gentlemen, a long-time 
customer and friend, to a different florist because she could not create floral arrangements and 
provide full wedding support for his same-sex ceremony. Barronel le believes that marriage is 
a sacred relationship of a man and a woman, created by God. Even though Barronel le had 
provided this same-sex couple flowers for birthdays, anniversaries, Valentine's Day, house 
warming parties, and many other events for nine years-and even though multiple other 
florists were eager to provide flowers for the couple's wedding for free-both the state and the 
couple are seeking to compel Barronelle to either adopt their view of marriage and violate her 
faith or lose everything she owns. 

• Donald and Evelyn Knapp are two ministers who own the H itching Post Wedding Chapel .  
Late last year, pursuant to its local nondiscrimination law, the City of Coeur D ' alene, Idaho 
tried to force the Knapps to perform a same-sex ceremony, even though doing so would violate 
their religious convictions . 7  The City subsequently confirmed that it had not made a mistake: 
the wedding chapel was subject to the nondiscrimination ordinance similar to SB 2279.8 
All iance Defending Freedom attorneys have a filed a lawsuit on the Knapps' behalf, 
challenging the constitutionality of the nondiscrimination law as applied to them.9 

• In Lexington, Kentucky, an ordinance similar to SB 2279 is currently being used to prosecute 
Blaine Adamson, the owner of a printing company, Hands On Originals.  Blaine has employees 
who identify as gay, and he has always served everyone regardless of sexual orientation. As is 
the case with most printing companies, Blaine must sometimes decline certain requests to print 
shirts because the messages he is asked to print violate his conscience. However, when he 
referred a request to print messages on shirts promoting a local "Gay Pride" festival because it 
would violate his religious convictions to print and convey a message promoting the event, the 
group hosting the festival fi led a complaint against Hands On Originals, alleging sexual­
orientation discrimination. And even though the representative of the festival found another 
printing shop that produced the requested shirts for free, Blaine's case remains in l itigation as 
the government seeks to coerce him to run his business according to its particular ideology, 
instead of protecting Blaine's freedom to run his business according to his conscience. 1 0  

• A Georgia woman filed a discrimination complaint against a l icensed counselor, who, because 
of her deeply held religious beliefs about same-sex relationships, respectfully declined to 
provide counseling about her same-sex relationship. The counselor referred the prospective 
client to a col league, who, within minutes, provided the client with the help she sought. The 
counselor was nonetheless terminated from her employment. 1 1  

7 Alliance Defending Freedom, "Govt tells Christian ministers: Perform same-sex weddings or face jail, fines," October 1 8 ,  
20 1 4, available a t  http://www.adfmedia.org/News/PRDetail/9364 (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) .  
8 Alliance Defending Freedom, "City of Coeur d'Alene confirms for-profit wedding chapel violates ordinance," October 
2 1 ,  20 1 4, available at http://www.adfmedia.org/News/PRDetail/9366 (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5). 

9 Id. 
1 °  For more information about Blaine Adamson and Hands On Originals, including links to relevant legal documents, see 
ADF: Ky. T-shirt company not required to promote message it disagrees with, April 20, 20 1 2 , available at 
http://www.adfmedia.org/News/PRDetail/5454 (last visited Jan. 2 1 ,  20 1 5) .  
1 1  Walden v.  Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Case No. 1 :08-CV-2278-JEC-WEJ, Magistrate Judge's  Final 
Report and Recommendation, Doc. No. 1 1 1 , at 1 6; 1 9-22; and 40-4 1 (N.D. Ga. Nov. 20, 2009). 
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These individual and businesses, and others l ike them-who cannot discard their rel i gious 
beliefs at the door when they operate their businesses or carry out their professions-should not be 
forced to choose between their conscience and their livelihood. SB 2279 ' s  failure to exhibit tolerance 
imperil s  the constitutionally-protected religious l iberty of North Dakotans and needlessly drains North 
Dakota of business, revenue, tax dollars, and employment opportunities. 1 2  

I I .  S B  2279 threatens child-welfare p roviders, and those they serve. 

Evidence from other jurisdictions that have passed measures similar to SB 2279 reveals that 
these l aws lead to government discrimination against certain individuals and organizations engaged in 
the provision of chi ld welfare services. There are frequent examples of government entities refusing 
to contract with individuals and organizations that conduct themselves in accordance with their 
religious beliefs because of the government entities' adherence to nondiscrimination laws. 

Unfortunate victims of this discrimination-in addition to the children, birth mothers, and 
adoptive families they serve-include the faith-based chi ld-welfare agencies that, for religious 
reasons, strive to place children in homes with both a mother and a father. Indeed, statutes like the 
proposed law have forced charitable adoption organizations to close because they could not continue 
to adhere to their religious convictions. 1 3  Regrettably, this type o f  unnecessary discrimination has 
already occurred in Ill inois, Massachusetts, and the District of Columbia. 1 4  

1 2  Michael W. McConnell, The Problem of Singling Out Religion, 50 DePaul L. Rev. 1 ,  43-44 (2000) (noting that legal 
issues involving sexual orientation "feature a seemingly irreconcilable clash between those who believe that homosexual 
conduct is immoral and those who believe that it is a natural and morally unobjectionable manifestation of human 
sexuality"). 
13 See, e.g. , Father Robert J. Carr, Boston 's Catholic Charities to stop adoption service over same-sex law, Catholic Online, 
available at http://www.catholic.org/printer_friendly.php?id= l 90 l 7&section=Cathcom ( last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) 
("Catholic Charities in Boston announced March 1 0  that it is getting out of the adoption business."). 
1 4 See, e.g. , Laurie Goodstein, Illinois Catholic Charities close over adoption rule, The Boston Globe, available at 
http://www. bostonglobe.corn/news/nation/20 1 1 I 1 2/29/illinois-catholic-chari ties-close-rather-than-al low-same-sex-couples­
adopt-chi ldren/Km9RB LkpKzABNLJb UG hv JM/story.html (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("[M]ost of the Catholic Charities 
affiliates in I l linois are closing down rather than comply with a new requirement that says they can no longer receive state 
money if they tum away same-sex couples as potential foster care and adoptive parents."); Father Robert J . Carr, Boston 's 
Catholic Charities to stop adoption service over same-sex law, Catholic Online, available at 
http://www .catholic.org/printer_friendly.php?id= 1 90 l 7&section=Cathcom (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("Catholic Charities 
in Boston announced March 1 0  that it is getting out of the adoption business, over Massachusetts state law requiring that 
that the agency place children with same-sex couples."); Julia Duin, Catholics end D. C. foster-care program, Washington 
Times, available at http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/20 1  O/feb/1 8/dc-gay-marriage-law-archdiocese-end-foster-care/ 
(last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("The Archdiocese of Washington's decision to drop its foster care program is the first casualty 
of the District of Columbia's . . .  same-sex marriage law."). 
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I I I . SB 2279 will require public restrooms, locker rooms, and shower rooms to be gender 

neutral rather than gender specific. 

Federal law governing throughout the country currently forbids discrimination on the basis of 
sex . 1 5  Sex i s  determined b y  a person' s  biology and anatomy; 1 6  i t  i s  an objectively verifi able 
characteristic that is familiar throughout the legal system. Indeed, traditional legal classifications of 
sex, as well as race and nationality, are innate, immutable characteristics that cannot be natural ly 
changed. S B  2279,  however, seeks to supplement the existing legal regime with the novel legal 
concept of "gender identity." 

"Gender identity," unl ike sex, is determined by a person' s  "perceived . . .  identity, appearance, or 
mannerisms . . .  regardless of the individual ' s  designated gender at birth"; it is  thus an internally 
conceived and obj ectively unverifiable characteristic with no firm legal foundation. 1 7  Placing "gender 
identity" in the law, as the proposed bill  attempts to do, creates an unworkable legal construct based on 
an individual ' s  subj ective perception. 1 8 Simply put, it  will radically change the law ' s-and, in tum, 
society' s-view of maleness and femaleness by transforming a person 's legal status as male or female 
based on a real ity determined by biology to a status rooted in a preference determined by internal 
reflection. North Dakota's proposed addition of "gender identity" could create several issues for the 
state. 1 9  

First, the nondiscrimination statutes make it  discriminatory for a person20 "to fail to provide to 
a person access to the use of any benefit from the . . .  facilities of the public accommodations. "2 1 If S B  
2 2 7 9  is enacted, thereby adding "gender identity" t o  the list o f  protected characteristics under this 
section, businesses, schools, and fitness centers are just some of the "public accommodations" that will 
be legally forced to allow biological males who identify as females to use the women 's restrooms, 

15 42 U.S.C.  § 2000e-2 ("It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer . . .  to fail or refuse to hire or to 
discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, 
condition , or privileges of employment, because of such individual 's  . . .  sex"). 
16 Shuvo Ghosh, Sexuality, Gender Identity, eMedicine, available at http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/9 l 7990-
overview (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("Sex . . .  is defined by the gonads, or potential gonads, either phenotypically or 
genotypically. It  is generally assigned at birth by external genital appearance, due to the common assumption that this 
represents chromosomal or internal anatomic status."). 
17  See § 1 4-02 .4-02, 1 0, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess (N.D. 20 1 5) .  See also Shuvo Ghosh, Sexuality, Gender Identity, 
eMedicine, available at http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/9 l 7990-overview ( last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5).  

1 8 Taylor Flynn, Transforming the Debate: Why We Need to Include Transgender Rights in the Struggles for Sex and 
Sexual Orientation Equality, 1 0 1  COLUM. L. REV. 392, 395-96 (200 1 )  (noting that one goal of this recent push for the law 
to embrace the concept of gender identity is to "encourag[e] courts and society to conclude that the determination of one's  
sex should rest with the individual and not the state") . 
1 9  The bill defines "sexual orientation" to include "gender identity," so prohibiting discrimination based on "sexual 
orientation" also includes discrimination based on "gender identity." See § 1 4-02.4-02, 20, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess 
(N.D. 20 1 5) .  
20 "Person" includes both natural born persons and corporate persons. See N.D. Code § 1 -0 1 -49. 
2 1 N.D. Code § 1 4-02.4- 1 6 . A public accommodation is defined by the Code as "every place, establishment, or facility of 

whatever kind, nature, or class that caters or offers services, facilities, or goods to the general public for a fee, charge, or 
gratuity." N.D.  Code § 1 4-02.4- 1 6. Facilities, while not defined, is generally understood to include restrooms, shower 
rooms, and locker rooms. 
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locker rooms, and shower rooms; and l ikewise allow biological females who identify as males to use 
the men's  restrooms, shower rooms, and locker rooms. A business or school, for example, which 
attempts to protect the safety and privacy concerns of its employees or students by refusing to make 
these facil ities gender neutral could face legal action for violating the law. 

Second, allowing biological males into the restrooms, shower rooms, or locker rooms used by 
biological females may violate constitutional privacy rights. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has 
noted that "[ w ]e cannot conceive of a more basic subject of privacy than the naked body. The desire 
to shield one's  unclothed figure from . . .  strangers of the opposite sex[]  is impel led by elementary 
sel f-respect and personal dignity."22 The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has similarly explained that a 
person' s  constitutional right to privacy is violated where a government pol icy or conduct al lows a 
member of the opposite sex to view him or her while "engag[ing] in personal activities, such as 
undressing, using toil et facil ities, or showering."23 Thus, SB 2279, if enacted, may violate the dignity 
and constitutional privacy interests of citizens who wil l  be forced to share a restroom, shower room , or 
locker room with a person of the opposite biological sex. Indeed, this broad scope wi ll impact most of 
the organizations throughout North Dakota. Consider the fol lowing examples of the potential impact 
of such a law: 

• Organizations must al low persons to access sex-segregated programs, activities, and faci l i ties 
in accordance with the sex they choose.24 This means, for example, that a school must allow a 
biological male who professes a female identity to attend an al l-girls school or participate in an 
all-girls class or athletic program. 

• Organizations must al low persons to access bathrooms, showers, and locker-room faci li ties in 
accordance with the sex they choose.25 Notably, it has not been sufficient in some j urisdictions 
for organizations to create a private "family" or "unisex" bathroom for use by such individuals .  
The Maine H uman Rights Commission thus ruled that a middle school engaged in "gender 
identity" discrimination against a biological ly male sixth-grade student who professed a female 
identity because the school provided the student with his own private bathroom and locker 
room instead of allowing him to use the female restroom.26 

22 York v. Sto1y, 324 F.2d 450, 455 (9th Cir. 1 963).  
23 Cumbey v. Meachum, 684 F.2d 7 1 2, 7 1 4  ( 1 0th Cir. 1 982) .  See also Lee v.  Downs, 64 1 F.2d 1 1 1 7, 1 1 1 9-20 (4th Cir. 
1 98 1 )  (noting that men are "entitled to judicial protection of their right of privacy denied by the presence of female(s] . . .  
in positions to observe the men while undressed or using toilets"). 
24 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08-2 0 1  O_Draft_MHRC_Sexual_Orientation_Guidance.pdf ( last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("In general, students . . .  must be allowed access to gender-segregated programs, activities, and 
facilities in accordance with their gender identity . . .  , and they must be addressed by their chosen names and pronouns.") . 
25 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilitie , 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08- 20 I O_Draft_MHRC_Sexual_Orientation_Guidance.pdf ( last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("[S]tudents must be allowed access to the bathrooms that correspond with their gender identity"). 
26 Heather Steeves, Panel rules against Orono school in transgender bathroom access, Bangor Daily News, Sept. 20, 20 1 0, 
available at http://www.bangordailynews.com/extemal/mobile/?id= l 54263 (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ;  Human Rights 
Panel Rules Against Orono School in Transgender Bathroom Issue, Maine Public Broadcasting Network, Sept. 2 1 ,  20 I 0,  
available at  http://www.mpbn.net/Home/tabid/36/ctVViewltem/mid/3478/Iternid/1 3583/Default.aspx (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  
20 1 5) ;  Panel: School Discriminated Against Transgender 6th Grader by Not Letting Student Use Girls ' Room, Fox News, 
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Schools must allow students to participate in sex-segregated sports in accordance with the sex 
they choose.27 This requires schools to allow, for instance, a biological female to play on the 
boy' s  football team, or a biological male to join the girls '  basketball team. 
Employers, schools, and other organizations must allow employees, students, and patrons to 
dress in accordance with the sex they choose. This means that employers will  no longer be 
allowed to maintain a reasonable dress code,28 which they are currently able to do under 
federal law.29 It also means that schools must allow biological males who profess a female 
identity to wear dresses, skirts, and earrings to class and other school functions.30 
Publicly accessible organizations and entities that maintain separate lodging facil ities for men 
and women-such as homeless shelters or drug-and-alcohol-rehabilitation centers-must allow 
persons to lodge with the residents who share the sex that they choose. 3 1  This means that a 
women's homeless shelter, for example, must allow a biological male who professes a female 
identity to sleep in the women' s  facil ities. 

Third, laws allowing biological males to use facilities designated for women may be used by 
heterosexual sexual predators to gain easier access to women, teens, and girls .  S adly, this has 
happened in other communities that have enacted laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity.32 Businesses will no longer be able to protect the dignity and safety of their female 

Sept. 22, 20 I 0,  available at http://www.foxnews.com/us/20 1 0/09/22/panel-school-discriminated-transgender-th-grader­

letting-student-use-girls-room/ (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5). 
27 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08-20 I O_Draft_MHRC_Sexual_Orientation_ Guidance. pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("[S] tudents must be permitted to participate in gender-segregated sports in accordance with their 
gender identity"). 
28 The Employment Non-Discrimination Act of 2007: Hearing on HR. 2015 Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Health, 
Employment, Labor and Pensions, H. Comm. on Education and Labor, I 1 0th Cong. 3 8  (2007) (statement of Lawrence Z. 
Lorber, partner, Proskauer Rose, LLP, an attorney with more than 30 years of experience with labor and employment law), 
available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname= 1 1 O_house_hearings&docid=f:3763 7 .pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) (opposing a federal "gender identity" nondiscrimination law and noting that "[i]t is simply unclear 
how a reasonable dress code can coexist with the . . .  indefinite classification of self-perceived gender identity"). 
29 Jepperson v. Harrah 's Operating Company, Inc. , 444 F.3d 1 1 04 (9th Cir. 2006) (en bane) (upholding a sex-specific 
dress code and grooming policy); Ha1per v. Blockbuster Entm 't Corp. , 1 39 F.3d 1 385 ( 1 1 th Cir. 1 998) (similar); Tavora v. 
New York Mercantile Exchange, 1 0 1  F .3d 907 (2d Cir. 1 996) (similar); Carroll v. Talman Federal Savings & loan Assoc. , 
604 F.2d 1 028 (7th Cir. 1 980) (similar); Willingham v. Macon Telegraph Publ 'g Co. ,  507 F.2d 1 084 (5th Cir. 1 975) 
(similar); Dodge v.  Giant Food, Inc. , 488 F.2d 1 333  (D.C. Cir. 1 973) (similar); Baker v.  California Land Title Co. ,  507 
F.2d 895 (9th Cir .  1 974) (similar); Knott v.  Missouri Pacific Ry. Co. ,  527 F.2d 1 249 (8th Cir.  1 975) (similar); Barker v. 
Taft Broad Co. , 549 F.2d 400 (6th Cir. 1 977) (similar); Earwood v. Continental Southeastern Lines, Inc. , 539 F.2d 1 349 
(4th Cir. 1 976) (similar). 

30 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08-20 l O_Draft_MHRC_Sexual_Orientation_Guidance.pdf (last 

visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) ("[S]tudents must be permitted to dress in accordance with their gender identity"). 
31 National Gay and Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute & National Coalition for the Homeless, Transitioning Our 
Shelters: A Guide to Making Homeless Shelters Safe for Transgender People 3 1 -33 ,  37-38 (2003), available at 
http://www.thetaskforce.org/downloads/reports/reports/TransitioningOurShelters.pdf (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5) (noting 
that "[a] men's shelter is [not] . . .  appropriate for a [biological male who professes a female identity]"). 
32 See, e.g. , Robert J .  Lopez, Man wore dress, wig to videotape women in bathroom, deputies say, Los Angeles Times, May 
14 ,  20 1 3 , available at http ://articles. latimes.com/20 1 3/may/ 1 4/local/la-me-ln-man-videotape-women-in-restroom-
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patrons by preventing these predators from entering the women's facil ities. Instead, they wi ll have to 
allow all biological males who assert that they identify as female access to rooms previously reserved 
for biological females. This jeopardizes the safety and privacy of women, teens, and young girls 
because it disregards the rights, interests, and dignity of the unsuspecting citizens who are exposed to 
the individuals that profess a sex contrary to their biological reality. 

If SB 2279 is enacted, businesses, schools, and other public accommodations will  be given the 
untenable choice of complying with the law or seeking to protect the safety, dignity, and privacy of 
their patrons. They will not be able to do both. This places these organizations in a no-win situation. 

Conclusion 

SB 2279 presents many constitutional and statutory concerns. The expenences of other 
jurisdictions demonstrate the legal challenges associated with such laws. If enacted in North Dakota, 
it wil l  l ikely have many adverse consequences, including trampl ing every North Dakotan' s  
fundamental freedoms. 

2 0 1 305 1 4  (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  20 1 5);  Sam Pazzano, Predator who claimed to be transgender declared dangerous offender, 
Toronto Sun, February 26, 20 14 ,  available at http://www. torontosun.com/20 1 4/02/26/predator-who-claimed-to-be­
transgender-declared-dangerous-offender (Jan. 3 1 ,  2 0 1 5) .  
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Chairman a n d  Senate J u d icia ry Co m m ittee mem bers: For the record my name is De rek La Brie a n d  I a m  d-/d{ 1,5 
the Governm ent Affa i rs Com m issioner at the U n iversity of North Da kota . Today, I came to spe a k  in 

suppo rt of Se nate Bi l l  2279. As the North Da kota Century Code c u rre ntly read s, there a re no protectio ns 

agai nst a ny discrimimiliOriC5r1 a cco u nt of sexua l o rie ntation. This is a sca ry thought for many people 

a cross the state. At the U n iversity of North Da kota, the Student Senate passed the attached resol utio n 

in su pport of this  b i l l  yesterday. We have supported s imi lar  measures in the past at the city a n d  state 

leve l .  There is a need, as  exhi bited by the fact that U N O  Stud ent Government members have conti n ued 

to bring up th is  issue ove r the past two sessio ns.  But it's not j ust Stud ent Gove rnment members who 

a re co ncerne d .  M e m bers of the stud ent body have contacted us, worried that discri m i nation can sti l l  

lega l ly ha ppen in this  state . This  b i l l  is  unique in seve ra l ways. Fi rst of  a l l, most of  the bi l ls  that  stude nts 

bring up and we later come here to voice our support or op position, deal d i rectly with stude nts. This 

b i l l, however, deals with people of al l  ages, not just stud e nts. Seco nd ly, it is long overd ue.  U n der the 

Fourteenth Amendment to the U n ited Constitution, no person sha l l  be denied "eq ual  protection of the 

laws," which has been in effect si nce 1868. U N D  bel ieves it is the time to a ct.  Fina l ly, most objections to 

s imi lar  laws de rive from the religious o rganization, association, and society rea lms .  This bil l  inc ludes 

exceptions for these circumstances. To conclude,  the U n iversity of North Da kota Student Government 

a n d  I fu l l  u rge yo u and yo ur col leagues to pass Senate Bi l l  2279. Tha n k  yo u for yo ur t ime.  



UND Student Senate 

Senate Resol ution 
To: The Student Senate of the University of North Dakota 

Authors: Derek LaBrie---Government Affairs Commissioner 

Sponsors: Taylor Nelson----On Campus Apartments Senator 

S R  1 41 5-08 

CC: Tanner Franklin - Student Body President, Brett Johnson - Student Body Vice President, 
Cassie Gerhardt - Student Government Advisor, Andrew Frelich - Student Organization 
Funding Agency Advisor; Dr. Lori Reesor - Vice President for Student Affairs, Cara 
Halgren - Associate Vice President f t Services & Dean of Students 

Date: � 1 5  

Re: Support for North Dakot 

2 Whereas, on February 3, 20 1 3  University of North Dakota Student Senate passed SR 1 2 1 3-1 5 which 
supported North Dakota Senate Bill 2252, a non-discrim ination clause to include protection regardless 

4 of sexual orientation, and 

Whereas, on October 1 3, 201 3 University of North Dakota Student Senate passed SR 1 31 4-05 which 
6 supported the Non-Discrimination Housing Ordinance Amendment to the Grand Forks City Code, and 

Whereas, in the Community Values Statement passed by the Un iversity Senate in 1 966, the University 
8 is intended to foster "an environment where all faculty, staff, and students deserve to be treated with 

dignity and respect," and 

1 o Whereas, the North Dakota State Senate will be discussing Senate Bill 2279, and 

Whereas, North Dakota Senate Bill 2279 amends sections of the North Dakota Century Code to 
1 2  include prohibitions of discrim ination based on sexual orientation, and 

Therefore, be it resolved that the Student Senate of the University of North Dakota fully supports the 
1 4  intention of North Dakota Senate Bil l  2279, and urges the 64th Legislative Assem bly to adopt this piece 

of legislation. 

Student Body President, Tanner Franklin 

• Page 1 



SENATE JUDICIARY COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, t_EBRUARY 2, 2015 
SENATE BILL 2279: Relating to prohibition of discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation 

Chairman David Hogue, Vice Chairman Kelly M. Armstrong, Members of the Committee, and 

fellow citizens of North Dakota, Greetings. 

My name is Kevin R. Tengesdal; I am a native of North Dakota now living in Bismarck. I have 

been working in good standing with a local company for the past eleven years as a graphic 

designer. I am a veteran of the United States Navy. I am also a graduate from an evangelical 

Bible College in South Carolina with Bachelor degrees in Biblical Studies and in Biblical 

Languages. And, yes, I am gay. 

Here we stand for a third time since 2009 seeking fair labor and housing laws for our LGBT 

citizens and their families. We will be told from the opposition that we are just a group seeking 

"special status for some" when in actuality we are seeking the same protections granted to 

other citizens. Groups such as The North Dakota Catholic Conference will advise you to pass 

judgment against us, as LGBT citizens, despite the fact that the Pontiff states that it is not our 

place to judge. Some who have never experienced marginalization will demand proof of 

discrimination, claiming that protections are not needed, since LGBT North Dakotans have 

done without them for so long. 

We will once again hear insipid, bold-faced lies from the opposition stating that this Jaw will 

allow men to accost women in public bathrooms, neglecting the fact that assault will still be a 

criminal act, and that there has never been a reported case of this type of assault. Not to 

mention, the overwhelming evidence suggests that these would-be predators are much more 

likely to be heterosexual men than LGBT individuals. 

The opposition will even advise you that being LGBT is a lifestyle choice, that it is therefore 

something which should not be protected. However, they will neglect the fact that a religious 

lifestyle choice is itself a protected class. Not one opposition group will be able to explain how 

discrimination against another human fits within the "North Dakota Nice" code of honor. Their 

arguments will simply be nothing more than terror tactics and scary language, designed to 

make you ignore the real issues at hand. 

KRTen1966 SB2279Testimony FINAL.docx, Page 1 of 2 
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As a disciple of Jesus, I ask you, who are we to decide that certain persons should be second--;,
f> 

class citizens undeserving of the same respect and dignity that which Christ H imself gives 

freely? Citizens of North Dakota, should fear-mongering and hate rule human fairness and 

dignity, or should solid legal reasoning and a healthy dose of human compassion? 

The Golden Rule is by which I have chosen to l ive, and one I implore you to remember when 

you consider this  legislation - treat your neighbor, as you would want to be treated. Do we 

want North Dakota to be known as the state that chooses to discriminate and deny basic 

hu man decency to our fel low citizens and their famil ies? People do make a choice whether or 

not to move to North Dakota, or even leave North Dakota, based upon fair labor and housing 

practices. Do we want to impede the forward progress of North Dakota by continuing this 

discrimination? 

Do we want to choose to be a state surrounded by states and Canadian provinces that grant 

state-l evel protection to their LGBT citizens? Twenty-one states, the District of Columbia, 

Puerto Rico, and over 140 cities and counties have enacted bans on discrimi nation based on 

sexual orientation and/or sexual identity -- beginning with the District of Colu mbia in 1973 

and with Wisconsin in 1982,  over thirty years ago. 

It is my hope that you and the members of the 2 0 1 5  legislature will choose to be on the 

honorable side of history. I request a unanimous DO PASS on this  bi l l  as presented. We are a 

state that prides itself on a strong work ethic and supporting our families, youth and 

community. We must pass this legislation unconditionally, now, and without amendment. 

To quote the words of John Donne, "No man is an island, entire of itself; every man is a piece of 

the continent, a part of the main." Representatives and fel low citizens of North Dakota let me 

close by simply stating that we, the LGBT citizens of North Dakota, are as much a part of this 

state as you, and as your LGBT family and friends, we are seeking fair treatment; to be a piece 

of the continent, a part of the main. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Kevin R. Tengesdal, District 3 5  
2 0 2 5  North 1 6th Street, Apt 4 ;  Bismarck, N D  5 8 5 0 1  
krten 1966@bis�� 
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Testimony for SB 2279 

February 2, 201 5 

Treat people the way you want to be treated. Talk to people the way you want to be 

talked to. Respect everyone. 

We are all unique individuals and different from each other. Just because an individual 

is gay, it does not mean they should not receive the same respect and rights as every 

other individual .  Discrimination denies human rights often based on prejudice and 

incorrect perceptions. In our family we have a son who is gay. As a mother, my fi rst 

instinct is to protect him from al l  d iscrimination, but I need the help from our state and 

our legislators to pass laws to protect his human rights, to protect him from being 

evicted from an apartment, to protect him from being d ismissed from a job. Currently, 

the law does not provide any protection and we do not have any recourse to file a 

discrimination claim with the state. 

I grew up in Garrison, North Dakota, graduated from Garrison High School, and went on 

to attend and graduate from North Dakota State University. After graduation, I moved to 

Bismarck where I met and married my wonderful husband. We have a son , a daughter, 

and 2 dogs to complete our fami ly. We are no different than any other family. Our son is 

no different than any other son . 

Our son has gone on to create a very successful business in Bismarck and employees 

a fu l l  time staff of 5.  He has created jobs in this state. He has contributed to the 

foundation of the economy with his small business. He and his l ife partner of 5 years are 

very happy in North Dakota and I want to make sure they continue to have a future in 

this great state. 

My husband and I have raised our son and daughter to be good citizens and have 

taught them the values we were taught from our parents. Discrimination is not one of 

those values. Discrimination is not a North Dakota value. When someone discriminates 



against another North Dakotan because of who they are, who they love, or how they 

define their fami ly, there should be an opportunity for the ind ividual to ask the state to 

investigate just l ike any other type of discrimination . 

Through the years I began to realize not everyone respects or accepts other people as I 

was raised and encouraged to do so. We have experienced the devastation of a vehicle 

graffitied in red paint targeting our son. We have a daughter who has been bul l ied 

because her brother, who she adores, is gay. She has been bul l ied not only from her 

peers but teachers. 

Discrimination must stop. And this bi l l  is what is needed to help stop discrimination. We 

cannot al low our sons and daughters to have their human rights denied and taken away. 

We need to leave the legacy of human rights. 

My father, who was a banker in Garrison, often referred to North Dakota as "God's 

Country". We need to make North Dakota a state where you treat people the way you 

want to be treated , where you talk to people the way you want to be talked to, and 

where we justly provide human rights. 
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TESTI M ONY IN SUPPORT OF SB 2279 

Chairman Hogue and members of the Senate Judiciary Committee, 

my name i�ancy R. W i l l is and I am the Government Affairs Director 

of the North Dakota Association of REALTORS®. 

NDAR represents more than 1 600 REAL TOR® and 250 affi l i ate 

members statewide. 

We stand in support of SB 2279 and urge a Do Pass. REALTOR® 

members of N D  AR also are members of the National Association of 

REAL TORS® and by comm itting to abide by a code of ethics that 

prohibits discrimination, including for sexual orientation, they are 

entitled to use the trademarked designation of REAL TOR.® 

NDAR also fol lows a Publ ic  Pol i cy Statement approved by i ts 

members which states:  

"NDAR acknowledges and supports the right of al l people to freely 

choose where they wi l l  l ive regardless of race, color, rel igion, sex, 

disabi l ity,  handicap, fam i l ial status,  national origin,  sexual orientation or 

gender identity or with respect to marital status or receipt of financial 

assistance. Thi s  right i s  protected under federal and/or state fair housing 

laws and is  a standard of practice of the Code of Ethics of the National 
Association of REALTORS®. " 

For these reasons, the ND Association of REALTORS® supports 

adding language prohibiting d iscrimination based on sexual orientati on 

to ND law.  

I woul d  be happy to answer any questions. 
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ADDI TI ONAL I NFORMATION REQUESTED BY 
SENATE JUDI CIARY COM M ITTE E 

IN RELATION TO SB2279 
---

Taken from NOLD .com 

Federal Law 
Although federa l  laws protect people from workplace d iscrimination on the 
basis of race , national  orig i n ,  re lig ion,  sex, age,  and d isabi l ity, there is no 
federa l  law that specifica l ly outlaws workp lace d iscrimination on the basis of 
sexual  orientation in  the private sector. (Federal government workers are 
p rotected from such d iscrimi nation . )  Attempts to pass federa l  leg islation that 
wou ld outlaw sexual  orientation d iscrimination in private workplaces have 
been unsuccessfu l to date , although more mem bers of Congress support 
s uch a b i l l  each year. 

State Laws 
There is more hope at the state level .  Almost half the states and the District 
of Columbia have laws that cu rrently prohibit sexual  orientation 
d iscrimination in  both publ ic and private jobs: Cal ifornia ,  Colorado, 
Con necticut, Hawai i ,  I l l i nois, Iowa , Maine,  Maryland , Massachusetts, 
Min nesota , Nevada,  New Hampshire,  New Jersey, N ew Mexico , N ew York , 
Oregon,  R hode Is land,  Vermont, Washi ngton ,  and Wiscons in .  I n  add ition , a 
few states have laws prohibit ing sexual  orientation d iscrimination i n  p u bl ic  
workplaces only .  

NOLO: LA W FOR ALL 
NOLO, a wholly owned su bsidiary of I nternet Brands, is the i ntegration of some of the 
I n ternet's first legal sites, including Nolo.com, Oivorcenet. com and Al/Law.com. These sites 
were combined with the ExpertH u b  tech nology platform in 201 1 to form the Nolo Network. 

Nolo began publ ishing do-it-yourself legal g u ides i n  1 97 1 . I n  the 40 years since its found ing,  
Nolo has evolved with tech nology, developing do-it-yourself software and bui ld ing Nolo.com 
into one of the I nternet's leading legal websites. ExpertH u b  was founded i n  2008 with the 
goal of helping solo practitioners and small law firms build their practice throug h the 
I n ternet. In 20 1 0, I nternet Brands acquired ExpertH ub.  In 201 0, I nternet Brands added six 
leading n iche sites to the ExpertHub platform, including Divorcenet.com, Al/Law.com, and 
Disability Secrets. com. 
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Cal ifornia x 

Connecticut x 
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Delaware x 
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Columbia 
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Maryland x 
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Enforcement Agency 

California Department of Fair 

- . 

Employment & Housing - ( 213) 
439-6703 

Connecticut Commission on 

Human Rights & Opportunities 
(860) 541-3400 

Colorado Civil Rights Division 
( 303) 894-2997 

Delaware Division of H u man 
Relations 

( 302) 739-2207 

District of Colu mbia Office of 

Human Rights - ( 202) 7 27-4559 

Hawaii Civil Rights Commission 
( 808)586-8636 

Il l inois Department of Human 
Rights 

( 3 12) 814-6200 

Iowa Civil Rights Commission 

{ 5 1 2) 281-4 121 

Maine Human Rights Commissio 
( 207) 624-6050 

Maryland Commission on H uman 
Relations { 410) 767-8563 

Massachusetts Commission 
Agai nst Discrim ination - (617)  
727-3990 

Minnesota Department of Human 
Rights 
(800) 657-3704 

Nevada Equal Rights Commission 
(775) 684-3849 

New Jersey Division on Civil 

Rights 

( 609) 984-3 100 

New Hampshire Commission for 

Human Rights - (603) 27 1-276 

New Mexico Human Rights 
Bureau 

(800) 566-9471 

� 
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Chairman Hogue and Members of the Senate Judiciary Committee, 

I am grateful for the opportunity to share very briefly my thoughts regarding 
proposals to add lan guage to the bi l l  that would seek to ban discrimination 
regarding sexual orientation and gender identity . 

I 'm Tim Johnson, a semi-retired pastor in the Evangelical Lutheran Ch urch in  
America. (Coincidentally,  my college major was Pol i tical Science with an 
emphasis i n  Constitutional Law . Unfortunately,  that was so long ago it has not 
provided much hel p in preparing my remarks for today .) 

The tragedy , of course, if; that we feel the need to delineate the various forms 
discrimination takes.  I t  is as old as human society . Some powerful part of society 
has decided to look down on another, restrict i ts participation , declare it 
dangerous, degenerate, undeserving of the laws that protect the rest of us .  

The gain of such action through history is mystifyin g .  I ts sole accompl ishment is  
to  grant power to a single group: male, white, wealthy, a particular reli gion or 
rel igious viewpoint, a particular pol i tical philosoph y .  Without exception , societies 
have been diminished pol i tical ly, economical ly ,  and spiri tual ly by acts of 
discrimination . 

This is particularly disturbing when it happens among those who clai m  
participation in  the Christian tradition, the followi ng o f  one named Jesus.  In  a 
world that discriminated against women , the poor, the sick, the outcasts, the 
powerless of every sort, Jesus welcomed them , healed them , made them disciples.  
If you've got t ime I ' l l  say more about the rag tag bunch of rebels he cal led to be in 
his inner circle . 

To close with a l ine from this  Jesus : 
"Come to me al l who are weary and heavy laden , and I wil l  give you rest." 

(Matthew 1 1 :28) Or one more from the Apostle Paul :  ''There is neither Jew nor 
Greek, neither slave nor free, neither male nor female;  for all are one in Christ 
Jesus ." (Galatians 3 : 28) 
So, where shall we find ourselves and who shall we find ourselves next to? I 
welcome your com ments and questions .  

Than k you for your time and consideration . 

Pastor Timothy G .  Johnson 
February 2, 20 1 5  
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Good morning C hairman Hogue a nd members of the Senate J ud iciary 
Committee . 

My name is Suzie Bartosh .  I am a 29-year-old who has l ived i n  Bismarck al l  of 
my l ife . 

G rowing up ,  I 've experienced many challenges, one of which led me to North 
Dakota Teen C hal lenge, which I thou g ht would have been an opport u nity to g ive 
me a leg up and help me get throug h some issues I was struggl ing with .  But 
whi le I was there ,  I was open about my sexual orientation , and heard many 
h u rtfu l things. There is no doubt that I was discriminated against.  

Most people who enter the Teen Chal lenge program are g iven the option to 
either go through and complete the prog ram ,  or serve out their ja i l  sentence. I 
was open about my sexual  orientation and as a result ,  Teen C hal lenge told me, 
after I had been there for 1 0  months ,  that they were not going to let me g rad uate 
the 1 3-month-long program u nless I became straig ht .  They had been d eveloping 
a program for me to try and turn me straig ht .  I was very fortu nate to not be one 
of the adu lts there that was u nder court order, and req uired to fi nish the prog ram ,  
or serve out a jai l  sentence. I refused to d o  their conversion therapy a n d  I refused 
to pretend that I was straight in  order to g rad uate the recovery prog ram ,  so I left. 
But had I been u nder cou rt order, a refused to turn straight,  I would have been 
k icked out of the prog ra m ,  wh ich wou ld have vio lated a court order and I wou ld 
have been sent to jai l  because of my sexual  orientation .  

I was not the only g ay person in the prog ram .  There was a nother woman who 
was there under cou rt order and was forced to tell Teen C hal lenge staff members 
that she was straight in  order to g raduate. Had she not l ied , and told the staff 
that she was g ay,  she would not have been able to g raduate and wou ld have 
violated her court order and would have been sent to ja i l .  

While I was discriminated against, the other horrible part about my story is that ND 
Teen Challenge has received state funding, yet is stil l  able to discriminate against 
me, and many others. 

Please pass Senate Bi l l  2 2 79 . 



• 
Testimony on SB2279 

Senate Judiciary Committee 
February 2, 20 1 5  

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, my name is Wayne Kutzer. I support 

S B2279, which is all about fairness and equal treatment. It is the right thing to do. At its basic 

level it sends a statement that we value people. 

# 1 0 - 1  

In North Dakota we talk about creating that "quality of place". That has to mean that we 

are open to diversity, and are serious about protecting the rights of everyone. We have a new 

campaign that touts "Live the Good Life" in ND - that is unless you are gay, then you're on your 

own. You look at locations around the country that are known for innovation and creativity, that 

are vibrant and are attracting to young people . . .  they are also the places that are welcoming to 

the LGBT community and offer the basic protections that are in this b i l l .  

My son was recognized by DSU for the person that he is and work that he did whi le  he 

was there, his picture hangs on a wal l at DSU 's Student Union. He has a successful career and 

he chose to bui l d  that career and l ive in Minneapolis, not North Dakota because, at the core, 

M innesota offers these basic protections - it' s that basic statement that they value people. 

We al l  want and need people to work, l ive and stay in ND. We talk about a talent 

strategy that wi ll attract, retain and expand talent but we don't  provide this basic protection 

. . .  this affirmation that all are welcome. This is one of those strategies, one of those 

opportunities in which North Dakota would send a message with the passage of this bill  . . .  that 

we value all  of our sons and daughters, even those that feel that they have to live somewhere else 

to bui ld their career and l ive their l ives. 

I request a do pass on SB 2279 and would be glad to answer any questions. 
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Good Morn ing Com m ittee Cha i rma n Houge a nd mem bers of the Senate J u d i c i a ry 

com m ittee .  

For the record my n a m e  is Tom Ricke r, I a m  the Pres ident of the N o rth Da kota 

AFL-CIO, rep resenti ng working men a nd women i n  North D a kota . 

I wou ld l i ke to sta rt by tha n king  Senator Ne lson a n d  the other  Senators a nd 

Representatives who a re s u p port ing th is  b i l l  by co-sponsoring th is  i m porta nt 

p iece legis lat ion .  

The N o rt h  Da kota AFL-C I O  i s  100% i n  support of th is  legis lati o n .  W h i le LG BT 

workers i n  2 1  oth e r  states i n c l u d i ng o u r  neigh bors to the East, have p rotect ion 

u nd e r  the law. N o rth Da kota's LG BT workers do not yet have th is  bas ic  h u m a n  

right g u a ra nteed t o  t h e m .  

Worke rs who a re h a rassed or d iscri m i nated aga i nst have lower mora l, h igher  

a bsenteeism rates, and lowe r prod uctivity rates a nd q u ite ofte n it resu lts in  

h igher  e m ployee t u rnove r, none of wh ich is  good for e ither the e m ployees or  the 

e m p l oyer. 

No worke r shou ld be passed over for a promotion, den ied a ra ise or  eve n worse 

yet term i nated s i m ply beca use of the i r  sexua l  or ie ntation, when a l l  they a re do ing 

is  tryi ng to e a rn a l iv ing or p rovide for themselves a n d  t h e i r  loved ones .  

Al l  workers d eserve a workplace that  free from ha rassment a n d  d iscri m i nat ion of 

a ny type weather they be long to a protected class or  not .  The re is  no p lace i n  the 

wo rkplace for h a rassment or  d iscri m i nat ion.  

Tha n k  you for a l lowing me the opport u n ity to speak  i n  s u pport of Se nate b i l l  

2279.  I wou ld e ncou rage you a l l  to vote yes to recommend a do pass on  Se nate 

b i l l  2279, a n d  send a strong, u n ified message to you r  co l l eagues i n  the Se nate that 

you su pport a l l  worki ng peop le  i n  North D a kota . 

I w i l l  sta nd for a ny q u estions .  
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Aaron Weber 
NDSU Student Government 
SB 2 2 79 Testimony 

Chairman H ogue and members of the committee for the record my name is Aaron 
Weber, representing N DSU Student Government. I am here today to testify in 
su pport of SB 2 2 79.  

SB 2 2 79 would ban discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity. 
This same sort of protection is al ready provided on the campus of N DSU. NDSU 
Pol icy Section 100 reads "North Dakota State University is fully committed to equal 
opportu nity in employment decisions and educational programs and activities, in 
compliance with all applicable federal and state laws and including appropriate 
affi rmative action efforts, for all individuals without regard to age, color, disabil ity, 
gender expression/identity, genetic information, marital status, national origin, 
public assistance status, race, religion, sex, sexual orientation." 

The concern here then becomes what happens when a student leaves campus to find 
a job? Thousands of students across the state intern each year. Yet, these same 
protections regarding sexual orientation and gender identity do not follow them off 
cam pus. 

The second concern relati ng to this bill is the retention of college students post­
graduation. In  a state with a massive labor shortage, we can all agree this is an issue 
worth addressing. This piece of legislation can help ensure we attract and retain 
young people in our state. 

After graduation a nu mber of factors infl uence a students decision to stay in state. 
College students want to l ive in a place with a sense of community. Not only that, 
they a want a place where they will be accepted, regardless of sexual orientation or 
gender identity. This bill would make the decision to stay in state easier for college 
graduates. 

With that Mr. Chairman, N DSU Student Government asks for a Do Pass on SB 2 2 79.  I 
will stand for any questions the committee may have at this time . 



SR-22-15 

A Senate Resolution to Supporting SB 2279 

WHEREAS, N DSU Student G overnment supports ND Se nate B i l l  2279, a nd 

-------
WHEREAS, Senate B i l l  2279 adds l ine  item sexual  o rientation and gender  identity to state policy against 

d iscrim i n ation, a n d  

WHEREAS, This protection i s  a l ready included i n  N DS U  Pol icy Section 100, a n d  

WHEREAS, A s  stated i n  this b i l l  t h e  language reads, " I t  i s  t h e  pol icy o f  this stat t o  p rohi b it d iscrim in ation 

o n  the basis of race, color, rel igion, sex, nation a l  o rigin, age, the prese nce of a ny menta l o r  p hysica l 

d isabi l ity, status with regard to ma rriage or publ ic assistance, or participation in lawful activity off the 

employer's p re mises d u ring n onworking hours which is not i n  d i rect conflict with the essentia l  business­

related i nterests of the e m ployer; to prevent a n d  e l imin ate d iscrimination in e m ployment re lations, 

p u b l ic a cco m m od ations, h o usi ng, state and loca l government services, a n d  cre d it tra nsactions; a n d  to 

d eter those who a id, a bet, or i n d uce d iscrimi nation or coerce others to d iscri m in ate." ;therefore, be it 

Resolved, That North Da kota Student G overnment supports North Da kota Senate B i l l  2279. 

Respectful ly submitted, 



N O RTH DAKOTA H UMAN R I G HTS C O A L I T I O N  
Testimony in support of Senate Bill 2 2 7 9  

From TJ Jerke 
Education & Advocacy, ND H uman Rights Coalition 

Senate Judiciary Committee 
Senator David Hogue, Chair 

February 2, 2 0 1 5  

Chairman Hogue, and members of  the Senate Judiciary Committee, My 

name is TJ Jerke. I am here on behalf of the North Dakota Human Rights 
Coalition. 

The North Dakota Human Rights Coalition is a broad-based coalition of 

individuals and organizations around North Dakota. Since 2002 ,  the 

Coalition has been passionately working to effect change so that all 
people in North Dakota enjoy full human rights. We do this through 

information, education and legislative action. The Coalition deeply 
values mutual respect for all people, seeking a common good without 
denying individual rights, and proactively promoting social and 
economic justice. 

With that said, our coalition believes the right to work is not a "special" 

privilege, but access to an earned income is a basic human right that 
should be afforded to all people willing and able to work 

All hardworking people - including those who are gay and transgender 
- should be treated fairly and equally by the laws of our state, and 

should have the opportunity to earn a living to provide for themselves 
and their families. Nobody should have to live in fear of being legally 
fired for reasons that have nothing to do with their j ob performance. 



Sexual orientation is a distinguishing characteristic, and that is true 
even though so many gay and lesbian people have been forced for so 

long to hide their identities in order to avoid discrimination. Sexual 
orientation is a core aspect of human identity, and its expression is an 

integral part of human freedom. 

Please, j oin the Coalition's mission and help effect change so that all 

people in North Dakota enjoy full human rights. Give Senate Bill 2 2 79 a 
Do Pass recommendation. 



My name is Kristen Benson and I moved to North Dakota in 2007 due to a career opportunity. 

As a lesbian-identified woman, I was quite concerned about the lack of protections for LGBTQ 
people in the state. I decided to accept the job offer, largely because the opportunity was 
beneficial to my career, and my employer maintains a clear nondiscrimination policy that is 
inclusive to LGBTQ people. LGBTQ colleagues who have since moved to the Eastern side of the 
state for similar positions have opted to purchase homes in MN while they work in ND due to the 
increased protections just across the Red River. I have LGBTQ identified friends who starting 
families and are moving to MN for similar reasons, as well as young people who were born and 
raised in ND who move away. Ultimately, lack of protections is a deterrent for young 
professionals and families to live and work in North Dakota. SB 2279 will change this. 

Additionally, my work focuses on gender identity. I have the opportunity to meet and speak with 
families whose children express their gender in diverse ways. Policy and legislation that allows 
public accommodations for gender diversity to allows parents to follow doctor prescribed 
treatments for their children who are growing up in ND. 

Your committee will hear testimony on SB 2279 on Monday, February 2, 20 1 5 . I am writing in 
support of SB 2279 which will prohibit discrimination based on a person's sexual orientation and 
gender identity. I urge you to vote in favor of SB 2279 so that all North Dakotans can be free 
from discrimination. 

I stand with North Dakotans across the state who believe all North Dakotans should be treated 
fairly and equally by the laws of our state. 

Hardworking North Dakotans, including LGBT people, should have the opportunity to earn a 
living and provide for themselves and their families. Nobody should have to live in fear that 
they can be legally fired for reasons that have nothing to do with their job performance. 

All families should have the option to live in the neighborhood of their choice without fear or 
discrimination because of who they are or because of what their family looks like. 

Please support all North Dakotans' right to be treated fairly and equally under the law by voting 
yes on SB 2279. 

Dr. Kristen Benson 
1 2 1 3  ?1h St N 
Fargo, ND 58 1 02 
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I writing to you as a member of the Senate Judiciary Committee which will be taking testimony 
tomorrow on SB2279. I encourage your strong endorsement of and a do pass vote on this 
important piece of legislation. 

I say important because it is critical in this time of a mobile workforce that North Dakota sends a 
strong message: "Discrimination is not a North Dakota value. "  I believe that our ability to 
recruit and retain business and a talented workforce is dependent on this message. 

Sadly, at this time, it is not illegal to discriminate in terms of housing and employment against 
the lesbian, gay, bigender and transgender (lgbt) people. This has a deterrent impact on qualified 
people considering moving to North Dakota; it has a divisive impact on families when lgbt 
children, born and raised in North Dakota, believe their future does not lie in a state that allows 
this discrimination to go unchallenged. 

I know you will hear considerable testimony on both sides of this issue tomorrow 
morning. Please consider the fact that North Dakota is one of the few states that continues to 
refuse to offer protection against discrimination for the lgbt population. The time is now to 
change that. 

I am a resident of District 45 and the chair of the board of North Dakota Human Rights 
Coalition, a broad-based coalition of individuals and organizations with an interest in the 
furtherance of human rights in North Dakota. We work toward the enhancement of human rights 
in North Dakota through information and education . 

If you have questions, please feel free to contact me. You can find more information about our 
organization at www.ndhrc.org. 

Thank you. 

Barry Nelson 
902 42 Avenue North 
Fargo, ND 5 8 1 02 

(701)235-8790 



I am writing to encourage you to vote for the inclusion of sexual orientation as defined in the SB 
2279 to the fair housing, human rights act and equal opportunity employment protections. A few 
years back the Secretary of defense authorized benefits for same sex couples I spouse of GLBT 
military members. if we do not pass this SB 2279, you are saying that it's ok for employers and 
property owners to discriminate against military members and their family. These are the people 
that have defended our freedom. Please do the right thing and recommend a "Do Pass" on this 
bill. 

It's about time that we include our GLBT friends as protected from discrimination when it comes 
to housing and employment. I served 22 years in the military, active duty Marine infantry and 
ND Army NG infantry and air defense. I have deployed to 3 tours in combat. I am involved in 
the FMWF Chamber Military Affairs Committee. I am very involved in military organizations 
in the Fargo Moorhead area. (VFW, DAV, IAVA, Am. Legion) I am a past commander of the 
Fargo Legion Post # 2. I am a service connected Combat Disabled Veteran. I am a recipient of 
the Bronze Star Medal for my leadership in Iraq. With the repeal of the DADT policy I believe 
that it is time that North Dakota to get with the program so that our returning veterans that have 
served honorably wil l  not find discrimination with housing and employment in the State that they 
wish to return back to. A few years ago the Secretary of Defense signed a policy that will give 
same sex partners of military members' spousal benefits. The Department of labor and eeoc 
policy does not allow for discrimination based on sexual orientation. Same sex couples of the Air 
Force personnel could be discriminated against in the Minot and Grand Forks communities face 
housing and employment discrimination with no legal recourse in ND. I know of members of 
the ND National Guard that this discrimination effects. It does not make sense to me that ND 
still allows housing and employment discrimination based on sexual orientation. I encourage you 
to vote to stop the discrimination in ND. I have literally fought for a free America and it really 
frustrates me that some believe it is still ok to discriminate against others just because of who 
they are. If you disagree with my logic please let me know, I would be happy to discuss this 
further. 

Thank you for your time. 

Brad Aune 1 SG (Ret) 
US Marine, US Army, ND ARNG 
Fargo, ND 70 1 -2 1 2-6343 



To the members of the Senate Judiciary Committee, 

This letter is to show support to the bill proposed by Carolyn Nelson, who represents my district 
(2 1 )  in Fargo, ND. 

Proposed bill 2279 is very much needed in the state of North Dakota. I know some of you may 
not feel that your GLBTQ constituents may need any source of protection in place, but this is 
false. This is a clear civil rights issue, the same as race, age, disability, religion, or national 
origin, all of which are current categories which are offered protections from employment and 
housing discrimination under North Dakota law. 

Just a little story to give an example of how much this is needed. As an openly lesbian person, 
neither myself nor my partner are allowed to participate as adult leaders with our son's cub scout 
troop, because the Boy Scouts of America have a discriminatory policy in place. This harms not 
only parents, but also GLBTQ scout youth over the age of 1 8  who would like to participate as 
leaders within the organization. The Northern Lights Council, located in Fargo, is allowed under 
North Dakota law to practice hiring discrimination against GLBTQ people, and do so. If you are 
a gay employee of that organization (and I know at least one) you have to live closeted, and in 
fear that you might lose your source of income should your orientation become known to your 
employer. 

I would ask all of you to consider lending your support to this important bill. No one should 
have to live in fear of losing their job or housing because of their sexual orientation or gender 
identity. We need to catch up North Dakota with the rest of the country on this issue. 

Thank you for your consideration, 

Annet te Orto 
Fargo, ND 



Chairman Hogue, Vice Chairman Armstrong, Senators Casper, Luick, G ra binger, and Nelson I would l ike 

to respectfu l ly req uest yo ur consideration for approval of SB 2279 to stop d iscrimination of persons 

based on sexual  o rientation. 

Discrimination, based o n  sexual  orie ntation, is ta nta mount to lega l ized 'bu l lying'. Currently teenagers 

who ide ntify as G LBTQ (Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual, Transge ndered, Questio n ing) a re up to 4 times more 

l ikely to com m it suicide if rejected by fa m ily a nd peer gro u ps. I n  a 

t ime when we a re te l l ing o u r  youth not to 'bul ly' others, or that 'things wil l  get better' for our  G LBTQ 

fa m ily, we have legislation in place to d iscriminate in both em ployment a n d  housing. We need to take a 

sta nd to show them that things wil l  get better "now" . I magine a world where you ca n be d isowned by 

fa m ily/friends/church, te rminated by you r  employer and denied housing. This is, in fact, the sad rea l ity 

that m a ny G LBTQ individ uals a re enco untering as a result of being 'themselves'. 

As a gay man who was a form e r  resident of North Dakota, and sti l l  a property owner/taxpayer in N D, 

am secure in my cu rrent e m ployer who va l ues d iversity. My husband (partnered since 2001 and 

ma rried in  the State of New Yo rk in  2012), is known as "my fa m ily" to my e m ployer a n d  to my rema ining 

relatives just a s  a ny spouse wou l d  be.  I hid my sexua l  o rientation from my fa m ily a n d  friends for the 

majo rity of my l ife and attended the fu nerals of a l l  of my immed iate fam ily without 

them truly knowing "me".  I put it to yo u :  

H o w  do w e  raise productive chi ldren w h e n  they a re l iving in  fear? 

How wo uld you feel  a bout someone d iscriminating against you r  chi ld or fa mily member for something 

they have no more control  ove r tha n they would the co lor of their eyes o r  the pigme ntation of their 

skin? 

Sexua l ity is not a choice. 

Tomo rrows leaders a re being lost as they live in  fea r  beca use of this ' lega l ized d iscrim inatio n ' .  The 

result be ing, they move from jo b to job, una ble to bui ld a strong a n d  sta ble e m ployment h istory. This 

cycle prevents them from ach ieving their fu l l  pote ntia l as prod uctive citize ns. North Dakota is a great 

state fi l led with kind a n d  educated people, who should not be faced with the d ecision of either fulfi l l ing 

their lives as individ uals  o utside of Nort h  Da kota or contin uing to bui ld the success of our  state from 

with in .  I am proud of N o rth Da kota and wo uld l ike to add this legislative cha nge as yet a nother example 

of our great state. 

While we cannot legislate a ccepta nce, you can certa inly prevent d iscriminatio n .  

Tha nk y o u  for y o u r  time, and co urage in  taking a sta nd in  sto pping d iscrim i nation i n  N o rth Dakota based 

on sexual  o rientatio n .  

If I c a n  be of a ny further a ssista nce t o  y o u  or y o u r  comm ittee, I a m  at yo ur service. My ce l l  num ber is 

704-236-4241.  

Glen Materi 



To my District 43 Senator and Representatives, 

Please support Senate Bill #2279 to ensure that no one in North Dakota is discriminated against 
based on their sexual orientation, specifically people who refer to themselves as LGBTQ. 

And, thank you to the sponsors of this bill. I appreciate your time and efforts. 

Sincerely, 

Kaye Carlson 
Grand Forks, ND 



This  l ette r  is  to req u est you r  su pport of Senate B i l l  2279 reg a rd i ng 

nond iscri m i n ation based on sexua l  or ientation  or  gen d e r  i d e nt ity. 

As a s u pporter of civil rights, the most com m o n  a rgu ment I 've heard 

aga i nst legis lation l i ke t h is is it p rovides specia l r ights to va rious grou ps of 

peop le .  

The exa ct opposite is  true.  

B i l l s  l i ke th is  requ i re laws inte nded to p rotect the rights of each c itizen of 

N o rth  Da kota p rotect all citizen s  of N o rth Dakota . As it sta n d s  now, gay 

a nd t ra nsgender  North Dakota citizens  a re specifica l ly exc luded from the 

p rotection afforded severa l existing North Da kota laws. 

My h u s b a nd David H a m i lton a nd I a re two of the p l a intiffs in the pending 

ma rriage e q u a l ity laws u it i n  North Dakota . As  citizens  of  ou r state, we 

firm ly be l ieve we shou ld  be a l lowed the benefit a nd p rotection of  state a nd 

fede ra l  m a rriage l aws. 

As m e mbers of the same gender  ma rried com m u n ity, we strongly be l ieve 

we s imply cou ld  not be David a n d  Bernie a n d  e njoy o u r  wonde rfu l l ife 

without stan d ing u p  for o u r  fel low citizens a nd d e m a n d  N orth Da kota law 
a pp ly e q u a l ly to a l l  m arried cou ples.  

As e l ected state officia ls, I ask you to ta ke a moment a n d  reflect o n  who 

you a re, the lega l p rotection you e njoy; a n d  if  you can i n  good conscience 

vote to d e ny those p rotections to you r fel low North Da kota ns .  

Respectfu l ly, 

Bernie Erickson 

3 102 37 Ave S 

Fargo, N D  58104 

District 41 
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f the American Civil Liberties Union of North Dakota 

To Add Sexual Orientation & Gender Identity to the North Dakota 

Human Rights Act 

Senate Judiciary Committee 

February 2, 20 1 5  

My name is Jennifer Cook and I am the Policy Director for the American Civil Liberties Union 
of North Dakota. I am also a born and raised North Dakotan. I have had the distinct honor and 
privilege to serve our country and state as an enlisted soldier and commissioned officer in the 
North Dakota Army National Guard for eight years. I am a graduate of the University of North 
Dakota's School of Law and a licensed attorney in North Dakota. I had the pleasure of serving 
as a judicial law clerk for a Magistrate Judge in the United States District Court for the District 
of North Dakota prior to becoming the ACLU of North Dakota's Policy Director in December of 
this past year. 

It is with this background I rise to testify in support of Senate Bill 2279. The American Civil 
Liberties Union of North Dakota represents its members and activists throughout North Dakota 
who seek to preserve and expand individual :freedoms and civil liberties guaranteed by the 
United States and North Dakota Constitutions. In that context, we appreciate the opportunity to 
support this bill, which would help protect more North Dakotans by adding "sexual orientation 
and gender identity" to North Dakota's nondiscrimination law. 

SB 2279 is an exceptionally important bill and one that is much needed. In this testimony, I will 
make three essential points: first, that discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual, and 
transgender individuals is a serious problem; second, that the current legal regime is inadequate 
to respond to that problem; and, third, that SB 2279 is an appropriately tailored remedy for that 
problem. 

LGBT individuals who have experienced discrimination have testified before this Committee 
today. Their testimony stands on its own and provides the most compelling reasons this 
Committee and legislative body should pass this bill. Let me off er a wider scale view on why 
discrimination against LGBT individuals is wrong and why this legislative body should do 
something about it. 

At the most fundamental level, workplace discrimination against people who are gay or lesbian 
or bisexual or transgender violates the basic North Dakotan values of equal opportunity and fair 
play. If a person can do the job--and can do it as well as, or better than, anyone else-an 
employer has no business firing or refusing to hire that person simply because he or she is 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender. 

When employers discriminate against LGBT individuals, those individuals confront a choice that 
can be tragic: give up job opportunities in their chosen field--0pportunities to perform jobs that 
they can do as well as or better than anyone else--0r try to hide who they are, at great 

1 
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psychological cost and fear of discovery. The testimony this Committee has heard from 
individuals who have experienced discrimination because of their sexual orientation or gender 
identity highlights the very substantial costs that discrimination imposes on those individuals. 

But the cost is not just to LGBT individuals. When productive workers are denied the 
opportunity to perform their jobs, all of society loses out. That's why 87 percent of Fortune 500 
companies in America include sexual orientation in their nondiscrimination policies, and 4 1  
percent include gender identity. They recognize that their businesses wil l  be more competitive 
when they hire all talented individuals. 

Unfortunately, despite the policies of forward-thinking employers, discrimination against 
lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender individuals is widespread. Evidence abounds that LGBT 
people continue to experience discrimination in employment, housing, and public 
accommodations, among other contexts. For example, a 201 1 UCLA report determined that 27% 
of lesbian, gay, and bisexual people across the United States had experienced some form of 
sexual orientation discrimination in the workplace in the five years before they were surveyed, 
including 7% who had lost a job because of their sexual orientation, and that 78% of trans gender 
people across the United States had experienced employment discrimination related to their 
gender identity in the preceding five years. Another national study found that among transgender 
and gender non-conforming people, 47% had experienced an adverse j ob action related to their 
gender identity, 59% had experienced adverse treatment in an educational setting related to their 
gender identity, and 44% had been denied service or equal treatment in a public 
accommodation. 1 The data exists to support legislative findings that LGBT people are currently 
experiencing discrimination, which in turn form valid bases for legislation prohibiting such 
discrimination. 

These widespread harms demand a response. Unfortunately, current law is inadequate to the task. 
Neither federal nor North Dakota law currently mandates equal treatment regardless of sexual 
orientation in employment, housing, public accommodations, or credit. Gender identity and 
gender expression are also not covered, although courts in some parts of the country have viewed 
unfair treatment based on someone' s  gender identity as discrimination on the basis of "sex," 
which is already illegal. While we believe that the U.S. Constitution bars discrimination against 
LGBT people in many contexts, courts have not always agreed, and explicit legal protections are 
necessary to address ongoing discrimination. 

Only SB 2279 will ensure that LGBT North Dakotans receive equal treatment, no matter where 
they work or live. SB 2279 will create an equal playing field. This kind of law is the same tool 
state legislatures have used for decades to ensure equal treatment of certain groups of citizens 
who have historically been treated unequally. This law would protect all people, gay or straight, 
from unfair treatment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity, by giving the same 
protection that already exists under our state' s  law regarding discrimination on the basis of sex, 
race, or religion . 

1 Jaime M. Grant et al., National Center for Transgender Equality and National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, Injustice at Every Turn: A Report of 

the National Transgender Discrimination Survey (2011), http://transequality.org/PDFs/NTDS_Report.pdf . 
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SB 2279 would do nothing more than extend to sexual orientation and gender 
identity discrimination the same basic legal structure that has applied to other 
forms of employment, housing, and public accommodation discrimination in North 

Dakota since the North Dakota Human Rights Act's passage in 1983. The 
experience that employers and others have developed in complying with those 
p rovisions over the past three decades, and the law developed under those 
provisions, will necessarily inform, guide, and ease compliance with SB 2279 if it 
should be enacted into law. 

While SB 2279's legal remedy is important, its underlying promise matters most. Civil rights 
laws work not because we are able to haul those who disobey them to court, but because most 
Americans and North Dakotans are good, law abiding people. When we say that as a state no one 
should lose a job because of religion, most businesses accept that. 

Most people accept it because our laws are above all, a statement about what we believe as a 
people. So too with a law against sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination. And 
what we say with a state civil rights law banning employment, housing, and public 
accommodation discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity is not that we 
endorse being lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender any more than our federal and state civil 
rights laws against religious discrimination endorse being Christian, or Jewish or Muslim or 
agnostic. A law against sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination says that we really 
believe the American promise that everyone should have a fair chance to go where their brains 
and guts and grit can take them. A law against sexual orientation and gender identity 
discrimination says that we really believe in that promise, and that we want it to be real. That 
isn't much, and yet it is everything. 

The ACLU of North Dakota urges this Committee to give SB 2279 a Do Pass recommendation. 

Again, thank you for the opportunity to testify in support of this bill and I will stand for any 
questions. 
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GAO U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABIUTY OFFICE 
441 G St. N.W. 
Washington, DC 20548 

B-32481 8  

July 31 , 201 3  

The Honorable Tom Harkin 
Chairman 
Committee on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions 
United States Senate 

The Honorable Mark Kirk 
United States Senate 

The Honorable Jeffrey A Merkley 
United States Senate 

Subject: Update on State Statutes and Administrative Complaint Data on Employment 
Discrimination Based on Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity 

Federal law prohibits discrimination in employment based on a number of factors, including 
race, color, rel igion, sex, national origin, disability, and age. We reported most recently in 2009 
that although federal law does not prohibit employment discrimination on the basis of sexual 
orientation , some states provide such protection by statute.1 Specifically, we reported that 22 
states had statutes explicitly prohibiting employment discrimination on the basis of sexual 
orientation; we also reported that 1 3  states had statutes explicitly prohibiting employment 
discrimination on the basis of gender identity.2 In addition, we reported that, generally, the 
administrative complaint data reported by states at that time showed relatively few employment 
discrimination complaints based on sexual orientation and gender identity. 

I n  response to your request, this letter updates our 2009 report with regard to the number of 
states with statutes explicitly prohibiting employment discrimination based on sexual orientation 
and gender identity.3 We also include data provided by those states on the number of 
administrative complaints related to employment discrimination filed between 2007 and 201 2-
specifically, the total number of complaints and the number of complaints listing sexual 
orientation or gender identity as a claimed basis for discrimination. 

1 GAO, Sexual Orientation and Gender Identity Employment Discrimination: Overview of State Statutes and 

Complaint Data, GA0-10-1 35R (Washington, D.C. :  October 1 ,  2009). 

2 In our 2009 report, we did not consider whether employment discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender 
identity may be addressed by federal case law, regulations, policy, or guidance, nor did we do so for purposes of this 
letter; we did note, however, that Executive Order 1 3087, issued on May 28, 1 998, amended Executive Order 1 1 478 
to prohibit discrimination based on sexual orientation within executive branch civilian employment. 

3 As we did in 2009, we refer to the District of Columbia as a state for purposes of this letter. 

GA0-1 3-?00R Sexual Orientation/Gender Identity Employment Discrimination 



We found that no states have added explicit statutory prohibitions against employment 
discrimination based on sexual orientation since our 2009 report was issued, leaving the total 
number of states with such protections at 22.4 In addition, we found that five states­
Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii ,  Massachusetts, and Nevada-have added explicit employment 
discrimination prohibitions on the basis of gender identity since our 2009 report was issued, 
bringing the total number of states with such protections to 1 8. 5 There is significant overlap in 
the states protecting individuals from employment discrimination on the bases of sexual 
orientation and gender identity. Eighteen states have statutes that explicitly prohibit both sexual 
orientation- and gender identity-based employment discrimination, while four states have such 
prohibitions only for employment discrimination based on sexual orientation. With respect to 
complaint data, consistent with what we reported in 2009, the administrative complaint data 
reported to us by states for 2007 through 201 2  show relatively few employment discrimination 
complaints based on sexual orientation and gender identity. 

To complete this work, we utilized legal databases to determine which states have statutes 
explicitly prohibiting employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation or gender 
identity.6 We sent questionnaires to cognizant officials in the 22 states we identified as having 
such laws and asked them to verify that we had identified the relevant statutory provisions.7 We 
also asked them to provide the total number of administrative employment discrimination 
complaints filed for the most recent 7 years8 for which data were available, as well as the 

4 The 22 states with explicit statutory provisions with regard to sexual orientation are: California, Colorado, 
Connecticut, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Hawaii, Illinois, Iowa, Maine, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, 
Nevada, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, Washington, and 
Wisconsin. We did not determine whether states that lack explicit prohibitions against employment discrimination 
based on sexual orientation might allow such complaints to be pursued on other grounds. 

5 The 1 8  states with explicit statutory provisions with regard to gender identity or other similar terms, such as gender 

expression or transgender status, are: California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, the District of Columbia, Hawaii, 
Illinois, Iowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, New Mexico, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, 
and Washington. We did not determine whether any other states that lack explicit statutory provisions might allow 
such complaints to be pursued on other grounds, though officials in Maryland and New York, which both have 
statutes prohibiting employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, reported in their responses to our 
questionnaire that individuals in their states may be able to pursue administrative complaints based on gender 
identity in the absence of explicit state statutory provisions. Similarly, an official in New Hampshire told us that 
individuals in that state have the legal right to file a charge of discrimination related to gender identity despite the 
absence of explicit statutory language and that such charges may be pursued under the protected categories of sex 
and/or mental disability, depending on jurisdictional issues. 

6 Although state case law, state regulations, or other state guidance may address issues related to employment 

discrimination or the scope and applicability of state employment discrimination statutes, our focus was only on the 
explicit language of state statutes. In addition, 'Ne did not review local government ordinances, which may also 
address issues related to employment discrimination. 

7 We asked states to note whether the state statutory provisions we identified were correct, incorrect, or incomplete, 
and to provide corrections where appropriate. We relied on the information provided by state officials and did not do 
additional research to identify other state statutory provisions that may be relevant to claims of employment 
discrimination. 

8 All states reported their complaint data to us by state fiscal year, federal fiscal year, or calendar year. Most states' 

fiscal years run from July 1 through June 30, and all references to a state fiscal year are to that time frame unless 
otherwise noted. Moreover, some states use a single year when referring to the state fiscal year and others use a 2 
year designation. For instance, some states refer to "FY 2012," while other states use "FY 201 1 -2012" to refer to the 
same time period. In either case, this time period would run from July 1 ,  201 1 through June 30, 2012. Some states 
reported complaint data to us by federal fiscal year, which runs from October 1 through September 30. In  light of the 
variation in how states collect and report this information, we asked states to provide data for the most recent 7 years 
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number of complaints that identified sexual orientation or gender identity as one of the claimed 
bases for employment d iscrimination.9 All complaint data presented in the enclosure that 
follows are as reported to us by state officials; we did not independently verify the accuracy of 
these data or review the methodologies used by states to compile data. We created a table for 
each state incorporating their responses to our questionnaire and sent the tables to state 
officials for their comments, which we incorporated as appropriate. 

Enclosed with this correspondence are tables for each of the 22 states for which we compiled 
information. These tables convey, for each state, the responses to our questionnaire­
specifically, a citation to the relevant state statutory provisions, as well as the reported 
employment d iscrimination complaint data. 

James M. Rebbe and Lincoln Schroth, Senior Attorneys, and Sheila R. McCoy, Assistant 
General Counsel, prepared this letter. If you have any questions about this letter, please contact 
me at (202) 51 2-4740. 

Sincerely yours, 

Helen T. Desauln iers 
Managing Associate General Counsel 

Enclosure 

for which data were available to ensure that each state would provide data for the full time period induded in the 
scope of our review, which is 2007 through 201 2. 

9 In  some states, the statutes prohibiting sexual orientation- or gender identity-based employment discrimination 

were enacted during the time period covered by our review; therefore, these states did not provide complaint data for 
the full time period requested. In addition, seven states that have explicit statutory prohibitions against gender 
identity- based employment discrimination reported that, during the time period covered by our review, they did not 
separately track data related to the number of gender identity-based complaints they received. These states are: 
California, Connecticut, Delaware, Hawaii, Illinois, Massachusetts, and Minnesota. 
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CALIFORNIA 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Cal. Gov. Code § 1 2940 
employment d iscrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Cal. Gov. Code § 1 294010 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 21 1  

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for d iscrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

CY 201 2: 1 9,839 
CY 201 1 : 1 8,01 2 
CY 201 0: 1 8,335 
CY 2009: 1 7,680 
CY 2008: 1 8,786 
CY 2007: 1 6,396 

CY 201 2: 1 , 1 04 
CY 201 1 :  727 
CY 201 0: 71 7 
CY 2009: 807 
CY 2008: 821 
CY 2007: 8 1 5  

Not available 12 

Enclosure 

10 The relevant protected classes explicitly identified in state statute are "gender identity" and "gender expression." 

1 1  All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 

12 According to a state official, California does not separately track complaints filed on the basis of gender identity. 
Currently, complaints filed on the basis of gender identity are tracked with complaints filed on the basis of sex. 
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COLORADO 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Colo. Rev. Stat. § 24-34-402 
employment d iscrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Colo. Rev. Stat. §§ 24-34-401 (7.5) and 24-34-
employment discrimination on the basis of 40213 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 214 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 15 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 1 -201 2: 5 1 6  
F Y  201 0-201 1 : 575 
FY 2009-201 0: 599 
FY 2008-2009: 7 1 2  
FY 2007-2008: 635 
FY 2006-2007: 593 

FY 201 1 -201 2: 35 
FY 201 0-201 1 :  41 
FY 2009-201 0: 33 
FY 2008-2009: 34 
FY 2007-2008: 21 

FY 201 1 -201 2: 1 
FY 201 0-201 1 :  1 
FY 2009-201 0: 2 
FY 2008-2009: 3 
FY 2007-2008: 2 

13 State statute prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, which is defined to include, in 
relevant part, "transgender status." 

14 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 

15 A state official told us that sexual orientation and transgender status were not protected statuses under Colorado 
statute before FY 2007-2008. 
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CONNECTICUT 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-81 c 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) provid ing protection from Conn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-6016 
employment d iscrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 217 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

CY 201 2: 1 ,653 
CY 201 1 :  1 ,656 
CY 201 0: 1 ,390 
FY 2009-201 0: 1 ,836 
FY 2008-2009: 1 ,827 
FY 2007-2008: 1 ,946 
FY 2006-2007: 1 ,878 

CY 201 2: 41 
CY 201 1 :  49 
CY 201 0 : 36 
FY 2009-201 0: 53 
FY 2008-2009: 44 
FY 2007-2008: 49 
FY 2006-2007: 60 

Not available 18 

16 The relevant protected class explicitly identified in state statute is "gender identity or expression." This became a 
protected class status on October 1 ,  201 1 .  

17 Connecticut began tracking employment discrimination complaint data by calendar year rather than state fiscal 
year in 2010.  A state official acknowledged that this may have resulted in some double counting of complaints for 
calendar year 201 0. 

18A state official reported that the state does not separately track complaints based on gender identity. 
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DELAWARE 

Statutory provision(s) provid ing protection from 1 9  Del. C .  § 71 1 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 1 9  Del . C . § 71 1 19 
employment d iscrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 220 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation21 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 2: 727 
FY 201 1 :  520 
FY 201 0: 437 
FY 2009: 654 
FY 2008: 665 
FY 2007: 653 

FY 201 2: 31  
FY 201 1 : 16 
FY 201 0: 1 3  

Not available22 

19 Delaware amended its employment discrimination statute in June 201 3 to add gender identity to the list of 
protected categories. 

20 All complaint data in this table are reported by federal fiscal year. 

21 As we reported in 2009, sexual orientation became a protected status for purposes of employment discrimination 
on July 1 ,  2009. As a result, FY 201 0  is the first year for which the state has data for this category. 

22 According to a state official, the numbers listed for complaints based on sexual orientation may include complaints 

based on gender identity; the state does not separately track the number of complaints filed on the basis of this 
category. 
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DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from D.C.  Code § 2-1 402. 1 1  
employment d iscrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from D.C. Code § 2-1402. 1 1 23 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 224 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 2: 279 
FY 201 1 : 339 
FY 201 0: 4 1 5  
FY 2009: 488 
FY 2008: 357 
FY 2007: 282 

FY 201 2: 1 5  
FY 201 1 :  1 8  
FY 201 0: 21  
FY 2009: 24 
FY 2008: 28 
FY 2007: 1 7  

FY 201 2: 0 
FY 201 1 :  0 
FY 201 0: 1 
FY 2009: 1 
FY 2008: 2 
FY 2007: 0 

23 The relevant protected class explicitly identified in state statute is "gender identity or expression." 

24 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year, which runs from October 1 through September 30. 
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HAWAII 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from H. R.S. § 378-2 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from H.R.S. § 378-225 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 1 -201 2: 558 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 0-201 1 :  563 
and 201 226 

FY 2009-201 0: 632 
FY 2008-2009: 632 
FY 2007-2008: 6 1 7  
FY 2006-2007: 461 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 1 -201 2: 1 2  
administrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 0-201 1 : 9 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed FY 2009-201 0: 1 5  bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

FY 2008-2009: 9 
FY 2007-2008: 8 
FY 2006-2007: 3 

Total number of employment discrimination Not available27 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

25 Hawaii amended its statute in 201 1 to clarify existing law with regard to sex discrimination and provide that 

discrimination based upon "gender identity or expression" constitutes a form of sex discrimination. 

26 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 

27 Hawaii reported that it does not compile separate statistics for gender identity complaints, which it categorizes as 
sex discrimination complaints. 
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ILLINOIS 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from §§ 775 ILCS 5/1 -1 03(0-1 ) and (Q), 5/2-
employment discrimination on the basis of 1 02(A), (B) and (C) 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from §§ 775 ILCS 5/1 -1 03(0-1 ) and (Q), 5/2-
employment discrimination on the basis of 1 02(A), (B) and (C)28 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 229 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 2 :  3,61 3 
FY 201 1 :  3,439 
FY 201 0: 3,769 
FY 2009: 4,007 
FY 2008: 3,522 
FY 2007: 3,287 

FY 201 2: 1 07 
FY 201 1 : 1 33 
FY 201 0: 1 07 
FY 2009: 1 49 
FY 2008: 81 
FY 2007: 1 03 

Not available30 

28 State statute prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, which is defined to indude, in 

relevant part, "gender-related identity, whether or not traditionally associated with the person's designated sex at 
birth." 

29 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 

30 According to a state official, complaints based on gender identity are included in the numbers of complaints based 
on sexual orientation. 
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IOWA 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Iowa Code§ 216.6 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Iowa Code§ 216.6 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201231 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 2012 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation32 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 2012 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 2012: 1,373 

FY 2011 : 1,539 

FY 2010: 1,458 

FY 2009: 1,644 

FY 2008: 1,453 

FY 2007: 1,413 

FY 2012: 69 

FY 2011 : 59 

FY 2010: 93 

FY 2009: 25 

FY 2008: 17 

FY 2012: 26 

FY 2011 : 3 

FY 2010: 5 

FY 2009: 3 

FY 2008: 6 

31 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 

32 As we reported in 2009, Iowa started accepting employment discrimination complaints on the bases of sexual 
orientation and gender identity on July 1, 2007. As a result, Iowa did not report data for FY 2007 on these bases. 
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MAINE 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 5 M.R.S .  §§ 4552, 4553(9-C) and (1 0), 4571 , 
employment discrimination on the basis of and 4572 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 5 M.R.S.  §§ 4552, 4553(9-C) and (1 0), 4571 , 
employment d iscrimination on the basis of and 457233 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 234 

Total number of employment discrimination 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment d iscrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 2: 542 
FY 201 1 :  6 1 6  
F Y  201 0: 494 
FY 2009: 503 
FY 2008: 623 
FY 2007: 539 

FY 201 2: 1 9  
FY 201 1 :  26 
FY 201 0: 34 
FY 2009: 7 
FY 2008: 1 3  
FY 2007: 20 

FY 201 2: 1 
FY 201 1 :  0 
FY 201 0: 0 
FY 2009: 1 
FY 2008: 1 
FY 2007: 2 

33 State statute prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, which is defined to indude, in 
relevant part, "gender identity or expression." 

34 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 
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MARYLAND 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Md. Code Ann. ,  State Gov't. §§ 20-601 -
employment discrimination on the basis of 20-609 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) provid ing protection from None35 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 2: 606 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 1 :  480 
and 201 236 FY 201 0 : 598 

FY 2009: 709 
FY 2008: 663 
FY 2007: 645 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 2: 24 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 1 :  26 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed FY 201 0: 22 bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

FY 2009: 23 
FY 2008: 24 
FY 2007: 28 

Total number of employment discrimination Not available37 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

35 Although gender identity is not explicitly identified as a protected category under state statute, a state official 
reported that Maryland accepts gender identity complaints under the category of sex. 

36 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 

37 Maryland reported that it does not separately track gender identity complaints. 
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MASSACHUSETTS 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from M .G.L.  c. 1 5 1  B, § 4(1 )  and (3) 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from M.G.L .  c. 1 51 B, § 4(1 )  and (3)38 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 239 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

CY 201 2: 2,654 
CY 201 1 : 2 ,699 
CY 201 0: 2 ,861 
CY 2009: 2,832 
CY 2008: 2,947 
CY 2007: 2,848 

CY 201 2: 1 05 
CY 201 1 :  1 1 9 
CY 201 0: 62 
CY 2009: 66 
CY 2008: 73 
CY 2007: 61  

Not available40 

38 Massachusetts added gender identity as a protected category in November 201 1 ,  effective July 2012. 

39 All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 

40 According to a state official, before Massachusetts explicitly added gender identity as a protected category, 
effective July 2012, the state accepted complaints alleging gender identity employment discrimination under the 
categories of disability, gender, or sexual orientation, and gender identity complaints previously filed under these 
other bases were not tracked separately. Although the state has been accepting complaints under the new protected 
category of gender identity since July 2012, this official stated that Massachusetts had not been specifically tracking 
gender identity complaints since that date, but has now begun doing so. 
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MINNESOTA 

Statutory provision(s) provid ing protection from M.S.A. § 363A.08 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from M.S.A. §§ 363A.03, Subd. 44 and 363A.0841 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2: 642 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  576 
and 201 242 CY 201 0: 6 1 2  

CY 2009: 629 
CY 2008: 656 
CY 2007: 591 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2: 28 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  20 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed CY 201 0: 20 bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

CY 2009: 24 
CY 2008: 24 
CY 2007: 21  

Total number of employment discrimination Not available43 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

41 State statute prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, which is defined to indude, in 

relevant part, "having or being perceived as having a self-image or identity not traditionally associated with one's 
biological maleness or femaleness." 

42 All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 

43 According to a state official, the numbers listed above for sexual orientation administrative complaints include all 
gender identity administrative complaints. 
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NEVADA 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N.R.S .  §§ 233.01 0  and 61 3.330 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N.R.S.  §§ 233.01 0  and 61 3.33044 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2: 799 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  756 
and 201 245 CY 201 0:  544 

CY 2009: 833 
CY 2008: 1 ,0 14  
CY 2007: 1 , 1 59 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2: 47 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 : 40 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed CY 201 0: 28 bases for d iscrimination is sexual orientation 

CY 2009: 21 
CY 2008: 44 
CY 2007: 38 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2 :  6 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  O 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity46 

44 The relevant protected category explicitly identified in state statute is "gender identity or expression." This became 
a protected category on October 1 ,  201 1 .  

45 All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 

46 Because this became a protected category on October 1 ,  201 1 ,  data from earlier years are not available. 

Page 1 6  GA0-1 3-?00R Sexual Orientation/Gender Identity Employment Discrimination 

J 'f 8 Jfo 



NEW HAMPSHIRE 

Statutory provision(s) provid ing protection from N.H.  RS.A. §§ 354-A:6 and 354-A:7 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 248 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for d iscrimination is gender identity49 

None47 

FY 201 2: 257 
FY 201 1 :  2 1 6  
FY 201 0: 257 
FY 2009: 208 
FY 2008: 251 
FY 2007: 3 1 8  

FY 201 2: 6 
FY 201 1 :  1 1  
FY 201 0: 6 
FY 2009: 4 
FY 2008: 7 
FY 2007: 1 4  

FY 201 2: 1 
FY 201 1 :  1 

47 Although gender identity is not explicitly identified as a protected category under state statute, a state official 

reported that individuals have the legal right to file a charge of discrimination related to gender identity and that such 
charges may be pursued under the protected categories of sex and/or mental disability, depending on jurisdictional 
issues. 

48 All complaint data in this table are reported by federal fiscal year. 

49A state official reported that the state currently does not track gender identity complaints separately from other 
gender discrimination complaints, but the state official reviewed complaints for FYs 201 1 and 201 2  and determined 
that there was one complaint related to gender identity in each of those years. The official noted further that the state 
will separately track information related to complaints involving transgendered persons in the future. 
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NEW JERSEY 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N.J .S .A. §§ 1 0:2-1 , 1 0:5-3, 1 0:5-4, 1 0:5-6, 
employment discrimination on the basis of 1 0:5-8, and 1 0:5- 1 250 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N.J .S .A. §§ 1 0:2-1 , 1 0:5-3, 1 0:5-4, 1 0:5-6, 
employment discrimination on the basis of 1 0:5-8, and 1 0:5-1 251 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2: 6 16  
administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  506 
and 201 252 

CY 201 0: 548 
CY 2009: 505 
CY 2008: 692 
CY 2007: 71 7 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 2012 :  28 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  20 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 

CY 201 0: 20 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

CY 2009: 1 9  
CY 2008: 34 
CY 2007: 39 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 2012 :  0 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  3 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 

CY 201 0: 5 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

CY 2009: 0 
CY 2008: O 
CY 2007: 0 

50 The relevant protected class explicitly identified in state statute is "affectional or sexual orientation." 

51 The relevant protected class explicitly identified in state statute is "gender identity or expression." 

52 All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 

Page 1 8  GA0- 1 3-700R Sexual Orientation/Gender Identity Employment Discrimination 



NEW MEXICO 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N . M .  Stat. Ann. § 28-1-7 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N.M.  Stat. Ann . § 28-1-7 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 253 

Total number of employment discrimination 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

CY 201 2: 479 
CY 201 1 :  504 
CY 201 0: 573 
CY 2009: 679 
CY 2008: 690 
CY 2007: 726 

CY 201 2: 25 
CY 201 1 :  39 
CY 201 0: 41  
CY 2009: 30 
CY 2008: 45 
CY 2007: 46 

CY 201 2: 1 
CY 201 1 :  1 
CY 201 0: 3 
CY 2009: 3 
CY 2008: 1 
CY 2007: 1 

53 All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 
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NEW YORK 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from N.Y. Executive Law § 296 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 255 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

None54 

FY 201 1 -201 2:  5,032 
FY 201 0-201 1 :  5,684 
FY 2009-201 0: 6,083 
FY 2008-2009: 6,445 
FY 2007-2008: 6,078 
FY 2006-2007: 4 ,615 

FY 201 1 -201 2: 243 
FY 201 0-201 1 :  236 
FY 2009-201 0:  224 
FY 2008-2009: 270 
FY 2007-2008: 2 1 6  
FY 2006-2007: 141 

Total number of employment discrimination Not available56 
administrative complaints filed between 2007. 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for d iscrimination is gender identity 

54 Although gender identity is not explicitly identified as a protected category under state employment discrimination 

statutes, a state official reported that the state investigates some gender identity cases under the protected 
categories of disability and/or sex. 

55 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year, which runs from April 1 through March 3 1 .  

56 A state official reported that the state does not separately track gender identity cases investigated o n  the bases of 
disability and/or sex. 
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OREGON 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from ORS §§ 659A.006 and 659A.030 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 258 

Total number of employment discrimination 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation59 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

ORS §§ 1 74. 1 00, 659A.006, and 659A.03057 

FY 201 2 : 1 ,676 
FY 201 1 :  1 ,825 
FY 201 0: 1 ,81 1 
FY 2009: 1 ,920 
FY 2008: 2,009 
FY 2007: 1 ,862 

FY 201 2: 30 
FY 201 1 :  35 
FY 201 0: 31  
FY 2009: 46 
FY 2008: 22 
FY 2007: 32 

FY 201 2: 0 
FY 201 1 :  6 
FY 201 0: 0 
FY 2009: 0 
FY 2008: 0 
FY 2007: 0 

57 State statute prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, which is defined to include, in 
relevant part, "an individual's . . .  gender identity, regardless of whether the individual's gender identity, appearance, 
expression, or behavior differs from that traditionally associated with the individual's sex at birth." 

58 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 

59 A state official reported that Oregon's statute prohibiting employment discrimination on the basis of sexual 
orientation and gender identity took effect in January 2008, and the state investigated sexual orientation and gender 
identity discrimination claims under some city and county ordinances before that time. Data for FY 2007 include 
complaints pursued under city and county ordinances only, while data for FY 2008 include sexual orientation and 
gender identity discrimination complaints pursued under city and county ordinances and state law. Data for FY 2009 
through FY 201 2  include only complaints pursued under state law. 
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RHODE ISLAND 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from R. I .  Gen. Laws §§ 28-5-3 and 28-5-7 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) provid ing protection from R . I .  Gen. Laws §§ 28-5-3 and 28-5-760 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 261 

Total number of employment d iscrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 2: 3 14  
FY 201 1 :  378 
FY 201 0: 382 
FY 2009: 356 
FY 2008: 409 
FY 2007: 364 

FY 201 2: 8 
FY 201 1 :  1 7  
FY 201 0: 1 5  
FY 2009: 1 5  
FY 2008: 1 5  
FY 2007: 14  

FY 201 2: 2 
FY 201 1 :  1 
FY 201 0: 1 
FY 2009: 0 
FY 2008: 0 
FY 2007: 1 

60 The relevant protected class explicitly identified in state statute is "gender identity or expression." 

61 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 
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, VERMONT 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 21  V.S.A. § 495 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from 21  V.S.A. § 495 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 262 

Total number of employment d iscrimination 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

Total number of employment discrimination 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 201 2: 142 
FY 201 1 :  1 05 
FY 201 0: 1 05 
FY 2009: 1 34 
FY 2008: 1 1 1  
FY 2007: 92 

FY 201 2: 4 
FY 201 1 :  2 
FY 201 0: 3 
FY 2009: 7 
FY 2008: 4 
FY 2007: 4 

FY 201 2: 1 
FY 201 1 :  0 
FY 201 0: 1 
FY 2009: 0 
FY 2008: 1 
FY 2007: 0 

62 All complaint data in this table are reported by federal fiscal year. 
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WASHINGTON 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Rev. Code Wash. (ARCW) §§ 49.60.030 and 
employment discrimination on the basis of 49.60. 1 80 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Rev. Code Wash. (ARCW) §§ 49.60.030, 
employment discrimination on the basis of 49.60.040(26), and 49.60. 1 8063 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 1 -201 2: 741 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 0-201 1 :  904 
and 201 264 FY 2009-201 0: 461 

FY 2008-2009: 690 
FY 2007-2008: 792 
FY 2006-2007: 607 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 1 -201 2: 34 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 0-201 1 :  44 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed FY 2009-201 0: 1 5  
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

FY 2008-2009: 1 9  
FY 2007-2008: 23 
FY 2006-2007: 34 

Total number of employment discrimination FY 201 1 -201 2:  4 
admin istrative complaints filed between 2007 FY 201 0-201 1 :  1 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed FY 2009-201 0: 0 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

FY 2008-2009: 4 
FY 2007-2008: 5 
FY 2006-2007: 2 

63 State statute prohibits employment discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation, which is defined to include, in 

relevant part, "gender expression or identity." "Gender expression or identity• is defined to mean "having or being 
perceived as having a gender identity, self-image, appearance, behavior, or expression, whether or not that gender 
identity, self-image, appearance, behavior, or expression is different from that traditionally associated with the sex 
assigned to that person at birth." 

64 All complaint data in this table are reported by state fiscal year. 
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WISCONSIN 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from Wis. Stat. §§ 1 1 1 .31  and 1 1 1 .36(1 )(d) 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation 

Statutory provision(s) providing protection from None 
employment discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2: 3 ,383 

administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  3,923 
and 201 265 

CY 201 0: 3,722 

CY 2009: 3,521 

CY 2008: 3 ,847 

CY 2007: 4,007 

Total number of employment discrimination CY 201 2:
' 
69 

administrative complaints filed between 2007 CY 201 1 :  75 
and 201 2  where at least one of the claimed 

CY 201 0: 1 00 
bases for discrimination is sexual orientation 

CY 2009: 78 

CY 2008: 66 

CY 2007: 61  

Total number of employment discrimination Not �pplicable 
administrative complaints filed between 2007 
and 201 2 where at least one of the claimed 
bases for discrimination is gender identity 

65 All complaint data in this table are reported by calendar year. 
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Tom D. Freier, EXECUTIVE DIRE 

Senate Judiciary Committee 
February 2, 201 5 

SB 2279 
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Mr. Chairman and members of the Senate Judiciary Committee, I am Tom Freier with the North 
Dakota F amily Alliance and am here testifying in opposition to SB 2279. 

The North Dakota Century Code and Constitution currently provide for protection from 
discrimination and prej udice, reflecting an attitude of dignity and respect for al l .  

This bi l l  adds the ambiguous concepts o f  ' sexual orientation and gender identity' as special 
protected categories to the code for the purpose of prohibiting discrimination. The definitions of 
sexual orientation and gender identity (SOGI) in this bill are subjective and vague. Unlike an 
immutable characteristic, like race, a characteristic which cannot change, "sexual orientation" 
defines conduct, behavior, or perception. The sexual orientation is self-identified as perceived by 
the individual, and may change. And in fact, if North Dakota were to pass SB 2279, we would 
be granting special legal protections to groups whose members are required to self-identity. 

Adding "sexual orientation and gender" to anti-discrimination code does more than protect an 
individual ' s  rights or liberty, it creates a protected class, it grants special status. Granting special 
privileges, status, and coercive power to some at the expense of freedom for all is not in the best 
interests of North Dakotans. 

Supreme Court criteria for a change in non-discrimination status include: an immutable, 
unchangeable characteristic, being economically deprived, and suffering from political 
powerlessness. Sexual orientation seems to fit none of these requisite categories. 

As a self-identified, perceived characteristic, that may in fact change, it  certainly is not 
immutable. Studies indicate that homosexual incomes are equal to national averages. And when 
we take into consideration the election of Rep. Boschee and those sponsoring this bill, it would 
be difficult to say the effort has no voice in the public square. 

Sections of this bill deal with employers and other business related regulations. North Dakota 
has a diverse, tolerant, and robust workforce environment. Everyone should be treated with 
dignity and respect in the workpl ace, both employers and employees. Today North D akota 
embraces the freedom of all employers to hire individuals whom they believe are the best 
applicants for the job and the most l ikely to advance the mission of their business. Governor 
Dalyrrnple in his State of State highlighted the excellence of our states business environment­
derived from both employers and employees . 

3220 18th St South Ste 8 · Fargo, ND 58104 · Phone: 701 -364-0676 
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Government should not through unfair employment mandates like SB 2279 pick winners and 
losers. Businesses owners in North Dakota shouldn't have to choose between keeping their 
businesses open and conforming to government dictates. Across the country business owners, 
mostly small business owners have been subjected to long and expensive lawsuits in attempts to 
retain the ability to determine their employment options. (Ken Connelly, ADF, will share 
testimony) 

Section 9 of the bill refers to public accommodations. We believe the current environment 
serves North Dakota well-has and will continue to. Placing the almost impossible task of 
enforcing the provisions of Section 9 on the owners of public accommodations would be a 
tremendously heavy burden, and virtually impossible to enforce. It would require the owner (the 
school, business, mall, park, hotel) to ascertain an individual's self-identified, 'perceived' sexual 
orientation-to accommodate or risk litigation. 

To put a face to the potential problems with this bill we need look no further than Minnesota. 
The Minnesota State High School League, equivalent to our North Dakota High School 
Activities Association, recently put in place a policy allowing transgendered athletes to compete 
in either the boys or girls program. We see the logistical enforcement issues relating to 
bathrooms and dressing rooms, and by enlarging our view to the entire accommodations 
section-we see the immense difficulty in enforcement and a system opening doors to unending 
litigation. 

While Section 1 9  attempts to provide exemptions for religious organizations, we believe those 
provisions fall far short. The provisions of this bil l  go far beyond a church building or the 
pastoral staff. The First Amendment rights of men and women of faith do not cease as they 
leave the church building returning to their homes, businesses, and workplace. Case in point is 
the 68 year old Washington florist who served and employed people who identify as 
homosexual, and today is being sued in a lawsuit that may well cost her her business. (read) 
Section 1 9  will not protect people like Barronelle Stutzman. 

Inside the walls of the church we see the ramifications of a measure like SB 2279 resulting in the 
loss of First Amendment rights. Recently the city of Houston subpoenaed sermon notes and 
emails of pastors who dared exercise their First Amendment rights regarding the city's sexual 
orientation ordinance. Thankfully, after a huge public outcry, the mayor withdrew the 
subpoenas. The religious exemptions in SB 2279 will not protect men and women of faith, 
inside the church walls or outside. 

In summary, we believe that North Dakota thrives today as a result of being a diverse and 
tolerant people, embracing dignity and respect for all .  The government should not provide 
special status, special privilege for some at the expense of freedom for all. 

NDFA respectfully encourages a Do Not Pass on SB 2279. 

(additional handouts and introduction of Ken Connelly with ADF) 
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January 30, 2015 

Introduction 
Senate Bill No. 2279 seeks to add ambiguous concepts such as "sexual orientation" and 

"gender identity" (SOGI) as protected categories in North Dakota's existing statutes. In North 
Dakota law this would represent an unprecedented change, attempting for the first time to 
assign legal protections to groups whose members are required to self-identify. The other 
categories currently protected from discrimination are typically easy to visually discern, or 
verifiable with past evidence. Neither sexual orientation or gender identity are immutable, or in 
any way discernable to an outward appearances. The inclusion of these personal preferences as 
protected classes is not necessary, lacks any scientific or statistical support, creates a serious 
legal concern for business owners as well as the state, and runs afoul of the First Amendment of 
the U.S. Constitution. 

Lacks Scientific Support 
"Sexual Orientation" is a construct that includes attractions, thoughts, desires, 

intentions, fantasies, actions and identity. "Gender identity" used to be as simple as whether 
people describe themselves as male or female. Today, however, it can include combinations of 
the two primary genders and an infinite number of other "genders" in-between. For example: 
the popular social media site Facebook now lists more than 50 identities based on combinations 
of sexual orientation and gender identity that people can choose to self-identify as. No 
scientific instrument or test can distinguish a person's gender identity or sexual orientation as 
can be done with gender, race, nationality or even age. 

Defining legal protections based on individual behaviors or perceptions greatly departs 
from traditional nondiscrimination law and creates a system subject to easy manipulation. By 
including "gender identity" as a protected class in anti-discrimination statutes, North Dakota 
would also be including "Gender Dysphoria," also known as "Gender Identity Disorder" (GID), 
into the statutes. Gender Dysphoria is a clear and diagnosable mental disorder1 and its inclusion 
as a protected class has created legal, safety and privacy problems for those areas that have 
passed SOGI protections: 

1. In Washington State, a high school girls' swim team was using the pool and other facilities 
at Evergreen State College. There, they encountered a naked man who identifies as 
transgender yet still possesses a male's anatomy. The college's non-discrimination policy 
keeps them from barring the man from the women's facilities. As a result, the girls' swim 
team was relegated to using a smaller, auxiliary locker and changing room. 

2. In Maine, another biological male, wearing women's clothing, makeup and jewelry started 
using the women's r~stroom at a Denny's. After patrons complained and he was told to 
use the men's room, he sued and won the right for himself - and any person who claims to 
be transgendered - to use whatever· bathroom was consistent with his gender identity. 

1 "Gender dysphoria," National Institutes of Health, 
(http: I /www.nlm .nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/001527.htm) (last visited January 23, 2015). 
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3. In New York, a woman on hormone therapy who had been living as a man attempted to 
use the men's locker room at a public pool in Staten Island. When asked to leave, she 
claimed she was "harassed and humiliated" and filed suit against the city. 

Evidence demonstrates that some individuals change their "sexual orientation" over the 
course of a lifetime, both spontaneously and deliberately. Again, there is no scientific test or 
outward indication that would alert anyone as to another person's sexual orientation or gender 
identity, either in practice or in court. 

There is also a decided lack of scientific evidence to provide a basis for sexual orientation 
protection. In 2008, the American Psychological Association acknowledged the absence of a 
biological link to homosexual behavior, and admitted that such behavior is a choice that is 
impacted by many factors. 2 To include such fluid and malleable categories in discrimination law 
is an invitation to abuse and manipulation by any individual. This further opens up the state to 
lawsuits by offended individuals whose privacy and safety have has been violated. 

Amending the Statutes is Not Necessary 
There is no evidence of a problem that needs a solution through this bill. There is a 

dearth of cases pending in North Dakota's court system surrounding the issue presented by this 
proposed amendment. Further, there is no legislative showing of any evidence that "sexual 
orientation discrimination" is a problem in the state. As demonstrated earlier, however, the 
mere inclusion of this language into the North Dakota statutes would open the door to such legal 
and legislative issues, forcing business owners and state agencies to go on the defensive against 
alleged offenses whether real or imagined. Current federal and state law already prohibits sex 
discrimination and sexual harassment. Current law prohibits business owners from allowing 
issues of sexuality to become relevant in the workplace. This bill would therefore be redundant 
of existing protections, while removing common sense elements from the treatment of sexes as 
unique and different. 

In the free-market system, businesses respond to market pressures and adopt policies as 
needs arise. The North Dakota legislature is encouraged to do the same, and not pass laws or 
amend them in the absence of a clear and present need to do so . 

In addition, notwithstanding all of these problems, the state has failed to identify how it 
plans to implement these new categories into law with appropriate consideration for the 
concerns of others whose rights to privacy and other freedoms will be impacted. The citizens 
possess unequivocal rights of privacy as well as the right to enforce their entitlement to privacy; 
this is an important yet ignored consideration in the bill. 

Creates Serious Legal Concern for Business Owners 
Personal privacy rights specifically protect individuals in restrooms facilities from having 

their bodies exposed to members of the opposite sex. 3 The bill purports to protect everyone on 
the basis of numerous sexual inclinations including that which is perceived to be their sex at any 

2 http://www.narth.com/docs/deemphasizes.html; http://www.apa.org/topics/sorientation.pdf 
3 Lee v. Downs, 641F.2d1117 (4th Cir. 1981) 
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given time. This qualifies everyone as a potential victim and potential plaintiff with or without 
verifiable cause. If this bill becomes law, employers must be cognizant of their employees' 
varying sexual preferences or perceived sexual identity in order to stay vigilant with regard to 
potential "sexual orientation" claims. This is an impossible task. 

Given that sexual orientation and gender identity are neither immutable nor uniform; neither 
measureable nor discernable by physical characteristic; all private and public entities that are 
subject to this bill will have absolutely no method for objectively assessing an individual's 
"sexual orientation." As a result these business and state entities will be exposed to unfounded 
charges of discrimination. 

Beyond opening the door to any number of potential lawsuits, amending these statutes to 
include SOGI protections would severely disadvantage employers and others trying to defend 
against such claims. An employer who has a biologically male employee who self-identifies as 
"bigender"4 must allow him to use any restroom or locker room he pleases or face a 
discrimination lawsuit. At the same time, that employer could find itself fending off a lawsuit 
from female employees who object to having to expose their bodies before a man. Before 
attempting to provide unnecessary protections for "gender identity" and "sexual orientation" in 
the state's anti-discrimination statutes, the legislature should carefully consider an answer to 
such legal conundrums that are likely to arise as a result. 

Inclusion of SOGI in Anti-:Dis<:rimination Runs Afoulof the First Amendment 
The First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution protects freedom of religion, speech and 

association. Article I Section 3 of the North Dakota Constitution provides an even greater 
guarantee of religious liberty. Including SOGI protections into anti-discrimination law would 
infringe on those rights. The United States Supreme Court has overruled decisions of states who 
claimed that private organizations have engaged in sexual orientation discrimination. 5 

There are many religious individuals who adhere to certain moral precepts regarding 
sexual behavior. Most of these belong to the two largest religious groups in the world 
comprising more than 3 billion individuals between them. Accordingly, religiously motivated 
business owners and individuals are constitutionally and statutorily protected from having to hire 
particular individuals to do certain tasks and to refrain from offering their services under 
particular circumstances. An example would include protecting store owners who refuse to sell 
sexually explicit magazines which violate their religious beliefs. Amending North Dakota's anti­
discrimination statutes would bring these religious values into direct conflict with the law, and 
create a fundamental clash with the state's own constitution which states in part: "[T]he free 
exercise and enjoyment of religious profession and worship, without discrimination or 
preference shall be forever guaranteed in this state, "6 

4 "Here's a list of 58 Gender Options for Facebook Users" ABC News, 
http://abcnews.go.com/blogs/headlines/2014/02/heres-a-list-of-58-gender-options-for-facebook-users/ (last 
visited January 23, 2015) 
5 Hurley v. Irish-American Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual Group of Boston, Inc., 515 U.S. 557 (1995); Boy 
Scouts of Am. v. Dale, 530 U.S. 640 (2000). 
6 Article I Section 3 North Dakota State Constitution, http: I lwww. legis. nd. gov I constit/a01. pdf?20150130140253 
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I f  Senate Bill No.  2279 omes law, it wi ll communicate to the citizens of North Dakota 
that the political age a- of a few is more important than the enshri ned religious freedom 
principles of the First Amendment and North Dakota 's  own Constitution . It will additionally 
enshrine into law a simultaneously indefensible, yet unassailable privilege that anyone - whether 
with genuine or criminal intent - can exploit. For the foregoing reasons, it is our opinion that the 
North Dakota State Legislature should refuse to endorse this or any bill which would include 
"sexual orientation" or "gender identity" protections in anti -discrimination laws . 
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Testimony on SB 2279 
Prepared for the Senate Judiciary Committee 

February 2, 2015 

Good morning Chairman Hogue and members of the Judiciary Committee, my 
name is Troy Seibel and I am the Commissioner of Labor. I appear before you 
today neutral on SB 2279. I would like to provide an overview of current law and 
the Department of Labor and Human Rights' processes in the area of 
discrimination , how SB 2279 would change current law, developments in the law 
regarding sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination , and how SB 2279 
may impact the Department. 

State Discrimination Laws 

The Department administers and enforces state discrimination laws under the 
North Dakota Human Rights Act (N.D.C.C. ch . 14-02.4) and the North Dakota 
Housing Discrimination Act (N.D.C.C. ch . 14-02.5). Under these anti­
discrimination laws, the Department receives and investigates complaints 
alleging discrimination in employment, housing , public services, public 
accommodations, and credit transactions. As required by law, the Department 
emphasizes conciliation to resolve complaints, conducts investigations into 
complaints of discrimination, provides administrative hearings on complaints 
where there is probable cause to believe a discriminatory practice has occurred , 
and fosters prevention of discrimination through education about the rights and 
responsibilities provided under North Dakota's discrimination laws. 

Department's Enforcement of Federal Law 

In addition to receiving and investigating complaints under state law, the 
Department also investigates cases for the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD) under the Fair Housing Act and the Equal 
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC) under Title VII of the Civil Rights 
Act. Cases are routinely filed under both state and federal law. We refer to 
these cases as "dual filed" . 

The EEOC currently takes the position that discrimination based upon an 
individual's sexual orientation is already covered under Title Vll's prohibition of 
discrimination on the basis of sex or gender. Nationally, the EEOC has taken 
complaints on this basis, investigated the complaints, and issued findings that 

Telephone: (701) 328-2660 ND Toll Free: 1-800-582-8032 Fax : (701) 328-2031 TTY: 1-800-366-6888 



probable cause exists to believe Title VII was violated . The EEOC has had some 
success with the courts on this theory. However, sexual orientation is not 
expressly covered under federal law. HUD has been somewhat less active than 
the EEOC in this area. 

The Department has drafted complaints alleging sexual orientation as a 
protected category (in employment discrimination) and forwarded the complaint 
to the EEOC. However, the Department does not investigate these complaints, 
as the Department has interpreted past actions by the Legislature in this area to 
indicate it is not the Legislature's intent that sexual orientation be a protected 
category under the Human Rights Act. On average, the Department writes 1-2 
complaints a year on the basis of sexual orientation and forwards these to the 
EEOC. 

Developments in the area of Sexual Orientation as a Protected Category 

Currently, 21 states and the District of Columbia have passed legislation which at 
least makes sexual orientation a protected category in their human rights laws. 
Some also recognize gender identity as a protected category. I have attached a 
survey of the laws of these 21 states and the District of Columbia. 

As I mentioned previously, the EEOC takes the position that Title Vll's ban on 
discrimination on the basis of sex already covers sexual orientation and gender 
identity discrimination. In addition , President Obama has issued Executive Order 
Nos. 11246 and 11478, which , in general , ban discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation by contractors and sub contractors of the federal government. 

SB 2279 and its Impacts 

SB 2279 would add sexual orientation and gender identity as protected 
categories under both the Human Rights Act and the Housing Discrimination Act. 
This would prohibit discrimination in the areas of employment, housing , public 
services, public accommodations, and credit transactions on the basis of one's 
sexual orientation or gender identity. There are certain exemptions for religious 
organizations, as set forth in the bill. 

It is difficult to gage the impact of SB 2279 on the Department, as the increase in 
the Department's caseload is hard to estimate. Studies by various federal 
agencies have concluded that adding sexual orientation and gender identity as a 
protected category at the federal level would result in an increase in complaints 
of between 5-7%. Other studies place the increase at between 0.5% and 9%. 
Approximately 4% of Minnesota's complaints under its human rights act are 
based on sexual orientation or gender identity. Finally, the Department refers 1-2 
complaints of discrimination to the EEOC on the basis of sexual orientation or 
gender identity per year. 

The Department closed 206 investigations under state and federal discrimination 
statutes during calendar year 2014. If one uses a 6% increase in cases , the 
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Department would see an i ncrease in  its caseload of approximately 1 2  cases per 
year. However, I wou ld stress that these numbers a re based solely on rough 
estimates and anecdotal evidence. 

I would be happy to answer any q uestions the committee may have. 
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Cal iforn i a  
Prohibits discrimination based o n  sexual orientation and gender identity 

California bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

Colorado 
Prohi bits discri m ination based o n  sexual orientation a n d  gender identity 

Colorado state law bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and 

public accommodations. 

Connecticut 
Prohibits discrimination based o n  sexual orientation a n d  gender identity 

Connecticut state law bars discrimination based on sexual orientation in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. Gender identity discrimination is prohibited by the state under the category of sex discrimination. 

Di strict of Col u m bia 
Prohibits discri m i nation based o n  sexual orientation a nd gender identity 

The District of Columbia bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing 

and public accommodations. 

Delawa re 
Prohibits discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Delaware bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in housing and public accommodations. 

Sexual orientation is protected against all employment discrimination, while gender identity is protected only against 

public employment discrimination. 

Delaware's protections were put in place by an executive order, administrative order or personnel regulation 

prohibiting discrimination against public employees based on sexual orientation and gender identity. 

H awa i i  
Prohi bits discri m ination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Hawaii bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

I owa 
Prohibits discri m i nation based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

I owa bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 
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Prohibits discri m ination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

I l l inois bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

M assachusetts 
Prohi bits discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Massachusetts state law bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment and 

housing. Massachusetts bars discrimination based on sexual orientation in public accommodations, however gender 

identity is not protected. 

• M a ryland 

• 

• 

Prohibits discrimi nation based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Maryland state law bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and 

public accommodations. 

M a i ne 
Prohibits discri m ination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Maine bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

M i n nesota 
Prohibits discrimination based on sexual orientation a nd gender identity 

Minnesota bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

• N ew H a m psh i re 
Prohibits discri m i nation based on sexual orientation 

New Hampshire bars discrimination based on sexual orientation in employment, housing and public 

accommodations, however gender identity is not protected . 

• N ew J e rsey 

• 
Prohi bits discri m ination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

New Jersey bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

N ew M exico 
Prohibits discri m ination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

New Mexico bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

1 1"6 
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N evada 
Prohibits d iscri m ination based on sexual orientation a n d  gender identity 

Nevada bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

N ew York 
Prohibits d iscrimination based on sexual orientation 

New York bars discrimination based on sexual orientation in employment, housing and public accommodations, 

however gender identity is not protected. 

New York's protections were put in place by an executive order, administrative order or personnel regulation 

prohibiting discrimination against public employees based on sexual orientation and gender identity. 

In New York, the only prohibition against discrimination for gender identity is within the realm of public employment. 

• Oregon 

• 

• 

Prohibits discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Oregon bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

Rhode I s land 
Prohibits discrimination based o n  sexual orientation and gender identity 

Rhode Island bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

Ve rmont 
Prohibits discri m ination based on sexual orientation a n d  gender identity 

Vermont bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

• Was h i ngton 

• 

Prohi bits discri m ination based on sexual orientation and gender identity 

Washington bars discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity in employment, housing and public 

accommodations. 

Wisconsin  
Prohibits discrimination based o n  sexual orientation 

Wisconsin bars discrimination based on sexual orientation in employment, housing and public accommodations, 

however gender identity is not protected. 



This l etter is  to req u est you r  s u pport of Senate B i l l  2279 rega rd i ng 

nondiscrim i n ation based on sexua l  orientation or gender  identity. 

As a s u pporter of civi l rights, the most com m o n  a rgu m e nt I've heard 

aga in st legislation l i ke th is  is it provides specia l rights to va rious  grou ps of 

peop le .  

The exact opposite is  true .  

B i l l s  l i ke th is  req u i re l aws intended to p rotect the rights of  each citizen of 

North  Da kota protect all citizens of North Dakota . As it sta nds  now, gay 

a nd transgender  North Da kota citizens a re s pecifica l ly exc l u ded from the 

p rotection afforded severa l existing North Dakota laws. 

My h usband David H a m i lton and I a re two of the p l a intiffs in the pend i ng 

m a rriage e q u a l ity laws u it in  North Da kota . As citizens of o u r  state, we 

fi rm ly bel ieve we shou ld  be a l lowed the benefit a nd protection of state a nd 

federa l  m a rriage laws. 

As m e m bers of the same gender married com m u n ity, we strongly be l ieve 

we s i mply  cou ld not be David a nd Bern ie a n d  enjoy o u r  wonderfu l l ife 

without sta nd ing u p  for our  fe l l ow citizens and demand North Da kota law 

a pp ly  e q u a l ly to a l l  ma rried cou p les.  

As e lected state officia ls, I ask  you to ta ke a moment a n d  reflect on who 

you a re, the lega l protection you enjoy; a n d  if  you ca n i n  good conscience 

vote to d e ny those p rotections to you r fel low North  Da kota ns .  

Respectfu l ly, 

Bernie E rickson 

3 102 37 Ave S 

Fargo, N D  58104 

D istrict 41 



J e n n ife r Weisgerber  

Legis la tive Distri ct #32 

P h :  701-989-1762 

Testimony in s u p po rt of SB2279 

To m e m be rs of t h e  J ud ic iary Co m m itte e :  

LG BT No rth D a kota ns a re h e re, h ave b e e n  h e re, a nd want to co nt inue t o  be h e re a n d  m a ke t h is state 

the ir  home.  I u rge you to pass SB2279 a nd sta nd on the right side of h istory. 

I volu nteer a l a rge part of my t ime to a n  o rgan izatio n that wo rks to improve the l ives of LG BT people i n  

central  a n d  western N o rt h  Da kota . W e  h ave hosted n u m e rous l isten i ng sessions, com m u n ity 

d i scussions, a nd recent ly, an o p e n  h o u se to con nect with the LG BT a nd a l l ied co m m u nity. We 

conti n u a l ly hear  sto ries of d i scr imination but more often,  a n d  m o re revea l i ng, we h e a r  how a fraid 

people  a re .  Afra id  to be out,  to be themselves, to l ive a l ife that acknowledges the ir  fu l l  selves. W h e n  

your  l ive l ihood, yo u r  home, a n d  yo u r  q u a l ity of l ife a re t h reate ned because others ca n choose t o  d e ny 

you basic rights - somet h i ng is very wrong. 

What k ind of p l a ce does N o rth Da kota w a nt to be? I truly ask you - what kind? There is a c h a nce N o rt h  

Da kota wi l l  see m a rriage e q u a l ity for i t s  LG BT cit izens befo re t h e y  wi l l  be protected at t h e i r  jobs a nd i n  

the ir  hom es. That is  not t h e  p lace I w a n t  Nort h  Da kota t o  b e .  

T h i s  isn't a d iscussion a bout a right t o  be l ief o r  fea r  o f  t h i ngs misunderstood - I wish i t  were t h a t  easy.  

This  is  a d iscussion a bout basic h u m a n  rights. The right fo r LG BT people to exist, the right fo r ME to exist, 

in t h is state that I a nd others wo rk so tirelessly h a rd to im prove. This is a d iscussion a bout the state of 

N orth D akota being ready to say, "The l ives of ALL people in this state m atter a n d  a re wort h  

protecting." 

Anything but a "do pass" is saying the e xa ct o p posite . 



Representing the Diocese of Fargo 
and the Diocese of Bismarck 

Christopher T. Dodson 

Executive Director and 

General Counsel 

To: Senate Judiciary Committee 
From: Christopher T. Dodson , Executive Director 
Subject: Senate Bill  2279 
Date: February 2, 20 1 5  

The Catholic Church affirms the God-given dignity of every human life and 

rejects unjust discrimination. Acts of violence, degradation, or diminishment 

toward any human per on, including anyone with a homosexual inclination, are 

contrary to the teachings of the Catholic Church. There is no place for arbitrary 

discrimination and prejudice against a person because of sexual attraction. 

Moreover, all human persons, including those with homosexual inclinations, have 

a right to obtain employment and housing. 

But this legislation is not about how we feel about discrimination based on sexual 

orientation. It is not about whether a nondiscrimination policy is good for 

business. It is not about whether we should be like other states. It is about this 
bill .  

When we look carefully at this bill  we see that the unique legal status granted by 

the bil l 's definition of sexua orientation appears to encompass not only 

homosexual inclinations, but also other sexual activities, homosexual or 

heterosexual, outside of marriage. Civil rights categories should not be used to 

cover a particular group's sexual activities. Current law already protects lawful 

activities outside the p lace of employment. This bill, however, would create 

special protection for a certain class of sexual activities - not persons. 

This bill is also replete with infringements upon conscience, religious liberty, and 

the right to engage in commerce and social service without sacrificing sincerely­

held beliefa. The bill has a religious "exemption," but that exemption actually 

provides less protection than federal law. More troubling, the bil l 's exemptions 

do not exempt religious entities or anyone from the bil l 's sexual orientation 
provisions. They are nothing more than a sham apparently intended to fool people 

into thinking that religious rights are protected. 

We realize this is an emotionally-charged issue. Respect and cooperation, 

however, among people with legitimate differences of opinion is what makes 

North Dakota great. There is no place for hate, name-calling, or stereotyping by 

people on either side f th . s issue or this particular bill. Keeping those principles 

in mind we urge this committee to carefully review what this bill actually does 

and give it a Do Not Pass recommendation. 

I 03 S. 3rd St. , Suite I 0 • Bismarck, ND 5850 I 
(70 I )  223-25 1 9  • 1 -888-4 1 9- 1 237 • FAX # (70 l )  223-6075 

http://ndcatholic .org • ndcatholic@btinet.net 



~,, ________ 
NORTH DAKOTA 
UNIVERSITY SYSTEM 

ACCESS. INNOVATION. EXCELLENCE. 

SB 2279 
Senate Judiciary Committee 
February 2, 2015 
Murray Sagsveen, Chief of Staff 
701.328 .1499 I murray.sagsveen@ndus.edu 

THE NOUS f:I{£' 

I am Murray Sagsveen, Chief of Staff for the Chancellor in the North Dakota University System Office . I 

appear in support of Senate Bill 2279 on behalf of the State Board of Higher Education, which voted to 

support this bill during its meeting on January 29, 2015 . 

The fall 2014 enrollment in the University System's eleven institutions was 47,660 students .1 According 

to Gallup surveys conducted June through December 2012, approximately 1.7% of the resident adults in 

North Dakota identified themselves as lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender (LGBT) .2 Based on this 
survey, one could estimate that at least 810 students in the University System identify themselves as 

lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender. 

This bill would afford very important protections to LGBT students, including: 

1. It would include sexual orientation in the state policy against discrimination. 
2. It would prohibit the following from discriminating against a student because of the student's 

sexual orientation : 
a. Employment agencies; 
b. Labor organizations; 
c. Employers; 

d. Persons engaged in the provision of public accommodations; 
e. Persons engaged in the provision of public services; 
f . Persons who provide credit-related services; 
g. Persons who sell or rent property; 
h. Insurance organizations; and 

i. Courts (in the jury selection process) . 

Our students should not be denied part-time employment, housing, insurance, credit, and public 
services because they identify themselves - or are perceived to be - lesbian, gay, bisexual, or 
transgender. 

Therefore, the State Board of Higher Education urges this committee to vote "do pass" on Senate Bill 
2279. 

1 2014 Fall Enrollment Report prepared for the State Board of Higher Education (November 2014) -
http:// nd us . ed u/ up loads/re po rts/131/2014-fa 11 -e n rol I men t-re port. pd f. 

2 http ://www.gallup .com/poll/160517 /lgbt-percentage-highest-lowest-north -dakota.aspx. 

North Dakota University System I Creating the NOUS Edge I Find out how at NOUS edu 
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15.0742.01003 
Title. 

Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Senator Nelson 

February 13, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2279 

Page 1, line 13, after "orientation" insert ". gender identity" 

Page 2, line 13, after "disability" insert", sexual orientation" 

Page 4, line 29, after the second underscored comma insert "or" 

Page 4, line 30, remove" , or gender identity" 

Page 8, line 20, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 9, line 2, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 9, line 10, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 9, line 22, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 1, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 6, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 10, line 20, after "orientation" insert ". gender identity" 

Page 10, line 25, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 5, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 12, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 11, line 18, after "origin" insert ", sexual orientation, gender identity" 

Page 11 , line 28, after "orientation" insert ". gender identity" 

Page 12, line 17, after "orientation" insert ". gender identity" 

Page 12, line 21 , after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 12, line 26, after "orientation" insert ", gender identity" 

Page 13, line 1, after "orientation" insert", gender identity" 

Page 13, line 8, after "or" insert "based upon" 

Page 13, line 8, after "orientation" insert "or gender identity" 

Page 13, line 30, after "orientation" insert "or gender identity" 

Page 14, line 7, after "orientation" insert "or gender identity" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0742.01003 
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SB 2279 Testimony 
Representative Joshua A. Boschee, District 44 
Senate Judiciary Committee - March 23, 2105 

Chairman Weisz and Committee Members, 
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For the record, my name is Joshua Boschee and I have the privilege of representing District 44, 
which is comprised of parts of north Fargo. 

Bill Summary & Amendments 
SB 2279 was last heard in your committee in 2009, so many of you have not had an opportunity 
to discuss this legislation. So, I will walk you through the bill to point out the major changes we 
are looking to enact. 

Let's start with Section 2, which defines sexual orientation on page 4, line 20, as "actual or 
perceived heterosexuality, bisexuality, homosexuality or gender identity". This is a fairly 
universal definition as found in a number of state definitions that have enacted similar 
legislation. The term gender identity is further defined on page 3, line 3, as "actual or perceived 
gender-related identity, appearance, or mannerisms, or other gender-related characteristics of 
an individual, regardless of the individual's designated gender at birth". Again, this is a 
common definition as found in a number of states that have enacted similar legislation. 

The remaining sections of the bill are where we add sexual orientation as protected from 
discrimination related to the ND Fair Housing Act and the ND Human Rights Act. Basically, this 
bill will make it illegal to discriminate based on sexual orientation in housing, employment, 
public services and personal business transactions such as finance, insurance, buying real estate 
and engaging in commerce. By adding this language, we are adding into statute that 
discrimination is not a North Dakota value. 

If you turn to page 5, line 27, through page 6, line 7, you will see that there are exemptions 
included to allow religious organizations to limit employment for religious positions and to 
employees who are of the same religion, if that is the desire of that organization. 

I have also handed out amendments that are clean-up in nature related to two sections where 
the addition of sexual orientation was inadvertently left out. The amendments related to the 
religious exemptions put the language in line with the exemptions allowed under Title XII at the 
federal level, so our Department of Labor doesn't have to investigate any more or less than 
what is required under Title XII for state cases. 

Discrimination Occurs 
This legislation continues to be introduced because discrimination based on sexual orientation 
and gender identity does occur in our state. While, the vast majority of our employers and 
landlords do not discriminate, there have been a small number of bad actors that have done so, 



thereby i m pacting h a rdworking North Dakotans a n d  their fam i lies based o n  who they a re, not 

on their  abi l ity to do their job or whether or n ot they adhere to the terms of their lease.  

Fol lowing my testim ony wi l l  be a n u mber of North Dakotans who wi l l  speak of their experiences 

and the experiences of others they know in the state. One of the b iggest chal lenges in people 

testifying today is the fact that many North Dakotans who h ave been d iscriminated against 

have m oved out of the state to a state where they don't have to worry about this type of 

discrim in ation o r  a re concerned about further  discri mination upon speaking pub l icly. 

I know of three incidents specifical ly  in the past two years in which North D a kotan s  have been 

discrim i n ated aga inst based on their sexu a l  o rientation or gender identity. In o n e  of those 

instances, a young m a n  who worked at a Fargo convenience store was wearing ra i nbow 

brace l et at work. H is  manager asked h im if he was gay, to wh ich the young m a n  repl ied that h e  

was. The manager fired h im o n  t h e  spot stating that h e  d idn 't n eed a ny gay peopl e  working i n  

h is store. The young man h a d  no recourse because n ot on ly d i d  h is  employer (obviously) n ot 

p rovide p rotections, neither does the N D  Department of Labor. A second incident was shared 

with me by a Fargo p hysician who was interviewing physician assistants. O n e  of his candidates 

was a wom a n  n ot from the a rea but was i nterested i n  moving to the state. Whi le  i n  Fargo, she 

and her partner looked at apartments to get a better feel for what was a vai lab le if they moved 

here. At one of the showings, when the landl ord realized they were a coup l e, h e/sh e  (?) 

abru ptly ended the showing. D iscrimination happens. North Dakota can d o  better. 

Prior to being elected, I worked at N o rth Dakota State Un iversity for eight years where I 

i ntera cted with many lesbian, gay, b isexual  and transgender stud ents, students o u r  state h ad 

invested lO's of thousands of dol lars to educate and train for our workfo rce. The vast m ajority 

of these students wou l d n 't even consider N o rth Dakota as a p lace to live a n d  work after college. 

They h a d  their sights set on p la ces l ike Minneapolis, M ilwaukee, Denver, Ames, Des Moines, 

Chicago, where they could l ive, work and continue their educatio n  free from fea r  of 

discrim i nation.  It was frustrating to see such hard working and ta l ented engineers, teachers, 

n u rses, scientists a n d  a variety of other career-oriented stu dents choose to leave their home 

state because they cou ldn 't, and rightly, shouldn't take the risk of accepting a job,  sta rting a 

fam ily  and investing in a com m u n ity knowing that if their employer o r  l a n dlord fou n d  out t hey 

were gay or t ransgender, they could, u nder current law, lose their  job or housing. N orth 

Dakota can do better. 

M r. Chairman, members of the com m ittee, I am going to pass a ro u n d  two written testimonies 

from N o rth Dakotan s  that have experienced d iscrimination, but were u n a b le to be here today. 

The first is from a young woman,  R iah Roe, who testified in 2013 about her expe rience with 

Fargo Pub l ic Schools as a speech a n d  debate coach, after her emp l oyer d iscovered she was 

transgender. Riah grew up in Bismarck, G rand Forks and Glenburn before l iving in Fargo whi le 

atte n d i ng col lege. She now l ives i n  Minneapol is where she doesn't h ave to worry about legal 

discrim in atio n .  The second is from a Bismarck woman who testified in 2009 about her 

experience of being fired from her job when her supervisor fou n d  out she was i n  a relationship 

with a woman.  Both of these ind ividu als, a long with the other testifiers th is morning, a re not 
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ab le  to served under state law by the Department of Labor when this form of d iscrimination 

occurs. Additiona lly, their sexua l  o rientation or gender identity were not d iscussed d u ring their 

i nterview, b ut after being q u al ified for the job and actua l ly doing the work, were fou nd out to 

be gay or tra nsgender were terminated from their p rimary source of income o r  home. 

Good for Business 

This legislation is important a n d  needed as North Dakota works to recruit a n d  reta in a ta lented 

workforce and entice new b u sinesses to our state. My generation n o  longer looks just for a job 

but a lso for an accepting, th riving com m u n ity, and for most of my generation, those 

com m u n ities should p rovide cu lt u re, creativity and great opportunities for engageme nt. S B  

2279 does th is, a n d  n ot just b y  sending a signa l, but b y  proving t o  LGBT North Dakota n s  that 

they can be honest about who they a re and whom they cal l  fami ly with out the fea r  of losing 

their job o r  housing. F u rthermo re, it signa ls  to people from a l l  over the cou ntry that N o rth 

Dakota is  open for b usiness a n d  looking for hardworking, talented individ u a ls to keep our 

economy a n d  com m u nities growing. 

In its 2015 Legislative Agenda Value Statements, the Economic Development Association of N D  

states: 

"Qu a l ity of p lace is essentia l  to attracting talent to l ive and work in communities a n d  in 

revita l ization, d iversification,  and creation of new wealth . "  

Their Agenda contin ues to say: 

" N o rth D akota has u n m atched economic opportu n ity for industry and i ndivi d u a ls .  The 

state m u st s u p port a q u a l ity of l ife that attracts a n d  retains talent to m aximize its 

growth potentia l . "  

The Department of Com merce's N D  Economic Development Strategic P l a n :  2010-2020 i s  

comprised o f  t h e  fol lowing goals :  

"Go a l  1 :  Create, attract, a n d  retain qua l ity jobs and workforce targeted industries and 

high-demand occu pations. 

Goal 2 :  Stren gthen Nort h  D a kota 's business c l imate and image to increase n at io n a l  a n d  

g l o b a l  competitiveness. 

Goal 3 :  E n h ance N orth D akota 's image." 

The 2014 U pd ate from N D  2020 a n d  Beyond states: 

" North D akota m u st capita l ize on the o pportunities that have emerged as a result of o u r  

state's i m p ressive economic growth . W e  m u st continue t o  work t o  create a n  excel lent 

q u al ity of l ife for our m ost i mportant asset, our people.  Access to safe com m u n ities, 

exceptiona l  education, qua l ity healthcare a n d  jobs a re an important part of the future 

for o u r  citizens.  We m ust continue to strengthen our overa l l  b usiness cl imate to ensure 

o u r  people continue to h ave a m p le opportunities, whi le sti l l  d iversifying our economy." 

Cu rrently, 89% of Fortu ne 500 companies provide p rotections against d iscrimination based on 

sexua l  o ri entation and 66% b ased o n  gender identity. Large employers i n  North Dakota l ike 



M icrosoft, Sanford Health, Wal-Ma rt, Verizon Wireless, Wel ls Fargo, Best Buy, Target a n d  U S  

Bank t o  n a m e  a few offer these p rotections to their employees. I n  the publ ic sector, the 

Federa l governm ent, including the m ilitary and Nationa l  G u a rd, a lo n g  with the N D  U niversity 

System p rovide p rotections to LG BT employees, e m ployees that a l l  l ive a n d  work in our state, 

em ployees who a re protected whi le at work b ut leave those protections at their e m ployer's 

door as they h ea d  to their apartment or a p a rt-time job. 

When employees look for a p la ce to work and l ive, N o rth Dakota has to compete with 21 other 

states, severa l h ere i n  our own region,  inc luding MN, I A, I L, WI,  a n d  CO,  that h ave non­

d iscri m i n ation policies a l ready i n  p lace. Passing SB 2279 wi l l  open u p  North D akota to a 

n u m ber of e m p l oyers and employees who may h ave never considered the o pport u nities o u r  

great state p rovides.  

So to do the math, M r. Chairm a n  and members of the com m ittee, is  it  b etter to a l l ow a coup l e  

employers who d iscriminate based o n  sexua l  orientation or gender identity contin u e  t o  d o  s o  

without a n y  acco u ntabi l ity o r  is i t  better t o  a m e n d  the l a w  to ensure that the h u nd reds o f  LG BT 

North Dakotan s  that l eave the state each year can l ive and work in their home state without 

fea r  of being d iscriminated against? Add to that the thousands of LGBT n urses, engineers, 

teachers, physicia n s  and entrepreneurs who a ren't even considering N o rt h  Dakota as a p l a ce to 

l ive a n d  work, I th ink  the choice is  a n  easy one to make. 

Cities & Political Subdivisions 

The cities of Grand Forks a n d  Fargo h ave both passed ord inances a s  a city e m pl oyers stating 

that they wou l d  not d i scriminate based o n  sexual  o rientation and gender identity. Gra n d  Forks 

passed a n  ord inance that added non-discrimination pol icies to renta ls based on sexual 

orientation and gender identity, someth ing they were a b le to do because they h ave a rental 

registry (which is p retty un ique in the state). Th ese cities, a long with the City of B ismarck, h ave 

exp ressed support for p assing this l egislation because they a re l imited as pol itical s ubdivisions 

i n  what they can do.  Housing and employment j urisd iction fa l ls  to the state under the 

Department of Labor a nd H u ma n  Rights, so cities a re not able to provide local a ssistance to 

their residents i n  cases where they h ave been discrim in ated against based on their sexual  

orientation o r  gender identity. These cities understan d  a n d  embrace the i mportance of having 

d iverse, inclusive and vibrant comm u n ities to attract engaged, h a rdworking people to fi l l  m a n y  

o f  the vacant p rofessional  a n d  ski l led la bor positions. 

Along with t hese cities, school boards such as Devil s  Lake's h ave created pol icies that provide 

recou rse agai n st d iscrimination based on sexual  o rientation and gen der identity, as has the 

State Board of H igher Education for the 45,000 stu dents enrol led i n  their  institutions a n d  the 

thousands of e m ployees that fa l l  under  their  pu rview. Again,  the cha l lenge these entities face 

as e m ployers a nd service p roviders is  that their employees and students a re o n ly p rotected as 

long as they a re at work or school.  When they go home at n ight or to an off-campus job, those 

protections remain o n ly in their rear-view mirror. Their partners may n ot h ave sim i l a r  

protections i n  t h e i r  j obs, creating a cha l le nging situation for dua l  income fam i l ies. North 

Dakotans shou ldn't l ive in two versions of one state - one where they a re p rotected from eight 
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to five o r  i n  the classroom a n d  a nother when they leave the pa rking lot. North Dakota can d o  

better. 

Some of you a n d  others in the cha m ber h ave expressed concerns about the b i l l  a n d  som e  of its 

impacts.  I wou l d  l ike to add ress those at this point. 

Perception vs. Actual 

As I ind icated earl ier in my testimony, the use of " actua l  or perceived sexu a l  o rientation "  o r  

"gender identity" is  com m o n  language in t h e  various state definitions throughout the cou ntry, 

which the d raft langu age was modeled from .  I understand the concerns that the word 

perceived would put a burden on t h e  employer in terms of an employee being discip l ined or 

passed over for a promotion that they were gay so as to fa l l  u nder this statute. An individu a l  

making a c l a i m  wou ld h ave the b u rden t o  demonstrate that i t  was t h e  fact that they were gay 

or perceived to be gay was the reason they were d iscriminated against in order to substantiate 

the cla i m .  They cou l d n 't j ust c la im to be gay in order to fal l  u nder these p rotections. 

Addit ional ly, including " perceived" p rotects straight men and women, who's supervisor or 

empl oyer for whatever reason thi n ks the individua l  is gay. In fact, the only two cases brought 

forwa rd to the Department of Labor in the last two years that wou l d  fa l l  under this pro posed 

language were heterosexua l  men who were ha rassed by their supervisor o r  emp loyer for being 

gay, when i n  fact they were n ot .  

Bathrooms & Locker Rooms 

There wil l  be individua ls  fol l owing me that wi l l  be able to speak in greater detai l  a bo ut this 

aspect, b ut I want you to take this  into perspective. If any of you and your famil ies h ave 

traveled to or thro ugh M in nesota in the last 2 2  years, you have l ikely used a public bath room 

that has a l lowed ind ividua ls  to use the bathroom of their choosing based o n  their gender 

identity. I owa, Colorado, N evad a  a n d  13 other states, a long with the District of Col u mbia h ave 

sim i l a r  laws enacted with no docu mented problems. 

For most tran sgender ind ivid u als, bathrooms and locker rooms end u p  being the places they 

are most l i ke ly to be assau lted or h a rmed. Based on th is, they tend to seek o ut single room 

restrooms, which a re comm o n  i n  the vast m ajority of smal l  b usinesses, as they a re convenient 

for most people who p refer p rivacy i n  the bath room .  I n  fact, the real ity is, that tra n sgender 

people a re a l ready using the restrooms of their  choice thro ughout our state with most of us  not 

even real iz ing it. 

Housing 

The N D  Fair  Housing Act, i n  compl iance with the federa l  fai r  housing laws a l lows landlords that 

rent space i n  their p rivate home or h ave fou r  or less renta l  u n its to be exem pt from the 

n ondiscri m i n ation component of the fa ir  housing act. This doesn't change with the passage of 

SB 2279. An individ ua l  that rents out their basement or owns a fou r-plex, wil l  sti l l  be a l lowed to 

be selective in whom they rent to . 

6 



F ina l ly Mr .  Chairman and members of the com m ittee, the m ajority of North Dakotans agree, 

that discrimination is not a North Dakota va lue.  I ncluded in my testimony a re the results of a 

p hone survey conducted last week by DFM Research of 400N orth Dakota residents over the age 

of 18. You wi l l  find that: 

• 59% of North D a kota n s  support SB 2 279, including 

• 68% of east city residents a n d  62% of west city residents 
• 6 1% of east rural  residents 
• 63% of self-identified independents a n d  
• 65% of self- identified moderates 

It is c lear that N o rth Dakotan s  val u e  h a rd work and tal ent. They do not value d iscrimination, 

which is why if a North Dakotan is d iscriminated against, they should be able to work with the 

Department of Labor to rectify the situation. 

M r. Chairmen and members of the com mittee, you have a decision to m a ke today with SB 

2279. Wil l  our great state continue to a l low some of it's h a rd working residents to be 

d iscrim i nated agai n_st because of who they a re or who they love or  wi l l  we sta n d  behind the 

value that discri m in ation is n ot a l lowed in our state, because we va lue h a rd work a nd personal  

responsibi l ity. I hope you agree with m e  and the m ajority of North Dakotans that you r  fam i ly, 

friends, neighbors a n d  co-workers should l ive free of the fea r  of d iscrimination a n d  recommend 

a Do Pass for S B  2279. 

I stand for any q uestions. 



DF1VI RESEARCH 

Interviews: 

Margin of Error: 

interview Dates: 

400 residents over the age 18 that reside in North Dakota 

±4.9 percentage points 

January 26- 31, 2015 

Sample: Landline and cell phone sample. Random digit numbers provided by Survey Sample 
International (SSI) of Fairfield, CT. SSI provided Stone Research with 4,000 residential 
random phone numbers from a pool of listed and unlisted numbers in the boundary area. 
and 1, 700 cell phone numbers; which then were stratified into five distinct regions. 

Survey Sponsor: Friends of Joshua Boschee 

Q: North Dakota prohibits discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, sex, age, but 
not on the basis of sexual orientation. Some in the legislature want to change that, and 
have introduced Senate Bill 2279 which would also prohibit discrimination on the basis 
of sexual orientation. Suppose you had a vote on Senate Bill 2279, would you vote YES 
to pass the bill, or NO to reject the Bill? 

Yes, to pass ··· ··············· ········· ··· ··· ····· ················ ·· ······ ·· ···· ····· ············ · 59% 
No, to reject .. .... ... ... .......... ... .... ............. .. .............. ..... ........ ..... .... ...... 31 
(VOL) Unsure ........ ..... ..... .... ........ ....... .... ......... .. .......... .. .... ... ..... ..... .. 10 

Gender Yes No Unsure GAP 

Men 58% 33 9 +25 
Women 59 30 ll +29 

Age Yes No Unsure GAP 

I 8-39 60 30 10 +30 
40-64 56 36 9 +20 
65 plus 60 26 14 +34 

Education Yes NQ Unsure GAP 

High School/Less 58 28 14 +36 
Some Coll egei AA Degree 54 37 9 +17 
Bachelor/Graduate Degree 66 28 6 +38 

Region Yes No Unsure GAP 

East C ity 68 26 6 +42 
West City 62 27 10 +35 
East Rural 61 33 7 +28 
Central Rural 49 37 14 +12 
West Rural. 49 36 15 + 13 

Partl'. Identification Yes No Unsure GAP 

Democrat 73 l8 9 +55 
Independent 63 30 8 +33 
Republican 45 41 13 + 4 

Ideolo~ Yes No Unsure GAP 

Liberal 71 19 10 +52 
Moderate 65 26 9 -"-39 
Conservative 49 40 ll + 9 
Tea Party (Favorable) 38 53 10 -15 



15.0742.01005 
Title. 

3 -23-/:) 

~2219 

:tf ~ 
Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Boschee 

March 20, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2279 

Page 2, line 13, after "disability" insert", sexual orientation" 

Page 6, line 3, remove "or who adhere to the religion's tenets unless" 

Page 6, line 4, remove "membership is restricted because of race. color, or national origin" 

Page 6, line 7, remove "or who adhere to the religion's tenets" 

Page 11 , line 18, after "origin" insert ", sexual orientation" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.07 42.01005 



My name is Lucas Stroh. I grew up on a ranch outside of Killdeer, North Dakota. I currently 
work as an E MT, and I will begin paramedic school this fall. I also run cattle on my family's 
ranch, and when I am not on call, I work alongside my family as a rancher. 

How has discrimination in this state directly affected me since coming o ut? How did it 
affect me before? 

I came out when I was 17 years old. My father was the last person I told. I can honestly say 
that overall, I have had a substantial amount of good experiences since. B ut, as many things 
go, you don't remember the good nearly as much as the bad. The bad - it always seems to 
outweigh the good in so many instances that you often forget the good. 

While attending college my freshman year, I did not plan on telling anyone that I was gay. It 
is my very personal, very difficult secret to handle. I came out in H igh School, not to 
everyone but to a few key folks. But as I quickly learned, you can't trust anyone. Our first 
week of freshman year of college, one friend I was close with from my hometown liked a 
girl. This is fine, I don't have any problem with someone having feelings for another person, 
or loving another person, however I do take issue with being the topic of conversation. He 
decided to introduce her to me. "This is my gay friend, Luke." I felt like I had been kicked in 
the stomach. I was hurt, ashamed and shocked. This girl that he liked was a party girl, a 
student athlete, and was very popular. At that point, I knew that everyone would know, but 
I kept my head down. 

By November, everyone - students, some staff, and even professors - knew that I was "the 
gay kid". Many were supportive, but it's never the supportive ones that you take offense to. 
I was having a difficult time with my math class, so, as encouraged by our professor, I went 
to a study group. That was when I first experienced discrimination. A couple of my peers 
didn't want a "gay guy" in their group. So, they harassed me for a while, and after this didn't 
work, because I grew up in a small town in western North Dakota, and knew what bullying 
was and how to handle it, they told me that I was no longer allowed in their group 
anymore. Now, had I been promoting a specific agenda, had I been acting inappropriately 
or had I said I was gay to these kids, I would have understood. But I didn't. 

I was raised by an ultra-conservative Catholic father and his subservient Baptist wife, so I 
knew how to act in public. I also knew that I wouldn't and still will not EVER be one of 
those people that makes others uncomfortable because of my sexual orientation. Really, it 
angered me that this happened, and because this was a student-led group that was 
overseen by staff members of the s chool, I said something about what had happened. 
Instead of doing something, instead of trying to find a way to amend the situation, the staff 
member, an assistant professor at this school, looked at me and said, "Lucas, maybe you 
need to find a different study group." Although she was right, she still should have done 
something, at a minimum have said something to these kids, but she didn't. 

It was at that point that I knew that if I stayed at this school, which I did for the next 3 
semesters, it was going to be hell. I stayed to make a point more than anything. 

) 



The next time I was discriminated against was with the gentleman whom was anchorage of 
student life. I wanted to start a group on campus that would allow kids who are GLBT to 
come together and talk about what they were experiencing. I wanted to make a video 
showing that this school still welcomed its GLBT students as he claimed it did for the 
Trevor Project, which has thousands of people who support GLBT folks sharing their 
beliefs and stories, showing GLBTQ youth how it gets b etter. He wouldn't allow it. He said 
that for these things to occur, he would need to submit paperwork here, and have a 
meeting with the staff members. Basically, it was far too much work for him to do for gay 
students. He did it for several other clubs on campus, for many other causes, b ut not this 
one. I dropped it. 

My studies suffered because of my decision to tough it out, my mental health was shot, and 
once I left this institution, I got a lot better - mentally, emotionally, and physically. It took 
me the next 3 years to get over it, to forgive my friend for o uting me, but I did. 

The next time I experienced discrimination was when I rented an apartment from 
someone. They discovered that I was gay, (because, again, I don't like to flaunt it), and 
suddenly it became a requirement that I attend their church or my rent would go up 
substantially, and even then they still made my life a living hell. They would pop in at 
almost any hour of the day multiple times a week with no regard for privavy to see how the 
place looked, looking for a reason to terminate my contract because there was no "morals 
clause" in it. I lived in that apartment for 5 months b efore I moved out. It wasn't worth it. If 
I wanted to have someone check in on me every day, multiple times a day, I can just move 
into my old b edroom with my family. Really it's no different, except they don't force me to 
attend their church. 

I know that SB2279 will not change the mindset of all North Dakotans. I know that the day 
after it goes into effect, I won't wake up and everything that I have experienced in my 2 2  
years o f  life will suddenly vanish as i f  i t  never happened. What I d o  know i s  this - many 
GLBT individuals will be given some security in this world. Many of us will no longer fear 
that we can lose our house, apartment, or j ob because of who we love. Doctors, Lawyers, 
Business Men and Women, Pre-Hospital Medical Personal, Police Officers, Teachers and 
even Farm hands will feel more comfortable; we will feel at ease. Although 2 2 79 isn't going 
to fix other issues that come with being GLBT, like bullying, it will at least give us some 
solid ground to stand on for once. It will at least show the rest of  the country that people 
here do care, as I know many of you, from both sides of the aisle do. It will show our 
residents and fellow Americans that in North Dakota, a state that I was raised in and truly 
love, that your age, gender, race, sexual orientation, political affiliation, socioeconomic 
status, disability, and religion doesn't matter. It will show everyone who is watching, and 
even some who aren't now but may look back later 50-100 years from now, that we care. 
We care about EVERYON E, and that's why this is worth giving a chance. 

Luke Stroh, Killdeer, ND 
Lucas.Stroh@yahoo.com 
Luke Stroh Photography ,,,__ 
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Chairman Weisz, members of the committee: 

March 23,  2 0 1 5  

In m y  short time here, I 've come to gain a whole l o t  of respect fo r  this 

chamber and everyone in it. I respect your work, your life experiences, the 

issues on which we can agree, and even the issues on which we disagree. I 

respe ct the communities and constituents we serve, and I have a new 

found respect with how we each of us got to these desks and the people 

we represent from these seats. 

Perhaps my standing in front of you and being a senator at all speaks a bit 

to how much times are changing on certain issues. 

This bill and the decision you're about to make on it is pretty simple: 

• It' s not a partisan issue. There will be Republicans and Democrats 

who will support it. 

• It's not a geographical issue. There will be rural and urban 

legislators from each side of the state and the places in between 

who will support it. 

• It's not a generational issue. There will be legislators, some brand 

new and some long-serving, some young and some more 

"seasoned", who will support it. 

• It's not an issue that requires political courage, because a majority 

of North Dakotans support it. 

• This bill doesn't create a protected class any more than it does for 

race, color, religion, sex, or age because we all have a sexual 

orientation. Mine happens to be heterosexual, and that will be 

protected just as much as any other sexual orientation under this 

bill. If it passes and I go to work for my very successful business­

owner friend who happens to be gay, he could no longer fire me 

just for being straight. We don't often think about it that way, 

b ecause we don't have to. He should still fire me, however, for 

being woefully unqualified to do the j ob. 

• And this bill isn't even a religious issue. As a proud, piano-playing 

Christian at my church, I certainly respect matters of faith, but I 

also respect North Dakota law which holds that we can't b e  

discriminated against, nor discriminate against others, because of 

our faith. I don't have to be J ewish or believe in the Jewish faith, or 

even have any religion at all, to understand that discrimination 

against someone who IS Jewish is wrong. 



Plain a n d  sim p le, this b i l l  is a bout m a king a cha nge i n  policy. It doesn't req u i re a cha nge in m ind or heart. 

Either we believe it's ok under the law to fire people from their  jobs or kick them out of their 

a pa rtments fo r who they a re, or we don't.  Whether or not yo u feel  being an LGBT pe rson is right or 

wrong is actua l ly  irreleva nt. 

SB 2279 is a bo u t  our people - yo u r  friends, you r  kids' friends, someone's sibl ing or n iece o r  nephew or 

grandchi ld,  o u r  past, present, a n d  future students o r  coworkers o r  legislative co l leagues - a nyone who 

ca l ls  N o rth Dakota "home".  LG BT people a n d  those who love them a re o u r  constituents in Fargo a nd 

Fessenden, in Bowman a n d  in Bisma rck. LGBT people a re North Dakota ns. They dese rve to be treated 

u nder the law exactly the same - not better, not worse - as you a n d  I a re .  

I 'd respectfully request a "yes" vote t o  extend t o  a l l  North Da kota ns t h e  sa m e  respect I 've come t o  have 

a n d  wi l l  continue to have for each of you .  

----· 



, __ 

Aaron Weber 
N DSU Student Government 
SB 2279 Testimony 

Chairman Weisz and members of the committee for the record my name is Aaron 
Weber, representing N DS U  Student Government. I am here today to testify in  
support of SB 2279.  

SB 2279 would ban discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity. 
This same sort of protection is already provided on the campus of N DSU.  N DS U  
Policy Section 1 00 reads "North Dakota State University i s  fu lly committed to 
equal opportunity in employment decisions and educational programs and 
activities, in compliance with a l l  applicable federal and state laws and includ ing 
appropriate affirmative action efforts, for al l  individuals without regard to age, 
color, disabil ity, gender expression/identity, genetic information , marital status ,  
national orig in ,  publ ic assistance status, race, rel igion, sex, sexual orientation. "  

The concern then becomes what happens when a student leaves campus to find 
a job? H undreds of students across the state intern each year. Yet, these same 
protections regard ing sexual  orientation and gender identity do not fol low them 
off campus. 

The second concern relating to this bi l l  is the retention of col lege students post­
graduation .  I n  a state with a massive labor shortage, we can al l  agree this is an 
issue worth addressing . This piece of legislation can help ensure we attract and 
retain you ng people in  our state. 

After g raduation a n umber of factors influence a students decision to stay in 
state. Col lege students want to l ive in a place with a sense of community. Not 
only that, they a want a place where they will be accepted, regardless of sexual 
orientation or gender identity. This bi l l  would make the decision to stay in state 
easier for college g raduates. 

In summary, we are simply asking that the same protections N OUS students are 
afforded on campus fol low them into the community and state. With that Mr. 
Chairman ,  N DSU Student Government asks for a Do Pass on SB 2279. I wi l l  
stand for any q uestions the committee may have at this time. 

\ ! 



SR-22-15 

A Senate Resolution to Supporting SB 2279 

WHEREAS, N DSU Student G overnment s u pports ND Senate B i l l  2279, and 

WHEREAS, Senate B i l l  2279 adds l ine item sexual  orientation a n d  gender identity to state pol icy aga i nst 

d iscrim ination, a n d  

WHEREAS, T h i s  p rotection is a l ready inc l uded i n  N DSU Policy Section 100, a n d  

WHEREAS, A s  stated i n  t h i s  b i l l  the l a ng uage reads, " I t  i s  t h e  pol icy o f  t h i s  stat t o  p rohibit d iscri mination 

o n  the basis of race, color, religion, sex, nationa l origin, age, the presence of a ny mental  or p hysical 

d isa b i l ity, status with regard to m a rriage or p u bl ic assistance, or partici pation i n  lawfu l activity off the 

emp loyer's prem ises d u ring n onworking hours which is not i n  d i rect conflict with the essentia l business­

related i nterests of the emp loyer; to prevent and el iminate d iscrimination in employment relations, 

publ ic  accom modatio ns, housing, state a n d  local govern ment services, and credit tra nsactions; a n d  to 

deter those who aid, a bet, or ind uce d iscrimination or coerce others to d iscriminate." ;the refore, be it 

Resolved, That North Da kota State U niversity Student Gove rnment supports Senate Bil l  2279. 

Respectfu l ly s u b m itted, 
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I am Becky La m boley, Di rector of Student Affa i rs for the North Da kota U n i versity System . I am a lso the Cha ir  of the 

N D US Dive rsity Counc i l .  I a p pear i n  s u p port of Sen ate Bi l l  2 279 on beha lf of the State Boa rd of H igher Ed u cation,  

which voted to su pport th is  bi l l  d u ri n g  its m eeting on J a n u a ry 29, 2015.  

The fa l l  2014 e n ro l l m e nt i n  the U n iversity System's eleven institutions was 47,660 students. l According to G a l l u p  

su rveys con d u cted J u n e  t h rough Dece m ber  2 0 1 2, a p proxi mately 1 . 7 %  o f  t h e  resident adu lts i n  North Da kota 

identified them selves as lesb ian,  gay, bisexu a l, or transgender ( LG BT) .2  Based on this su rvey, one could est i m ate 

that at least 810 stud ents i n  the U n i versity System identify themselves as  lesbian,  gay, bisexua l ,  or tra nsgend er. 

The H u m a n  Rights Ca m p a ign, www . h rc.org, recently pu bl ished an a rt ic le that e m p hasizes the i m porta nce of 

legislation such as Senate B i l l  2279.  The s im ple a n d  u nfortu n ate real ity is  that for a l l  the progress m ade in recent 

years, LG BT Am erica ns  sti l l  lack fu n d a m ental  legal protections when it comes to issues l i ke em ployment a n d  

housing.  The a rt ic le state d :  "Nea rly two-th irds o f  LG BT Americans report experiencing d iscri mi nation [ . . .  ] everyone, 

i n c l u d i n g  LG BT A m ericans, [sh o u l d  h ave) a fa i r  chance to earn a l ivi ng, advance themselves, and be j udged on the ir  

perform a n ce, not on w h o  they are o r  who they love."3 

The State Board of H igher Ed ucation h as, for  some time, taken a p p ropriate steps to provide a safe a n d  welcom i ng 

l iving a n d  learn ing environm ent for LGBT stude nts. 

For exa m p l e, LGBT students seeking e m ployment on campus a re p rotected by SBH E Policy 603.2, which states i n  

part :  

Every vacant posit ion s h a l l  be f i l led based u pon a p p l i ca n ts '  q u a l ifications a n d  performance req u i re m ents 

of the job. Discri m i n ation based u p o n  sex, race, color, rel igion, age, physi ca l  or mental  d isabi l i ty, status 

with regard to m arriage o r  p u b l i c  assistan ce, sex u a l  orientation . . . .  i n  ap pointm ent, promotion, sa lary, or 

condit ions of em ployment is  prohi b ited.4 

H owever, if  LGBT stu de nts seek em ployment off campus, e m p l oyers m ay lawfully refuse to h i re a student m e rely 

because the e m p l oyer bel ieves the student is  gay. 

S i m i l a rly, each i n stitution has ad opted pol ic ies that e m p h asize it  encou rages a d iverse ca m p us. For exa m ple,  the 

U N D  catalog states: "Diversity in the U n i versity is  constituted by the fu l l  participation of persons of d iffe rent rac ia l  

1 2014 Fa l l  E n r o l l m e n t  Report prepared fo r the State Board of  H igher  Ed u cation ( N ovember 2014)  -

http ://nd u s.ed u/u p loads/reports/13 1/20 14-fa 1 1-en rol l m ent-report. pdf. 

2 http ://www .ga l l u p .com/po l l/160 5 1 7  /lgbt-perce ntage-h ighest-lowest-n o rth-d a kota.aspx. 

3 David Stacy, G overnment  Affa i rs D irector for the H u m a n  Rights Ca m p a ign, M a rch 7, 2015 

http ://www . h re . org/b l og/ entry/ n ew-h re-pol  I -shows-ave rwhe Im i ng-su p port-for-fed era 1- lgbt-n on -d iscri m i n  a ti on 

4 Also see NDUS H u m a n  Resou rce Pol icy 3 . 1 .  

N o rt h  D a kota U n ivers ity Syst e m  I Cre a t i n g  t h e  N O U S  Edge I F i n d  o u t  h o w  a t  N D U S . e d u  
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a n d  eth n i c  he ritage, age, ge n d e r, socio-eco n o m i c  backg rou n d ,  re l igion,  a n d  sex u a l  orientat ion;  of persons with 

d isab i l ities; and of people from other cou ntries ."S 

However, if  LG BT stud ents step off cam pus to seek p u b l i c  acco m m odations, to seek pub l ic  services, to seek credit­

related services, o r  to rent a n  a p a rt m e nt, they can  be lawfu l ly d e n ied those p u b l i c  services s i m ply because of their  

actual  o r  perceived sex u a l  orientatio n .  

Students attend ing  N o rth  Da kota i nstituti ons  of h igher education dese rve m u ch better. LG BT students deserve to 

be t reated, on  c a m p u s  a n d  off c a m p us, with the same civil r ights and respect as a l l  other students a n d  citizens .  

S u pport our  students  by s u p po rting th is  b i l l .  Stud ents shou ld  not be d e n i ed e m p l oym ent, h ous ing, i n s u ra nce, 

cred it, and p u bl ic  se rvices off c a m p u s  s i m p ly because they iden tify as or  a re pe rceived to be lesbian,  gay, bisexual ,  

or  transgender.  

Therefore, the State Board of H igher Ed ucation, the N orth Da kota U n iversity System, the system's Diversity 

Cou nci l ,  and myself as the System's D i rector of Student  Affa i rs u rge a "do pass" for Sen ate B i l l  2279.  

5 http ://u n d . ed u/a cadem ics/registra r/ _fil es/docs/cata l ogs/ca t a l og-20 1 3-2015.pdf. UN D Statement  on I n stitutiona l  

Diversity a n d  P l u ra l ism,  Ap proved by U n iversity Senate Dece m ber 7, 2006. 

N o rt h D a kota U n iversity Syst e m  I Cre a t i n g  t h e  N O U S  Edge I F i n d  o u t  h o w  at  N D U S . e d u  
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To the representatives of the great state of North Dakota a n d  to those it may concern: 

My n a m e  is M ax M a ltese, I occupied North Dakota from the summer of 2009 u nti l  my 

gra d u ation from the U niversity of North D akota in M ay of 2014. And I l eft a s  q u ickly a s  I cou ld .  

Not because of the i nhospitab l e  winters or lack o f  d iversity o f  food, but b ecause o f  the l a c k  of 

open m inded ness. I left because in my time at U N O  a n d  l iving in G ra n d  Forks, I faced p reju dice 

a n d  bigoted views. I don't b l a m e  you !  This is a state d eeply entrenched in religious ideology a nd 

trad ition.  But the p rej u dice I faced glares point-blank in the face of the traditions a n d  morals  

this cou ntry was fou nded u pon, the tradition of acceptan ce of those who a re d ifferent, 

regardless of religion or race a n d  the moral cognition of respect for d iffe rence a n d  love for your 

fel low citizen .  That's why I write today, because the prej u dice I faced based on my sexual  

orientation i s  wrong on so m any levels. Because I a m  gay I was evicted from my h ome.  Can you 

i m agine? Som ething you h ave a bout as much control over as you r  eye color or height, you can 

be fired, evicted, a n d  p rej u d i ced against with no p rotection a s  offered to practica l ly a nybody 

else. I wou l d  l ike to sha re with you my worst experien ce of this in G ra n d  Forks to offer you a 

perspective o n  what shamefu l behavior is propagated by our  inaction .  

My j u n ior year of col lege I was renting a room in a house j u st off campus, not two blocks 

from the u n iversity, a supposed beacon of h igher th inking. I h ave three room m ates a n d  our 

property m a nager, a p reviou s  deputy of the G rand Forks Police force, has us  come to her  house 

to d rop off rent every month . It is e arly i n  the academic yea r, September if I remember 

correctly, and it was my turn to d rop off the rent checks. I had just come from a s i lent p rotest 

on campus wea ring a sh irt saying "Some dudes marry other d udes, get used to it" . To give 

context to this  sh irt, in 2012 o n ly 5 states had gay m a rriage avai lable to their citizens. When I 

approached the house I cou l d  see, we'l l  ca l l  her Jan, m ake a move to the door after watching 

me walk up the b lock a n d  h e r  d riveway to the door. I was l et i n  a n d  sat down to do the usual  

ch it-ch at whi le she wrote u p  my recei pt. I nstead I was met with cold Norwegia n  s i lence and a 

curt "nice shirt" a s  I wal ked out of the door. Now I 'm not a sensitive person, a n d  plenty of 

people h ave not l iked m e  before so I shrugged it off a n d  went on my way. 

This interaction shaped the next 9 months of my occupation of the house.  From that 

point onward, she wou l d  not a n swer the door when I came and I left the rent i n  her m a i lbox, I 

cou l d  get no receipts of the rent. Again, not too a larming, but getting m ore a n d  more 

suspicious. Th is cold behavior d id n ot h it a fever pitch u nt i l  M ay of the fol lowing yea r, near  the 

end of the spring semester.  I t  was the weekend before fina ls  when out of the b lue I receive a 

ca l l  from Jan, she says she h a d  "discussed it" with the property owners a n d  they wou l d  not be 

continu ing my lease and I had 10 d ays to remove my belongings from the h ouse.  This was even 

before the lease term ended on J u n e  l5t. I am studying for fina ls  and am notified I h ave 10 d ays 

to get my stuff out of the house AN D I h ave a 5 week trip in Europe departing the day after my 



fina ls  were to h ave ended. It is at this point it a l l  comes together. The cold behavior, the 

comment o n  my sh irt, and this now very aggressive eviction at the most terrib le  of t imes is 

m ore than person a l  it feels l ike an attack. I explain the situatio n  but she has n o  sympathy and 

n o  option s, just get out. Imagin e  that fee l ing, the stress of  school and work, p lanning a trip and 

gearing up for it, and h aving to fin d  a p lace to move to a nd move a l l  you r  stuff in just 6 days so 

you can m a ke it o n  you r  trip.  Luckily with the support of my roommates and local  friends I was 

able to store my stuff scattered across grand forks a n d  make my tr ip but upon return to grand 

forks I was homeless for th ree months. Homeless at 21 .  

I met with a lawyer before I l eft. There had to be some legal recou rse for this, anything. 

And what d id h e  tel l  m e? Heck, h e  coul d  be fired for being gay a n d  he, the attorney, wou l d  h ave 

no legal reco u rse.  I lost a home because of who I am, this isn't just financial ly d istressing, b ut it 

affects your self-worth . The state I vote in, I came to age as a voter and spent a few of my best 

years in, h as no interest in p rotecting m e  from people who s imply can't accept something as  

n atural  as  you r  height o r  you r  eye color. The state I pay taxes to i n  o rd er to bui ld  roads and 

invest i n  the future of  every citizen, b ut th is  state seem s  to care less a bout l ittle o l d  me. These 

actions a n d  the lack of recou rse for them is a deplorable tarnish on North Dakota. I d on't expect 

N o rth D akota to m ove q uickly to accepting gay marriage b ut the most fun d a mental protections 

granted to every citizen should include p rotection from p rejudice based o n  sexual  orientation .  

It i s  now 2015, 37 of  your fel low states now a l low the marriage of  same sex cou ples. 2 1  states 

a n d  the District of Col u mbia have l aws prohibiting employment d iscrimination based on sexual 

orientation .  22 states and th e District of Colu m bia h ave laws p rohib iting housing d iscrimination 

based o n  sexua l  o rientatio n .  This country is turning i n  a new d i rection and it is  time for N orth 

Dakota to realize th is  and u n ite with its fel low states to say no to h ate, no to p rej ud ice a n d  n o  

to d iscrimination .  

Thank you very much for you r  time a n d  consideration .  

M axwel l  M a ltese 
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G ood M o r n i ng Comm ittee C h a i r m a n  Weisz a n d m e m be rs of the  Ho use H u m a n  

Se rvices co m m ittee .  

F o r  t h e  record my n a m e  i s  T o m  Ricke r, I a m  t h e  P res ident o f  the  N o rt h  Da kota 

A FL-C I O, re p resent ing work ing  m e n  a n d  w o m e n  in N o rth Da kota . 

I wou l d  l i ke to sta rt by t h a n ki ng Senator  N e lson  a nd the  oth e r  Sen ato rs a nd 

Represe ntat ives w h o  a re s u p po rt i ng th is  b i l l  by co-sponsor ing th is  i m p o rta nt 

p iece of l eg is lat io n .  

The N o rth Da kota AFL-C IO i s  100% i n  s u p p o rt of t h i s  l egis lat io n .  W h i l e  LG BT 

worke rs i n  2 1  oth e r  states i n c l u d i ng o u r  n e igh b o rs to the  Ea st, h a ve p rotect i o n  

u n d e r  t h e  l a w .  N o rt h  Da kota's LG BT worke rs d o  not  y e t  h a v e  t h i s  bas ic  h u m a n  

r ight g u a ra nteed t o  t h e m .  

Wo rke rs w h o  a re h a ra ss e d  o r  d iscr imi nated aga i n st have lower m o ra l ,  h i g h e r  

a bsente e i s m  rates, a n d  lowe r p ro d u ctivity rates a n d q u ite often i t  resu lts i n  

h i g h e r  e m pl oyee t u r n ove r, n o n e  of which  i s  good fo r e i ther  the e m p l oyees o r  t h e  

e m p l oyer.  

Accord ing to  resea rch fro m the Society fo r H u ma n  Resou rce M a nagem e nt t h e  

cost t o  re p l a ce a sa l a r i e d  e m p l oyee m a ki n g  $50,000 p e r  yea r  costs a n  e m p l oy e r  

betwee n  $25,000 a n d  $37,500.  That is  t h e  e q u iva l e nt o f  s i x  t o  n i n e  months  of 

s a l a ry on t o p  of t h e i r  n o r m a l  wages.  

No wo r ke r  s h o u l d  be passed ove r for a p r o m ot ion, d e nied a ra ise or  eve n worse  

ye t  te r m i nated s i m p l y  beca u s e  of t h e i r  sexua l  o r i e n tation, w h e n  a l l  t h ey a re d o i n g  

is  t ry ing to e a rn a l iv ing  a n d  p rovide fo r t h e m s e lves a n d  t h e i r  loved o n e s .  

A l l  workers d eserve a w o r k p l ace t h a t  free from h a rassment a n d  d i scri m i n at i o n  of 

a ny type weather  they b e l o ng to  a p rotected c lass  or not .  There is no p l a ce in t h e  

workp l a ce for h a rassm e nt o r  d iscr i m i n a ti o n .  

' 



Tha n k  you fo r a l lowi n g  m e  t h e  o pport u n ity to spea k i n  s u p po rt of Senate b i l l  

2279.  I wo u l d  e n cou rage y o u  a l l  t o  vote yes t o  reco m m e n d  a d o  pass o n  Senate 

bi l l  2 279, a n d  send a stro ng, u n ified message to yo u r  col l ea g u es in  the  H ouse  t h a t  

y o u  s u p po rt a l l  worki ng p e o p le i n  N o rt h  D a kota . 

I w i l l  now sta n d  fo r a ny q u est io n s .  
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Hourly Positions (Assembler, Welder, Material Handlers, Operators) 

Location: 

Employment Duration: 

Description 

US-ND-Gwinner-Factory/Office 

Full time 

Do you have what it takes to join the Bobcat team? Help us build on more than 50 
years of innovation! 

Bobcat Company, part of the Doosan family of businesses, is the world leader in the 
engineering , manufacturing, marketing and distribution of compact equipment, including 

Bobcat skid steer loaders, mini-excavators, utility vehicles and attachments. 

Bobcat Company is currently hiring for the following positions at our Gwinner, ND 
location: 

MULITIPLE OPENINGS ON Ab_L SHIFTS 

Assembler 

http: //ch.tbe.taleo.net/CH11/ats/careers/requisition.jsp?org=DII&cws=3&rid=161 3 3/18/2015 
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Assembles product, partially or completely, positioning parts according to 
knowledge of unit being assembled or following blueprints, diagrams, layouts or 

oral instruction. 
Ability to read build sheets and blueprints 

Mi! te ija i l:!fil}!:tl~.! 

, Operates industrial truck equipment with lifting devices to push, pull, lift, stack, tier 
or move products, equipment and material in warehouse, storage yard or factory. 

Supplies the assembly lines with the materials needed to perform their job. 
Successful completion of a forklift safety class, written forklift operation test and an 

eye exam to check for peripheral vision is required. 
Must possess a valid driver's license . 

Welder 
•"'-'='"'-...,.,,.·"== 

VVelcl metal components of products as specified by layout, blueprints, diagrams, 
work orders, weld procedures or oral instructions, using electric arc-welding 

equipment. 

E.abrL~§tio.!LQ.2~I-?tor 

Sets up and operates power press and assists in the operation of fabrication 
equipment (brake , shear & lasers) to trim, punch, shape, notch, draw or crimp 

metal components according to specifications. 

fJs •. sic jot; st8nclard: f"Aust be c1bie (() re~=~ -d and recei'Jd inst:·uct,-ons in Er:giish. 
l' . ' c: · ... I J\ ' .,... ·~ l t b t ! • f jl ' I I' ' ' .. ' ' 1\no,vlec1ge , ,_,Ki!!s , anei ,-,01 mes : IJ1US -· e c:mie IO o «JN estao iSlieo metn oas anc 

proce.:lure:s ~!nd perform ·v11ork accordingly. Must have the ability to vvorf<: rapicl iy ar1d 
under time pressure for extendec! periods of time in order to rneet build requirements. 

Must possess basic m3chining know!ec!ge and Uh~ ability to read bul id sheets and 
blueprints. 

Education, Training, and Experience: The ability to COirifflunicate with supei'1isors anc! 
fsi!·JW \;'!orkers in borh written and verbal forrns at a level normally acquired through the 
complstion of high school or equivalent is required . Job specific skills , techniques and 

safe vvork ancl equipment oparating practices are learned tri:-ough on-the-job and 
ciass1·omn training. Genera! instructions are ~Jiven on recurring duties, op,~rations or 

2ssig:irnents; clstaiied instru.::;tions are given on new duties, operations or assignrnents. 

'Ne offer competitive wages (Overtime may be required) and a complete benefits 
package. 

Bobcat Company is an Equal Opportunity Employer. All qualified applicants will 
receive consideration for employment without regard to sex, age, race , color, religion , 
creed, citizenship status, national origin, disabil ity, marital status, sexual orientation, 

protected veteran status, or any other status or characteristic protected by law. 
Individuals with disabilities who require a reasonable accommodation in the application 
process or who need assistance accessing the information on this website should ca ll 

701-476-4263. 

http://ch.tbe.taleo.net/CHl l/ats/careers/requisition.jsp?org=DII&cws=3&rid=l613 3118/2015 
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i Apply for this PositJ:;;I 

Are you a retu rni ng a ppl icant? 

Previous Applicants: 

Emai l :  J 
Password: I 

: _________ _J 
!Add t.:; " f ;;<.-JS' 

If you do not remember your password click here (http ://ch.tbe.taleo. net/CH 1 1 /ats/careers/forgotlD .jsp?org=Dl l&cws=3) . 

Back to Search Results ( httpJ/cl1.tbe .taleo. net/C H 1 1 /ats/careers/searchResults.jsp?org=Dl l&cws=3) 

New Search (http .//ch.tbe.taleo.net/C H 1 1  iats/careers/jobSearch jsp?org=Dl l&cws=3&rid = 1 6 1 3) 

Taleo ·X 

Career Center 

Cu rrent Opportun ities with Bobcat Company (http://tbe.taleo. net/NA 1 1 /atsicareers/jobSearch.jsp?org=Dl l&cws=3) 

College Recru iting (http ://www.bobcat. com/our  _company/career_ center/recruiting) 

Bobcat Dealership E mployment Opportunities (http://www bobcat.com/our_company/career_center/opportunities) 

C u rrent Opportu n ities with Doosan l nfracore I nternational (http://tbe.taleo.net/NA 1 1 /ats/careers/jobSearch.jsp? 
org=Dl l&cws= 1 )  

Company Locations (http://www.bobcat.com/our_company/career_center/locations) 

Company Culture (http://www. bobcat.com/our_companylcareer_center/culture) 

Benefits (http://www. bob cat.com/our_ company/career_ center/benefits) 

Community (http://www.bobcat.com/our_company/career_centerl) 

Bobcat® and the Bobcat logo are reg istered trademarks of Bobcat Company in the Un ited States and various 
other countries 
©20 1 2  Bobcat Company. All Rights Reserved. 
Doosan is committed to a d iverse workforce and is an Equal Opportu n ity Employer.Smoking i s  not permitted on 
co mpany property, except i f  permitted by the company i n  designated outdoor smoking a reas. If you h ave any 
questions, please contact Human Resources . 

http://ch.tbe.taleo.net/CH 1 1 /ats/careers/requisition.jsp?org=DI I&cws=3&rid= 1 6 1 3  3/1 8/20 1 5  



Today you will most likely hear from a number of 

individuals and organizations who have a very strong 

point of view on S B2 279. 

You will probably hear from s o m e  pro-fami ly 

organizations who believe the best way to support 

N orth Dakota fam i l ies is to m a ke life u n pleasant for 

those headed by same gender couples or to continually 
remind them they are inferior to other families. 

You're p roba bly going to hear from rel igious 

organizations who preach a doctrine of love, which 

typical ly boils down to "Love the sinner; hate 

everything about them." 

S6L�1q 1f ID 
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David & Bernie 

You may even hear from someone who worries there could be a baker or photographer somewhere 

forced to provide goods a n d  services to a gay couple. 

Now, you're going to hear from a man who is married to another man. And you're going to hear why I 
believe David and I should not be excluded from equal p rotection in employment or fair housing laws 

s imply because we l ove each oth er. 

David is a col l ege p rofessor of voca l m usic, G en eral Director o f  the FM Opera, and owns a small sta ined 

glass busin ess where he teaches c lasses a n d  b u i l ds sta ined glass lamps and windows. I am a former 

d epartment store manager, having managed Marshal l  Field's stores here in Bismarck as well as Fargo 

a n d  G ra n d  Forks. I retired a s  a Vice P resident, G en eral M anager of Macy's West Acres a few years ago 

and cu rrently se l l  residential real estate at Pa rk Company Realtors. 

David and I have s pent o u r  l ives enriching the lives of those a round us and the community in which we 

l ive, yet at every tu rn, the state of N orth Da kota tells us because we love each other, we a re inferior t o  

other citizens. That needs to stop .  

From ma rriage equa l ity to fai r housing a n d  fai r  employment, w e  are considered inferior to other North 

Dakotans.  I ' m  n ot real ly sure what m ore we can d o  to d emonstrate we brin g  val u e  to ND a n d  s hould 

benefit from N D  laws just l i ke everyon e  else. 

There is a concern that add ing G LBT i n d ividuals to the fai r  housing and employment laws would create 

some kind of s pecia l class to receive s pecial p rotection. 

The opposite is true. 

Right now, we have fantastic employment laws that apply to all North Dakotans. Except the G LBT ones. 

Our fa i r  housing laws a re amongst the best in  the nation. U n less you're a G LBT North Dakotan.  Then you 

a re s ingled out a n d  given special  treatment. 

If you real l y  want to s ingle out G LBT for s pecial treatment, give us a 10% reduction in our state taxes or 

let us be exempt from speed l i m it laws . 

. Don't make us exempt from equal  employment and fair housing protection. 



"There's no d iscrim ination in North Da kota !" is heard t ime a n d  aga i n, yet that provides l ittle assurance 

to someone thinking of b u i lding a l ife in N D. 

I have not been affected by domestic violence or human trafficking, nor have I lost a chi l d  to a drunk 

d river. I n  fact, I don't believe I personal ly know anyone who has.  However, I don't think one needs to be 

beaten, raped, or lose a child to a d runk d river before their point of view on a serious topic is worthy of 

consideration. 

GLBT individuals are not victims. We a re not lookin g  for a ny kind of special treatment. We are asking to 

be treated with d ignity a n d  respect, just l ike everybody else and that the special class that has been 

created for us be elimi nated. 

This is the third time this type of legislation has been i ntroduced h ere in N D. The first two times it was 

voted down, I was d isappointed our legislature is wi l l ing to look the other way i n  terms of 

d iscrim ination .  

If this is voted down yet again, I t h i n k  that's going t o  change m y  point of view from o u r  legislature 

tolerating d iscri mination, to our elected officials actually encouraging d iscrimination. 

I would really appreciate your consideration and suppo rt� Discrimination is  not a North Dakota val ue. 

David's perspective: 

Grew u p  i n  South. Remembers 'whites on1y' water fountains a n d  bus d epot doors labeled "Whites" a n d  

"Colored" As a ch i ld, didn't u ndersta n d  why because family a n d  church didn't teach discrimination. 

As a n  a d ult, seeing something similar h ere, too. The same1 yet separate a n d  not q uite equ a l  provisions 

made for GLBT. The specia l  treatment provided by N D  Tax: Commissioner. 

Rol e  as a college educator, da maged students and their growth i nto emotionally a n d  spiritual ly healthy 

i n d ividuals who eventua l ly leave never to return . 

G rateful parents who sha re their than ks for s etting a n  example that G LBT peopl e  can not o n ly find 

acceptance, they can fin d  a l ifelong loving relationship and achieve a l l  their dreams. It's just easier if you 

don't l ive in ND.  

We could arrive at home today and fin d  a n  eviction notice a n d  pink s l ips from o u r  employers that s ince 

they lea rned we're gay, we are req uired to leave, and the state of North Dakota will sta n d  holding the 

door open. 

Why is a nyone in this room okay with that? 
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Chairman Weisz and m e mbers of the House H uman Services com m ittee ,  m y  name 
is Faye Seid ler  and I 'd l ike to share a l ittle of  m y  story. I 'm a transgender wom a n  who 
was born and raised i n  Fargo,  North Dakota. M y  father and m other were hard 
workers, who taught m e  h ow to be a hard worker and taught m e  to g ive it m y  al l  i n  
everythi n g  I do .  

When I started at  S anford Health, i n  January of  last year, that he ld  true.  I i mpressed 
people with h ow q uickly I learned and how m u ch work I d id .  I was always 
volunteerin g  to stay late when it was busy and when I had fin ished my work, I would 
help other people fin ish theirs.  I t  was the first job I felt could be a career and I loved 
working there and helping people. But that d ream fel l  short because I happened to 
be Transgender and the d iscri m i n ation and h osti l ity I faced made my situation and 
continual  e mployment the re u nbearable. 

I was i nt imidated and i nterrogated about my gender before I transiti oned and 
afterwards my coat was vandalized , my private social  media posts were photocopied 
and used to pun ish m e .  Whe n  I sent an emai l  out asking people to help make s u re 
everyone used the correct p ronouns for me,  I was call  d isruptive and was compared 
to a p ro miscuous heterosexual and it was implied that I didn't want to come to work 
to work, when i n  reality that's all I wanted to d o ,  but it  was i mpossible when I was 
constantly i nval idated and made to feel less, every s ingle s hift. 

Whe n  I ask that people be educated about my cond ition ,  I was told that would be the 
same as educating people about someone's rel ig ious identity, specifically the same 
as teachi n g  the M usl im rel ig ion.  

Every day I had to change i n  the emergency shower roo m ,  right before the elevator 
to our departme nt. Every d ay I had to be othered to everyone else and seen as 
d ifferent, regardless of m y  legal documents al l  being female s ince N ovember. What 
S anford d idn 't understan d  was whi le someone can leave thei r  rel ig ion or sexual ity at 
the door,  I can't stop being a woman at work or anywhere,  because it  is who I a m .  

My last d a y  was Friday, M a rch 20th , 20 1 5  a nd as o f  that day, Sanford Health , one of 
the largest job providers i n  o u r  state, with over twenty two thousand e mployees, wi l l  
have exactly 0 openly transgender people.  The population statistic for tra nsgender 
people is between 2 percent on the low end to 5 percent on the h igh end. This 
means that statistically Sanford should have n early 400 transgender workers ,  n ot 
zero .  If m y  experiences weren't a testament of the h ostil ity of the place,  then 
h opeful ly that n u m ber wil l  be.  

But what d oes this m atter? Wel l  S anford Health is one of our  largest job providers 
and there a re thousand u p o n  tho usands of transgender people across the country 
that wil l  not come to North Dakota, wil l  not come to Sanford as techn icians, or  
n u rses, or  d octors, because they want a place they a re protected , a place that has 
that p rotection i n  the i r  poli cy and practice . 

But  not o n ly that, Sanford H ealth is a m ajor hospital i n  o u r  area and one of the few 
local places tra nsgender people can get treatment. Treatment that can bring i n  
thousands o f  dol lars per i n d ivid ual over the years, but I know m a n y  tra nsgender 
people who g o  to the twi n  cities to get their medicati o n , to get their tests, and see 



their doctors. They would rather drive two hundred and fifty mi les, than go to 
Sanford . 

I n  my final conversation with H uman Resources, I told them that I wasn't being 
treated equally, that I was being discriminated, and they needed clear language in 
their policy. They told me they don't legally have to do that and our conversation 
ended . They effectively told me the only way they would change is through legal 
action and that is exactly why I am here today, testifying in support of SB 2279, 
because th is is needed and important. Mr. Chairman and members of the 
committee, thank you for l istening to my story and I welcome any q uestions you may 
have. 



Trans Oriented Supporting Arguments for SB 2279 - Faye Seidler 

No reported cases of harassment: there has been no reported case of a 
transgender woman harassing a cisgender woman in the bathroom. 

in 12 States between fifteen to a few years without issue: 12 States have 
Colorado, Connecticut, Hawaii, Iowa, Maine, Massachusetts, Minnesota, 
Nevada, New Mexico, Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont. 

Toni Troop, spokeswoman for the statewide sexual assault victims organization Jane Doe Inc., 
told Equality Matters in an email: 
The argument that providing transgender rights will result in an increase of sexual 
violence against women or men in public bathrooms is beyond specious. The only 
people at risk are the transgender men and women whose rights to self-determination, dignity 
and freedom of violence are too often denied. We have not heard of any problems since the 
passage of the law in Massachusetts in 2011, nor do we expect this to be a problem. While 
cases of stranger rape and sexual violence occur, sexual violence is most often perpetrated by 
someone known to the victim and not a stranger in the bush or the bathroom. [Email 
exchange, 3/7/14, emphasis added] 

Source: 
http://equalitymatters.org/factcheck/201403200001 
http ://media matters. org/resea rch/2014/03/20/15-experts-debu nk-rig ht-wing­
tra nsgender-bath ro/ 198533 

Isn't special treatment 
It isn't special treatment, it is the same rights cisgender women already experience. 
It doesn't trump their rights, because any behavior of discrimination or harassment 
still applies 

Transgender Identity is Supported By: 
The American Psychological Association (APA) 
The American Medical Association 
World of Professional Association for Transgender Health (WPATH) 
We are treated by professional, medically train, doctors 
And there is strong neuroscience evidence to support the condition 
Source:(http://www.transadvocate .com/gender-orientation-intersex-conditions-within­
the-transsexual-brain n 8879.htm) 

Born a woman/man 
Looking at lntersex people, it is obvious that sex is a spectrum. We are not born men 
or women, we are assigned that by doctors as the best guess to what our biological 
sex is and sometimes it is correct and other times it isn't. 
Source: (http://www.isna.org/) 

Asking about Genitals is a violation of HIPAA 
HIPAA is the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996. The 
primary goal of the law is to make it easier for people to keep health insurance, 
protect the confidentiality and security of healthcare information and help the 
healthcare industry control administrative costs. 

FAQ 



Did you "choose" this "lifestyle"? 
Thank you for your question and I think that is an important one to address. The fact 
is that being a woman is not a lifestyle choice for me, it is who I am. A fact supported 
not only by my personal doctor, but also by the american medical association and 
american psychiatric association, a collaborative of highly trained and educated 
doctors and evidence by neuroscientist that being transgender is a biological 
condition. 

At the end of the day, aren't trans people protected by the same laws that 
protect against gender discrimination? Why do you need "special rights"? 
Great question and I can tell you that transgender people are not protected by the 
laws that affect discrimination, with the exception of the federal protection under the 
title seven of the civil rights act and the Affordable Care Act. But this only provide 
protection to business with more than fifteen people and hospitals. 

Locally I could be fired from a business of ten people, solely on the fact I'm trans, 
regardless of the amount or quality of the work I put in. I can be evicted from my 
home for the same reason. 

Which means we don't have the basic rights entitled to everyone, and we don't want 
special rights, we want simply the right to exist as we are and be judged by the 
quality of our work and character, instead of things that don't affect that nor can we 
change. 

Since when are there trans people in Nodak?" 
That is a fantastic question and I'd like to tell you that the statistics for transgender 
people in the population, as expressed by transgenderlaw.org is between 2 percent 
on the low end and 5 percent on the high end. Transgender people have always 
been in north Dakota, but they've been afraid to be open about it, because of the 
discrimination they face. 

Historically also, we find that transgender identities have existed in many cultures 
across thousands of years. 

Some states are allowing transgender teens to play for the sports team of the 
gender they're transitioning toward. How do you feel about that?' 
This a fantastic question, that deserves intelligent discussion. 

Before I address it, it should be understood that being a transgender youth is very 
difficult, as they experience greater risk of harassment, bullying, and suicide. As 
such, it is very unlikely anyone would pretend to be another gender for advantage. 

The second thing to understand is that many transgender youth are getting hormone 
blockers, to prevent the harmful effects of the wrong hormones would have on their 
body. 

This means it is both very hard to come out and there often isn't an advantage for 
transgender athletes. 

But what really matters here is sports is a way for us to feel connected at school, to 

- · 
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find a group of peers that we can h ave fun and work as a team and develop al l  sorts 
of beneficial  skil ls i n  addition to working out. M any people defin e  sports as being 
integral  to their  self-esteem g rowing up and throughout l ife . So of cou rse 
tra nsgender youth want to be i nvolved i n  that, but they want to be i nvolved with the 
peers they feel comfortable with . 

I magine if your son or d a u g hter was forced to play for the g irls or boys team 
respectively. That they were m ade fun of everyday, singled out, and tease d .  That 
they couldn't develop stron g  friendships and com m un ity with thei r  own gender. That 
would be h ow it is every d ay for a tra nsgende r  athlete forced to play with the gender 
they were assigned at b i rth , and not the one they identify as. 

I th i n k  we can agree that w i n n i ng is a big part of sports, but social bonding and 
development for youth i s  m uch bigger and more important component and 
tra nsgender youth should h ave the possibi l ity to explore it, safely and be accepted 
for who they are .  

Do you think boys should be able to shower with my daughters at  school? 
That is a leading and i nsensitive question ,  which you may be surprised to learn I 
don't d isagree with . I don't th i n k  cisgender males should use the female shower 
room and I thin k  it would be a violation of the p rivacy g iven to females. 

What you n eed to understa n d ,  h owever, is transgender women a re wome n .  Who 
use the shower room to s h ower and the bathroom to pee. I n  thirtee n  states that h ave 
al lowed transgender people the right to use the facility of the gender they identify as,  
there has not been a s ingle reported problem and these laws h ave been i n  effect 
betwee n  a couple of years to decades. 

And it should be noted that this doesn't g ive transgender people s pecial p rotectio n ,  
a s  a n y  harassment laws wi l l  sti l l  apply. The thing to know is that s imply existing i n  
there a s  being a trans women isn't harassment, saying i t  i s ,  is the same a s  saying a 
wom a n  of color is h arassing w hite women by using the female locker room . The 
same as saying a woma n  with a d isabil ity is harassing abled people for being in 
there.  We a re al l  just wom e n  first and those other labels come second.  

What is there to stop a guy from hanging around in  women's bathrooms if  we 
change our laws? 

What is to stop a g uy fro m  hanging around a women's bathroom if we don't change 
our laws? We can't stop ind ividual  behavior, but the point of laws is to protect our 
freedom ,  d ign ity, and agency by not taking away our freedom, but by punishing 
behaviors that d imin ish that. 

And to repeat my p reviou s  point, this law doesn't affect h arassment l aws in any way. 
If the person you are refe rring i s  a trans woman ,  they h ave the right to be there ,  the 
same a non-trans women as long as they want. But if they are there for a reason not 
associated with the restroo m  or the safe space it p rovides, then they should be 
punished accord ing .  But again ,  I 'l l  rem i nd you that a transgender person has never 
harassed a non-transgender person in the bathrooms. It  isn't a problem. 
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Testimony of Kristen E. Benson, Ph.D. before the House Human Services Committee 
Monday, March 23, 2015 

Good morning Chairperson Weisz and members of the House Human Services Committee. My 
name is Kristen Benson and I am here today to ask that you vote yes on SB 2279. 

I'm not originally from North Dakota. In fact, I had never set foot in the state prior to my job 
interview at one of your prestigious universities. When I was first recruited to apply for a 
position here, I was hesitant. I didn't know if I was willing to move to a state where I would not 
have basic protections. Fortunately, I could afford to purchase my own house, so I didn't have to 
be concerned about being kicked out of my home. I accepted a position at an institution that 
implemented policies that clearly prohibits discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender 
identity. If it weren't for these policies, I am certain that I would not have chosen to move to 
North Dakota. I have witnessed first hand the ways that these discriminatory laws have impacted 
our ability to recruit the best and brightest new professionals. While I have come to love North 
Dakota, it is even more concerning watching talented young people move away because they feel 
their home state does not value them. 

In my work as a marriage and family therapist and supervisor, I have the opportunity to meet and 
be familiar with many individuals, couples, and families who live in North Dakota. I am 
fortunate to be able to hear their stories and perhaps share some of their experiences that they're 
unable to share with you themselves because of fear of retribution by the very issues that SB 
2279 would protect. I have heard the argument that LGBT discrimination isn't an issue in North 
Dakota, that these concerns are not really valid concerns. Without basic protections, people face 
a real risk of being fired from their jobs and losing their housing, and for many it has already 
happened to them. But they have no recourse because we do not keep track of concerns that do 
not violate the law. Can you imagine being fired from your position and no longer having an 
income to support your family simply because your boss found out about who your husband or 
wife is? By allowing discriminatory laws to exist, we force families who are able to work into 
unemployment, forcing them to rely on state resources. Discrimination costs North Dakota 

I earned my PhD in Human Development from Virginia Tech where I began my primary area of 
research focused on understanding the experiences of LGBT families and those who have a 
transgender family member. Most recently I've interviewed parents who are raising a transgender 
child. It is quite heartbreaking to hear mothers talk about the fears that they hold. Take for 
example the 9 year old transgender girl who won't eat or drink throughout the day because she 
doesn't want to face being harassed for using a men's public restroom. Consider the 
consequences of starving a developing body and developing brain. Consider the consequences 
for her learning. So it's true that children are at risk when we talk about gender and bathroom 
access, but not for the reasons that some may want you to believe. I will also share a story with 
you about my colleague who is a young transgender man, and was encouraged by his doctor to 
undergo hormone therapy. At this point he has developed a full beard, yet according to current 
law, he is supposed to use the women's restroom. Quite frankly, many transgender people would 
actually prefer to use a single stall restroom, but many of our public buildings are not 
accommodating in this way. My colleague presents as a man, but when he is in a public place 
without single stalls he asks other men to go look inside the restroom to ensure that he will be 



safe from harassment. He and other transgender people want to use the restroom for the same 
reasons you and I do. They have to pee. They j ust want to safely use the restroom. 

While inaccurate portrayals of trans gender people tend to be voiced during legislative efforts 
such as this one, I can attest that they are grounded in false assumptions. I have heard the 
misguided statements that reflect transgender people as predatory, which is statistically wrong; 
rather, transgender people are more likely to be the victims of violent crimes and other forms of 
discrimination. Many remain silent about their identities out of concern for physical safety and 
discrimination, yet there are transgender identified people who are model citizens in our 
communities. The transgender people I personally know in North Dakota have served in our 
mil itary. They work with the homeless. They are farmers. They are educators. They are students 
in our universities. They are members of our faith communities. They are our relatives and 
friends. Yet they are legally discriminated against because of who they are. 

Research on LGBT people clearly states that gender identity and sexual orientation cannot be 
changed. In fact, there is no scientific evidence that support that a persons gender identity or 
sexual orientation can be changed. Further, major medical, education, and mental health 
associations have issued statements that interventions to change identity do not work. (See 
attachment for list of professional organizations). Research has overwhelmingly shown that 
conversion efforts lead to higher rates of depression, substance use, and suicide. 
"Homosexuality" was removed from the American Psychiatric Associations Diagnostic Statical 
Manual (DSM) in 1 973,  and Gender Identity Disorder was removed from the most recent version 
of the DSM- V. A person' s  LGBT identity is not a disorder therefore there is no medical basis to 
treat them. The risk factors LGBT people face are due to discriminatory treatment and lack of 
acceptance. Gender identity and sexual orientation are not choices; therefore people need to be 
protected from unfair employment termination and eviction. LGBT people live in North Dakota. 
They work in North Dakota. And they will continue to do so. We now must decide if WE 
C HOOSE to continue treating people as second class citizens. 

I urge you to show your value for the livelihood of all North Dakotans by supporting SB 2279. 

Thank you for your consideration. 

Kristen Benson, 1 2 1 3  7th St. N, Fargo 

Professional Organizations w ith Statements Against the Practice of Conversion Therapy 
• American Academy of Pediatrics • National Association of School 
• American Association for Marriage Psychologists 

and Family Therapy • National Association of Social 
• American Counseling Association Workers 
• American Federation of Teachers • National Association of Secondary 
• American Medical Association School Principals 
• 

• 

• 

American Psychiatric Association 
American Psychological Association 
American School Health Association 

• National Education Association 
• Pan American Health Organization 
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Good morning Chairman Weisz and members of the Human Services Committee. 

My name is Andrea Rebsom. I was born in Dickinson, graduated from Trinity High School, 

received my Bachelor's degree from Dickinson State University, and now I am an 

Accountant at KLJ Engineering here in Bismarck. 

I am here to tell you about an incident where I was harassed and threatened by a co­

worker. My story takes place in Dickinson four years ago while I was a student at DSU. 

Before I begin, I want to point out that I am not going to disclose specific names of the 

Manufacturing Company I worked for or the individual involved in my speech. I will use the 

terms, "Manufacturing Company" and, "John Smith." In 2 0 1 1, John Smith started working at 

the same Manufacturing Company as myself. At that point, I had been with the 

Manufacturing Company for almost 1 5  years. We often worked 1 2 -hour weekend shifts in 

close proximity to each other. While John was not the type of person I would associate with 

outside of work when he sent me a Face book friend request on June 1 2, I accepted because 

I did not want to cause problems at work, and I was trying to be respectful to a fellow co­

worker. 

Shortly after John and I became Facebook friends I wrote a Facebook post to Dakota 

Outright, a local support group for the LGBTQ community here in Bismarck. I n  the 

Face book post I notified Dakota Outright that our University club wanted to donate the 

proceeds from our next fundraiser to their organization. I included my email address in the 

Face book post so someone from Dakota Outright could contact me. 

After this Facebook posting, that exposed my support of the LGBTQ community, John 

stopped talking to me at work and the harassment and threats began. 

The first incident occurred on December 1 8th when I received an anonymous gift bag at 

work. The gift bag had a picture of a snowman on it and with the Holidays closely 

approaching, I thought it was a Christmas present from one of my co-workers. When I 

looked inside the gift bag, I found these disturbing and provocative items. 

The gift bag contained: (Take each item out of the bag.) 

1 .  An Old Spice for Men shower and shave kit, 

2 .  A shot glass with breasts inside of the glass, 

3. A wind up breast toy, 

4. After pussy dinner mints, 

5 .  A doodling pad depicting a picture of a naked woman, 

6. And a stripper toothbrush. 



I had suspected the gift bag had come from John and when I had confirmation from another 
co-worker that it was John, I met with the company's Human Resources department. And 
when John was confronted about it by the HR department, he denied giving me the gift bag. 
While HR said the gifts were not appropriate, they stated there was nothing they could do 

about it. The attitude from Human Resources was to drop the issue and get back to work­
which I did. 

A few days later, on the morning of Christmas Eve, the second incident of harassment 
occurred. Within roughly one hour, I received 11 threatening and harassing emails from 
John who I realized had obtained my email address from the Facebook post on the Dakota 
Outright Face book page. John used several different email addresses to try and hide his 
identity, but one of the emails was accidentally sent using his actual email address which 
exposed his full name. 

I immediately made copies of all the emails and went with my Sister, who was home for the 

Holidays, to the Police station for the first time to file a report and a disorderly conduct 
charge against John. It was Christmas Eve and I remember my Mom cooking our Holiday 
dinner with tears in her eyes. 

I have included a copy of the Police report and 11 emails sent to me along with my 
testimony. One of which is a picture John had found on the internet of me receiving an 

award from DSU. John had cropped my face out, put me in a KKK outfit, and posted this 
picture all over the internet. Please take a moment to look at them. (Pause for 30 seconds 
to let them look at the emails.) 

The following morning of Tuesday, December 27th, I called the Manufacturing Company and 
asked to speak with members of the HR department. A meeting was set up where I gave 
them copies of all the emails I received along with the Police report. The HR department 
responded with the same casual mentality they showed regarding the gift bag. It was 
happening outside of work premise so no further action needed to be taken. 

Around 3 p.m. on that same day, I noticed an email sent by John of a link to a You Tube 
animated video entitled, "King Assassination." 

The first image was a cartoon drawing of Martin Luther King stating, "I have a dream." The 

second image was of p. gunman stating, "Yeah, well I have a little dream of my own buddy 
boy, only difference is my dream came true." Suddenly you hear the sound of a gunshot 

with people laughing hysterically in the background. I immediately called the HR 
department back at work and informed them of this new email I had received. 



Terrified, I then went to the Police station again to show them the new email I received of 

the assasination video. 

The next morning aro und 1 0 : 3 0  am, members of the M anufacturing Company's HR 

Department calle d  me. They informed me they would give John a written warning due to 

the emails he sent me. I immediately began to cry and told the HR department I was 

terrified to work with John, particularly because of the last email I received of the 

assassination video. 

The Manufacturing Company told  me that because these incidents did not happen on work 

premise and because homosexuals are not a protected class, giving John a written warning 

was all that could be done. 

The HR department also tol d  me that if  they fired J ohn, he could come back and sue them 

for wrongful termination. The M anufacturing Company chose John, a less than one year 

employee with a criminal b ackground over me, a dedicated and hard-working employee 

who was close to reaching her 1 5th year of employment. 

In North Dakota, b ecause employers are simply following the law and not being pro-active 

in their discrimination policies, an individual can essentially threaten to kill somebody 

because of who they love or who they support and not get fired. 

I told the Manufacturing Company that as a result of their inaction, I would have to quit my 

job without giving any notice b ecause I was fearful to work with J ohn again. I was told  by 

the HR department I would receive a call later that day from them confirming my decision 

to quit. I then called the Police Officer I was working with and informed him that as a result 

of how the Manufacturing Company chose to deal with the harassment, I would be quitting 

my job. 

Without my knowledge, the Police Officer called the HR D epartment and informed them of  

the severity of  the situation. Approximately four hours later, the HR D epartment called and 

stated that I would never have to worry about working with J ohn again. 

I also filed a restraining order against J ohn and a copy is included with my testimony 

stating his real name. 

John was fired not b ecause of what he did to me, b ut because the Manufacturing Company 

knew that if they did not fire him, it would give them a bad reputation. 

After earning my Accounting degree from DSU, I received a temporary j ob with the Federal 

Highway Administration here in Bismarck where discrimination of any kind is not 

tolerated and I quickly moved out of Dickinson. 
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In  conclusion, I would like to state that this story is no longer about me. I am safe. My 

family is safe. And I have a good job now. The evil and hatred that was trying to come out of 

this story did not prevail, but it was not easy. I had a loving and supportive Family who told 

me we were not going to let this ruin our Christmas. Not all people have this kind of 

support. This could have potentially resulted in the worst tragedy of them all - a human 

life. 

The person who harassed me not only belittled people based upon who they love, b ut also 

people based upon the color of their skin and their religious beliefs .  The latter two are 

offered protections by the law. By not offering these same protections to the LGBTQ 

community, that is discrimination and it's wrong-no matter who it is directed towards. 

The evil and hatred did not p revail because I was hoping to one day share my story for the 

greater good of  society. Today is that day. Most companies will not be proactive in there 

discrimination policies unless laws are passed prohibiting this type of behavior. My story 

put a disturbing face on discrimination. And in the end it's all the same. And in the end we 

are only hurting this great state of North Dakota by not giving a do pass recommendation 

to Senate Bill 2 2 79. 

Thank you. 



Andrea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Attach : 
Sub"ect: 

"Scabby Kenny" <scabby.kenny@gmail.com> 
<arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24 , 20 1 1  7: 1 1  AM 
klansman.jpg 
When did ou become a member of the KKK? 
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Andrea Rebsom 

From : 
To: 
Sent: 
Attach : 
Sub"ect: 

"Lester Rees" <retselseer@yahoo.co.uk> 
<arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 20 1 1  7:25 AM 
klansman .jpg 
Since when did ou ·oin the KKK? 
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Andrea Rebsom 

From : 
To: 
Sent: 
Attach : 
Subject: 

"Mommy Gene 666" <mommy.gene.666@gmail.com> 
"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 1  7:32 AM 
fruits.jpg 
fruits . . .  

The fru i t  of a stra ig ht cou p le .  The fru it of a fag cou ple .  
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Andrea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

"Bushnest" <bushnest@gmail.com> 
"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 1 7:51 AM 
Grotesque Dyke . . .  

Jesus .' . .. .  1.f Clin+on l<e.e.ps i+ vp " 

e."'1ery 9:-o-+es,ue Pyke o "  f_lc:tt°'e+ 
ec:tr"th w,\t ha"e. o.. ke"f �ppo1n+Men+ 

in  Washtnjton . . . 
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Andrea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

"Mommy Gene 666" <mommy.gene.666@gmail.com> 
"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 1  7:52 AM 
What's the difference . . .  

WHA1"'S THE t>t t=:"FERE NCE 
BE1'"Wt=e: N A \"t IPPOPOTAMU S . . .  

ANC> A SOLL DY l<E ? 

'\,,.___....,. 

· · · 20 POUNDS AN P A FlANNEL 
SHI RT .. 
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And rea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Attach: 
Subject: 

<'5'2�/J 
. . . AN D t F  'TH E DY K.� t.. 1 K'ES IT • • •  � BRUSH UP YllVR Tux · · · lT'S OSCAR TIME . 

1 0 
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Andrea Rebsom 

From: "Bushnest" <bushnest@gmail.com> 
To: 
Sent: 

"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 � 8:12  AM 
fags_image03.jpg 500x545 pixels Subject: 

LE T 'S FA C E  I T  .. . .  M OV I E S A RE 
GETTI NG- MORE POl\I D E�ous ' PRE TE NTIOU S  ANO PERVERS E  eveRv C>Ay. , .  f T•s G E TTfN 6 HA RDE R A N D  H ARDER TO R E L ATE TO TH EIR A851RACT THEM E S  A N D C ._.ARACTERS . . .  E V£R WON DER W HY '? • 

L E T 0S TA K E  A LOOK AT WHO RuN S THE FI LM INDUST'R Y  .. .  · 

I T 'S  :ru sT QUEE R S , J'EWS 
A NO QUEER :YEW S w • • 

A NY QUE STION S ?  

I \ 
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And rea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

-.... 

"Scabby Kenny" <scabby.kenny@gmail.com> 
"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 1 8 : 14  AM 
Homosexual love Nest. . .  

..._._ .... -

H O M O S EX UA L.  
L OV E  N E S T 

l�  
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And rea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

" bb kenny@gmail.com> "Scabby Kenny 
:�C:,.eb��m@ndsupernet.com> "Andrea Rebsom 

201 1  8 : 1 5 AM Saturday, December 24, 
Last Pitiful Squeak . . .  
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Andrea Rebsom 

From: 
To: 
Sent: 
Subject: 

"Scabby Kenny" <scabby.kenny@gmail.com> 
"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 1  8:32 AM 
The Herd is Thinning . . .  

-- ·--- --- --
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Andrea Rebsom 

From: "Mommy Gene 666" <mommy.gene.666@gmail.com> 
"Andrea Rebsom" <arebsom@ndsupernet.com> 
Saturday, December 24, 201 1  8:34 AM 

To: 
Sent: 
Subject: So Much Noise . . .  

50 MUC H  
N O \  SE . . .  

'· 

. . . so 
W H Y  DON ' T  A L L THOS E  

\\ BUBON\ C  6UTT .. BLASTE R S  Ii 

JOST SAVE IHE•R ST�ENGTH ? 
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STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 
Disorderly Conduct Restrain ing Order 
UCIS Revised (06/07) 

STATE OF NORTH DAKOTA 
COUNTY OF STARK 

AN DREA L R EBSOM 

Petitioner( s),  

vs. 

LESTE R  E R EES 

Respondent(s) , 

To the above-named Respondent(s) : 

I N  D I STRICT COURT 
Case No. 45-20 1 2-CV-0001 7  

DISORDERLY CONDUCT 
RESTRAI N I NG ORDER 

t-=!LED 

After a hearing on the petitio n ,  the court finds that the Temporary Disorderly Conduct 
Restrain ing Order should be extended. 

You m u st immed iately stop a ny Disorderly Conduct directed at the Petitioner. "Disorderly 
Conduct" means intrusive or u nwanted acts, words, or gestures that are intended to adversely 
affect the safety, security, or privacy of another person. Disorderly Conduct does not include 
constitutiona l ly protected activity. Violation of this order is  punishable by up to one year i n  jai l  
and a fine of up to $2,000.00. 

You violate this order if you : 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Have any physica l  contact with or come within  /00 0 .( # �4;. of the 

Petitioner(s) ;
J 

��..e_'le.� s"'-c,. �""-\ '(;) �  • 

Cal l ,  write or h ave messages delivered to the Petitioner(s) through anyone other 

than your attorney, including via emai l ;  

Enter or come within  lo to .t;_ d--of the premises located at 1 29 2nd St E 

Dickinson N D  58601 

Take or damage any of Petitioners property or  

\ lfl 



You a lso violate this order if you stalk or otherwise fol low the Petitioner(s). "Stalki ng" is 
also a separate cri minal offense punishable, depending on the circumstances, as a Class A 
Misdemeanor or Class C felony (N.D.C.C. 1 2. 1- 1 7-07. 1 )  

Any Peace Officer may arrest you with or without a warrant and take you into custody if 
the Peace Officer has probable cause to believe you have violated this order. It  is further 
ordered that the clerk of court shal l  give a copy of this Order to the law enforcement agency 
which has jurisdiction over the Petitioner's residence. Consent by the Petitioner(s) to any contact 
or communication does not i nval idate any provision of this order. 

This order shal l  remain in ful l  force until 

Dated:/'<. J:M.D- U>l2-

SERVICE 
( )  ADMISSION OF SERVICE 

The Respondent a dm its service of this Disorderly Conduct Restrain ing Order. 

Respondent 

Date 

\ 1  



Case Number <{'f - �Ot7' - C,V - () 0  O l7 

Additional conditions of restraining/protection order. 

You may not directly, or through third parties: 

1. Access or use the personal web accounts of the petitioner on any internet site. 

2. Gain remote access o r  control of the personal computer of the petitioner through 

any Troj an-type setup or software or VNC 

3. Gain access to email of the petitioner through any setup which sends copies of 

any email sent by petitioner. 

4. Communicate with the petitioner by means of email. 

5. Use social media, including, b ut not limited to, Facebook, Myspace, Twitter, 

Linkedln, Google+, Skype, Four Square, and biogs, to communicate or otherwise 

interact with petitioner online or observe petitioner's online presence. 

6. Use social media, including, but not limited to, Facebook, Myspace, Twitter, 

Linkedln, Google+, Skype, Four Square, and biogs, to make comments about the 

petitioner or to perpetuate indirectly the harassment of petitioner through 

defamatory, retaliatory, or abusive social media communications. 

Date: l'.\ �\,, · 21) ( 2-



Incident Information 

Dickinson Police 
66 Museum Drive W 

Dickinson, ND 
Phone: (701) 456-7759 Fax: (701) 456-7680 

Master Incident 
Prepared on: 01/03/2012 13:03:02 

Page 1of5 

Zone 

Case# :11-022430 
:110032049 

Occurred From : 12/24/2011 13:28:08 
Master Incident # 
Call Date/Time 
Date/Time Finished 
CAD CFS 

Occurred To : 12124/2011 14: 19:02 

RMS CFS 
Location 

: 12/24/2011 13:28:08 
:12/24/2011 14:19:02 
:DISORD - DISORDERLY CONDUCT 
: DISORD - DISORDERLY CONDUCT 
:129 2 STE 
DICKINSON ND 58601 

Damage Amount 
Reports Due 
Domestic Violence : No 
Gun Permit :No 
Juvenile Involved :No 
Restraining Order :No 

RMS Disposition 
CAD Disposition 

:OPEN 
:FINISH- NO FOLLOW-UP RPT 

RMS Disposition DatE :12/25/2011 00:00:00 
CAD Disposition Date:12/24/2011 14:19:02 

Comments 

Comment# 

1 

Date/Time 

· 12/24/2011 16:40:38 

Officer Name 

415-LEE, COREY 

Female came to the LEC. reporting harassment both at her place of employment 
and by email. 

Crime Details 

CFS Description Att-Comp 
DISORDERLY CONDUCT COMPLETED 

Name Details 

Name 

REBSOM,ANDREALYNN 

Name# 

A200806846 

Phone# 

SSN# 

Reason 

Name 

(701 )260-1684 

COMPLAINANT 

REES, LESTER EUGENE 

Name# 
A201104346 

Phone# 

SSN# 

Reason 

(701 )214-7689 

SUSPECT 

CFS Code State Statute 
DISORD 

Sex DOB Race 

FEMALE 03/31/1975 

Sex 

MALE 

DOB Race 

12/23/1971 WHITE 

Incident# : 11-022430 

Address 

129 2 EST 
DICKINSON, ND 58601 

Address 

725899AVSW 
Mott, ND 58646 
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Good morning, 

I am here to encourage you to vote for the inclusion of sexual orientation, as defined in 
Senate Bill 2279, into the North Dakota Fair Housing and North Dakota Human Rights Acts. 
It's about time that we include our GLBT friends in non-discrimination policies when it comes 

to housing and employment. 

A little bit about me: I served 22 years in the military as an active duty Marine Corps 
Infantryman, and member of the North Dakota Army National Guard. I have deployed to 3 tours 
in combat. I am a member of the FMWF Chamber Military Affairs Committee. I am very 
involved in military organizations in the Fargo Moorhead area. (VFW, DAV, IAVA, Am. 
Legion) I am a past commander of the Fargo Legion Post #2. I am a service connected Combat 
Disabled Veteran. I am a recipient of the Bronze Star Medal for my actions in Iraq leading 1 00 
North Dakota Soldiers in combat as the Units First Sergeant. I am a lifelong and 3rd generation 
resident of North Dakota, a graduate of the North Dakota University System, and have worked 
for the State for over 21  years. My Daughter just last week enlisted in the North Dakota Army 
National Guard. 

With the repeal of the federal DADT policy 4 years ago, I believe that it is time that North 
Dakota gets with the program so that our returning veterans, who continue to serve honorably, 
will not come home from deployment and find an eviction notice at home, or go back to work 
and be fired shortly after returning. 

A few years ago the Secretary of Defense signed a policy that gives same sex partners of military 
members' spousal benefits. The Federal Department of Labor does not allow discrimination 
based on sexual orientation meaning federal contractors that operate in the State of ND now have 
LGBT non-discrimination policies. While this is great, there is a problem. If an LGBT officer 
wants to live off post, they will no longer benefit from the Federal Dept. of Labor policies, and 
can face housing discrimination with no legal recourse in North Dakota. I know of members of 
the North Dakota National Guard who are affected by state policies. 

This is also an image issue for the State. I work in Veterans employment and have been a 
consultant for the State Find the Good Life program. They have travelled to several military 
posts across the Nation in efforts to recruit Miiitary members to come to North Dakota and work. 
What I found is that North Dakota has an image problem when it comes to social issues. Passing 
this bill will be a big step forward in showing that North Dakota is a welcoming place. I love 
North Dakota; I have served this State and its citizens for 30  years. I defend it all the time when I 
run into people with negative images of North Dakota. But I constantly struggle with the notion 
that North Dakota is not a welcoming state for LGBT individuals. Passing this nondiscrimination 
bill is vital if we are going to be welcoming to ALL who are seeking employment in our great 
state. I have the North Dakota State Flag that was presented to our unit prior to our deployment 
by then Governor John Hoeven hanging in my "Man Cave." We proudly hung this Flag in our 
command post in Iraq. I have a lot of pride in this State and hope that you will support ALL 
Veterans of this State 

North Dakota State HRMS states that they do not follow EEOC policy for employment related to 
transgender employees, even though the State receives federal funding from the Federal DOL for 
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most of its workforce programs. North Dakota letterhead states that the state is an equal 
opportunity employer and program provider, but in reality, we just provide equal opportunity 
programs by following the Federal EEOC policy, but the state does not recognize the policy 
when it involves a State employee that is administering the program. 

I have literally fought for a free America, I cannot sleep some nights because of the things that I 
have done and have witnessed in defense of this State and Nation, and it really frustrates me that 
some believe it is still OK, and should be legal, to discriminate against others just because of 
who they are. 

If you do not pass this SB 2279, you are saying that it' s  ok for employers and property owners to 
discriminate against military members and their family, and against Veterans and their families. 
This is your chance to really support ALL Veterans. These are the people that have defended our 
freedom. Please do the right thing and recommend a "Do Pass" on this bill. 

Thank you for your time. 

Brad Aune 
l SG (Ret) 
US Marine, US Army, ND ARNG 
Fargo, ND 
701 -2 12-6343 
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Statement of the American Civil Liberties Union of  North Dakota 

In Suppori of SB 2279 - To Add Sexual Orientation & Gender Identity to the North Dakota 

Human Rights Act 

House Human Services Committee 

March 23, 2 0 1 5  

My name i s  Jennifer Cook and I am the Policy Director for  the American Civil Liberties Union 
of North Dakota. I am also a born and raised North Dakotan. I have had the distinct honor and 
privilege to serve our country and state as an enlisted soldier and commissioned officer in the 
North Dakota Army National Guard for eight years. I am a graduate of the University of North 
Dakota's  School of Law and a licensed attorney in N01ih Dakota. I had the pleasure of serving 
as a judicial law clerk for a Magistrate Judge in the United States District Court for the District 
of North Dakota prior to becoming the ACLU of North Dakota's Policy Director in December of 
this past year. 

It is with this background I rise to testify in support of Senate Bill 2279. The American Civil 
Liberties Union of North Dakota represents its members and activists throughout North Dakota 
who seek to preserve and expand individual freedoms and civil liberties guaranteed by the 
United States and North Dakota Constitutions. In that context, we appreciate the opportunity to 
support this bill, which would help protect more North Dakotans by adding "sexual orientation 
and gender identity" to North Dakota's nondiscrimination law. SB 2279 is an exceptionally 
important bill and one that is much needed. 

Discrimination occurs in North D akota 

Evidence abounds that LGBT people continue to experience discrimination in employment, 
housing, and public accommodations, among other contexts. For example, a 201 1 UCLA report 
determined that 27% of lesbian, gay, and bisexual people across the United States had 
experienced some form of sexual orientation discrimination in the workplace in the five years 
before they were surveyed, including 7% who had lost a job because of their sexual orientation, 
and that 78% of transgender people across the United States had experienced employment 
discrimination related to their gender identity in the preceding five years. 1 The data exists to 
support legislative findings that LGBT people are currently experiencing discrimination, which 
in tum form valid bases for legislation prohibiting such discrimination. 

Now, I ' ll pause here to mention that there was a statement made prior to the Senate floor vote on 
2279 that the Senate Judiciary Committee was presented with no evidence or data by supporters 
of the bill that discrimination against LGBT North Dakotans exists or occurs in this state. 
Arguably, that statement is true in the sense that there were no studies with North Dakota 

1BRAD SEARS & CHRISTY MALLORY, THE WILLIAMS INST., DOCUMENTED EVIDENCE OF EMPLOYMENT 
DISCRIMINATION & ITS EFFECTS ON LGBT PEOPLE 2 (201 1), available at http://williarnsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/research/ 
workplace/docurnented-evidence-of-employrnent-discrirnination-its-effects-on-lgbt-people 
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specific data identified, nor were there North Dakota govennnent or non-govennnent agency 
documented statistics regarding reported complaints of discrimination based on sexual 
orientation or gender identity provided to the committee. 

However, I ask you to recall the testimony of the North Dakotans you have heard here today and 
recognize that their stories of discrimination serve as evidence for the committee. Some may 
argue they are only a small representative sample of North Dakotans, but the question of whether 
discrimination against LGBT North Dakotans exists should not be answered by quantifying how 
much invidious discrimination is acceptable. Nor should there be some arbitrary requirement as 
to just how many LGBT North Dakotans, whether it be 5 or 500, must come forward to present 
evidence of discrimination until we as a state enact legal protections. In short, discrimination 
exists in North Dakota and it should not be tolerated by North Dakotans. 

If the testimony of the North Dakota citizens you heard here today is not enough to establish 
evidence of discrimination in North Dakota, numerous courts and legal scholars have 
acknowledged and documented the history and patterns of discrimination against LGBT people 
in this country. Every state and federal court that has substantively considered whether sexual 
orientation classifications should be presumed to be suspect for purposes of equal protection 
analysis-whatever they decided on that ultimate question-has recognized that LGBT people 
have faced a long history of discrimination. For example, in 1995, the Sixth Circuit concluded, 
"Homosexuals have suffered a history of pervasive irrational and invidious discrimination in 
govennnent and private employment, in political organization and in all facets of society in 
general, based on their sexual orientation." 

To date, at least twenty state and federal courts assessing whether classifications based on sexual 
orientation should receive heightened equal protection scrutiny under the federal or a state 
constitution have concluded, in more than two dozen judicial opinions, that LGBT people have 
faced a history of discrimination. Dozens oflegal scholars have reached the same conclusion. 

Additionally, in July 2011 , the Ninth Circuit cited the history of discrimination against gay and 
lesbian people in its decision to lift its stay of a district court ruling that had held the military' s 
"Don't Ask, Don't Tell" policy of excluding openly gay service members unconstitutional under 
the First Amendment and the Due Process Clause of the U.S. Constitution. 

In sum, there is demonstrable evidence that discrimination exists against LGBT people around 
the country. North Dakota is not immune from this discrimination, and therefore it is only 
reasonable to conclude it exists here as well. 

Discrimination exits, but what can North Dakota do about it? North Dakota has the 
authority to pass and implement protections against discrimination 

The Supreme Court has repeatedly affirmed the authority of states and localities to prohibit 
discrimination in employment, housing, and public businesses (also known as public 
accommodations). For example, in New York State Club Association v. City of New York, 487 
U.S. 1 (1988), the Court upheld New York City's local law prohibiting discrimination on the 
basis of sex and other protected characteristics by public accommodations and rejected a 
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. .-... challenge by social and service clubs who contended that such a law infringed their rights to 
expressive association and their religious freedom. Similarly, in Roberts v. United States 
Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609 (1984), the Court upheld a Minnesota statute that banned discrimination in 
public accommodations on the basis of sex and other protected characteristics, citing the state's 
compelling interest in eradicating discrimination. The Court reiterated that state civil rights 
protections, including California's broad statute banning discrimination in public 
accommodations based on various protected characteristics, are appropriate in service to the 
state's compelling interest in combating discrimination, despite potential conflict with expressive 
or associational preferences, in Board of Directors of Rotary International v. Rotary Club of 
Duarte, 481 U.S. 537 (1987). 

The Supreme Court has also held that state laws banning discrimination on the basis of sexual 
orientation "are well within the State's usual power to enact when a legislature has reason to 
believe that a given group is the target of discrimination, and they do not, as a general matter, 
violate the First or Fourteenth Amendments." Hurley v. Irish-American Gay, Lesbian, and 
Bisexual Group of Boston, 515 U.S. 557, 572 (1995). Although the Court ultimately decided 
against the plaintiff in this case because it found that a parade was so much an expressive act that 
the First Amendment prohibited application of nondiscrimination laws to force the parade's 
organizers to accept speakers they did not want to include, this decision affirms that states have 
authority to prohibit discrimination in public accommodations, including discrimination on the 
basis of sexual orientation. 

Balancing protections against discrimination with other constitutional rights 

While the government has broad authority to pass anti-discrimination protections to ensure that 
residents have access to basic opportunities like housing, employment, and access to public 
businesses operating within the state or locality free from discrimination, the First Amendment 
protects individuals' freedom of religion, freedom of speech, and freedom of association. 
Individuals and organizations that are fundamentally religious or expressive in nature retain these 
cherished rights in jurisdictions where anti-discrimination laws regulate certain types of 
commercial activity. 

State and local laws that prohibit discrimination regulate certain commercial conduct: for 
example, decisions about hiring, firing, promotion and treatment of employees in the case of 
laws against discrimination in employment, decisions regarding the sale or rental of housing and 
mortgage approval in the case of laws against discrimination in housing, and decisions on 
whether and how to serve customers in the case of laws against discrimination in public 
accommodations. Entities choosing to participate in the public marketplace are already subject to 
various prohibitions on discrimination, and expanding these prohibitions to include 
discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity is consistent with existing 
First Amendment protections and guarantees. 

First, explicit exceptions in anti-discrimination statutes ensure that they only regulate 
commercial conduct; for example, laws prohibiting discrimination in employment typically 
explicitly exempt religious entities' hiring of individuals to perform overtly religious duties, such 
as priests, pastors or imams. Because these types of exemptions are already present in federal 
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law as well as the law of many states and localities, using the same exceptions in bills that 
prohibit discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation and/or gender identity will maintain the 
status quo. There is no need for any new or different exceptions for anti-LGBT discrimination. 

In addition to raising concerns about religious freedom, some opponents of anti-discrimination 
laws claim that barring public accommodations from engaging in anti-LGBT discrimination will 
interfere with private organizations' rights to free speech and freedom of association. This 
argument too has no merit. The term "public accommodation" is unfamiliar to many Americans. 
Any business that is open to the general public typically constitutes a public accommodation, 
although there are slight variations among state and local definitions. 

The government's authority to prohibit discrimination by public accommodations is well­
established. See, e.g. , Heart of Atlanta Motel, Inc. v. United States, 379 U.S.  241 ( 1 964) 
(upholding constitutionality of provision in federal Civil Rights Act barring racial discrimination 
by public accommodations) . Public accommodations typically implicate local and/or interstate 
commerce, and governments have compelling interests in ensuring that all citizens can support 
their families, travel, and participate freely in public life by utilizing public accommodations, 
including but not limited to restaurants, grocery stores, gasoline stations, transportation 
terminals, hotels and motels, medical facilities, parks, and concert halls. 

Arguments that such businesses have a constitutional right to discriminate have been raised in 
the past, and have been routinely rej ected by the courts. For example, in Newman v. Piggie Park 
Enterprises, Inc. , the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals rejected arguments by a South Carolina 
restaurateur that his chain of drive-in barbecue joints was entitled to refuse service to African­
Americans, holding instead that the restaurants were public accommodations subject to the Civil 
Rights Act prohibition of such discrimination. 3 77 F.2d 433 (4th Cir. 1 967); aff'd on other 
grounds, 390 U.S.  400 ( 1 968). In the Roberts and New York State Club Association decisions 
discussed above, the Supreme Court similarly upheld prohibitions on sex discrimination in 
public accommodations that had been implemented by the State of Minnesota and the City of 
New York, respectively. 468 U.S.  at 6 1 7-63 1 ; 487 U.S.  at 1 0- 1 5 .  

Unlike a public accommodation that has elected to open its doors to members o f  the public at 
large, a private organization with a primarily expressive mission has a constitutional right to 
exclude participation on the basis of protected characteristics such as race, religion, or sexual 
orientation, which is not affected by state or local nondiscrimination statutes. In Hurley, 5 1 5  U.S.  
557 (1 995), the Supreme Court held that although the annual St. Patrick's Day parade in Boston 
had originally been sponsored by the City and public in nature, at the time the plaintiff 
organization brought suit seeking to enjoin its exclusion from the parade, the parade was a 
private expressive undertaking. Accordingly, the private group organizing it was permitted to 
choose the message(s) the parade would convey, and could choose to exclude a group whose 
purpose was to increase visibility and acceptance of gay, lesbian, and bisexual individuals within 
the Irish-American community in Boston. 
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Similarly, in Boy Scouts of America v. Dale, 530 U.S.  640 (2000), the Supreme Court found the 
Boy Scouts of America to be  a private entity that had expressive goals and was entitled to 
exclude openly gay individuals based on its belief that homosexuality was inconsistent with the 
messages the organization sought to convey. Unlike the restaurants in Piggie Park Enterprises, 
the Boy Scouts of America in Dale and the veterans' organization in Hurley were not primarily 
engaged in a commercial enterprise, and accordingly their activities were afforded more First 
Amendment deference. The Hurley and Dale decisions illustrate that private expressive activity 
retains First Amendment protections in jurisdictions where prohibitions on sexual orientation 
discrimination in public accommodations take effect. 

Although private expressive groups should not be denied the ability to exclude individuals who 
might impair their message, barring public accommodations-private businesses that are open to 
the public at large-from discriminating against potential customers or employees is well within 
the scope of governmental authority. See, e.g. , Newman v. Piggie Park Enterprises, 377 F.2d 43 3 
(4th Cir. 1 967); ajf'd on other grounds, 390 U.S. 400 ( 1 968). 

State of the law 

Currently neither federal nor North Dakota law mandates equal treatment regardless of sexual 
orientation in employment, housing, public accommodations, or credit. Gender identity and 
gender expression are also not covered, although courts in some parts of the country have viewed 
unfair treatment based on someone's  gender identity as discrimination on the basis of "sex," 
which is already illegal. While we believe that the U.S.  Constitution bars discrimination against 
LGBT people in many contexts, courts have not always agreed, and explicit legal protections are 
necessary to address ongoing discrimination. 

Only SB 2279 will ensure that LGBT North Dakotans receive equal treatment, no matter where 

they work or live. This kind of law is the same tool state legislatures have used for decades to 
ensure equal treatment of certain groups of citizens who have historically been treated unequally. 

This law would protect all people, gay or straight, from unfair treatment on the basis of sexual 

orientation and gender identity, by giving the same protection that already exists under our 

state' s  law regarding discrimination on the basis of sex, race, or religion. 

SB 2279 would do nothing more than extend to sexual orientation and gender identity 
discrimination the same basic legal structure that has applied to other forms of employment, 
housing, and public accommodation discrimination in North Dakota since the North Dakota 
Human Rights Act's passage in 1 983 . The experience that employers and others have developed 
in complying with those provisions over the past three decades, and the law developed under 
those provisions, will necessarily inform, guide, and ease compliance with SB 2279 if it should 
be enacted into law. SB 2279 balances North Dakota's compelling interest in eradicating 
discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity with the rights of individuals and 
private organizations to free expression, free association, and free exercise of religion. 
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Successful implementation 

It is worth noting that anti-discrimination laws that prohibit adverse treatment on the basis of 
sexual orientation and/or gender identity already cover much of the population of the United 
States. The numerous states and localities that have already implemented such provisions have 
done so successfully, without inundation by litigation and without infringement on private 
expressive and religious activities. 

As of today, twenty one states and the District of Columbia have passed statutes prohibiting 
discrimination against lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender people in the contexts of 
employment, housing, public accommodations, and/or education. In addition, at least 136 cities, 
towns, and counties have passed equivalent local ordinances. 

None of these statutes and ordinances has resulted in the paralyzing volume of complaints that 
opponents claim to fear when such protections are proposed. Instead, complaints are filed at a 
steady but small rate, illustrating that these forms of discrimination are real and current problems 
but that investigation and enforcement activities will not place a major burden on either the 
responsible government agency or regulated entities. An analysis of employment discrimination 
complaints received by state enforcement agencies between 2003 and 2007 found that such 
complaints were filed at an average rate of 2.8 per ten thousand lesbian, gay, or bisexual 
employees of state government, 3 .2 per ten thousand lesbian, gay, or bisexual employees in local 
government, and 4.1 per ten thousand lesbian, gay, or bisexual employees in the private sector. 

These rates are similar or lower than the average ratio of sex discrimination complaints and race 
discrimination complaints to female employees and employees of color, respectively. Gender 
identity discrimination complaints are filed even less frequently. Evidence from jurisdictions 
that already provide the protections disproves contentions that anti-discrimination laws covering 
LGBT people will result in extensive controversy and litigation. 

Conclusion 

While SB 2279's legal remedy is important, its underlying promise matters most. Civil rights 
laws work not because we are able to haul those who disobey them to court, but because most 
Americans and North Dakotans are good, law abiding people. When we say that as a state no one 
should lose a job because of religion, most businesses accept that. 

Most people accept it because our laws are above all, a statement about what we believe as a 
people. So too with a law against sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination. And 
what we say with a state civil rights law banning employment, housing, and public 
accommodation discrimination based on sexual orientation and gender identity is not that we 
endorse being lesbian, gay, bisexual, or transgender any more than our federal and state civil 
rights laws against religious discrimination endorse being Christian, or Jewish or Muslim or 
agnostic. A law against sexual orientation and gender identity discrimination says that we really 
believe the American promise that everyone should have a fair chance to go where their brains 
and guts and grit can take them. A law against sexual orientation and gender identity 
discrimination says that we really believe in that promise, and that we want it to be real. That 
isn't much, and yet it is everything. 
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·-· The ACLU of North Dakota urges this Committee to give SB 2279 a Do Pass recommendation. 

Again, thank you for the opportunity to testify in support of this bill and I will stand for any 
questions. 
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SB 2 2 79 Stories Shared During Testimony 

Suzie Bartosh 3�l 3- / S 
Suzie, a life-long Bismarck resident, had to stop attending a local alcohol treatment program 
because the program staff and residents would not stop harassing her with degrading comments, 
and, the program was going to require her to undergo conversion therapy in order to graduate the 
program. 

Frank Cavalieri 
Frank, a former employee of Watco Companies, was harassed and regarded as being a 
homosexual, even though he is not. He was called many derogatory terms and phrases and 
humiliated in front of his subordinates by someone in management. 

Maxwell Maltese 
Max, a recent graduate of the University of North Dakota, was homeless for three months, at the 
age of 2 1, after being evicted from his apartment because his landlord found out he was gay. He 
moved to Minnesota to avoid further housing discrimination. 

Andrea Rebsom 
Andrea, an employee of a manufacturing company in Dickinson for 1 5  years, had to quit her job, 
and obtain a two-year restraining order, because the company would not fire a co-worker after he 
gave her a disgusting gift, and sent her degrading and disgusting emails and videos once he found 
out about her sexual orientation. Her employer stated that there was nothing they could do 

_.---., because sexual orientation is not a protected class in ND. 

Riah Roe 
Riah, a Fargo native, turned down an opportunity to work towards her PhD at UNO after being 
fired from her job as a speech and debate coach once her employer found out she was 
transgender. She has moved to M i nneapolis, where she doesn't have to worry about this type of 
discrimination. 

Lucas Stroh 
Lucas, a Killdeer native, was required to attend the church of his landlord, or his rent would have 
substantially increased, because his landlord knew his sexual orientation. 
His landlord would stop into his apartment, at any hour of the day, looking for a reason to 
terminate his contract b ecause the contract did not contain a, "morals clause." 

Susanna Warner 
Susanna, a Bismarck mother of two, was fired from her job as a housekeeper when her direct supervisor 
discovered she has a female partner. She now lives in fear that she could lose her current or any future 
job based on this legal discrimination. 

Kenneth Winter 
Kenneth, an employee of Two Bit Rentals in Williston, was the object of crude jokes by several 
staff members, including the business owner, general manager, human resource director and 

,---.. many others. The jokes involved crude and ongoing conversations about Kenneth's sexual 

orientation, with the apparent attempt to belittle him by labeling his as a homosexual. Kenneth is 

not a homosexual. 
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Chairman Weisz and m embers of the committee, 
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After hearing that there were no instances of discrimination brought before the 
Senate committee that heard this bill, I felt compelled to take this opportunity to 
inform you that this kind of discrimination has happened before, in Minot. I have 
witnessed it myself. 

I used to work for a bank with a high amount of turn over. This was right after the 
flood in 2 0 1 1  and it was very difficult to find and retain employees. It was even 
more difficult to find people to work in the banking industry. After watching person 
after person come in to i nterview in torn jeans and sweatshirts, we finally had a 
young man come in wearing a pair of slacks, a vest, a dress shirt, and a tie. He was 
polished, put-together, and polite. He was the first person to come in who looked 
like he really wanted the job. I was a teller at the time, and so was not a part of the 
interview or hiring process, however my boss was. 

Once the i nterview was over, the man left and my boss came behind the teller line to 
ask me a question. I asked her how his interview had gone. We had been so short 
staffed I was eager to hear if we would soon be hiring someone. She answered 
something along the lines of " H e  was great. Great resume, nice personality, very put­
together. It was a really good interview. It's a shame I can't hire him." Puzzled, 
considering the glowing review she just gave, I asked her why she wasn't going to 
hire him. Her response was, "Because I 'm pretty sure he's gay." 

I was shocked by her answer. I would not have guessed that she would make this 
statement. I was upset. I told her, "That is not a reason to not hire someone." She 
explained to me that she was doing it for his own good, that there were men 
working in the bank who would be rude to him, and she was doing him a favor by 
not subjecting him to that. I could not think of anything else to say that would allow 
me to keep my j ob, so I let it drop and went back to my work. 

I think part of the reason I chose not to tell anyone was because I was ashamed. I 
was ashamed that I could not tell my boss at the time that what she was saying was 
wrong and that I didn't want to work for a person who would do that. I was 
ashamed b ecause I needed the money. I was pregnant at the time and could not 
afford to quit based solely on my morals. It is a sad thing to get older. We do not 
always have the freedom to make choices based on what is right and wrong. We 
have too many responsibilities. Too many people depend on us. As a result, I stayed 
at that job for almost another year, before eventually finding a better fit. My point is 
this :  You are in a position to make decisions based on what is right and wrong. Not 
many people get that luxury. 

As it stands right now, in our state, there are people that don't even have the luxury 
to be hired or fired based on the merit of their work alone. People who do no have 
the luxury to live in a home they are capable of paying for, even if they are glowing 
tenants, so long as they l ove the "wrong" person. Please take this into consideration 



and, if possible, pass my story on to any others who are lucky enough to make 
decisions based on what is right and what is wrong. I made a mistake once before by 
keeping my mouth shut when I saw somebody doing something wrong. I don't 
intend to make that same mistake twice. I feel guilty about it enough from the first 
time around. Please give S B 2 2 79 a Do Pass recommendation. 

Thank you for your time. 

Micki M ertz 
5 0 2  4th ST W 
Velva, ND 58790 
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TESTIMONY IN SUPPORT OF SB 2279 

Chairman Weisz and members of the House Human Services 

Committee, my name is Nancy R. Willis and I am the Government 

Affairs Director of the North Dakota Association of REAL TORS®. 

NDAR represents more than 1 600 REAL TOR® and 250 affiliate 

members statewide. 

We stand in support of SB 2279 and urge a Do Pass. REALTOR® 

members of ND AR also are members of the National Association of 

REALTORS® and by committing to abide by a Code of Ethics that 

prohibits discrimination, including for sexual orientation, which was 

adopted in 20 1 1  in celebration of the Code of Ethics being 1 00 years 

old, they are entitled to use the trademarked designation of 

REALTOR.® 

NDAR also follows a Public Policy Statement approved by its 

members which states : 

"NDAR acknowledges and supports the right of all people to freely 

choose where they will live regardless of race, color, religion, sex, 

disability, handicap, familial status, national origin, sexual orientation or 

gender identity or with respect to marital status or receipt of financial 

assistance.  This right is protected under federal and/or state fair housing 

laws and is a standard of practice of the Code of Ethics of the National 
Association of REALTORS®. " 

For these reasons, the ND Association of REAL TORS® supports 

adding language prohibiting discrimination based on sexual orientation 

to ND law. :f. ).i'llctVL-· PD 
I would be happy to answer any questions. 



Article 9 
REALTORS', for the protection of all parties, shall assure whenever possible 

that all agreements related to real estate transactions including, but not 

l imited to, listing and representation agreements, purchase contracts, and 

leases are in writing in clear and understandable language expressing the 

specific terms, conditions, obligations and commitments of the parties. A 

copy of each agreement shall be furnished to each party to such 

agreements upon their signing or initialing. (Amended 1104) 

Standard of Practice 9-1 
For the protection of al l  parties, REALTORS� shall use reasonable care 

to ensure that documents pertaining to the purchase, sale, or lease of 

real estate are kept current through the use o f  written extensions or 

amendments. (Amended 1193) 

Standard of Practice 9-2 
When assisting or enabling a client or customer in establishing a 

contractual relationship (e .g . ,  l isting and representation agreements, 

purchase agreements, leases, etc.) electronically, R EALTORS" shall 

make reasonable efforts to explain the nature and disclose the specific 

terms of the contractual relationship being established prior to it  being 

agreed to by a contracting party. (Adopted 1107) 

Artic le 1 0  
R EALTORS' shall not deny equal professional services to any person for 

reasons of race, color, rel igion, sex, handicap, famil ial status, national 

origin. or sexual orientation. REALTORS'' shall not be parties to any plan 

or agreement to discriminate against a person or persons on the basis 

of race, color. religion, sex, handicap, familial status, national origin ,  or 

sexual orientation. (Amended 111 1) 

RE ALTORS•, i n  their real estate e m ployment practices, shall not 

discriminate against any person or persons o n  the basis of race, 

color, religion , sex, handicap, famil ial  status, national origin or sexual 

orientation . (Amended 111 1) 

Standard of Practice 1 0-1 
When involved in the sale or lease of a residence, REALTORS" 

shal l  not volu nteer i nformation regarding t h e  rac i a l ,  rel igious 

or ethnic composition of any neighborhood nor  shall  they engage i n  

a n y  activity which m a y  result i n  panic sel l ing, however, REALTORS" 

may provide other demographic information. (Adopted 1194, Amended 

1106) 

Standard of Practice 1 0-2 
When not involved in the sale or lease of a residence, REALTORS' may 

provide demographic information related to a property, transaction or 

professional assignment to a party if such demographic information is 

(a) deemed by the R EALTOR" to be needed to assist with or 

complete, in a manner consistent with Article 1 0, a real estate 

transaction or professional assignment and (b) is  obtained or derived 

from a recognized, reliable, independent, and impartial source. The 

source of such information and any additions, deletions, modifications, 

interpretations, or other changes shall be disclosed in reasonable 

detail. (Adopted 1105, Renumbered 1106) 

Standard of Practice 1 0-3 
REALTORs• shall not print, display or circulate any statement or advertise­

ment with respect to sell ing or renting of a property that indicates any 

preference, l imitations o r  discri minat ion based on race, color, 

religion, sex, handicap, familial status, national origin, or  sexual orien­

tation. (Adopted 1194. Renumbered 1105 and 1106, Amended 111 1) 

Standard of Practice 1 0-4 
As used in Article 1 0  "real estate employment practices" relates to 

employees and independent contractors providing real estate-related 

services and the administrative and clerical staff directly supporting 

those individuals. (Adopted 1100, Renumbered 1105 and 1106) 

Article 1 1  
The services which R EALTORS" provide to their clients and customers 

shal l  conform to the standards of practice and competence which are 

reasonably expected in the specific real estate disciplines in which 

they engag e ;  specifically, residential real estate brokerage, real 

property m anagement,  commercia l  and i nd u str ia l  real estate 

brokerag e ,  land brokerage,  real  estate appraisa l ,  real estate 

c o u n s e l i n g ,  real estate syndicat ion,  real  estate auct ion,  and 

international real estate. 

REALTORS' shall not undertake to provide specialized professional 

services concerning a type of property or service that is  outside their 

field of competence unless they engage the assistance of one who is 

competent on such types of property or service, or unless the facts are 

fully disclosed to the client. Any persons engaged to provide such 

assistance shall  be so identified to the client and their contribution to the 

assignment should be set forth. (Amended 111 0) 

Standard of Practice 1 1 -1 
When REALTORs• prepare opinions of real property value or price, other 

than in pursuit of a l isting or to assist a potential purchaser in 

formulating a purchase offer, such opinions shall include the following 

unless the party requesting the opinion requires a specific type of report 

or different data set: 

1 )  identification of the subject property 

2) date prepared 

3) defined value or price 

4) l imi t ing condit ions, including statements of  purpose(s) and 

intended user(s) 

5) any present or contemplated interest, including the possibility of 

representing the seller/landlord or buyers/tenants 

6) basis for the opinion, including applicable market data 

7)  i f  the opinion is not an appraisal, a statement to that effect 

(Amended 1110) 

Standard of Practice 1 1 -2 
The obligations of the Code of Ethics in respect of real estate 

disciplines other than appraisal shall be interpreted and applied i n  

accordance w i t h  the standards o f  competence a n d  practice which 

clients and the public reasonably require to protect their rights and 

interests considering the complexity of the transaction, the availability 

of expert assistance, and, where the R EALTOR® is an agent or 

subagent, the obligations of a fiduciary. (Adopted 1195) 

Standard of Practice 1 1 -3 
When REALTORS" provide consultive services to clients which i nvolve 

advice or counsel for a fee (not a commission), such advice shall be 

rendered in an objective manner and the fee shall not be contingent 

on the substance of the advice or counsel given. If brokerage or 

transaction services are to be provided in addition to consultive 

services, a separate compensation may be paid with prior agreement 

between the client and REALTOR�. (Adopted 1196) 

Standard of Practice 1 1 -4 
The competency required by Article 1 1  relates to services contracted 

for between REALTORs• and their clients or customers; the duties 

expressly imposed by the Code of Ethics; and the duties imposed by 

law or regulation. (Adopted 1102) 
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Treat people the way you want to be treated . Talk  to people the way you want to be 

talked to. Respect everyone.  

We are al l  u nique individuals and different from each other. Just because an individual 

is g ay, it does not mean they should not receive the same respect and rights as every 

other ind ividual .  Discrimination denies human rights often based on prejud ice and 

incorrect perceptions. In  our family we have a son who is g ay. As a mother, my first 

instinct is to protect h im from al l  discrimination, but I need the help from our state and 

our legislators to pass laws to protect his h uman rights, to protect him from being 

evicted from an apartment, to protect him from being d ismissed from a job. Currently, 

the law does not provide any protection and we do not have any recourse to fi le a 

d iscrimination claim with the state. 

I g rew up  in G arrison, North D akota, graduated from Garrison High School , and went on 

to attend and graduate from North Dakota State University. After graduation ,  I moved to 

Bismarck where I met and married my wonderful husband . We have a son ,  a d aughter, 

and 2 dogs to complete our family. We are no d ifferent than any other family. Our son is 

no d ifferent than any other son . 

Our son has gone on to create a very successful business in Bismarck and employees 

a fu l l  time staff of 5. He h as created jobs in this state. He has contributed to the 

foundation of the economy with h is small business. He and his l ife partner of 5 years are 

very h appy in  North Dakota and I want to make sure they contin ue to have a future in 

this great state. 

My husband and I have raised our son and daughter to be good citizens and h ave 

taught them the values we were taught from our parents. Discrimination is not one of 

those values . Discrimination is  not a North Dakota value. When someone discriminates 
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against another North D akotan because of who they are, who they love, or how they 

define their fami ly, there should be an opportunity for the individual to ask the state to 

investigate just l ike any other type of discrimination.  

Through the years I began to realize not everyone respects or accepts other people as I 

was raised and encouraged to do so. We have experienced the devastation of a vehicle 

graffitied in red paint targeting our son. We have a daughter who has been bul l ied 

because her brother, who she adores, is g ay. She has been bul l ied not only from her 

peers but teachers. 

Discrimination must stop. And this bil l is what is  needed to help stop d iscrimination . We 

cannot al low our sons and d aughters to have their human rights denied and taken away. 

We need to leave the legacy of h uman rights. 

My father, who was a banker in Garrison , often referred to North Dakota as "God's 

Country". We need to make North Dakota a state where you treat people the way you 

want to be treated, where you talk to people the way you want to be talked to, and 

where we justly provide human rights. 



HOUSE HUMAN SERVICES COMMITTEE 
MONDAY, MARCH 23, 2015 
SENATE BILL 2279: Relating to prohibition of discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation 

Chairman Robin Weisz , Vice Chairman Curt Hofstad , Human Services Committee members and 

fellow citizens of North Dakota, Greetings . Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to share my 

story this morning. 

My name is  Kevin R.  Tengesdal , a native of North Dakota now living in Bismarck. I have been 

working in good standing with a company for the past eleven years as a graphic designer . I am a veteran 

of the United States Navy with an honorable discharge. I am also a graduate from an evangelical Bible 

College with Bachelor degrees in Biblical Studies and in Biblical Languages.  My thriving faith is based 

upon following the precepts of Jesus. 

I stand here to entreat your complete support of SB2279 so as to ensure that discrimination against 

North Dakota' s LGBT persons and their families will not occur within our communities. I have taken 

this day off from work to share w ith you my experiences receiving maginalization simply for being gay . 

In 1 988 , after 1 5  months of service , while home on leave , I found myself in need of assistance from 

the Minot Police Department. T hey assured me that if I filed charges , the Navy would not find out. I 

returned to my ship,  ready to put it all behind me. That was not to be as the police had contacted the 

Navy . Discharge proceedings began, first with two weeks in a psych ward to determine my mental state . 

On March 1 8th , the Navy delivered me a DD2 14 discharge - an honorable discharge via administrative 

separation due to personality disorder for the convenience of the government with no chance of re­

enlistment, for being gay . After I signed the discharge papers , two Military Police ushered me off the 

San Diego Navy Base, and I w as re-entered into civilian life .  A DD2 14 follows you , and if a potential 

employer wants full disclosure of your background, this can alert them of ones sexual orientation . I was 

crushed as I had anticipated a life of serving our great country . 

During years w hile living in Maryland , I was actively involved with a Baptist church . Mission trips , 

choir, S unday S chool , the works . One day , I was called by the Pastor for a meeting . He wanted to let me 

know that under no circumstances would he ever allow me to be involved in any leadership position 

where the youth were invovled , because of my homosexual "problem ," as he called it. To this day , I find 

myself quite hesitant when asked to be in a similar position of leadership, so I decline the offer. 

Later, I studied at a Bible college in Columbia, South Carolina with a year in Jerusalem. My intent 

was to obtain a degree w here I would be able to assist Bible translators . In the summer of 1 996 just 

before my senior year of college , Wycliffe Bible Translators terminated my application for service with 

them due to the DD21 4  report. I started my final year of college with no clue for a future career path . 



With these jarring l ife lessons,  I learned the necessity for purposing to keep my identity best hidden 

with new employments , most especial ly when I returned to l ive here in North Dakota. One anecdote was 

at my current employment where a summer intern approached our supervisor to ask him if it bothered 

him that I am gay . He asked her why . She repl ied , "What if Kevin makes a move on you ." His response , 

"What if the press guys made a move on you ." She never spoke to me the remainder of her term . 

Gratefully , my neither my work experiences nor housing situations since have not been devastating. 

Unfortunately , I am unable to claim this tolerance as the definitive norm for all gay citizens within our 

communitie s ,  whether it be in the labor force or in housi ng situations . Quite frankly , I do not follow the 

heteronormati ve rules of society for gays and lesbians,  and remain quiet. Simply put there are many gay 

people who have experienced discrimination of one form or another here in North Dakota . These people 

are wary of sharing their  stories in public for fear of retributions of any kind . Those who have never 

been marginal ized are often unwill ing to comprehend this ,  and perpetual ly demand proof of any 

discri miniation . 

It is my hope that you and the members of the 20 1 5  legislature wil l  choose to be on the 

compassionate side of hi story . I request a unanimous DO PASS on thi s  bill  as presented . We are a state 

that prides itself on a strong work ethic ,  and supporting our families, youth and community . We must 

pass this bill , now , and without amendment . 

In 1 888 ,  Robert G .  Ingersoll i s  quoted i n  "The Limitations of Toleration" stating, "Give to every 

human being every right that you claim for yourself." Representatives , allow me let me close by simply 

stating that w e ,  your fel low citizens of North Dakota , are as much a part of this state as you , and as your 

gay family and friends, we are seeking fair treatment, not fear treatment . 

Thank you for your time and consideration . 

Kevin R .  Tengesdal , District 35 
2025 North 1 6th Street, Apt 4; Bismarck , ND 5850 1 
krten 1 966@bi s .midco .net; 70 1 /527-0737 



Chairman and Committee Members, 

Thank you for your time today. I am Rev. Gretchen Deeg and am here representing myself. I am 
an ordained minister serving in Bismarck and am in support of a "Do Pass" recommendation for 
SB2279. 

I live in an apartment here in Bismarck and every time I walk through the door and see the "Fair 
Housing" poster in the entry way, I am reminded that there are people in North Dakota who can be 
evicted from their apartments and fired from their jobs because of their sexual orientation. It  makes 
me sick to know that we have individuals and families in our communities living in fear that 
someone will find out or suspect they are gay. 

We have a tight housing market in North Dakota. I regularly speak with people who are unable to 
find affordable housing in the Bismarck-Mandan area. The fear of being evicted and unable to find 
alternative housing is a very real fear. 

I had one individual living with their partner tell me that they were terrified their landlord would find 
out they were in a committed relationship, because they didn't know where they would live if they 
were evicted from their home. 

On multiple occasions, I have talked with out-of-state individuals who have moved out of North 
Dakota or who refuse to move to North Dakota because they know that they or their friends would 
be actively discriminated against because of their sexual orientation. 

About a year ago when someone heard I lived in an apartment and made incorrect assumptions 
about my convictions as a religious leader, a particular landlord in Bismarck was recommended to 
me because he does not allow anyone who is gay to rent from him. Discrimination against people 
based on their sexual orientation is actively being practiced by landlords here in North Dakota. 

You will not find accurate statistics about the number o f  individuals who identify as gay or who live 
in fear o f  having their se:J>.'Ual orientation being discovered here in North Dakota. Fear is a powerful 
motivator to keep silent, especially when speaking up could put a person's housing and job in 
jeopardy. It is highly likely that every single one of us in this room knows someone who lives in fear 
because they do not have equal protections under North Dakota law. 

Later on I imagine you will hear faith-based arguments against SB2279 claiming that this bill would 
infringe upon the religious rights of people to discriminate against others. As a theologian and a 
Christian leader, I want you to be aware that there are no religious rights within Christianity that 
permit the discrimination or judging o f  others. On the contrary, the core of Christianity requires 
that its followers refrain from judgment of others and that they treat all people with the same respect 
and love as they themselves would desire. Extending the same legal protections to others, even 
those with whom one might not agree, is not an infringement upon religious freedom. 

It is my hope that you will speak out in support of providing all North Dakota residents with equal 
protections under the law by recommending a "Do Pass." Thank you. 

Rev. Gretchen Deeg 
1 8 1 8  E Capitol Ave Apt 303 
Bismarck, ND 58501 
701 -347-1235 cell 



Peg Haug 
4720 Green Spruce Ln 

Bismarck, ND 58503 
peghaug@hotmai l .com 

(701) 226-8926 

Good morning Chairman Weisz; Vice Chairman Hofstad;  Members of the House Human Services 

Committee; and al l  other hearing attendees interested in SB 2279. My testimony today is in support 

of SB 2279 which wil l  protect a l l  citizens of North Dakota . I ask that this Committee_send to the bi l l  

to the floor with a "DO PASS" recommendation . 

This is not a religious issue. This is not a political issue. This is a human rights issue. This is a 

HUMAN issue .  Every human deserves the chance to work and live in an environment free of 

discrimination . 

While many are focusing on the how this bil l  wil l  impact the LGBTQ community, I am focusing on 

how it could im pact the non-LGBTQ community. Imagine you are in your mid- to late forties. You 

have been with your employer for over 20 years. Starting in the mail room, you are now a senior 

vice-president of Marketing. You arrive at work one morning to find out the company has been sold 

and the new owner wil l  be at the office the next week. In your mind you are going over you r  

performance a n d  what you have contributed to the company these last few years. Nothing to worry 

about. 

On Monday morning the first office the new owner visits is your office. He looks around and sees 

your diplomas, you r  awards, a nd you r  fami ly pictures. Nothing to worry about. 

He starts the conversation by than king you for your dedication and hard work. He then states you 

wi l l  receive a fair severance package a nd asks that you please have your office cleaned out by the 

end of the day. Nothing to worry about. Wait, what did he say - severance package, clean out my 

office? 

You ask, "Why is this happening?" He says it is nothing personal, but, in his experience, gay men 

are much more creative than straight men and he is replacing you with a gay man. He says he is 

sure you wi l l  find another job and he wi l l  write you a good reference. 



How can this be happening? W hat can you do? Who can you contact to fight this? 

Unfortunately, there is nothing you can do. There are no protections for anyone based on 

sexual orientation .  Because we a l l  have a sexual orientation, this bi l l  i mpacts us al l .  You can be 

denied employment, housing and credit because you a re straight and there is nothing you can do 

a bout it. Oh I can hear you saying this wil l  never happen.  Maybe, maybe not, but it coul d .  And it 

does. It happens every day to the LGBTQ community. 

I spent a lmost 4 years workin g  i n  the N D  Department of Labor and Human Rights. I heard the 

stories. Did we keep track of these stories? No; we had more than enough to do investigating the 

cases that were fi led. There is one cal l  I do remember out of the thousands of phone cal ls  I took 

while working there. It came from a young woman who lived and worked in the Williston area. She 

was very emotional on the phone. She stated she was being bul l ied, tormented and harassed at 

work because she was a lesbian.  I wanted to help, but North Dakota doesn't recognize sexual 

orientation as a protected category. I knew that I could refer her to the federal office in 

Minneapolis since I had been told at a recent conference that the EEOC was going to start 

reviewing sexual  orientation cases under the protected category of sex. I continued speaking to 

her, but had a nagging feeling I was forgetting something.  I then asked how many people her 

employer employed. She answered, " 1 1 ." My heart sank. While in North Dakota we recognize an 

employer as a "covered employer" if they have as few as 1 employee, the federal law doesn't 

recognize an employer as a "covered employer" until they have a minimum of 15 employees. 

There was nothing I could do; North Dakota didn't recognize this young woman under a protected 

category and the federal laws didn't recognize her employer as being covered by the law since 

there were not enough employees. 

I ask you today to give the i nvestigators at the North Dakota Department of Labor and H uman 

Rights the a bi lity to assist our citizens who just want to do their job a nd live their l ife without the 

fear of discrimination. Tel l  employers they need to decisions based on performance and 

qualifications; not on who their employees are attracted to. 



Chairman Weisz a n d  mem bers of the Human Services Com m ittee 

My name is Joe Vetter. 

It is  with great hope that I stan d  before you tod ay. I hope that the great state of N orth Dakota, 

the state I ho ld  so dear, wi l l  fin a l ly move i nto the 2 1st century and provide protection to a l l  of 

its citizens .  

I hope that as I cont inue with my fou rth year servi ng and p rotecting our state as a member of 

the North D akota N ational  G u a rd,  I wi l l  be affo rded the same rights and protections as t hose I 

serve and protect. I am pro u d  to serve our state and cou ntry and am ready to deploy when ever 

they need me.  I ask that you p a ss Senate B i l l  2279 to make sure ind ividua ls  a round North 

Da kota, many of wh ich a re serving in many d ifferent capacities, cannot be evicted or fi red 

because of who they are. 

Progress is being m ade; I am offered protections aga inst d iscrim ination i n  my position as a 

member of the North Da kota N ation a l  Guard .  However, as I begi n my career as a nu rse, I am 

not gra nted those same p rotections.  Th ree semesters rema i n  u nti l  I wi l l  earn my l icense to 

serve my com m u n ity as a Registered N u rse. I hope that commun ity wi l l  be i n  the wonderfu l 

state where I h ave grown up, a n d  h ave met many m i l eston es.  I hope the decision to rem ain  

h ere i s  m a de easier by kn owi n g  that my job wi l l  never be i n  jeopardy d u e  to who I love, a n d  

that m y  home ca n not be taken from me for that sa m e  reason.  

Just l i ke North Da kota, most states conti nue to see shortages i n  the care that is provid ed by a 

n u rse.  27 of those states recogn ize m e  fu l ly as a citizen a n d  provide me the same protections i n  

m y  job a s  everybody else. I hope that b y  t h e  t i m e  my three semesters a re completed, I wi l l  be 

able to p ro u d ly choose to serve a com m u n ity in North Da kota, knowing that I am protected at 

work, in my home, and whi le  in u n iform. I hope that I wi l l  n ot be forced to look outside of this 

great state for a p lace to cal l  h o m e. 

Th a n k  you for l iste n i ng to my hopes.  

S incerely, 

Joe Vetter 

819 North 3 rd Street Apt #4 

Bismarck, N D  58501 



Testimony to House Human Services Committee 
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Chai rman and members of the committee, 

I 'm here today to g ive my testimony in  support of SB 2279. I am a nearly lifelong 
resident of North Dakota. I grew up here, as d id my husband and my parents. I have 
strong ties to and a deep love of this state. I have a lways taken great pride in  tell ing 
people whenever and wherever I travel that I am indeed from North Dakota. I am 
also the mother of 5 beautiful chi ldren,  ages 6-23,  who mean the world to me.  J ust 
as my parents taught me, I have done my best to teach them the importance of 
standing up for what they believe is right, and to a lways treat people with the same 
dignity and respect with which they would l ike to be treated . I am urging this 
com mittee to recommend a "DO PASS" vote when this very important p iece of 
legislation leaves your committee for a ful l  House vote. 

I n  201 5, I believe the time has come for our legislature to state loud and clear that 
d iscrim ination is NOT a North Dakota value . . .  in any form. There are currently a 
whole host of classes of people who are protected from d iscrimination, ranging from 
those things we can't choose, such as our race, age, and sex . . .  to things we can 
choose, such as our rel igion or marital status. However, North Dakota is one of just a 
couple dozen states where there are currently no protections against d iscrimination 
simply because of one's sexual orientation.  This is unacceptable to me. Some 
members of the LGBT community and their a l l ies have spoken in support of SB 2279, 
tell ing their stories and what this legislation means to them and for them. Please, 
l isten to those voices. 

You will also hear opposition today to SB 2279, some of which I 'm sure will be meant 
to strike fear in your hearts about what may come . . .  talk  ab.out creating a "specia l  
class" of citizens, that sexual orientation is a l ifestyle choice, or that somehow 
advocating for one's rights is nothing more than bul lying. I would suggest that what 
we, as supporters of 2279 are advocating is simply the same rights that these 
opponents would l ike to claim for themselves. 

I'd l ike to ask each of us to take a moment and consider whether you've ever been 
the subject of d iscrimination .  Have you ever felt you must avoid talk  about your 
child ren,  your spouse, or  your sign ificant other in  the workplace, out of fear or 
retaliation or  loss of employment? I sincerely hope not, but had i t  happened, there is  
protection against such discrimination in our Century Code. Have you been denied 
housing because of you r  marriage, or lack thereof? I have been . It was roughly 20 
years ago, I was a single mother  of 1 chi ld, and I was thankful to know that the law 
was on my side. Are you ever concerned that you will be denied access to public 
accommodations because of the color of you r  skin or the gender of your  significant 
other, or credit transactions because you have a physical disabil ity, or perhaps 



government services because you are a Lutheran? We don't have to fear  any of 
these circumstances as our Century Code prohibits such d iscrimination . 
These are the kinds of currently legal d iscriminatory acts that my friends i n  the LGBT 
community may face on a dai ly basis, with no recourse. It is unfai r, and it is unequal  
treatment under the law. 

Equal rights are not special rig hts. If they are ,  then I would suggest that we al l  
belong to a "specia l  class" which enjoys legal protection against d iscrimination. 
Which one of our rights wou ld we be will i ng to g ive up if we had to? Rights based on 
our marital status? Our rel igion? Our participation in lawful activities du ring 
nonworking hours? I wil l  speak for myself and say that I 'm not wi l l ing to g ive up any 
of them.  

P lease do not let fear  cloud this issue, or  go along believing that thi ngs are just fine 
the way they a re.  Legal  acts of d iscrimination are happening every day, right here in 
North Dakota. The consequences of NOT passing SB 2279 a re far more d i re than 
any imagined threats should this b i l l  pass. 

I love this g reat state of North Dakota, and I want it to be a p lace I will a lways be 
proud of l iving in and raising my chi ldren .  Let's truly treat all people with the respect 
that they deserve. P lease join me and thousands of other North Dakotans in  support 
of our friend,  neighbors,  co-workers, and fami ly members. P lease g ive a "DO PASS" 
recommendation to SB 2279. 

Thank you for your  time and consideration .  

Ann Porter 
Bismarck, N D  
District 3 5  
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Members of the House Human Services Committee, 

t-\aMui \VL 
� Jft> 

7:;;-13 - 1 6 

I am i n  a precarious position .  I am writing to you today because I am not able to come i n  person 
to speak without fear of losing my income and my home. I have the first amendment right to 
speak, however I am not protected from the ramifications of my words. I am not an important 
person .  I am only one of many. 

With bil ls such as the one before you, I understand very well that many of you have already 
made up your minds which way you will vote. I understand that the constituents in your d istricts 
have emailed, called, and messaged you their opinions on how you should vote. I would j ust ask 
you to pause a moment before you vote no. 

I would l ike to address the thought that in North Dakota, there isn't a need for this type of law. 
Lawmakers m ust consider the past, present, and future consequences of every bill that is put 
before them . The protection this bill affords to people like me is invaluable, and absolutely 
necessary. 

In the past, I have been fired from a job as a housekeeper because my direct supervisor found 
out that I was in a relationship with another woman. I have testified about this time in my l ife 
publicly, and my testimony is sti l l  on record. 

,.-- .... Presently, I face a type of d iscrimination that has been d ifficult to voice. I do not believe I would 
be outright fired for voicing my support of this bi l l .  However, my current job has become very 
d ifficult in the recent weeks. I believe if I came to speak, my job would become even more 
d ifficult, and I would be forced to q u it. I work for a small, locally owned business that does not 
have a Human Resources department, nor is there any avenue for me speak to someone who 
will be impartial. I have already lost my opportunity to advance. 

- ---

The future implications of this bill for my family are huge. We live i n  a manufactured home i n  a 
mobile home park. I own my home, without a mortgage, but I rent the land it sits on. Several 
months ago, we received a letter from the park management indicating that homes that are 40 
years old and older would have to be torn down or moved out of the park if the title is sold, 
regardless of the condition of the home. My home was bui lt in 1 975, and it does fall in that 
category. Because my landlords are currently able to d iscriminate against my family, due to my 
and my wife's relationship, I am afraid I may be forced out of my home. 

I am the primary breadwinner i n  my family, and at $ 1 3.00 per hour, we are doing ok. But if either 
my job or o u r  home were taken from us, we would be devastated. 

I am nobody important. I go to work every day, and do my best. I have d inner around the table 
with my fam i ly every n ight. I hold deep gratitude for the values that have been ingrained in me 
as a North Dakota citizen .  I just want to know I am safe in my job, in my home, and on the 
street. I am only one of many who cannot come and speak in front of you out of fear. And I am 
afraid. 

Susanna Warner 
Bismarck, N D  
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First and foremost, I would l i ke to thank the committee today for taking time to hold a hearing 

rega rding this i mportant issue. I a m  saddened that I a m  not t here to share my l ived experience with my 

fel low North D akotans.  There a re so m a ny things I miss and I do hope one day I wil l  be able to return .  

M y  n a m e  is R iah ( Rye-uh) Roe a n d  in 2 0 1 3  I m a d e  t h e  d ifficult decision t o  t u r n  down a n  offer to earn a 

P h D  from the U niversity of N orth Dakota. Not only did I turn d own that offer, b ut I felt compel led to 

l eave my home state for her  sister state Min nesota. My fam i ly moved a round q u ite a bit, so I grew up 

i n  M in ot, G lenburn, G rand Forks a n d  Fa rgo. Of cou rse there were many factors that p layed a role in 

my d ecision to leave; however when I am asked, I a lways give the same reason .  North Dakota is not a 

safe p lace for those who d o  n ot identify as straight. 

Some of you wi l l  reme m ber severa l years ago when I testified regarding my employment conflict with 

Fargo Pub lic Schools after I i nfor m ed the administration that I was transition ing between genders.  To 

m e, that is a bitter but d istant m emory. Regardless of whether one wants to bel ieve that my gen der 

identity impacted my treatment as  an e m ployee or not - the real ity remains that North D akota is 
--- perceived to be a state that is u nsafe for gender and sexua l ity minorities. 

M a ny wil l  a rgue that a non-discrim ination law is not n ecessary because the problem does n ot exist. I 

cha l lenge those individuals  to reflect on how they h ave com e  to this conclusion .  My guess is that they 

know very l ittl e  a bout the day to d ay l ived experiences of a person who identifies as  LG BT. After a l l, 

h ow many of you can say that you a re close to someon e  who this legislation is  meant to protect? You r  

responsibi l ity a s  a legis lator i s  t o  represent a l l  the voices of the North D akota com m u n ity; not j u st the 

ones that identify as  you do. 

N ow I a m  sure you h ave heard and wi l l  continue to hear com pel l ing testimony about the heartache 

and ineq u al ity that is  born out of LGBT d iscrim in ation. While I agree with these testifiers; I hope to 

b ring a nother perspective to the table. A perspective of the many young people who h ave been forced 

to m a ke the same d ifficu lt decision I h a d  to m ake. The decision to leave their fam i l ies, com m u n ities, 

a n d  state because they a re, or perceive to be, unsafe due to their  gender identity or sexual  orientation .  

T h e  M i n n esota legislature has  t i m e  a n d  t i m e  again demonstrated their com m itment t o  protecting a l l  

M i nnesotans from u n ethical  d iscri m i n ation. It is a state where there a re appropriate legal channels  to 

med iate a n d  resolve confl icts such as the one I experienced with Fargo Publ ic Schools. The North 

Dakota legislature has  yet to create such aven ues for employers and LG BT fol k  a l ike. 

I mentioned before t h at I am saddened I a m  not there to share my experience d irectly. I hope that the 

comm ittee wi l l  recognize that m y  home state, O U R  home state is rapidly losing responsibly engaged, 



intel l igent, tech-savvy, mi l lenn ia ls  because my generation has yet to see evidence that d iscrim ination i: 

n ot a North Dakotan value.  

One of my b iggest d reams is that one day I can come back to N orth Dakota and fee l  the same sense of 

safety a n d  security I did when I was pretending to identify as  a straight man.  When that d ay comes, I 
a n d  many others of my generation wi l l  bring back with them talents a n d  ski l ls  that North D akota 

u n doubtedly needs in this t ime of u n precedented change. However, that day wil l  n ot com e  unti l  a 

com m itment to ALL North Dakotans, regardl ess of their gender identity o r  sexua l  o rientation, is 

confirmed by supporting th is l egislation .  

Tha n k  you for your t ime a n d  I earnestly u rge you r  support o n  this  b i l l .  

R iah Roe 

----
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Senate Resol ution 
To: The Student Senate of the University of North Dakota 

Authors: Derek LaBrie-Government Affairs Commissioner 

Sponsors: Taylor Nelson-On Campus Apartments Senator 

SR 1 4 1 5-08 

CC: Tanner Franklin - Student Body President, Brett Johnson - Student Body Vice President, 
Cassie Gerhardt - Student Government Advisor, Andrew Frelich - Student Organization 
Funding Agency Advisor; Dr. Lori Reesor - Vice President for Student Affairs, Cara 
Halgren - Associate Vice President for Student Services & Dean of Students 

Date: February 1 5\ 201 5  

Re: Support for North Dakota Senate Bil l  2279 

2 Whereas, on February 3, 201 3 University of North Dakota Student Senate passed SR 1 2 1 3-1 5 which 
supported North Dakota Senate Bill 2252, a non-discrimination clause to include protection regardless 

4 of sexual orientation, and 

Whereas, on October 1 3, 201 3  University of North Dakota Student Senate passed SR 1 31 4-05 which 
6 supported the Non-Discrimination Housing Ordinance Amendment to the Grand Forks City Code, and 

Whereas, in  the Community Values Statement passed by the U niversity Senate in 1 966, the University 
8 is intended to foster "an environment where all faculty, staff, and students deserve to be treated with 

dignity and respect," and 

1 0  Whereas, the North Dakota State Senate wil l  be discussing Senate Bil l 2279, and 

Whereas, North Dakota Senate Bi l l  2279 amends sections of the North Dakota Century Code to 
1 2  include prohibitions of discrimination based o n  sexual orientation, and 

Therefore, be it resolved that the Student Senate of the University of North Dakota fully supports the 
1 4  intention of North Dakota Senate Bill 2279, and urges the 64th Legislative Assembly to adopt this piece 

of legislation. 

Student Body President, Tanner Frankl in 
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2279 is a bi l l  to allow al l  our citizens to advance toward their American 

Drea m .  It is a bill  that truly states ND values, respect and acceptance of all 

people, regardless of who they love. 

This bi l l  affects employment, public accommodations or services, credit 

transactions, sales or rentals, brokerage services, there is a religious, private 

club exemption. It also includes insurance, and jury service. 

There a re currently 21 states and the District of Columbia that have total 

non-discri minations policies. Add to that over 200 cities and counties and 

many Fortune 1000 companies and American 200 law firms that have similar 

policies. In  the past 10 years, major businesses have gone from 13 to 366 
with scores of 100 from the Human Rights Commission; many of those 

compan ies operate in ND. 

What SB 2279 does is extend basic protections in  the home and workplace 

to members of the LGBT community i n  ND by including sexual orientation to 

the N D  Fair Housing Act and the North Dakota Human Rights Act. The 

people this legislation is designed to protect from losing their job or being 

evicted from their homes because they are gay, lesbian, bisexual or 

transgender are our sons, daughters, brothers and sisters. They are the 

folks we work with the worshipers that we sit next to in  the pews on 

Sunday. They a re our friends and family. They are people we love. 

There is a reason that 90% of the Fortune 500 com panies include sexual 

orientation as a protected class in their company handbooks ... they want to 

be successful, they want to employ the best and brightest, no matter what 

their sexual orientation. As one large business com mented, It's just good 

business. 

This legislation will serve to increase the state's abil ity to attract, retai n  and 

expand its pool of talented workers. We want to encourage our young 

people to stay and many of them desire caring, inclusive and diverse 

com m u nities. This will head us in the right direction. 

On January 27, the Mormon Church started a campaign for new laws that 

protect the LGBT people. 

Last year, the current leader of the Catholic church said "Who a re we to 

judge?" Discrimination is judgment. 

Martin Luther King said, "The time is always right to do what's right" .  

encourage a " do pass" on S B  2279. 



Questions and Answers about Senate Bill 2279 

What is Senate Bill 2279? 
It is a bill that adds sexual orientation and gender identity and expression to the already 
existing North Dakota Housing Discrimination Act and North Dakota Human Rights Act. 
Current law makes it illegal in North Dakota to discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
religion, sex, national origin, and age. This act would extend current law to prohibit unfair 
treatment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity and expression as well. 

Why is it necessary? 
North Dakota is competing for an educated and talented workforce in almost every 
industry. Lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender (LGBT) North Dakotans tend to move to 
states that afford them these protections and many people discount North Dakota as a 
potential place to work or live in based on the lack of protections. 

Through its Human Rights Act, North Dakota has adopted a policy requiring equal 
treatment of groups of citizens who face widespread social antagonism and unequal 
treatment. Unfortunately, LGBT North Dakotans are not explicitly protected by the law. 
There are several examples of North Dakotans experiencing unfair treatment in finding and 
holding jobs to support themselves and their families and numerous studies and surveys 
show that LGBT people continue to experience this form of discrimination. 

Doesn't the law already protect lesbians and gay men? 
Neither federal nor state law currently mandates equal treatment regardless of sexual 
orientation in employment, housing, public accommodations, credit or education. Gender 
identity and gender expression are also not covered, although courts in some parts of the 
country have viewed unfair treatment based on someone's gender identity as 
discrimination on the basis of "sex," which is already illegal. While we believe that the U.S. 
Constitution bars discrimination against LGBT people in many contexts, courts have not 
always agreed, and explicit legal protections are necessary to address ongoing 
discrimination. 

Will this proposed law give gay people special rights? 
No. All it does is create an equal playing field. This kind oflaw is the same tool state 
legislatures have used for decades to ensure equal treatment of certain groups of citizens 
who have historically been treated unequally. This law would protect all people, gay or 
straight, from unfair treatment on the basis of sexual orientation and gender identity, by 
giving the same protection that already exists under our state's law regarding 
discrimination on the basis of sex, race, or religion. 

Will this law block employers from firing incompetent employees or dealing with 
disruptive behavior? 
No. The law would prevent businesses from firing straight, gay or transgender employees 
based on their sexual orientation or gender identity alone. Employees who are not able to 
meet the requirements of their job, regardless of their sexual orientation, race, gender, age, 
etc. are not protected by this legislation. 

I 



Do employers support equal treatment for LGBT people? 
Yes. In fact, corporations have taken the lead in acknowledging that firing people for being 
gay is wasteful and it is good for business to hire and retain employees based on the quality 
of their work. A growing number of North Dakota businesses, (Wells Fargo, Microsoft, U.S. 
Bank, Montana-Dakota Utilities, Wal-Mart, Sanford, NISC, Target, and many others) to 
smaller businesses, have adopted their own policies of non-discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation. While these policies reflect the good intentions of many employers 
around the country and in this state, they are not necessarily enforceable and do not apply 
in all workplaces. Only this type of law will ensure that LGBT employees receive equal 
treatment, no matter where they work 

Won't this law create a slippery slope towards banning discrimination on the basis of 
eye color? 
No. The categories in the North Dakota Human Rights Act reflect identifiable social groups 
of citizens who, as a group, have faced a history of unequal treatment. They are not 
frivolously determined categories. No one can seriously deny that lesbian, gay, bisexual and 
transgender people face extensive societal and legal hostility. 

Will this law mandate marriage for same-sex couples? 
No. This act does not affect the domestic relations laws, which restrict marriage in this state 
to opposite-sex couples 

How many other states have passed laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of 
sexual orientation and/or gender identity? 
As of January 2015, 21 states (plus D.C.) have laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis 
of sexual orientation and 18 states (plus D.C.) prohibit both sexual orientation and gender 
identity discrimination. More than 125 cities, towns, and counties have also passed laws 
prohibiting discrimination against both gay and transgender individuals. 

Will this law require kids to be taught in school that it's okay to be gay? 
No. This law does not address school curricula. 

Could this law result in straight people suing their employers for mistaking them for 
gay or transgender, or gay people suing because they were "perceived" as straight? 
A confused perception of a person's sexual orientation, gender identity, or gender 
expression is not a ground for claiming discrimination. The word "perceived" in this law 
ensures that discrimination is illegal if it was based on a belief that someone was gay (or 
straight), whether that belief was right or wrong. No employer is required to guess an 
employee's sexual orientation or gender identity. This law just makes sure that employers 
treat all their employees equally on the basis of job performance and qualifications, not on 
whether they seem gay, straight, or transgender. 

Unlike other protected characteristics, some people say sexual orientation is a 
behavior/ "is a choice" -why should we be protecting people based on their 
behavior/" choice"? 
For the purpose of anti-discrimination protection it does not matter if a characteristic is 
'inborn' or 'acquired'. Current federal law protects people from discrimination on a number 
of characteristics, such as race, national origin, sex, and religion. Religion is a belief system 



that requires certain behaviors, and people may change their religion or start religious 
practice as adults. Like religion, sexual orientation and gender identity are irrelevant to a 
person's job performance, regardless of whether you think people have any control over 
these aspects of their identity. 

Why do we need this? What proof is there that people are being discriminated against 
based on sexual orientation or gender identity in our community? 
There is plenty of evidence that this kind of discrimination hurts people across the country. 
The Williams Institute at UCLA School of Law determined in 2008 that 20% to 57% of 
transgender people surveyed since the mid-1990s had reported having experienced unfair 
employment practices based on their gender identity. Similarly, they found that 42% of 
lesbian, gay, and bisexual people reported that they had experienced work-related unfair 
treatment at some point in their lives, with 27% having experienced problems between just 
2003 and 2008. Without legal protections, lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people can 
be and are fired just because of who they are and not because of how well they do their job. 

Why can't the cities that want this just pass local ordinances? 
Housing and employment law is left to the state legislature. The cities of Grand 
Forks and Fargo have passed LGBT-inclusive workplace policies for city employees, 
only. However, they have no jurisdiction over other employers within the 
boundaries of their city. The city of Grand Forks passed an ordinance outlawing 
discrimination based on sexual orientation or gender identity in rentals, which they 
are able to do through their rental registry. The city of Bismarck has expressed its 
support for 2279. 

Cities and counties are limited in their ability to develop LGBT-inclusive ordinances. 
This means that their employees are protected from discrimination only when 
working for the city, not at another job or in the home they rent. 

Will this cause costly lawsuits and uncertainty for businesses that will drive investment and 
drive out of our community? 
No. The many cities, companies and states that have implemented LG BT-inclusive 
protections against employment discrimination have not seen any significant surge in 
litigation. Another recent Williams Institute study found that in states with laws like this, 
complaints of discrimination on the basis of sexual orientation were filed at an average rate 
of three to four per year for every ten thousand lesbian, gay, or bisexual employees, which is 
equivalent to the rate of racial discrimination complaints and lower than the rate of gender 
discrimination complaints. The costs of these occasional lawsuits to enforce protections are 
far outweighed by the advantages to society, including reduced recruitment and training 
costs for businesses, of ensuring that all Americans have equal opportunity. As far as 
compliance with the law is concerned, treating people fairly, on the basis of their job 
performance does not impose any additional expenses on businesses. 

In 2000, former New York Mayor Ed Koch asked the mayors of jurisdictions that prohibit 
discrimination against transgender people about their cities' experiences with these types 
oflaws-and none of the mayors reported that implementing the law had caused problems 
or a rash oflawsuits. Just as in other places where the implementation of the same law did 
not cause problems, businesses here have nothing to fear from improved nondiscrimination 
protection 
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Do North Dakotan's support Senate Bill 2 2 79? 
According to a January 2 0 1 5  poll, 59% of North Dakota voters would vote for 
S B 2 2 79. M any North Dakota organizations also support this bill, those include: 

North Dakota Realtors Association 
North Dakota State B oard of Higher Education 

North Dakota United 
AFL-C IO 

City of  Bismarck 
City of Fargo 

University of North Dakota Student Senate 
North Dakota State University Student Senate 
North Dakota State University Faculty Senate 

North Dakota Human Rights Coalition 
ACLU of North Dakota 

North Dakota Women's N etwork 

1 



-� 

Good morning committee members and thank you for this opportunity to offer my 
testimony. My name is Jared Kel lerman and I 'm here i n  support of SB 2279; before I 
expla in my support I h ave to tel l you a l ittle about myself. I was born and raised in  North 
Dakota and have called this state home my entire l ife. I am also p roud to say that I 'm a 
student pursuing my masters degree in family therapy at North Dakota State U niversity 
in Fargo. As part of my graduate school training, I have learned to look at the socia l  
forces that influence relationships in  general and LGBT experiences in particular. Before 
I continue with my testimony, I would ask the committee the small favor of taking a look 
at me. I am g ay; I am many things, but I wanted to highl ight this piece of my identity 
because research suggests that the more LGBT people you know, the less scary LGBT 
topics and people become and the more aware and supportive straight legislators 
become of LGBT citizens. Is it working yet? If not, I hope my testimony wil l  offer you 
insight into the experiences of North Dakotans that would benefit from this bi l l .  

I have heard opposition to this bi l l  that purporting that LGBT North Dakotans want to be 
seen as a special class and that they have a choice in  their identity. As a student 
therapist, I take g uidance from the American Psychological Association and the 
American Counsel ing Association that recognizes LGBT identities as normal and valid 
variations of sexual orientation and gender identity. Those that support the idea of 
conversion therapy, which purportedly seeks to shift LGBT folks to heterosexual and 
cisgender expressions ,  has no scholarly peer-reviewed research to support their claims 
of efficacy. Anecdotal ly, if I h ad a choice in my sexual orientation,  I would have chosen 
to be straight in hopes of avoiding the years of hallway gossip and locker room insults in  
my hometown. I t  wasn 't uncommon to hear boys in  my school say "don't be queer" and 
for boys and g i rls to ask, "you don 't have girlfriend? what are you g ay?" Growing up in 
that environment, I d idn't real ly know what gay meant except that I would be bul l ied or 
socially ostracized if  I were labeled as gay. But no matter, how hard I tried to pray and 
fol low hometown traditions of heterosexuality, I couldn't change my attractions much l ike 
other LGBT folks h ave tried before and after I d id .  

I have also heard opposition posit that passing th is bi l l  would turn LGBT folks as a 
specia l  class as if to place them above al l  other North Dakotans. I would argue that this 
bi l l  would place LGBT North Dakotans on a more level playing field with heterosexual 
neighbors and family members to pursue the same rights and responsibi l ities of working 
and l iving in North Dakota. As I said earlier, I 'm a big picture person as part of my 
professional training . "Minority stress" is a term that has been in  mental health research 
for decades and in a nutshel l  it is a term that labels the adverse effects of being of a 
minority identity as a result of everyday d iscrimination ; if you'd l ike to add to your l ibrary, 
I recommend Melanie Hoeffert's memoir Prairie Silence which chronicles the authors 
experience of reconci l ing her North Dakota upbringing with her sexual orientation.  
Minority stress is correlated with higher rates of mental i l lness, substance abuse, and 
suicide rates. Living in  North Dakota, growing up in a Lutheran tradition , I saw no 
positive representation or conversation about LGBT identities and relationships .  I 
though I was the only person to have same sex attractions and fel l  into the trap that I 



was somehow defective. I ' l l  ask you to pause and think  what your dai ly life might be l ike 
if you carried the belief that you were defective over a week. It probably wouldn't be 
positive. Imagine l iving with that belief over a l ifetime, and you could imagine that this 
would result in chal lenges to your  health . 

All of this relates to the bi l l  before you today because cultural expectations do not stop 
at the door to your workplace or your home. Senator Hogue, shared last month that he 
wasn't able to find any examples of workplace d iscrimination. I f ind this i ronic because 
passing this b i l l  would al low all of us to keep track of complaints through the Department 
of Labor. Without any sort of protection , i n  the form of legal recourse, LGBT North 
Dakotans have been tacitly asked to risk outing themselves at work while they h ave the 
most to lose as a result of speaking up. Anecdotally, as a community advocate, I have 
spoken with many LGBT folks in  Fargo that just want to l ive their l ives as they are 
without the added h assle of fighting to be treated equally like their heterosexual or 
cisgender family members and col leagues. 

Although I was able to come out to myself, I stil l d idn 't feel l ike I was welcome in N D  
because n o  one was talking about LGBT North Dakotans. I had tried so h ard for so long 
to fit in that I decided to give myself a break by l iving abroad for a year in South Korea 
teaching Engl ish. It was a privi lege to l ive abroad because I met so many diverse people 
and felt l ike it was safe for me to publ icly share that I was g ay ;  people were more 
shocked by the fact that I was North Dakotan more so than I was gay . . .  they had never 
seen one of us before. Living in this environment, I found the support and affirmation I 
needed to integrate al l  of the parts of my identity. As a result, my mental health 
improved, my self confidence went up, and I was and am happy with who I am. 

Within  the next year, I am hoping to launch myself into the workforce as a family 
therapist; I love the work I h ave done as a intern therapist. I get to meet people in  
d ifficult circumstances related to their mental health, relationship status ,  and the social 
forces that influence their l ives. I want to work and will work thanks to the Protestant 
work ethic I developed in part thanks to being North Dakotan .  Sadly, I have also seen 
my masters degree as a ticket out of North Dakota, because I have fought to be the 
person you see before you today. I am not wil l ing to sacrifice my physical and mental 
health or my career development if I h ave to fight to be treated l ike my heterosexual 
family members, neighbors, and col leagues. I just want to l ive my l ife l ike anyone else. 
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Members of the House Human Services Committee 

I am grateful for the opportunity to share very briefly my thoughts regarding 
proposals seeking to add language to a bill that would seek to ban discrimination 
regarding sexual orientation and gender identity, specifically SB 2279. 
I'm Tim Johnson, a semi-retired pastor in the Evangelical Lutheran Church in 
America. (Coincidentally, my college major was Political Science with an 

emphasis in Constitutional Law. Unfortunately, that was so long ago it has not 
provided much help) . 

Of course, the real tragedy of all this is that we feel the need to delineate the 
various forms discrimination takes . It is as old as human society . Some powerful 
part of society has decided to look down on another, restrict its participation, 
declare it dangerous, degenerate, undeserving of the laws that protect the rest of 
us . 

The gain of such action through history is mystifying .  Discrimination's  sole 
purpose and accomplishment is to grant power to a single group: be it male, white, 
wealthy, a particular religion or religious viewpoint, a particular political 
philosophy . Without exception, societies have been diminished politically, 

/-- economically , and spiritually by acts of discrimination . 

This is particularly disturbing when it happens among those who profess 
Christianity, the following of one named Jesus . In a world that discriminated 
against women, the poor, the sick, the outcasts, the powerless of every sort, Jesus 
welcomed them, healed them, loved them, made them disciples . If you've got time, 
I'll say more about the rag tag bunch of rebels he called to be his inner circle .  

To close, a line from this Jesus: 
Come to me all who are weary and heavy laden, and I will give you rest. 

(another possibility: there is neither Jew nor Greek, neither slave nor free, for all 
are one in Christ Jesus) So, where shall we find ourselves and who shall we find 
ourselves next to? 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

Tim Johnson, Pastor 
Evangelical Lutheran Church in America 



Members of the ND State Human Services Committee in the ND State Legislature, 

I write to you today to implore you to act on behalf of North Dakotans in a manner of equality, 
integrity, and simple human decency. On the national level, equal rights have long been a 
fundamental cornerstone of our society, and our state has also prided itself on being North 
Dakota Nice on the surface. But in reality, if we as a state don't fight for a ALL residents of our 
state, and pave the way for TRUE equality, there's nothing "nice" about us. 

Opposition to equality often argues the religious mindset, but as legislators, you weren't elected 
to instill religious doctrine . . .  In fact, you've sworn to keep church and state separate. So the 
fundamental arguments to shouldn't come into play here. Rather think of the civil rights . . . .  
Constitutional equalities, and take a stand alongside your North Dakotan brothers and sisters who 
work in our economy, contribute to our tax base, add compassion to our neighborhoods, and 
deserve the same rights as others in their schools, communities, and our great state of ND. 

It was once allowed to ban women from voting in an election. What if legislators just like you 
didn't seek equality for women all those years ago and fight for what is right? Your committee, 
our State, and our Nation would be a different place had elected officials not done the right thing. 
So I encourage you to do the right thing today, and stand up for equality and I encourage you to 
please VOTE YES on SB 2279. It's time to end discrimination and do the right thing. Our future 
ND, the future of our kids and grandkids, is in your hands. 

Sincerely, 
Karyn Hippen 
Lifelong North Dakotan, 
US Navy Veteran, 
Proud mom of gay son, 
And Mayor of Thompson, ND 
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TJ Jerke 
N.D.  Human Rights Coalition 

Subject: Support of Senate B il l  2 2 79 
March 23,  2 0 1 5  

House Human Services Committee 

Chairman Weisz and m embers of the Human Services Committee. My 

name is TJ J erke, I am the Legislative Coordinator for the North D akota 
Human Rights Coal ition. 

The North Dakota Human Rights Coalition is a broad-based coalition of 
individuals and organizations around North Dakota. Since 2 0 0 2, the 

Coalition has been passionately working to effect change so that all 

people in North Dakota enjoy full human rights. The Coalition deeply 

values mutual respect for all people, seeking a common good without 
denying individual rights, and proactively promoting social and 
economic justice. 

I stand here in support of Senate Bill 2 2 79. Please, give this important 
legislation your full  consideration and a Do Pass recommendation. 

Human rights are rights inherent to all human beings, no matter who 

you are, or what you believe. We are all equally entitled to our human 

rights without discrimination. These rights are all interrelated, 
interdependent and indivisible. 

Human rights l aw lays down obligations of Governments to act in 

certain ways, or to refrain from certain acts, in  order to promote and 
protect human rights and fundamental freedoms of individuals or 

groups. 



Today, you are in a position to ensure that you as elected officials, and 
this state, do j ust that. 

We've all heard that some inside our Capitol are unaware of 

discrimination taking place in North Dakota. You have heard the 

heartbreaking stories today, and I briefly want to point you to two more. 

As you have heard, a majority of North Dakota voters - 59 percent -
support Senate B ill 2 2 79. I have with me more than 1,000 letters from 

North D akota residents in support of this bill. I submit this stack of 

letters, which comes from mothers, fathers, sisters, brothers, neighbors, 
employers and many more who believe that discrimination is not a 

North Dakota value, and want to see this bill passed. 

Although we are in the Human S ervices Committee, Senate Bill 2 279 is a 

business bill. To reiterate this fact, Don Morton, the site leader for 
Microsoft's Fargo campus - has asked the North D akota Human Rights 
Coalitio n  to read a letter on his b ehalf. 

When asked what the danger would be if this bill doesn't pass, 

successful North Dakota businessman D oug Burgum said: 

"Currently, North Dakota has over 23,000 job openings. From an economic impact, 
filling these jobs would be like adding another large city to our state. Every policy the 
legislature is considering should be viewed through a lens of supporting workforce 
development in the state. After decades of watching the majority of our North Dakota 
University System graduates leave the state, we are now in new territory. We are not 
producing enough graduates to fill all the open positions in the state. We need population 
growth by both retention and net in-migration to fulfill our enviable growth needs. The 
aged 1 8-35 year old demographic is particularly attuned to the social climate of our cities 
and state. Any laws we have that discriminate against or limit the rights of any citizens 
based on gender orientation create a barrier for recruiting and retaining talent in our 
state." 

Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, the last p oint I 'd l ike to 
make is this. Right now, many great North Dakota companies have 
nondiscrimination policies that include sexual orientation and gender 
identity. But there are not enough companies. And while these 

companies - such as Wells Fargo and M ontana Dakota Utilities -

understand what is needed to ensure a safe, and inviting atmosphere, 



without the passage of Senate Bill 2 2 79, North Dakota's LGBT 
population can still be discriminated against. 

The minute an employee of Wells Fargo or MDU takes a step outside of 
their office, they are no longer covered under their companies' policies. 
This means, a hardworking bank teller can still go home, and find an 
eviction notice on his door, despite the companies' wonderful policies. 

Please, put in place a statewide nondiscrimination law so that all North 
Dakota residents enjoy full  human rights. 

Thank you. 

TJ 
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U .S. Equal Employment Opportunity Comm ission 
TO: North Pakota Department of Labor 

Human Rights Division 
600 East Boulevard Avenue 
Department 406 
Bismarck, N D  58505 

CHARGE TRANSMITTAL 

SUBJECT: 

Frank Cavalieri 
Charging Party 

v. 

Transmitted herewith is a charge of employment d iscrimination initially received by the: C8:I EEOC D 
Name ofFEPA 

Date August 28, 201 3  

EEOC Charge No. 
32F-201 3-00074 

FEPA Charge No. 
NDE1 31 0201 

WATCO COMPANIES 

Respondent 

on May 1 5, 201 3  

Date of Receipt 

G Pursuant to the worksharing agreement, this charge is to be initially investigated by the EEOC. 

D Pursuant to the worksharing agreement, this charge is to be initially investigated by the FEPA. 

D The worksharing agreement does not determine which agency is to Initially investigate the charge. 

D EEOC requests a waiver D FEPA waives 

D No waiver requested D FEPA will investigate the charge initially 

Please complete the bottom portion of this form to acknowledge the rec · harge 
and, where appropriate, to indicate whether the Agency will initially in stigate th charg . 

Typed Name and Title of EEOC or FEPA Official Signature/lnitia 

Julie Schmid, Acting Director 

Frank Cavalieri 

Charging Party 
TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: 

v. WATCO COMPANIES 

Respondent 

D This will acknowledge receipt of the referenced charge and indicate this Agency's intention to initially investigate the charge. 

D This will acknowledge receipt of the referenced charge and indicate this Agency's intention not to initially investigate the charge. 

0 This will acknowledge receipt of the referenced charge and request a waiver of initial investigation by the receiving agency. 

D This will acknowledge receipt of the referenced charge and indicate this Agency's intention to dismiss/close/not docket the charge for the 
following reasons: 

Typed Name and Title of EEOC or FEPA Official 

�{athy Kulesa, Director 
TO: Minneapolis Area Office 

330 South Second Ave 
Suite 720 
Minneapolis, MN 55401 

Signature/Initials 

Date August 28, 201 3 

EEOC Charge No. 
32F-201 3-0007 4 

FEPA Charge No. 
NDE1 31 0201 



EEOC Form 5 (1 1/09) 

I CHARGE OF DISCRIM INATION Charge Presented To: Agency{ies) Charge No(s)' 
This rorm is affected by the Privacy Act or 1 974. See enclosed Privacy Act 0 FEPA 

Amended � 

Statement and other information before completing this fonn. NDE1 310201 !KJ EEOC 32F-201 3-00074 
North Dakota Department Of Labor and EEOC 

State or local Agency, if any 

Name (indicate Mr., Ms., Mrs.} Home Phone (Incl. Area Code) Date of Birth 

Fra n k  Cavalieri (908) 954-81 33 08-1 2-1 985 

Street Address City, State and ZIP Code 

503 Davis Ave, Pittsburgh, PA 1 5209 

Named is the Employer, Labor Organization, Employment Agency, Apprenticeship Committee, or State or Local Government Agency That I Believe 
Discriminated Against Me or Others. (If more than two, list under PARTICULARS below.) 

Name No. Employees, Members Phone No. (Include Area Code) 

WATCO COMPANIES 15 - 1 00 (620) 687-441 1 --- ··-...----.. ------ -·· ... -- --· --- · .  - -- ---·· - ·  .. --.. --.-� -- -- -- -· ----.. -· .· · - - - ·  .. ··�-·-

Street Address City, State and ZIP Code 

1 6082 37 St Nw, Fairview, MT 59221 

Name No. Employees, Members Phone No. (Include Area Code) 

Streel Address City, State and ZIP Code 

DISCRIMINATION BASED ON (Check appropriate box(es).) DATE(S) DISCRIMINATION TOOK PLACE 
Earliest Latest D RACE D COLOR [Kl SEX D RELIGION D NATIONAL ORIGIN 02-1 3-201 3  04-08-201 3 0 RETALIATION D AGE D DISABILITY D GENETIC INFORMATION D CONTINUING ACTION 

·� D OTHER (Specify) . 
THE PARTICULARS ARE (If additional paper is needed, attach extra sheet(s)): 

I began working for the Respondent, as a n  Operator, in September 201 2. My current position is S hift 
S upervisor. I have been subjected to hostile working environment harassment by Clint Woods, Terminal 
Manager, Sal (last name unknown), Conductor, and other employees as well. I h ave been harassed and 
regarded as heing e homosexual, even though I arn not a nornosexua!. ! have been c�!lec! "Fag," "Faggot," 
and "Jersey Boy Faggot." I have been yelled at a nd humil iated in front of my subordinates. On March 8, 
2 0 1 2, Cl int Wood called me i nto his office, made derogatory comments to me a bout my s ignificant other, and 
stated,  "You need to start wearing the pants in  the house." 

O n  Marc h  1 1 ,  201 3, I reported the harassment to the Respondent's Human Resource Manager, Chris Spear. 
I reported that I am in a situation where my sexuality/manhood is a conversation piece at work and that I 
have been demeaned and humil iated by Cl int Woods and Sal .  I provided documentation to Mr. Spear, 
detai l ing the harassment. The Respondent has not taken any action to end the harassment; the environment 
at work is very uncomfortable and I do not feel s afe. On or about April 8, 201 3,  I resigned due to the h ostile 
work e nvironment. 

I believe I have been d iscriminated against on the basis of my sex I male and/or in retal iation for engaging in 
protected activity in violation of the North Dakota Human Rights Act (N.D.C.C.ch.  14-02.4) as amended, and 
Title VI I of the Civil Rights Act of 1 964, as amended. 

I want this charge filed with both the EEOC and the State or local Agency, if any. I NOTARY - When necessal}' for State and Local Agency Requirements 

will advise the agencies if I change my address or phone number and I will 
cooperate fuily with them 1n the processing of my charge in accordance with their 
procedures. I swear or affirm that I have read the above charge and that it is true to 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the above is true and correct. the best of my knowledge, information and be(jef •. 

SIGNATUR E  OF COMPLAINANT ,._. 

X 1Jbo�2 ·-:;;/� ; 

].{ SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME THIS DATE 
(month, day, yea/} 

I f. / "
chargi�;?ny Signature • Date 



-.. 

Jack Dalrymple 
Governor 

\ \\ ·if jj ;,­��, . � � /-
Tony J. Weller 
Commissioner � Department of '? 

Date: 

To: 

From: 

Subject: 

Charge No. 

Parties: 

LABOR 
MEMORANDUM 

May 15, 201 3  

Julie Schmid 
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
Towle Building 
3 3 0  South Second Avenue, Suite 720 
Minneapolis, MN 55401-2224 

Brenda Halvorson, Investigator 
North Dakota Department of Labor 
600 East Boulevard Ave., Dept. 406 
Bismarck, ND 58505-0340 

Transfer of Charge 

NDE13 10201 ·32F-2013-00074 

Cavalieri v. Watco Companies 

State Capi��-
600 E. Bou leva e .  ' p 406 

B ismarck, - 3 

www. n d .g ov/labor 

www. nd. gov/hu manrights 

Please find the above referenced subject material enclosed. We are forwarding said subject matter to 
your office for processing for the following reason: 

• Lack of jurisdiction. 

Should you have any questions, please feel free to contact me. 

Sincerely, 

Brenda Halvorson· 
Investigator 

Encl. 

Telephone :  (701 ) 32 8-2660 N D  Tol l  F re e :  1 -800-582-8032 Fax: (701 ) 3 2 8- 2 0 3 1  TTY: 1 -800-366-6888 



.. , 
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Jack Dalrymple· 
Governor 

State Capi�tl�· 
600 E: Bouleva �· e .  

. B ismarck , 3 _ _  

Tony J.  Weiler 
· Commissioner 

May 15,  201 3  

Tom Hayes, Associate General Counsel 
Watco Companies 
3 1 5  W 3rd St 
Pittsburg KS 66762 

Re: ND#: NDE1 3 1 0201 
. EEOC#: 32F-20 1 3-00074 

Dear Watco Companies: 

www. n d . gov/labor 
www. nd.gov/hu ma nrig hts 

CAVALIERI V. WATCO COMPANIES 

A charge of employment discrimination has been filed with the North Dakota Department o f  
Labor (NDDOL) against your entity. A copy o f  this charge is enclosed. This charge has been 
transferred to the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC), Minneapolis Area 
Office, Towle Building, 330 South Second Avenue, Suite 720, Minneapolis, MN 5540 1 -2224. 
Their toll-free telephone number is 1-800-669-4000. 

You will be contacted by the EEOC in the near future. Please cooperate with them as they 
process this charge. The EEOC will investigate and resolve the charge'. Their final 
determination may be adopted by the NDDOL. 

Please direct all inquiries and correspondence to the EEOC. It is unnecessary to submit any 
information to the NDDOL unless you are informed otherwise. 

If you have any questions, please call me at 701 -328-2626 or at 1 -800-582-8032. 

Sincerely, 

�� 
Brenda Halvorson 
Investigator 

Enclosure 

Telephone:  {70 1 )  328-2660 N D  Tol l  Fre e :  1 -8 00 -582-8032 Fax : {70 1 )  328-2 0 3 1  TTY: 1 -800-366-6888 
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U . S .  Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
TO: North Dakota Department of Labor 

600 East Boulevard Ave.  Dept. 406 
Bismarck, N D  58505-0340 

Date January 1 3 , 2 0 1 5 
EEOC Charge No. 

32F-201 5-00046 

FEPA Charge No. 
NDE1 506 1 71 

CH/\l'lGF TT<ANSMJTTAL 

Kenneth Wi nter v TWO BIT RE NTALS 
--- ·····- ----- ·---·- ----·----

Clwr.c;ing Pal1y 
rransmitted herewitl1 is ;i charge of employment discrimination in itially received by t!1e . 

[�] 
[] 
r· - .] 
L __ 

k8J EEOC D 
Name of f'EPA 

Pursuant to the worksharing ;;igreement. this charge is to be initially investigated by the EEOC. 

Pursuant to the worksharing agreement, this charge is to be initially investigated by the FEPA. 

The worksfrnring agreernt�lll does not determine whicl1 agency is to initially investigate the charge. 

EEOC requests 8 waiver _ FEPA waives 

Oil 

111 [J- D_ 
I 

[] No waiver requested [] FEPA will investigate the charge init ially 

j Plcnse complete the boltom portion of this form lo acknowledge tho receipt of the clinrge 

Jan 05, 201 5 
Date of Receipt 

j .. _. _ _ _ _ _______ __ __ ___ _!1.::_�1eie approprmte, to '.'!:'1ca::_:�11e1�:!-'/Je Agency will 1111tia//y mves/1ga/e lt1::_.:_!_w_rg_e_. __________ . 

1 fvflt!CI N:1rne and T itle of EEOC or FEPA Otf!c:ial  I Sig::Wa1s !- _ . _ .. _ . _ 
· ·-

� �1 l!_:�_hmid, Actin� D i rector 
. �I £ 

I 
I 

l<enneth Winter v. TWO BIT RENTALS 

Chargmg Party Responrfont 
TO WHOM IT MAY CONCEHN: 
[_J This will flci<nowledge receipt o f  the referenceti r:hMge and  indicfltP this Agency's intention to  111it1a!h· ·1v1"s:;gate the  G11ci 1qc 

[-] T h i s  w i l l  <1<�knowlcdgn rece ipt of t he r0ferenced ctwrge >111c! ind101tt' th is  Agency's intnntinn not  lo  ini!Jallv 111vestig<1te ! l ie  '-11arge 

[J This will acknowledge receipt of tile referenced charge and request a wa iver of initial investtgal ion b•1 l f!e receiving agency. 
r 

.. ] !____ f��i�;{r�1;4 •;�����!�dge receirt of the referenced charge and indicate I his Agency's intention to disrniss/closc/not docket the charge for tile 

NO Dept ol & ih11r11111 
i'iirnlurd<,i4P 



t:EOC Form 5 (1 1109) 

CHARGE OF DISCRIMINATION Charge Presented To: Agency(ies) Charge No(s): 
This form is affected by the Privacy Act or 1974. See encio&ed Privacy Act 

Statement and other information before completing this form. [K} FEPA (!] EEOC NOE1 506171 

32F-201 5-00046 

North Dakota Department of Labor and Human Rights and EEOC 
--------�--------��----''-:$�a��-o�r /�-""".al�A-g�-nc-y�, /�f a-ny------------=-------��----

Name (lt1dicale Mr., Ms .. Mrs.) 
Kenneth Winter 

Home Phone (!net. Area Code} Oate of Birth 
(916) 692-6598 

Street Address City, Stete and ZIP Code 
PO Box 2504, Williston, N D  58802 

Named is the Employer, Labor Organization, Employment Agency, Apprenticeship Committee, or State or Local Govemment Agency That I Befieve 
Discriminated Against Me or Others. {If more than two, list under PARTICULARS below.) 
Name No. Employeot. M$mtl«4 Phone No. (Include Area Code) 

TWO BIT RENTALS 
Street Address City, Stele and ZIP Code 

5426 1 34th Ave NW, Williston, ND 58801 

Name 

Street Address City, Stale and ZIP Code 

DISCRIMINATION BASEO ON (Check appropriate box(es).) 

D RACE D COLOR IX] SEX D RELIGION D NATIONAL ORIGIN D RETALIATION D AGE D OISABILITY D GENETIC INFORMATION 0 OTHER (Specify) 
THE PARTICULARS ARE (If additional paper is needed, a/Isch extra sheel(s)): 

1 5  - 1 00 

No. Employees, Members Phone No. (Include Ares Code) 

OATE(S) DISCRIMINATION TOOK PLACE 
Earnest Lalest 

03-1 5-201 4 09-1 7-20 1 4  

D CONTIN
.
UING ACTION 

I began working for the Respondent as a Ro ll Off Driver on January 28, 201 4. Shortly after starting work, I 
became the object of crude jokes by several staff, including: William Chamley (Owner), Anita Sandberg 
(General Manager), Jennifer l/n/u (Human Resource Director), Brenda Wolds (Dispatcher, and my immediate 
supervisor), Craig Clairmont (Lead Mechanic), and Jeremy 1/n/u (diesel mechanic). The jokes involved crude 
and ongoing conversations about my sexual orientation, with the apparent attempt to belittle me by labeling 
me as a gay man. I am not a gay man; I am a heterosexual man. 

In Apri l 201 4, Brenda Wolds and Anita Sandberg (General Manager) invited me to a wine tasting venture to 
find out for themselves if in fact I was gay. I declined their invitation. 

(cont'd) 

I want this charge filed with both the EEOC and the State or local Agency. It any. I 
will advise the agencies If I change my address or phone number and I will 
cooperate fully with them In the processing of my charge In accordance with their 

NOTARY - When necessal}' for Stele and Local Agency Requlramanrs 

1-..,-pr.,..o_ce.,...d_ur_es_.�--,.--...,--.,...------,----,-----....,..--1 I swear or affirm that I have read the above charge and that It is true to 
I declare under penally of perjury that the above is true and correct. the best of my knowledge, information and belief. 

SIGNATURE OF COMPlAINANT 

SUBSCRI 
(mo11tl1, ct 

ND Dept of lchtr & 1l!lm;in P.igh!s 
Bm1.�;1i� f·'!i) 
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EEOC Form 5 (1 1/09) 

CHARGE OF DISCRIMINATION Charge Presented To: Agency(ies) Charge No(s); 

This lortn is aflected by lhe Privacy Act of 1974. See enclosed Prlvacy Acl IB_] FEPA NDE1 5061 71 
Statement ond other lnformatic>n bafore completing this form. 0 EEOC 32F·201 5-00046 

North Dakota Department of Labor and Human Rights and EEOC 
State or local Ageocy, If any 

Jeremy threatened to kill me if l were ever to touch him. Craig Clairmont continuously put off repairs to my 
truck, and in  one instance, appeared to have del iberately done a repair incorrectly, which could have affected 
the operation of my truck. 

I was informed by other employees that there were many conversations going on behind my back about my 
sexual orientation. I complained of the harassment but nothing was done about it. 

On September 1 7, 201 4, 1 was compelled to quit my job due to the ongoing harassment and hostile working 
environment. 

I believe I have been discriminated against in violation of the North Dakota Human Rights Act (N.D.C.C. ch. 
1 4�02.4) as amended, and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended. 

I want !his charge med with bo!h the EEOC and the State or local Agency, if any. I NOTARY - Wilen necessary for State and Local Agency Requirements 

wlll advise the agencies if I change my address or phone number and I will 
cooperate fully with them In the processing of my charge In accordance with their 
procedures. I swear or affirm tflat I have read the above charge and that It Is true to 
I declare under penalty of perjury that the above Is true and correct. the best of my knowledge, information and belief. 

SIGNATURE OF COMPLAINANT 

afla¢,pL£ �;.�"�'� SUBSCRIBED ANO SWORN TO BEFORE ME THIS PATE 
(month, day, year) REC�BVED 

I .t. I. I  .- - -- .. -
.JMll U I LUIJ 

ND Dept. of Lobor & If umon Rinhts BismW.HD II 

1 0  



Halvorson ,  Brenda J. 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Kenneth Winter [kennethwinter38@yahoo.com] 
Saturday, Jan uary 1 0, 201 5  1 0:04 P M  
Halvorson, Brenda J .  Subject: Re: Referral to EEOC 

Thank you Brenda for responding to my voice mail and giving me clarification in what is happening with my discrimination complaint. 

Sincerely, 

Kenneth T Winter 

From: "Halvorson, Brenda J ." <bjhalvor@nd.gov> 
To: Kenneth Winter <kennethwinter38@ya hoo.com> 
Sent: Saturday, January 1 0, 201 5  6 :02 AM 
Subject: Referral to EEOC 

Kenneth: I am responding to you r  voicemail  message from January 9, 201 5.  You asked for an 
explanation of  why you r  charge of d iscrimination has bee n  referred to the EEOC for investigation.  

We have a work-share agreement with the EEOC. We process and investigate discrimination cases 
that we have ju risdiction over in ND. Because your complaint contains a l legations that you were 
"regarded as" being "a gay man ,"  we needed to refer your case to the EEOC as we do not have 
a uthority to investigate this al legation , and the EEOC does have the authority to investigate it. ND 
d oes not have sexual orientation a s  a protected class , and your "regarded as being a gay man" 
al legation would fall u nder that category. 

Please contact the EEOC office if you have any q uestions about you r  case. We have transferred al l  of 
the i nformation to them that you provided to us. 

Thanks. 

Brenda Halvorson 
North Dakota Department of Labor and Human Rights 
State Capitol - 1 3th Floor 
600 E Blvd Ave, Dept 406 
Bismarck, ND 58505-0340 

Direct Line: 701 -328-2626 
Fax: 701 -328-2031 
Email: bjhalvor@nd.gov 
Confidentiality Notico: This e-mail and <iny a!tachmenls lh<:reto is intended only for use by the ;;iddressee(s) named herein and may contain legally 
privileged and/or confidential information subject to protection Lmde r  l11e law. If you are not the intended recipi�:nt of tl'lis e .. mail, you are hereby notified 
m1y dis�;em ina!ion. dist1·ibulion or copying of this e:;-m ail and any alt(Jchrnents is stric!ly prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error. please notify me 
immediately and permanently delete lM orig inal copy and any copy or printout of sarnr.::. Tha nl\ you. 

� \ 
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Microsoft 

M a r c h  2 3 ,  2 0 1 5  

To : H o u s e  Human S e r v i c e s  C orruni t t e e  

Re : S upp o r t  f o r  S B 2 2 7 9  

From : Don M o r t o n  

As a c ompany M i c ro s o f t  h a s  s ome e xp e r i ence a n d  a c l e a r  p o int o f  v i ew a s  i t  

p e r t a i n s  to d i ve r s i t y . 

F i r s t ,  we unde r s t and the c r i t i c a l  r o l e  that d i ve r s ity p l a ys i n  our da y - t o - day 

bu s i ne s s . Within the w o r kp l a c e , d i ve r s i t y  is a powe r ful c o ncept tha t ' s s t i l l  

evo l v i n g ,  and w e  know that i t  r e qui r e s  mo re than a co nve r s a t i on about numb e r s  

a l one . But t h e r e  i s  n o  s ub s t i tute f o r  o u r  emp l o ye e s ' dive r s e  bac kgr ound s , 

p e r s p e c t ive s , s ki l l s  and e xp e r i e n c e s  when i t  c ome s to und e r s tanding c u s t ome r 

n e e d s , deve l op i ng new p r o du c t s  o r  de s i gn i ng s u c ce s s ful ma r ke t ing campa i gn s . I n  

s h o rt , t h e  d i ve r s i t y  o f  o u r  w o r k f o r c e  i s  an imp o r t ant b r i dge t o  t h e  g l o b a l  

ma r ke t p l a c e . I f  t h e  s t a t e  o f  N o r t h  D a ko t a  di s c rimina t e s  b a s e d  on s exual 

o r i e nt a t i o n  and gender ident i t y  thi s put s our M i c ro s o ft Campus in Fargo a t  a big 

di s advantage . S enate B i l l  2 2 7 9  is a huge s tep i n  the right di r e c t i o n . 

S e co n d ,  we r e co gni z e  the imp o rtance o f  r e c rui t i n g  and r e t a i n ing the be s t  

emp l o y e e s . W e  o p e r a t e  i n  f a s t -moving and ve r y  comp e t i t ive ma r k e t s ,  and having 

a c c e s s  to the b e s t  t a l ent i s  c r i t i ca l . To r e c ru i t  the be s t  t a l ent we n e e d  t o  

c r e a t e  an e nv i ronment i n  w h i c h  eve ryone i s  w e l come and va lued . 

T h i r d ,  we ' re corruni t t e d  to t r e a t ing a l l  o f  our emp l o y e e s  e qua l l y . I n  1 9 9 3 ,  
M i c ro s o ft b e c ame the f i r s t  Fo r tune 5 0 0  Company t o  pro vide s ame - s e x  dome s t i c  

p a r tne r s hip bene f i t s . Our corrunitment t o  t r e a t i ng a l l  our emp l o ye e s  e qua l l y  has 

helped o u r  b u s i ne s s  g r o w  as w e l l  a s  being the r i gh t  thing to do . 

But there i s  s t i l l  mo r e  that needs to be done . Laws a c r o s s  the U . S .  and a r o und 

the w o r l d  that di s c r iminate b a s e d  on s e xual o r i e n t a t i o n  and gende r ident i t y  can 

imp a c t  the da y - t o - da y  l i v e s  of our emp l o ye e s ,  and they ma ke i t  harder to t r e a t  

e v e r y  emp l o y e e  a n d  the i r  f ami l y  e qua l l y . We ' r e a g l obal bus i ne s s  a n d  w e  n e e d  to 

manage our t a l ent on a g l o b a l  b a s i s . We a s k  emp l o y e e s  to move to o t he r s t a t e s  o r  



t a k e  on i n t e rna t i onal a s s i gnmen t s  b a s e d  on our bu s i ne s s  needs o r  t o  a c ce l e ra t e  

the i r  expe r i ence and deve l o pment . F o r  our L GBT emp l o y e e s  and the i r  f ami l i e s , 

the r e  can be s i gni f i cant cha l l e nge s i n  s t a t e s o r  count r i e s  that d i s c r iminate 

based on s exua l o r i en t a t i on and gender i de nt i ty . 

We be l i eve the bus ine s s  a r gumen t s  f o r  dive r s i t y  and i n c l u s ivene s s  a r e  c l e a r  and 

c omp e l l ing o n  the i r  own . O f  c o u r s e ,  the bus i ne s s  c a s e  is o n l y  one part of the 

a rgument . D i ve r s i t y ,  i n c l u s ivene s s  and equal t r e a tment are a l s o  fundame n t a l  

v a l u e s  mo r e  b r o a d l y ,  a nd th i s  t o o  unde rpins o u r  c ommi tment t o  supp o r t  o u r  LGBT 

emp l o ye e s . 

Thank you f o r  your s e rvi c e  t o  o u r  s ta t e . 

Don M o r t o n  

Don Morton I S i t e  L e a de r I Microsoft I t e l : 7 0 1 - 2 8 1 - 6 9 9 5  I 
don . mo r ton@micro s o ft . c om 

fvlkrosoft 
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BURGUM ADVOCATES 
PAS SAGE OF SENATE 
BILL 2279 
b Chris Hennen March 1 1 th, 20 1 5  / Contact 

ESTEEMED BUSINESS LEADER FAVORS 
DISCRIMINATION PROTECTION FOR LGBT 
CITIZENS IN NORTH DAKOTA 
One of Fargo' s  most successful business leaders and entrepreneurs is advocating that the 
North Dakota House of Representatives pass Senate Bill 2279, which would enact 
discrimination protections based on sexual orientation and gender identity. 

Doug Burgum, who has supported many Republican candidates, led Great Plains 
Software in the early 1 980s until the local company was sold to Microsoft in 200 1 for 
$ 1 . 1  billion. More recently, Burgum has been committed to downtown Fargo 
development as founder and chairman of the Kilbourne Group. 

Last August, Burgum gave the keynote address at the State of Technology Conference 
organized by U.S.  Senator John Hoeven and the Fargo, Moorhead, West Fargo Chamber 
of Commerce. Burgum spoke of the crucial actions the State of North Dakota needs to 
take to remain competitive in business, attract new businesses and retain young workers. 

I� 



One of issues he discussed was eliminating the state' s  ban on same sex marriage, which 
may help attract talented workers to the state. Following up on this, HPR sought his 
views as a business leader on Senate Bill 2279, which passed the North Dakota Senate 
and will soon see a vote in the House of Representatives where it faces a tougher battle. 

High Plains Reader: How important is it the North Dakota House pass SB2279, 

which would grant discrimination protection to citizens based on sexual orientation 
and gender identity? 

Doug Burgum: The passing ofthis bill is an important message to all of our citizens, that 
we as a state will protect the rights of ALL citizens. And it would bring the laws of the 
state in line with the best practices of some of our largest employers like Microsoft, 
which has had internal policies against discrimination for decades. 

HPR: What would be the danger if it didn't pass? What effect would it have? 

DB: Currently, North Dakota has over 23 ,000 job openings. From an economic impact, 
filling these jobs would be like adding another large city to our state. Every policy the 
legislature is considering should be viewed through a lens of supporting workforce 
development in the state. After decades of watching the majority of our North Dakota 
University System graduates leave the state, we are now in new territory. We are not 
producing enough graduates to fill all the open positions in the state. We need population 
growth by both retention and net in-migration to fulfill our enviable growth needs. The 
aged 1 8-35 year old demographic is particularly attuned to the social climate of our cities 
and state. Any laws we have that discriminate against or limit the rights of any citizens 
based on gender orientation create a barrier for recruiting and retaining talent in our state. 

HPR: You recently spoke about the state's need to get rid of regressive social 

policies in order to lead in business in the future. Do you get any feedback from that, 

good or bad? 

DB: During my keynote last year at the Chamber's State of Technology Conference, I 
spoke out mid-speech in support of equal rights for all in North Dakota, and the audience 
response was to break out into sustained applause. The vast majority of feedback I 
received afterward was positive. 

HPR: Why do you think Republican leaders in the state are so averse to changing 

these social policies that gay and lesbian advocates say are harmful? 

DB: There is an emerging set of courageous voices in the North Dakota Republican 
leadership, starting with Robert Harms, state chairman of the Republican Party, who has 
spoken out on the need for equal rights, inclusion and tolerance without diminishing 
rights of others - a challenge, but one that can be crafted. More leaders in both parties 
need to hear that policies discriminating against any segment of citizenry are bad for all 
of us, not just those whose basic rights are being denied. 

HPR: What effect does a gay marriage ban or limited discrimination protections for 

LGBT residents have on doing business in North Dakota? 



DB: The No. 1 impact of a gay marriage ban, and not having discrimination protections, 
is the impact on all North Dakota families whose sons and daughters are denied basic 
rights afforded to them in many other states. 

The second impact is the loss of a much-needed workforce talent pool in North Dakota. 
That talent pool includes not only those individuals and couples directly affected by these 
bans and lack of protections, but also those who support these groups, including family 
members, friends and the majority of young people. 

The third issue is that these laws, or lack of laws, are bad for the North Dakota "brand." 
Rather than being the welcoming, friendly state we profess to be, the gay marriage ban 
and lack of discrimination protections are like a billboard saying, "We are intolerant if 
you don't fit a narrow image of acceptance," or "Don't stay or move here, you aren't 
welcome." And again this legally defined position of non-acceptance and intolerance is 
an increasingly pivotal issue for a growing portion of the entire population. 

HPR: Do you believe public opinion on the matter has changed in the last few years 

in North Dakota? 

DB: If you look at the data nationally, and in North Dakota, support for non­
discrimination, this is one issue that is very much defined by generational attitudes and 
beliefs. Millennials strongly support gay marriage and gay rights, and this support is less 
prevalent among our oldest living citizens. So over time, the issue of equal rights will 
make steady progress. Some elected leaders are acknowledging the shift in sentiment and 
are changing their votes to more accurately represent their constituents. Demographically, 
North Dakota urban areas have more youth than rural areas, so elected officials from the 
state' s  largest cities will need to especially be in tune to the shifting voter sentiment in 
their districts. 

HPR: Is there any danger for business leaders to speak out on controversial issues? 

Do more not speak out for fear of offending customers or business partners? 

DB: The issue of equal rights has been very politicized, and since nearly every business 
serves customers across party lines as well as independents, it is the conventional wisdom 
that speaking out on a controversial issue is bad for business. The flip side of this 
particular topic is that taking a stand, as we did at Great Plains (now Microsoft) in the 
1 990s, by providing full spousal benefits for domestic partners, which can be very good 
for recruiting and retaining talent. Plus, it is the right thing to do in terms of living up to 
the American ideal of equal human rights for all. 
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Human Rights Statement 

At Wells Fargo, our vision is to satisfy all our customers' financial needs and help them succeed financially. We also are 
committed to conducting our business ethically and with integrity. Consistent with our Vision and Values, Wells Fargo 
recognizes that governments have the duty to protect human rights, and our company has a responsibility to respect 
human rights. To that end, we strive to respect human rights throughout our operations, products and services, including 
consistent treatment among people, employee well-being and security, economic and social freedom, and environmental 
stewardship. We seek tangible ways to apply these principles through our actions and relationships with our team 
members, customers, suppliers and communities in which we do business. 

Our Commitment 

Wells Fargo's ongoing respect for human rights reflects our vision and values. We recognize that respecting human 
rights is a continuing effort, and we must regularly assess our practices and approaches in light of changing global 
policies and business practices. This effort is done with the understanding that in some circumstances we may go above 
and beyond what the law and industry standards require. We are dedicated to corporate social responsibility and strive 
to uphold human rights in all our business activities. 

Our Team Members 

We respect the human rights of our team members. We strive to foster safe. inclusive and respectful workplaces, 
including building and maintaining sustainable work environments where discrimination and harassment are not 

- tolerated. We provide equal employment opportunities for all qualified applicants and team members without regard to 
any status protected by applicable laws. 

Building and sustaining a diverse and inclusive culture for team members at Wells Fargo is an important way in which 
human rights are respected at our company. Diversity and inclusion are core Wells Fargo values. Senior leaders are 
engaged in setting diversity and inclusion goals, and our CEO chairs the company's Enterprise Diversity Council to 
ensure progress in this important area. 

We regularly review and refine our workplace practices and policies as part of our goal of delivering equal opportunity 
and safe, healthy and sustainable workplaces to all team members. This reflects our belief that the success of our 
company is tied to the satisfaction and well-being of our team members. 

Our Customers 

We value what is right for our customers in everything we do. We are committed to building relationships with customers 
and work hard to provide them with meaningful products, advice and guidance to ensure they are able to make informed 
financial choices. 

At the core of this commitment, we expect our team members to adhere to our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct 
(PDF)*, and believe that honesty, trust and integrity should guide our business activities. We regularly monitor and refine 
our business practices to help ensure all team members are performing ethically and with integrity. 

Wells Fargo is dedicated to living by fair and responsible lending and servicing principles to foster best practices and 
ensure consumers are treated with respect. We consistently follow business practices we believe serve the interests of 
our customers for the long term . We do not tolerate abusive, misleading or fraudulent lending. 

Wells Fargo strives to engage with business customers that respect human rights. We recognize the critical economic 
importance of various industry sectors, including some that may have significant impacts on the environment and local 
communities. We believe organizations in such industries should operate in a responsible manner, complying with 
applicable legal requirements and with respect for human rights, local communities and the environment. We conduct 
enhanced due diligence for corporate customers in identified sensitive industries, as set out in our Environmental and 
Social Risk Management Statement (PDF)*. 

Our customers trust us with some of their most sensitive personal information, and to that end, we have developed and 
implemented extensive privacy and information security policies. 

Our Suppliers 

11 



Wells Fargo has a strong Supplier Code of Conduct (PDF)*. While we recognize that each supplier will have varying 
policies and approaches to human rights, we strive to engage with those suppliers whose values and business principles 
reflect their respect for the human rights of the people with whom, and the communities in which, they do business. 

Our Communities 

We respect human rights by using our financial and human capital to support economic development and improve 
quality of life in the communities where we operate. 

Community investment is an important part of our business model, and we strive to provide resources, talent and 
products for underserved communities in the areas in which we do business. This includes regular assessments of our 
products and services to ensure that they are sold and serviced responsibly. 

We are committed to managing the environmental impacts of our operations so the natural resources we use today are 
protected and preserved for future generations. Our environmental stewardship includes measureable goals for our 
operations. 

* You need Adobe® Reader® to read PDF files. Download Adobe Reader for free. 

© 1999 - 2015 Wells Fargo. All rights reserved. NMLSR ID 399801 
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trnpowering the LGBT coinrnunity 
to help them succeed financially 

• 
Diversity is part of our business 
Wells Fargo is dedicated to building and sustaining a 
diverse and inclusive culture for all our team members. 
One where they all feel valued and respected, not only 
for who they are, but for the skills and experiences they 
bring to their positions. Our commitment to diversity 
also helps us better understand our customers, see 
new business opportunities, and succeed in serving 
the needs of our expanding customer segments. 

In 2013, total buying power of the U.S. LGBT adult 
population was projected to be $830 billion. 

Approximately 6 to 7% of the adult U.S.  population 
self-identifies as LGBT - between 15 to 16 million 

.- adults 18 years or older. Recent census data reports 
chat 20% of same-sex couples are raising children 
under age 18. 

• Because of varied relationship status nationwide, 
LGBT Americans face unique financial challenges, 
raising major estate, pension, tax, and property­
ownership questions. 

• Support for small business. Wells Fargo is the #1 small 
business lender in the U.S.* and is committed to helping 
LGBT business owners access capital and financial 
resources. In 2004, Wells Fargo became the first 
financial institution to join the National Gay and Lesbian 
Chamber of Commerce (NGLCC), an organization 
created to better address the financial and educational 
needs of LGBT-owned businesses. In 2014, Wells Fargo 
committed to extending $100 billion in new lending to 
small businesses across America. 

· -- )rporate giving. In 2013, Wells Fargo invested $275.5 
.,1illion in 18,500 nonprofits, educational programs, 
and schools. 

• Community support. Wells Fargo continues to 
strengthen its relationship with the LGBT community 
through marketing and sustained community outreach 
efforts, including relationships with: 

A company's LGBT employment policies are 
often viewed as an important demonstration of 
commitment to a community that lacks national 
employment discrimination protections. 

Sources: Witeck Communications/Harris Interactive 2013 LGBT 
consumer analysis; Williams Institute U.S. Census 2010 analysis. 

- Gay, Lesbian & Straight Education Network (GLSEN) 

- Human Rights Campaign (HRC) 

- National Gay and Lesbian Chamber of Commerce 
(NGLCC) 

- National Center for Lesbian Rights 

- Out & Equal Workplace Advocates 

- It Gets Better™ Project 

• Pride support. Since 1992, Wells Fargo has participated 
in hundreds of Pride parades and events, including 
appearances by the iconic Wells Fargo Stagecoach. In 
2013, Wells Fargo continued its legacy of support with 
sponsorships of more than 50 local Pride parades and 
celebrations across the country. 

* For loans under $100,000, loans under $1 million, and in low-and 
moderate-income neighborhoods for both lending categories. 
(Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) government data, 2013). 



Accredited Domestic Partnership Advisor.SM Wells Fargo collaborated with the College for Financial Planning and developed and­
launched the Accredited Domestic Partnership Advisor (ADPA 5M) program in 2009. Wells Fargo Financial Advisors were the first 
in the industry to earn this certification and continue to offer LGBT clients guidance on key domestic partnership issues, including 
joint ownership of property, beneficiary designations, trust services, and other arrangements. 
https://www.wellsfargoadvisors.com/wfa/adpa.htm 

"The Advocate Money Minute" presented by Wells Fargo. Working in collaboration with The Advocate, Wells Fargo bankers and 
financial advisors offer perspective and guidance on various financial topics as they relate to the LGBT community. 
http://www.advocate.com/MoneyMinute/ 

LGBT Financial Guides. Created specifically for the LGBT community, this comprehensive educational resource covers general 
topics such as money management, homeownership, starting a business, and tools such as estate planning guidance for gays and 
lesbians, and a domestic partner checklist. 

A place for LGBT team members 
to thrive 
Team Member Networks. Our team members are passionately 
committed to diversity and many participate in the company's 
nine Team Member Networks. Wells Fargo's LGBT Team 
Member Network known as PRIDE includes 50 chapters. 
Wells Fargo's Team Member Networks align with the company's 
market segments and business strategies, and serve as a 
resource to champion diversity throughout the organization 
by promoting awareness and understanding within and across 
segments. Established in 1992, PRIDE has offered LGBT team 
members professional and career development, mentoring 
and leadership engagement, and opportunities to plan and 
participate in LGBT community outreach and events. 

Employment Non-discrimination Act. In alignment with 
Wells Fargo's commitment to employment fairness and 
equality for each one of our team members, the company joined 
with the Human Rights Campaign's Business Coalition for 
Workplace Fairness in support of the passage of the Employment 
Non-discrimination Act of 2009 (ENDA), which prohibits 
discrimination against employees on the basis of sexual 
orientation or gender identity. 

Team Member Self-Identification. Wells Fargo team members 
have access to an online Personal Information page where they 

can verify their race/ethnicity and gender, provide personal 
information such as cell phone number, give an alternate name 
(e.g., Bill versus William), and identify if they are a veteran 
or have a disability. Recent enhancements to the Personal 
Information page have been made in allowing team members 
to confidentially and voluntarily self-identify their sexual 
orientation and gender identity. 

LGBT Leaders Program. In 2011, the company launched a 
new leadership program for its LGBT team members. This three­
day program, which is modeled after our current leadership 
program for other diverse segments, helps participants gain 
an understanding of the differences between LGBT culture ar 
mainstream business culture, enabling them to bridge the gay-­
while retaining their own specific cultural values and developing 
the leadership skills necessary for success. 

Benefits and workplace equality. Since 1998, all benefits 
extended to spot1ses of team members have been extended to 
the domestic partners of team members. The terms "sexual 
orientation" and "gender identity" are included in Wells Fargo's 
Equal Employment Opportunity and non-discrimination policies, 
reinforcing the company's commitment to equality in the 
workplace. Wells Fargo is also committed to increasing diversity 
among all levels of management, identifying high-potential 
leaders at the mid- to senior-management levels and preparing 
them for executive roles through career development, rotation 
programs, mentoring, and training. 

• WorkLife Matters - Top LGBT companies 

(2013) 
GLAAD Advertising Award - Best Print 
Ad (2011) 

• Diversitylnc - 17th Top Company for 
Diversity; 2nd Top Company for Lesbian, 
Gay, Bisexual & Transgender Employees; 
8th Top Company for Veteran Employees 
(2014) 

• Human Rights Campaign -Perfect Score 
of 100 on Corporate Equality Index (2002 
-2013) Best Places to Work for LGBT 
Equality (2003-2014) 

© 2014 Wells Fargo Insurance, Inc. All rights reserved. ECG-1195171 

• HRC � Corporate Equality Award (2012) 
• NGLCC National Business Coalition -

Trust Award (2012) 
• GLSEN - Commitment to Diversity and 

Inclusion Award (2012) 
• National Gay and Lesbian Chamber of 

Commerce (NGLCC) - Pinnacle Award 
(2011) 

• Gay, Lesbian and Straight Education 
Network (GLSEN) - Corporate Champion 
Award (2011) 

io 

• GLAAD Media Award in Advertising -
Best Interactive Campaign (2010) 

• G.I. Jobs - 36th of Top 50 Military Spouse 
Friendly Employers (2013) 

• American Banker - Most Powerful Women 
in Banking; One of America's Top Bankin� 
Teams (2013) '--

• Fortune - World's 35th Most Admired 
Company (2014) 

• The Chronicle of Philanthropy - America's 
#1 Most Generous Cash Donor (2013) 



labor philosophies, 
policies and practices 
MDU Resources has a number of policies and programs in place 

to help ensure that we are able to hire, develop and retain talented 

employees. 

Employment philosophies 
MDU Resources hires employees because they have the skills, 

abilities and motivation to achieve the results needed for their 

job. Each job is important and part of a coordinated effort to 

accomplish our objectives. 

MDU Resources has six general philosophies that guide 

employees' actions: 

• Teamwork and cooperation. A positive work environment 

is dependent on willing cooperation by everyone. Every 

employee is expected to be a positive and productive 

member of the work group, and to cooperate with co­

workers. 

• Open communication. An effective and responsive 

organization relies on knowledgeable and informed 

individuals. All employees are responsible for seeking out 

the information they need, and for willingly providing 

information to others in a positive and open manner. 

Communication must be open and two-way. Managers are 

expected to be good listeners and must provide easy access 

to information. Employees also must be good listeners 

and must provide managers and co-workers easy access to 

information. 

• Mutual trust. Effective teamwork and cooperation, as well 

as open and honest communication, is based on developing 

and maintaining trusting relationships. Managers must 

provide a work environment that encourages and supports 

trusting relationships. All employees must guard against 

prejudging, jumping to conclusions or questioning another 

person's motives or actions. 

• Increasing standards. Employee skills and abilities must 

be continually improved upon and expanded in order to 

meet changing job requirements and maintain business 

competitiveness. Managers must stimulate positive change 

by providing clear performance expectations, resources for 

self-development, and by maintaining high standards in 

the selection of individuals for hire, promotion, transfer or 

reassignment. Employees must continually develop their 

skills and abilities to be able to meet ever-changing job 

requirements. 

• Individual responsibility. Managers are responsible for 

providing a positive and supportive work environment 
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that encourages individual responsibility and initiative. 

Employees are responsible for taking advantage of the 

opportunities available to them, both inside and outside 

MDU Resources, and for working toward positive change 

when they have a better idea. 

• Balance. Human resource philosophies, when properly 

applied to the various programs and practices, will assist in 

attaining an appropriate balance between the various needs 

and interests of the employees, customers and shareholders. 

These philosophies work together to help maintain a positive 

and productive work environment. 

Employment policies 
MDU Resources' corporate policy addresses Equal Employment 

Opportunity and Affirmative Action Plan practices. MDU 

Resources is firmly committed to the philosophy of EEO and 

Affirmative Action policies and is dedicated to providing equal 

opportunities for all employees and applicants for employment 

according to all EEO and Affirmative Action laws, directives 

and legislation. Our EEO policy ensures employees are not 

discriminated against based on sexual orientation or gender 

identity, in addition to other characteristic protections. 

We will: 

• Recruit, hire, train, promote, discipline and discharge 

persons in all job classifications without regard to age, race, 

color, religion, gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

national origin, disability, veteran status or any other 

personal characteristic determined to be a protected category 

under applicable state law. 

• Ensure that employment-related decisions are made in 

accordance with the principles of equal employment 

opportunity by imposing only job-related requirements for 

employment opportunities. 

• Ensure that all personnel actions, such as compensation, 

performance reviews, transfers, layoffs, returns from 

layoff, company-sponsored training, education, tuition 

assistance and social and recreational programs, are 

administered without regard to age, race, color, religion, 

gender, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, 

disability, veteran status or any other personal characteristic 

determined to be a protected category under applicable state 

law. 

Each MDU Resources business unit, including the corporate 

office, has assigned EEO coordinators. 

Employee recruitment 
MDU Resources uses a variety of means to recruit new employees 

for open positions: 

• Website. MDU Resources hosts a website that contains 

postings of all positions within the corporation that are 

available to external applicants. Anyone with Internet 

capabilities can view and apply for available positions. 

• Notify and post all external opportunities with various state 

Job Service organizations. 

• Utilize disability, veteran, female and minority professional 

associations in sourcing job candidates. 

• College recruitment. MDU Resources establishes 

partnerships and builds relationships with colleges and 

technical schools to hire students and promote knowledge of 

the corporation. Company representatives meet with career 

placement personnel, department heads and student clubs, 

as appropriate. 

• Career fairs. MDU Resources and our business units also 

attend career fairs, as appropriate, to seek applicants for 

open positions. 

1,,-� 

• Advertising. MDU Resources advertises for an open position 

on a scale relative to the market and available talent pool. 

Advertising generally occurs online and in print media, 

including magazines and city newspapers. 
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Work force demographics 
The number of employees at MDU Resources' businesses 

fluccuates during the year depending on the number and size of 

construction projects. As of Dec. 3 1 ,  2012, MDU Resources had 

8,629 employees: 

• 1 56 at MDU Resources. 

• 994 at Montana-Dakota Utilities. 

• 35 at Great Plains Natural Gas. 

• 275 at Cascade Natural Gas. 

• 222 at Intermountain Gas. 

• 210 at Fidelity Exploration & Production. 

• 393 at \X7BI Energy. 

• 2,964 at Knife River Corporation. 

• 3,380 at MDU Construction Services Group. 

In total, about 46 percent of the corporation's employees are 

represented by collective bargaining agreements. Montana­

Dakota has 353 employees and WBI Energy Transmission has 

8 1  employees represented by the International Brotherhood of 

Electrical Workers. Cascade has 1 04 employees represented by the 

International Chemical Workers Union. The United Association 

of Journeymen and Apprentices of the Plumbing and Pipefitting 

Industry of the United States and Canada represents 1 16 
employees at lntermountain. Knife River has 43 labor contracts 

that represent about 590 of its construction materials employees. 

MDU Construction Services has 1 68 labor contracts representing 

the majority of its employees. 

Governing bodies 
MDU Resources' board of directors is made up of 1 0  men and 

two women. As of November 1 ,  201 3, they range in age from 52 
to 7 1 .  MDU Resources' corporate management team, referred to 

as the Management Policy Committee, is made up of 1 0  men and 

one woman ranging in age from 44 to 6 1 .  

Fair treatment 
Diversity 
MDU Resources is committed to an inclusive environment that 

respects the differences and embraces the strengths of our diverse 

employees to further our corporate vision. 

MDU Resources views diversity through a broad lens. Diversity 

is who we are as individuals, including the differences that 

make each employee unique. Those differences go beyond 

gender and race. Diversity also includes education, background, 

approachability, work function, union affiliation, management 

status, seniority, sexual orientation, physical ability and all the 

other factors that make us who we are. 

MDU Resources respects employees' differences and supports an 

inclusive culture where all employees feel valued. It is important 

to the corporation that all employees can contribute their full 

potential to help achieve our strategic objectives. 

An inclusive work environment is important for several reasons. 

One reason is so employees can produce their best efforts, which 

creates results that contribute to their success and the corporation's 

success. 

When employees use their talents and attributes to meet or exceed 

customers' expectations, MDU Resources can be the supplier of 

choice. Those employees will have made a significant contribution 

to our customers and to the growth and financial success of our 

company. 

MDU Resources has three strategic goals related to diversity: 

• To increase productivity and profitability. An inclusive work 

environment values all employees' perspectives and methods 

of how to accomplish work, and drives more innovative 

ideas that will help us solve issues effectively. An inclusive 

environment removes barriers to new ideas and advances 

integration efforts. 

• To enhance collaboration efforts. An inclusive work 

environment allows employees to increase collaboration and 

cooperation, and to share best practices and ideas within 

our companies and across our enterprise. It also allows 

employees to work together to develop new ways to meet 

individual, customer and shareholder needs. 
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SAY ' 'NO ! ' ' TO 
INSTITUTIONALIZED 
DISCRIMINATION 
by John Strand March 1 8th, 201 5  I Contact 

ADDING SEXUAL ORIENTATION TO OUR 
ENUMERATED LIST OF PROTECTED CLASSES 
SHOULD BE A NO-BRAINER 
North Dakota, albeit late in the game, now faces an opportunity in the Legislature to turn 
history around and to finally afford simple and equal protections under the law to our 
state' s  lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender residents. 

Senate Bill 2279 squeaked through the state Senate and goes before the House of 
Representatives next. The bill simply adds sexual orientation to the list of protected 
classes. As amended, Section 1 4-02.4-01 of the North Dakota Century Code would read 
as follows: 

"It is the policy of this state to prohibit discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, 
sex, national origin, age, the presence of any mental or physical disability, sexual 
orientation, status with regard to marriage or public assistance, or participation in lawful 
activity off the employer's premises during nonworking hours which is not in direct 
conflict with the essential business-related interests of the employer; to prevent and 
eliminate discrimination in employment relations, public accommodations, housing, state 
and local government services, and credit transactions; and to deter those who aid, abet, 
or induce discrimination or coerce others to discriminate." 

The outcry from opponents is shrill, yet not surprising. They make it sound as if the 
world will come crashing down upon us if LBGT folks get some sort of equal protection 
against discrimination under the law. Years ago, we'd guess they would have the same 
objections against protections for people of color. Or women. Or marriage status. Or 
physical or mental capability. Or religion. Or national origin. 

You get the point. Some of these same folks probably would be fighting against abolition 
of slavery if it were the issue of the day. But that also was properly addressed and 
corrected years ago. 

But back to SB2279. This is not a bill creating special privilege for some people. It' s  a 
bill to include some of our most at risk citizens and children in our protections, knowing 



full well they are targets and can indeed be fired from work, evicted from housing, or 
refused services because of who they are and whom they love. 

The United States of America is not just a democracy, we remind you. It' s  a democratic 
republic. In a simple democracy, the majority could conceivably trample a minority' s  
rights. Call it groupthink, or mob rule, or whatever you want. I n  a democratic republic, 
the minority and or individual rights are paramount and warrant protection from harmful 
action of the dominating group. Plain and simple. 

While opponents demand examples and proof of discrimination, the tables can be turned 
and the next question is to ask for proof of harm to them should SB2279 pass into law. 
What opponents really want is institutionalized, codified support of bigotry and narrow 
mindedness. 

North Dakota is above that, or should be. 

You see, EVERY person in our state deserves respect and ought to feel safe. Every 
daughter, every son, every brother, every sister. Every uncle and every aunt, every niece 
and every nephew. Every friend and every neighbor. Every mom and every dad. 

Adding sexual orientation to our enumerated list of protected classes should be a no­
brainer. But it' s  not, and we need to ask why? Then we need to look at who opposes such 
protections and ask them why? And then we need to say prayers for them because quite 
frankly they know not the damage they do to people close to them and to others. 

These wedge issues divide us when we should otherwise be truly united. Perpetuating 
bigotry and discrimination is not the high road. Institutionalizing statutes that do harm or 
leave any people at risk to harm under the law is not the American way. 

Senate Bill 2279 is not a religious issue, nor is it a carte blanche endorsement of gayness. 
It' s  a simple addition of "sexual orientation' to a long list of protected classes, rightfully 
so. And long overdue 



Good morning Chairman Weisz and members of the House Human Services 
Committee. 

My name is Suzie Bartosh .  I am a 29-year-old who was born here in  Bismarck at 
Medcenter One, now Sanford Health . I g rew up on Southwood Avenue, 
g raduated from Bismarck High School , and spent some time studying at the 
University of Mary. 

Growing up, l ike everyone else, I experienced many wonderful opportunities 
while also facing my share of challenges. One challenge led me to North Dakota 
Teen Challenge. Teen Chal lenge is a residential recovery program located in 
Mandan. I thought this was my chance to overcome my strugg le by being 
surrounded by a nurturing,  friendly environment dedicated to helping individuals 
overcome a d ifficult time in their life .  

Since I came out about my sexual orientation ,  I haven't looked back. I love who I 
am today: a responsible, hard working , steadfast young North Dakota woman .  
While I was at Teen Chal lenge, I was open about who I am. Sadly, the residents 
and Teen Chal lenge staff could not get passed this . Both residents and staff went 
out of their way to expl icitly harass me. I heard ,  often,  d isgusting and hurtful 
words and comments. 

Teen Challenge serves individuals either referred by the North Dakota 
Department of Corrections & Rehabil itation , or admitted with a recommendation 
from a psycholog ist, or other medical professiona l .  Most people who enter the 
Teen Challenge program are g iven the option to either go through and complete 
the program, or serve out their jai l  sentence. 

Thankfully, I was not court-ordered to be there .  During my first 1 0  months in the 
program, I became a model resident. Many looked to me for inspiration and 
support. But with only a few months left, I was told I was required to pass a new 
program before I could g raduate. At that point, I only had three months left before 
g raduation so I was confused why I would need to pass a new program.  I found 
out, the program they said I was required to pass before graduating was 
specifical ly developed for me. The ND Teen Chal lenge staff was creating the 
program, a conversion therapy program, to turn me straight. 

This deplorable request by the Teen Challenge staff was a g ross example of the 
blatant d iscrimination-taking place in our state. 

Because of their actions, I was angry, d isgusted , a nd confused . All my l ife, I had 
never felt accepted or normal and spent most of my l ife just trying to fit in and 
belong.  I thought Christians were supposed to accept and love everybody, but 
they made it qu ite clear that I was not accepted . I often asked , "How can they 
teach love and hate at the same time?" It all j ust d idn't add up in my head . 

\ 



I refused to do their conversion therapy and I refused to pretend that I was 
somebody I am not in order to g raduate from the program, so I left. Thankfu lly, I 
was not under courter order. But had I been ,  and refused to turn straight, I would 
have been kicked out of the program, violating a court order, and I would have 
been sent to jai l  because of my sexual orientation .  

Although it was one of the worst experiences of m y  l ife, I wanted to fin ish the 
program, as I was able to sti l l  find some good in it, but I couldn't with the 
programs' d iscriminatory practices. I don't l ike to g ive up on things or qu it, and I 
d idn 't want to d isappoint my fami ly, but luckily, once I told them about what 
happened , they understood . 

I was not the only person in the program that felt l ike I d id .  There was another 
woman who was there under court order and was forced to tel l  Teen Chall enge 
staff members that she was straight in order to g raduate. If she d idn't l ie, and told 
the staff that she was gay, she wou ld not have been able to graduate and would 
have violated her court order and would have been sent to jai l . 

While I was discriminated against by North Dakota Teen Challenge residents and 
staff, the other horrible part about my story is that ND Teen Challenge has received 
state funding, and continues to receive state funding, as an active participant in the 
North D akota Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation program, "Transition 
from Prison to Community Initiative." 

In the past five years, N D  Teen Challenge has received over $1.3 million from the 
state of North Dakota, according to the organization's 990 forms. 

It's sad to see state funding going towards a program where LGBT residents are 
forced to participate in, and be discriminated against, or go b ack to j ail and not 
receive the transitional support the program is intended to offer. 

It hurts to know that North Dakota, the state I have grown up in and love, allows 
discrimination to take place with state funding. Even worse, this discrimination 
takes place without anyone knowing about it. If discrimination is not a state value, 
then why would the state fund discriminatory programs and practices? 

Please give Senate Bill 2 2 79 a 'Do Pass' recommendation so that other young, hard­
working North Dakota residents do not have to continue to experience the hurtful 
discriminatory practices taking place throughout our state. 

Thank you. 

Suzie Bartosh 
Bismarck, ND 
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House Human Services Committee 
March 23, 2015 

Tom D .  Freier, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 

SB 2279 

Mr. Chairman and members of the House Human Services Committee, I am Tom Freier with the 
North Dakota Family Alliance and am here testifying in opposition to SB 2279. 

The North Dakota Century Code and Constitution currently provide for protection from 
discrimination and prejudice, reflecting an attitude of dignity and respect for all. 

This bill adds the ambiguous concepts of ' sexual orientation and gender identity' as special 
protected categories to the code for the purpose of prohibiting discrimination. The definitions of 
sexual orientation and gender identity (SOGI) in this bill are subjective and vague. Unlike an 
immutable characteristic, like race, a characteristic which cannot change, "sexual orientation" 
defines conduct, behavior, or perception. The sexual orientation is self-identified as perceived by 
the individual, and may change. And in fact, if North Dakota were to pass SB 2279, we would 
be granting special legal protections to groups whose members are only required to self-identify 
to qualify. 

Adding "sexual orientation and gender" to anti-discrimination code does more than protect an 
individual' s  rights or liberty, it creates a protected class, it grants special status. Granting special 
privileges, elevated status, and coercive power to some at the expense of freedom for all is not in 
the best interests of North Dakotans. 

Supreme Court criteria for a change in non-discrimination status include: an immutable, 
unchangeable characteristic, being economically deprived, and suffering from political 
powerlessness. Sexual orientation seems to fit none of these requisite categories. 

As a self-identified, perceived characteristic, that may in fact change, it certainly is not 
immutable. Studies indicate that homosexual incomes are equal to national averages. And when 
we take into consideration the election of Rep. Boschee and those sponsoring this bill, it would 
be difficult to say the effort has no voice in the public square. 

Sections of this bill deal with employers and other business related regulations. North Dakota 
has a diverse, tolerant, and robust workforce environment . Everyone should be treated with 
dignity and respect in the workplace, both employers and employees. Today North Dakota 
embraces the freedom of all employers to hire individuals whom they believe are the best 
applicants for the job and the most likely to advance the mission of their business. Governor 
Dalyrmple in his State of State highlighted the excellence of our states business environment­
derived from both employers and employees. 

Government should not through unfair employment mandates like SB 2279 diminish the rights 
of all. Governments role is to protect the freedom of all not threaten them. Businesses owners 
in North Dakota shouldn't have to choose between keeping their businesses open and 
conforming to government dictates. Across the country business owners, mostly small business 
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owners have been subjected to long and expensive lawsuits in attempts to retain the ability to 
determine their employment options. 

Section 9 of the bill refers to public accommodations. We believe the current environment 
serves North Dakota well-has and will continue to. Placing the almost impossible task of 
enforcing the provisions of Section 9 on the owners of public accommodations would be a 
tremendously heavy burden, and virtually impossible to enforce. It would require the owner (the 
school, business, mall, park, hotel) to ascertain an individual' s  self-identified, 'perceived' sexual 
orientation-to accommodate or risk litigation. 

To put a face to the potential problems with this bill we need look no further than Minnesota. 
The Minnesota State High School League, equivalent to our North Dakota High School 
Activities Association, recently put in place a policy allowing transgendered athletes to compete 
in either the boys or girls program. We see the logistical enforcement issues relating to 
bathrooms and dressing rooms, and by enlarging our view to the entire accommodations 
section-we see the immense difficulty in enforcement and a system opening doors to unending 
litigation. 

While Section 19  attempts to provide exemptions for religious organizations, we believe those 
provisions fall far short. The provisions of this bill go far beyond a church building or the 
pastoral staff The First Amendment rights of men and women of faith do not cease as they 
leave the church building returning to their homes, businesses, and workplace. Case in point is 
the 68 year old Washington florist who served and employed people who identify as 
homosexual, and today is being sued in a lawsuit that may well cost her her business. 

Before I complete my testimony and stand for questions, I want to introduce my guest, Kellie 
Fiedorek with Alliance Defending Freedom-to share information important to the committee as 
you deliberate SB 2279. 

Section 1 9  will not protect people like Barronelle Stutzman. 

Inside the walls of the church we see the ramifications of a measure like SB 2279 resulting in the 
loss of First Amendment rights. Recently the city of Houston subpoenaed sermon notes and 
emails of pastors who dared exercise their First Amendment rights regarding the city' s sexual 
orientation ordinance. Thankfully, after a huge public outcry, the mayor withdrew the 
subpoenas. The religious exemptions in SB 2279 will not protect men and women of faith, 
inside the church walls or outside. 

In summary, we believe that North Dakota thrives today as a result of being a diverse and 
tolerant people, embracing dignity and respect for all. The government should not provide 
special status, special privilege for some at the expense of freedom for all. The duty, the role of 
government is to protect the basic freedoms for all; this bill threatens those basic freedoms for 
all. 

NDF A respectfully asks for a Do Not Pass on SB 2279. 



F R E E D O M  

LEGAL M E  M 0 R A N D  U M  

DATE: March 23,  20 1 5  

RE: Legal Analysis of Senate Bill 2279 

Introduction 

Enacting North Dakota Senate Bill 2279 ("SB 2279")-the proposed legislation to expand 
North Dakota' s  nondiscrimination laws to include the categories of "sexual orientation" and "gender 
identity"-will threaten North Dakotans' First Amendment freedoms and expose the State to legal and 
fiscal liability. ' Herein, we examine some of the legal concerns existent in SB 2279 should it be 
enacted: 

I. SB 2279 will violate constitutional rights by requiring North Dakotans to participate in 
events, or produce messages, with which they disagree. 

II. SB 2279 threatens child-welfare providers, and those they serve. 

III. SB 2279 will require schools, businesses, gyms, and other locations to make their 
restrooms, locker rooms, and shower rooms gender neutral. This will violate North 
Dakotans' constitutional right to privacy and place these organizations and businesses at 
risk of lawsuits. 

I. SB 2279 will violate constitutional rights by requiring North Dakotans to participate 

in events, or produce m essages, with which they disagree. 

Both the United States and North Dakota Constitutions protect freedom of expression from 
government coercion. 2 The constitutional right to free speech "includes both the right to speak freely 
and the right to refrain from speaking."3 A long line of U.S.  Supreme Court precedent establishes that 
the government cannot force citizens or organizations to convey messages that they deem 
objectionable; nor may it punish them for declining to convey such messages.4 

1 SB 2279 defines "sexual orientation" to include "gender identity": "'Sexual orientation' means actual or perceived 
heterosexuality, bisexuality, homosexuality, or gender identity." SB 2279, § 14-02.4-02, 20, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess. 
(N.D. 2015). "Gender identity" is defined as "actual or perceived gender-related identity, appearance, or mannerisms, or 
other gender-related characteristics of an individual, regardless of the individual's designated gender at birth." SB 2279, § 
1 4-02.4-02, 10, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess. (N.D. 201 5).  
2 See U.S. CONST. amend. I ;  N.D. CONST. art. I, § 4. 
3 Wooley v. Maynard, 430 U.S. 705, 714 ( 1 977). 
4 See, e.g. , Hurley v. Irish-Am. Gay, Lesbian & Bisexual Group of Boston, 5 1 5  U.S. 557, 572-73 (1995) (government may 
not require a public-accommodation parade organization to facilitate the message of a gay-advocacy group); Pacific Gas 
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But if SB 2279 is enacted, it will violate North Dakotans' constitutionally protected freedoms 
of speech and conscience by coercing individuals to participate in events or facilitate messages with 
which they disagree. This proposed legislation could also subject the State to lawsuits for which the 
State may be liable for attorneys' fees. 

For example, the vast majority of businesses and organizations, including those owned by 
people of faith, prioritize treating all people with dignity and respect, including those who identify as 
gay, lesbian, or transgender. Indeed, research was unable to identify a substantiated, or even alleged, 
pattern and practice of sexual-orientation or gender-identity discrimination in North Dakota. But some 
business owners, because of their religious or moral beliefs, are unable to facilitate or participate in 
certain expressive events, such as same-sex ceremonies. Similarly, some business owners are unable 
to create messages that are contrary to what their faith commands. Because SB 2279 lacks protections 
for rights of conscience, the enactment of SB 2279 will allow the government to discriminate against 
good North Dakotan citizens who are simply trying to run their business consistent with their faith or 
m1ss1on. The adoption of SB 2279 thus will present these individuals and businesses with an 
intolerable choice: violate their conscience or face legal action, including fees, and possible 
termination of employment.5 Moreover, SB 2279 will stifle the diversity, choice, and freedom that are 
essential to flourishing communities and economic growth. 

Legal action taken against business owners simply trying to live and work according to their 
conscience is not mere speculation. On the contrary, measures similar to SB 2279 enacted in other 
jurisdictions have resulted in government coercion and legal action taken against individuals and 
businesses that declined to express a message, or participate in, support, or host an event inconsistent 
with their deeply held religious beliefs .  Some examples include: 

• Barronelle Stutzman, the 70-year-old owner of Arlene's  Flowers in Richland, Washington, has 
served and employed people, including those who identify as gay and lesbian, for her entire 40-
year career. But in 2 0 1 3 ,  both the Washington State Attorney General and a same-sex couple 

sued Barronelle in her personal and business capacities pursuant to a law similar to SB 2279.6 

These legal actions resulted when Barronelle referred one of the gentlemen, a long-time 

and Elec. Co. v. Public Utils. Comm 'n of Cal. , 475 U.S. 1, 20-2 1 ( 1986) (plurality) (government may not require a business 
to include a third party's expression in its billing envelope); Wooley, 430 U.S. at 7 1 7  (government may not require citizens 
to display state motto on license plates); Miami Herald Publ 'g Co. v. Tornillo, 4 1 8  U.S.  241 ,  258 ( 1 974) (government may 
not require a newspaper to include a third party's writings in its editorial page). 
5 See N.D. CENT. CODE § 14-02 .4-20. "If the department, as the result of an administrative hearing, or the court 
determines that the respondent has engaged in or is engaging in a discriminatory practice, the department or the court may 
enjoin the respondent from engaging in the unlawful practice and order temporary or permanent injunctions, equitable 
relief, and backpay limited to no more than two years from the date a minimally sufficient complaint was filed with the 
department or the court." 
6 For more information about Barronelle Stutzman and Arlene's Flowers, including links to relevant legal documents, see 
the Alliance Defending Freedom media page, available at http://www.alliancealert.org/tag/zz-state-of-washington-v­
arlenes-flowers/ (last visited Jan. 3 1, 2015).  The complaints against Barronelle are available at 
http://www.adfmedia.org/files/ ArlenesF!owersAGcomplaint.pdf (last visited Jan. 3 1, 201 5) and 
http://www.adfmedia.org/files/ArlenesFlowersACLUcomplaint.pdf (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  201 5). A short video featuring 
Barronelle telling her story is available at http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=MDETkcCw63c (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 2015). 
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customer and friend, to a different florist because she could not create floral arrangements and 
provide full wedding support for his same-sex ceremony. Barronelle believes that marriage is 
a sacred relationship of a man and a woman, created by God. Even though Barronelle had 
provided this same-sex couple flowers for birthdays, anniversaries, Valentine's  Day, house 
warming parties, and many other events for nine years-and even though multiple other 
florists were eager to provide flowers for the couple's wedding for free-both the state and the 
couple are seeking to compel Barronelle to either adopt their view of marriage and violate her 
faith or lose everything she owns. 

• Donald and Evelyn Knapp are two ministers who own the Hitching Post Wedding Chapel. 
Late last year, pursuant to its local nondiscrimination law, the City of Coeur D'alene, Idaho 
tried to force the Knapps to perform a same-sex ceremony, even though doing so would violate 
their religious convictions.7 The City subsequently confirmed that it had not made a mistake: 
the wedding chapel was subject to the nondiscrimination ordinance similar to SB 2279.8 

Alliance Defending Freedom attorneys have a filed a lawsuit on the Knapps' behalf, 
challenging the constitutionality of the nondiscrimination law as applied to them.9 

• In Lexington, Kentucky, an ordinance similar to SB 2279 is currently being used to prosecute 
Blaine Adamson, the owner of a printing company, Hands On Originals. Blaine has employees 
who identify as gay, and he has always served everyone regardless of sexual orientation. As is 
the case with most printing companies, Blaine must sometimes decline certain requests to print 
shirts because the messages he is asked to print violate his conscience. However, when he 
referred a request to print messages on shirts promoting a local "Gay Pride" festival because it 
would violate his religious convictions to print and convey a message promoting the event, the 
group hosting the festival filed a complaint against Hands On Originals, alleging sexual­
orientation discrimination. And even though the representative of the festival found another 
printing shop that produced the requested shirts for free, Blaine's  case remains in litigation as 
the government seeks to coerce him to run his business according to its particular ideology, 
instead of protecting Blaine' s  freedom to run his business according to his conscience. 1 0 

• A Georgia woman filed a discrimination complaint against a licensed counselor, who, because 
of her deeply held religious beliefs about same-sex relationships, respectfully declined to 
provide counseling about her same-sex relationship. The counselor referred the prospective 
client to a colleague, who, within minutes, provided the client with the help she sought. The 
counselor was nonetheless terminated from her employment. 1 1  

7 Alliance Defending Freedom, "Govt tells Christian ministers: Perform same-sex weddings or face jail, fines," October 18, 
2014, available at http://www .adfmedia.org/News/PRDetail/9364 (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 20 1 5) .  
8 Alliance Defending Freedom, "City of Coeur d'Alene confirms for-profit wedding chapel violates ordinance," October 
2 1 ,  20 14, available at http://www.adfmedia.org/News/PRDetail/9366 (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  201 5).  
9 Id. 
1° For more information about Blaine Adamson and Hands On Originals, including links to relevant legal documents, see 
ADF: Ky. T-shirt company not required to promote message it disagrees with, April 20, 2012, available at 
http://www.adfmedia.org/News/PRDetail/5454 (last visited Jan. 2 1 ,  201 5) .  
1 1  Walden v. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, Case No. 1 :08-CV-2278-JEC-WEJ, Magistrate Judge's  Final 
Report and Recommendation, Doc. No. 1 1 1 , at 16; 19-22; and 40-41 (N.D. Ga. Nov. 20, 2009). 
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These individual and businesses, and others like them-who cannot discard their religious 
beliefs at the door when they operate their businesses or carry out their professions-should not be 
forced to choose between their conscience and their livelihood. SB 2279' s  failure to exhibit tolerance 
imperils the constitutionally-protected religious liberty of North Dakotans and needlessly drains North 
Dakota of business, revenue, tax dollars, and employment opportunities. 1 2  

II. SB 2279 threatens child-welfare providers, and those they serve. 

Evidence from other jurisdictions that have passed measures similar to SB 2279 reveals that 

these laws lead to government discrimination against certain individuals and organizations engaged in 
the provision of child welfare services.  There are frequent examples of government entities refusing 
to contract with individuals and organizations that conduct themselves in accordance with their 
religious beliefs because of the government entities' adherence to nondiscrimination laws. 

Unfortunate victims of this discrimination-in addition to the children, birth mothers, and 
adoptive families they serve-include the faith-based child-welfare agencies that, for religious 
reasons, strive to place children in homes with both a mother and a father. Indeed, statutes like the 
proposed law have forced charitable adogtion organizations to close because they could not continue 
to adhere to their religious convictions. 3 Regrettably, this type of unnecessary discrimination has 
already occurred in Illinois, Massachusetts, and the District of Columbia. 14  

1 2  Michael W.  McConnell, The Problem of Singling Out Religion, 50 DePaul L .  Rev. 1 ,  43-44 (2000) (noting that legal 
issues involving sexual orientation "feature a seemingly irreconcilable clash between those who believe that homosexual 
conduct is immoral and those who believe that it is a natural and morally unobj ectionable manifestation of human 
sexuality"). 
13 See, e.g. , Father Robert J. Carr, Boston 's Catholic Charities to stop adoption service over same-sex law, Catholic Online, 
available at http://www.catholic.org/printer _friendly.php?id=l 9017 &section=Cathcom (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 2015)  
("Catholic Charities in  Boston announced March 1 0  that i t  is getting out of  the adoption business."). 
1 4  See, e.g. , Laurie Goodstein, Illinois Catholic Charities close over adoption rule, The Boston Globe, available at 
http://www.bostonglobe.com/news/nation/20 1 1/12/29/illinois-catholic-charities-close-rather-than-allow-same-sex-couples­
adopt-children/Km9RBLkpKzABNLJbUGhvJM/story.html (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 2015)  ("[M]ost of the Catholic Charities 
affiliates in Illinois are closing down rather than comply with a new requirement that says they can no longer receive state 
money if they turn away same-sex couples as potential foster care and adoptive parents."); Father Robert J .  Carr, Boston 's 
Catholic Charities to stop adoption service over same-sex law, Catholic Online, available at 
http://www.catholic.org/printer _friendly .php?id= 1 9017 &section=Cathcom (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 201 5 )  ("Catholic Charities 
in Boston announced March 1 0  that it is getting out of the adoption business, over Massachusetts state law requiring that 
that the agency place children with same-sex couples."); Julia Duin, Catholics end D. C. foster-care program, Washington 
Times, avai /able at http://www.washingtontimes.com/news/20 1 O/feb/1 8/dc-gay-marriage-law-archdiocese-end-foster-care/ 
(last visited Jan. 3 1 , 2015)  ("The Archdiocese of Washington's decision to drop its foster care program is the first casualty 
of the District of Columbia's . . .  same-sex marriage law."). 
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III. SB 2279 will require public restrooms, locker rooms, and shower rooms to be gender 

neutral rather than gender specific. 
Federal law governing throughout the country currently forbids discrimination on the basis of 

sex. 1 5  Sex is determined by a person's biology and anatomy; 1 6 it is an objectively verifiable 
characteristic that is familiar throughout the legal system. Indeed, traditional legal classifications of 
sex, as well as race and nationality, are innate, immutable characteristics that cannot be naturally 
changed. SB 2279, however, seeks to supplement the existing legal regime with the novel legal 
concept of "gender identity." 

"Gender identity," unlike sex, is determined by a person's "perceived . .  . identity, appearance, or 
mannerisms . . .  regardless of the individual's designated gender at birth"; it is thus an internally 
conceived and objectively unverifiable characteristic with no firm legal foundation. 1 7 Placing "gender 
identity" in the law, as the proposed bill attempts to do, creates an unworkable legal construct based on 
an individual ' s  subjective perception. 1 8 Simply put, it will radically change the law's-and, in turn, 
society's-view of maleness and femaleness by transforming a person' s  legal status as male or female 
based on a reality determined by biology to a status rooted in a preference determined by internal 
reflection. North Dakota' s  proposed addition of "gender identity" could create several issues for the 
state. 1 9  

First, the nondiscrimination statutes make it discriminatory for a person20 "to fail to provide to 
a person access to the use of any benefit from the . . .  facilities of the public accommodations."21 If SB 
2279 is enacted, thereby adding "gender identity" to the list of protected characteristics under this 
section, businesses, schools, fitness centers are just some of the "public accommodations" that will be 
legally forced to allow biological males who identify as females to use the women's restrooms, locker 
rooms, and shower rooms; and likewise allow biological females who identify as males to use the 

15 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2 ("It shall be an unlawful employment practice for an employer . . .  to fail or refuse to hire or to 
discharge any individual, or otherwise to discriminate against any individual with respect to his compensation, terms, 
conditions, or privileges of employment, because of such individual's  . . .  sex"). 
1 6  Shuvo Ghosh, Sexuality, Gender Identity, eMedicine, available at http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/9 1 7990-
overview (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 20 15)  ("Sex . . .  is defined by the gonads, or potential gonads, either phenotypically or 
genotypically. It is generally assigned at birth by external genital appearance, due to the common assumption that this 
represents chromosomal or internal anatomic status."). 
1 7  See § 14-02.4-02, 10, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess (N.D. 20I5). See also Shuvo Ghosh, Sexuality, Gender Identity, 
eMedicine, available at http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/9 I 7990-overview (last visited Jan. 3 I ,  20 I 5).  
1 8  Taylor Flynn, Transforming the Debate: Why We Need to Include Transgender Rights in the Struggles for Sex and 
Sexual Orientation Equality, I O I  COLUM. L. REV. 392, 395-96 (200I )  (noting that one goal of this recent push for the law 
to embrace the concept of gender identity is to "encourag[e] courts and society to conclude that the determination of one's 
sex should rest with the individual and not the state"). 
19 The bill defines "sexual orientation" to include "identity," so prohibiting discrimination based on "sexual orientation" 
also includes discrimination based on "gender identity." See § 14-02.4-02, 20, 64th Leg. Assem., Reg. Sess (N.D. 20I 5).  
2 0  "Person" includes both natural born persons and corporate persons. See N.D. Code § I-0 1 -49. 
21 N.D. Code § I 4-02.4-I 6. A public accommodation is defined by the Code as "every place, establishment, or facility of 
whatever kind, nature, or class that caters or offers services, facilities, or goods to the general public for a fee, charge, or 
gratuity." N.D. Code § 14-02.4- I6.  Facilities, while not defined, is generally understood to include restrooms, shower 
rooms, and locker rooms. 
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men's restrooms, shower rooms, and locker rooms. A business or school, for example, which attempts 
to protect the safety and privacy concerns of its employees or students by refusing to make these 
facilities gender neutral could face legal action for violating the law. 

Second, allowing biological males into the restrooms, shower rooms, or locker rooms used by 
biological females may violate constitutional privacy rights. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has 
noted that "[ w ]e cannot conceive of a more basic subj ect of privacy than the naked body. The desire 
to shield one's unclothed figure from . . .  strangers of the opposite sex[] is impelled by elementary 
self-respect and personal dignity."22 The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals has similarly explained that a 
person's  constitutional right to privacy is violated where a government policy or conduct allows a 
member of the opposite sex to view him or her while "engag[ing] in personal activities, such as 
undressing, using toilet facilities, or showering."23 Thus, SB 2279, if enacted, may violate the dignity 
and constitutional privacy interests of citizens who will be forced to share a restroom, shower room, or 
locker room with a person of the opposite biological sex. Indeed, this broad scope will impact most of 
the organizations throughout North Dakota. Consider the following examples of the potential impact 
of such a law: 

• Organizations must allow persons to access sex-segregated programs, activities, and facilities 
in accordance with the sex they choose.24 This means, for example, that a school must allow a \ 
biological male who professes a female identity to attend an all-girls school or participate in an 
all-girls class or athletic program. 

• Organizations must allow persons to access bathrooms, showers, and locker-room facilities in 
accordance with the sex they choose.25 Notably, it has not been sufficient in some jurisdictions 
for organizations to create a private "family" or "unisex" bathroom for use by such individuals. 
The Maine Human Rights Commission thus ruled that a middle school engaged in "gender 
identity" discrimination against a biologically male sixth-grade student who professed a female 
identity because the school provided the student with his own private bathroom and locker 
room instead of allowing him to use the female restroom.26 

22 York v. Story, 324 F.2d 450, 455 (9th Cir. 1 963). 
23 Cumbey v. Meachum, 684 F.2d 7 12, 714 ( 10th Cir. 1 982). See also Lee v. Downs, 64 1 F.2d 1 1 1 7, 1 1 1 9-20 (4th Cir. 
1981)  (noting that men are "entitled to judicial protection of their right of privacy denied by the presence of female[s] . . . 
in positions to observe the men while undressed or using toilets"). 
24 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08-201 O _Draft_ MHRC _Sexual_ Orientation_ Guidance.pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 , 2015) ("In general, students . . .  must be allowed access to gender-segregated programs, activities, and 
facilities in accordance with their gender identity . . .  , and they must be addressed by their chosen names and pronouns."). 
25 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08- 201 O _Draft_ MHRC _Sexual_ Orientation_ Guidance.pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  201 5) ("[S]tudents must be allowed access to the bathrooms that correspond with their gender identity"). 
26 Heather Steeves, Panel rules against Orono school in transgender bathroom access, Bangor Daily News, Sept. 20, 201 0, 
available at http://www.bangordailynews.com/external/mobile/?id=l54263 (last visited Jan. 3 1, 201 5); Human Rights 
Panel Rules Against Orono School in Transgender Bathroom Issue, Maine Public Broadcasting Network, Sept. 2 1 ,  201 0, 
available at http://www.mpbn.net/Home/tabid/36/ctl/Viewltem/mid/3478/Itemld/13583/Default.aspx (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 
201 5); Panel: School Discriminated Against Transgender 6th Grader by Not Letting Student Use Girls ' Room, Fox News, 
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• Schools must allow students to participate in sex-segregated sports in accordance with the sex 
they choose.27 This requires schools to allow, for instance, a biological female to play on the 
boy's football team, or a biological male to join the girls' basketball team. 

• Employers, schools, and other organizations must allow employees, students, and patrons to 
dress in accordance with the sex they choose. This means that employers will no longer be 
allowed to maintain a reasonable dress code, 28 which they are currently able to do under 
federal law.29 It also means that schools must allow biological males who profess a female 
identity to wear dresses, skirts, and earrings to class and other school functions.30 

• Publicly accessible organizations and entities that maintain separate lodging facilities for men 
and women-such as homeless shelters or drug-and-alcohol-rehabilitation centers-must allow 
persons to lodge with the residents who share the sex that they choose.3 1  This means that a 
women ' s  homeless shelter, for example, must allow a biological male who professes a female 
identity to sleep in the women' s  facilities. 

Third, laws allowing biological males to use facilities designated for women may be used by 
heterosexual sexual predators to gain easier access to women, teens, and girls. Sadly, this has 
happened in other communities that have enacted laws prohibiting discrimination on the basis of 
gender identity.32 Businesses will no longer be able to protect the dignity and safety of their female 

Sept. 22, 20 10, available at http://www.foxnews.com/us/2010/09/22/panel-school-discriminated-transgender-th-grader­
letting-student-use-girls-room/ (last visited Jan. 3 1 ,  201 5). 
27 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08-20 1 O _Draft_ MHRC _Sexual_ Orientation_ Guidance.pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  2015)  ("[S]tudents must be permitted to participate in gender-segregated sports in accordance with their 
gender identity"). 
28 The Employment Non-Discrimination Act of 2007: Hearing on H R. 2015 Hearing Before the Subcomm. on Health, 
Employment, Labor and Pensions, H Comm. on Education and Labor, 1 lOth Cong. 3 8  (2007) (statement of Lawrence Z. 
Lorber, partner, Proskauer Rose, LLP, an attorney with more than 30 years of experience with labor and employment law), 
available at http://frwebgate.access.gpo.gov/cgi-bin/getdoc.cgi?dbname= 1 1  o _house -hearings&docid=f:3 763 7 .pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  2015)  (opposing a federal "gender identity" nondiscrimination law and noting that "[i]t is simply unclear 
how a reasonable dress code can coexist with the . . .  indefinite classification of self-perceived gender identity"). 
29 Jepperson v. Harrah 's Operating Company, Inc. , 444 F.3d 1 104 (9th Cir. 2006) (en bane) (upholding a sex-specific 
dress code and grooming policy); Harper v. Blockbuster Entm 't Corp. , 139  F.3d 1385 (1 1 th Cir. I 998) (similar); Tavora v. 
New York Mercantile Exchange, I O I  F.3d 907 (2d Cir. I 996) (similar); Carroll v. Talman Federal Savings & Loan Assoc. , 
604 F.2d 1 028 (7th Cir. 1980) (similar); Willingham v. Macon Telegraph Publ'g Co. , 507 F.2d 1084 (5th Cir. 1975) 
(similar); Dodge v. Giant Food, Inc. , 488 F .2d 1333 (D.C. Cir. I 973) (similar); Baker v. California Land Title Co. , 507 
F .2d 895 (9th Cir. I 974) (similar); Knott v. Missouri Pacific Ry. Co. , 527 F.2d 1249 (8th Cir. I 975) (similar); Barker v. 
Taft Broad Co. , 549 F.2d 400 (6th Cir. I 977) (similar); Earwood v. Continental Southeastern Lines, Inc. , 539 F.2d I 349 
(4th Cir. 1 976) (similar). 
30 Maine Human Rights Commission, Sexual Orientation in Schools and Colleges: Know Your Rights and Responsibilities, 
available at http://www.foxnews.com/projects/pdf/2-08-20I O _Draft_ MHRC _Sexual_ Orientation_ Guidance.pdf (last 
visited Jan. 3 1 ,  201 5) ("[S]tudents must be permitted to dress in accordance with their gender identity"). 
31 National Gay and Lesbian Task Force Policy Institute & National Coalition for the Homeless, Transitioning Our 
Shelters: A Guide to Making Homeless Shelters Safe for Transgender People 3 1 -33, 37-3 8 (2003), available at 
http://www.thetaskforce.org/downloads/reports/reports/TransitioningOurShelters.pdf (last visited Jan. 3 I, 20 15)  (noting 
that "[a] men's shelter is [not] . . .  appropriate for a [biological male who professes a female identity]"). 
32 See, e.g. , Robert J. Lopez, Man wore dress, wig to videotape women in bathroom, deputies say, Los Angeles Times, May 
I 4, 2013 ,  available at http://articles.latimes.com/20 I 3/may/I 4/local/la-me-ln-man-videotape-women-in-restroom-
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patrons by preventing these predators from entering the women' s  facilities. Instead, they will have to 
allow all biological males who assert that they identify as female access to rooms previously reserved 
for biological females. This j eopardizes the safety and privacy of women, teens, and young girls 
because it disregards the rights, interests, and dignity of the unsuspecting citizens who are exposed to 
the individuals that profess a sex contrary to their biological reality. 

If SB 2279 is enacted, businesses, schools, and other public accommodations will be given the 
untenable choice of complying with the law or seeking to protect the safety, dignity, and privacy of 
their patrons. They will not be able to do both. Thi m, s places these organizations in a no-win 
situation. 

Conclusion 

SB 2279 presents many constitutional and statutory concerns. The experiences of other 
jurisdictions demonstrate the legal challenges associated with such laws. If enacted in North Dakota, 
it will likely have many adverse consequences, including trampling every North Dakotan' s  
fundamental freedoms. 

201 305 14 (last visited Jan. 3 1 , 2015); Sam Pazzano, Predator who claimed to be transgender declared dangerous offender, 
Toronto Sun, February 26, 2014, available at http://www.torontosun.com/2014/02/26/predator-who-claimed-to-be­
transgender-declared-dangerous-offender (Jan. 3 1 ,  201 5) .  
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Testimony to the House Human Services Committee 

By Clint Fleckenstein 

on 

Senate Bill 2279 

March 23rd, 2015 

Mr. Chairman and members of the Committee: 

I am Clint Fleckenstein. I represent myself as a North Dakota citizen, a Christian, and photographer I 
videographer. I'm testifying in opposition to SB2279 for one simple reason: it has no protection for North 

Dakota citizens who are persons of faith. 

Proponents of this bill are presenting it as a means of defending themselves against an implied sinister 

behemoth who's  rampantly discriminating against people who choose a certain sexual behavior. They claim it's 

about employment opportunities or housing, but this legislation's greatest impact isn't related to those things at 

all .  

Legislation worded exactly like SB2279 has an extensive and well-documented track record wherever it 

becomes law. It' s  used to force persons of faith (typically Christian, although it would apply to Muslims or 

other faiths) to cede their First Amendment rights to the free exercise of their religious faith as well as their 

freedom of association. 

Here 's  how it typically works: a person or persons engage a small business person to perform a service related 
�-

... either the promotion of an alternate sexual lifestyle or services involving a homosexual "wedding" or other 

...,eremony. If the person declines to provide this "public accommodation" due to their faith or religious beliefs, 

they have run afoul of the law. Then the following happens: 

• The aggrieved persons entangle the small business in costly legal proceedings; 

• They engage their allies to provide resources for this legalized bullying; 

• They succeed in having them sent to "sensitivity training", presumably to "educate" them out of their 

faith; and/or 

• They sue them out of business, and are now beginning to succeed in suing for the personal assets of the 

individual as well. 

It' s  important to note that these targeted people are not declining to do business with the sexually disoriented; 

rather, they're simply declining to engage in certain behaviors or attend certain ceremonies. When a 

photographer, florist, or baker takes a wedding job, he or she becomes a participant in that ceremony. If they 

choose not to participate in a same-sex ceremony, they face the wrath of the sexual activists. 

Article I, Section 6 of the North Dakota state constitution declares: 

"Neither slavery nor involuntary servitude, unless for the punishment of crime, shall ever be tolerated 

in this state." (emphasis is mine.) 

;cing a North Dakota citizen to participate in activity which conflicts with their faith or religion, which are 

protected by the United States and North Dakota constitutions, amounts to involuntary servitude. 



How do the sexual activists plan to use this legislation? They have advocacy groups, public relations firms, 
legal foundations, financial resources, "human rights" commissions, and the ACLU pushing their agenda and · 
ready to punish individual North Dakota citizens for disagreeing with them. The average North Dakota citizen 
doesn't have the resources to defend themselves against such an army in courtrooms or commissions which< 
often sympathetic to their agenda. That is why proponents of SB2279 need you to give them this tool: to takt--' 
us to their territory. 

You may notice that this legislation narrowly passed the Senate despite a Do Not Pass recommendation from 
the Judiciary Committee. If I had to surmise why this happened, I'd point out the following: the body of the 
Senate heard none of what I just told you. They heard that the proponents of the bill couldn't provide any 
evidence of actual discrimination, but they have not heard the whole truth about what North Dakota citizens will 
face in the wake of this bill should it become law. 

• The Senate wasn't told about Jack Phillips, a baker who was forced by these activists to undergo 
"sensitivity training" and file quarterly compliance reports with the state of Colorado for himself and his 
employees. 

• The Senate wasn't told about great-grandmother Arlene Stutzman, a florist who is being forced to close 
her business and who faces losing her home and personal assets. She's in this position because she 
declined to participate in the homosexual "wedding" ceremony of a long-time customer. Arlene, by the 
way, employed workers who identified themselves as homosexual. 

• The Senate wasn't told about the school district in Orono, Maine which was caught between two 
options: face a $75,000 fine for not allowing a boy in the girls' bathroom because his "perceived gender 
identity" is that of a girl, or face traumatized students and infuriated parents. After a costly legal battlP 
they got the fine and were forced to accommodate the boy as well. 

'-----" 
• The Senate wasn't told of the teenage girls who spotted a man in their swimming pool locker room, 

seeing his male genitalia under his towel in the sauna, who were informed that the man could not be 
removed because he "identifies" as a woman. 

• The Senate wasn't told of the heterosexual man in Canada who used law like SB2279 to gain access to a 
women's facility due to his identifying as "transgender", where he committed multiple sex crimes 
against women residing there. 

Regardless of one's views on the alternate sexual behaviors listed in the bill, it should be clear that on a simply 
mechanical basis SB2279 is bad law. That's why its proponents have to talk in emotional terms such as "who 
you love", "equality", or "human rights" while labeling those who don't think like them as "haters" or 
"homophobes". I assure you, there's no "love" or "equality" in this bill, nor will there be in its aftermath if it 
becomes law. This bill must be voted upon based on its consequences, not emotion, buzzwords, or anecdotes. 

I urge you not only to recommend a Do Not Pass on SB2279, but also to present this information to the body of 
the House during floor debate before this activists' dream comes to a vote. 

Thank you for your time and consideration of my testimony. 

Clint Fleckenstein 
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Deep inside today's Supreme Court opinion in the long-awaited Hobby 

Lobby case that involves the conflict between religious freedom and 
Obamacare's contraception mandate is the caveat that religious freedom 
cannot be invoked as a shield behind which to engage in illegal 
discrimination. Which means that the decision, while a minor nick to 
Obamacare, provides little or no future guidance to the increasingly harsh 
clash of individual rights that is now rending the nation asunder. 

This' conflict can be seen especially in the case of Jack Phillips and his 
Masterpiece Cakeshop in Lakewood, Colorado, and its current disposition 
should be sobering to all friends of a free society, not to mention a genuinely 
tolerant one. The conflicts between religious liberty, freedom of association, 
and equality that have existed in a state of simmering ambiguity for more 
than a century may have finally reached a breaking point. 

In 2012 Phillips declined to make a custom wedding cake for a gay couple, 
Charlie Craig and David Mullins, because of his religious views against 
same-sex marriage, though, it should be noted, he did not refuse to provide 
any other baked goods for the couple's ceremony. Further, gay marriage was 
not yet legal in Colorado at that point. (Craig and Mullins were planning a 
Colorado celebration of their marriage in Massachusetts.) 

Craig and Mullins brought a discrimination complaint against Phillips with 
the Colorado Civil Rights Commission, and the ACLU and Colorado's 
attorney general piled on the bandwagon. An administrative law judge sided 
with Craig and Mullins against Phillips, and in late May the Colorado Civil 
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Rights Commission further ordered that Phillips and his employees be sent to 
re-education camp-make that "sensitivity training" -to make sure 
Masterpiece Cakeshop never violates gay rights again. 

This case appears to be another in a long line of contrived cases (there's fl 
very similar case unfolding in the same way in Oregon, along with the New 
Mexico case involving a photographer who refused to shoot a gay wedding 
ceremony), stretching back at least to Plessy v. Ferguson in 1897, intended to 
expand the reach of civil rights law. How did Craig and Mullins come to 
select this particular Colorado bakery for a wedding cake, and are there not 
other bakeries that would gladly supply them with a wedding cake? It is not 
as though the baking trade is a narrow, uncompetitive oligopoly or a 
government-sanctioned monopoly like public transportation. Why would 
you want to buy a cake (or any custom product) from someone who doesn't 
want to make it for you? I wonder how Craig and Phillips might fare if they'd 
requested a wedding cake from a Muslim-owned bakery, or whether the 
Colorado Civil Rights Commission would have required Muslims to attend 
"sensitivity training" re-education camps. Today's multicultural orthodoxy 
suggests the obvious answer. 

Beyond the facts of this particular legal case, or alternate market-oriented 
remedies such as an organized boycott of Masterpiece Bakeshop or rival 
gay-friendly bakeries who see a business opportunity, there is the 
fundamental clash of basic American liberties that we have papered over for a 
long time. On the one hand, the First Amendment guarantees religious 
liberty and freedom of association, the latter implying a right not to associate 
with someone if you don't wish to. Likewise, the idea of private property 
implies among its traits the right to exclude people or uses from your 
property. On the other hand, we have the 14th Amendment's mandate for the 
"equal protection of the law," along with the general principles of American 
politics about equality and equal individual rights. 

The legacy of slavery and race-based discrimination has led us to make 
compromises that limit the scope of some fundamental freedoms. The 
Supreme Court ruled way back during Reconstruction that property ceases to 
be wholly private when it is used in certain kinds of commerce, especially 
public conveyances such as transportation, hotels, and restaurants-though 
restaurants are still allowed to discriminate against the shirtless, the 
shoeless, and the smelly, showing that we haven't lost our ability to make any 
rational discriminations about "discrimination." 

http://www.forbes.com/sites/stevenhayward/2014/06/30/persecution-and-the-art-of-baking-or-how-civil-rights-became-corrupUprinU 
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The historical injustice of slavery and its successor, Jim Crow segregation 
under the Democratic Party, provides a powerful contingent rationale for 
blurring the pure straight lines of individual liberty, freedom of association, 
and robust property rights, though the fact that we have justified most of our 
modern civil rights laws as regulations of commerce under the Commerce 
Clause, rather than under a categorical moral condemnation of racial 
classification, should alert us to the defects and contradictions of our 
social-legal regime. The apotheosis of this halfway house of moral-political 
reasoning was the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Supreme Court cases that 
validated it as commercial regulation rather than a postulate of moral 
principle, though the legal language has always been tangled and confusing. 
The point is, we have been willing to tolerate some degree of government 
coercion of private behavior to remediate the original state-sanctioned 
coercion of slavery and its aftermath. But this tenuous compromise of 
principle has led to the gradual corruption of civil rights. 

Today "discrimination" has been steadily expanded by every other claimant 
or group with a grievance. Every possible social asymmetry is claimed to be a 
fundamental "civil rights" issue, requiring similar extensions of government 
coercion. A few simple hypotheticals show the irresolvable legal and political 
thicket we are creating. What if Mr. Phillips agreed to bake the cake for the 
gay couple, but insisted on including a statement, made out in frosting, about 
his religious objection to homosexuality? Wouldn't prohibiting him from 
doing so infringe his right to free expression? Would a Jewish or African­
American bake shop be required to supply a cake to a White supremacist 
group? Actually, a KKK chapter in Georgia won a complaint against a bakery 
last year. (Correction: This story appears to be an Onion-like hoax, though 
it was widely picked up and spread elsewhere by other news sites. Like all 
good satire, who doubts that it could come to pass?) 

Jack Phillips has responded to the state sanctions against his religious belief 
by deciding to discontinue making wedding cakes for any customer. Is this 
the kind of outcome Rosa Parks and Martin Luther King Jr. had in mind? 

This article is available online at: http://onforb.es/V2HtVu 2015 Forbes.com LLC™ All Rights Reserved 
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0THE DA I LYSIGNAL 
Great-Grandma Flo rist Cou ld  Lose Live l ihood 
for Saying No to Th is Wedd ing 
Kelsey H a rkness / December  28, 2014 

A florist in Washington state is bein g  sued for a d hering to her Christia n  beliefs in decli n ing to make 

flower a rra n gements for o n e  cou ple's wedd ing. 

Before the lawsuit, Ba rronelle Stutzman,  owner of Arlene's Flowers i n  R ichland,  Wash.,  had 

employed workers w h o  identify as homosexua l  and sold flo ra l a rran ge ments to gay a n d  lesbian 

customers. 

One such customer tu rned out to be one of the men who wou ld sue her  for n ot being wi l l ing to be 

h i red for thei r same-sex wed d i n g. 

U nl ike busi n esses that face s imi lar  lawsuits for refusing to p rovide specific wed d i ng- related 

services to gay and lesbian coup les o n  religious gro u nds-am on g  them bakers in O regon and 

farmers i n  New York-Stutz m a n  is being sued i n  both a p rofessio n a l  and personal  capacity. 

That means she cou ld lose everythi n g  she owns. 

Here's the Backstory 

Barronel le Stutzma n  is a great-gra nd m other who has been i n  the flora l i nd ustry for more than 40 
yea rs. 

When Washi ngton state lega lized sa m e-sex m a rriage in 2012, she d ecided that as a m atter of 

conscience she could n ot p a rticipate i n  o r  fu rther same-sex ceremonies by using her treative ski l ls 

i n  con nection with them. 

So when two men,  Robert I n ge rsol l  and Cu rt Freed, asked h e r  to design flower arra n gements for 

their wedding, Stutzman pol itely decl ined and referred them to other  vendors in the a rea.  I n gersoll 

had been a va lued customer, she s ays, so it was difficult. 

http://dailysignal.com/print/?post_id=1 70863 



The state's attorney gen era l said Stutzman's decision to sta nd by her C h ristia n  fa ith was i n  d i rect 

conflict with a state law ensuri n g  freedom from d iscri m i nation.  

The measure p rohib its p laces of p u bl ic  accommodation-which officials say i nclude Arlene's 

Flowers-from d iscri m in at ing o n  g ro unds of race, creed, sex u a l  orientation,  physical d isabi l ity a n d  

s o  forth. 

I n  April 2013, two months after Washington redefi ned m a rriage to i nclude same-sex cou ples, state 

Attorney General Bob Ferguson fi led a lawsuit agai nst Arlene's Flowers a nd its owner. (The change 

to state law s ubseq uently was cha llenged and didn't become official  u nti l Dec. 6.) 

At the t ime, the gay cou ple seeking the flower a rra ngements had not yet fi led a formal com plaint 

agai nst Stutzman's bus iness. 

Stutzman is represented by Kristen Waggoner, a lawyer at Al l iance Defending Freedom, a n  

orga n ization dedicated t o  defe n d i n g  religious l i berty. 

But a few days later, the American Civi l  Li berties Union of Washington fi led a civi l suit aga inst 

Stutzma n  on behalf of I ngersol l  a n d  Freed. 

,....--,,.., The su its, si nce consol i dated i nto Arlene's Flowers v. Ferguson, were fi led i n  Washington 's Bento n  

Cou nty Superfor Cou rt. 

1 
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(Photo: All iance Defe n d i ng Freedo m) 

Waggoner says it is u n p recedented for the Washington attorney genera l's office to sue a fam i ly 

busi ness owner i n  a perso n a l  capacity u n less that owner has com mitted acts of fra ud o r  

m isrepresentation.  

"They're trying to set a n  exa m ple of her and p u n ish her," says Waggoner, n oti ng the suit has the 

potential  to cri pple Stutz m a n 's l ivel i hood. "She's not wealthy, so com mo n  sense wou ld tel l  you 

that it's goi ng to h u rt p retty bad." 

http://d ailysignal.com/print/?post_id=1 70863 
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Ru l ing: Owner of Arlene's F lowers Can Be 
Per�ona l ly Liab le  
January 8 ,  20 1 5  I 39 Comments I by Joseph Backholm 

Yesterday, Benton County Superior Court Judge Alex Eckstrom ruled that Barronelle 

Stutzman, owner of Arlene's Flowers, can be held personally liable in lawsuits that 

resulted from Arlene's Flowers decision not to decorate for a same-sex ceremony. 

Attorney General Bob Ferguson filed the first lawsuit against the Richland grandmother 

but a second lawsuit was later filed by the ACLU on behalf of the customers. The lawsuits 

were brought not only against Arlene's Flowers but also against Barronelle Stutzman 

personally. 

Lawyers for Mrs. Stutzman had argued that it was inappropriate to sue her personally 

because it was a decision made in the operation of her business, but Judge Eckstrom 

dis:::greed. 

As a result of this decision, the government can go after both the business assets of 

Arlene's Flowers and personal assets of Barronelle Stutzman to collect attorney's fees 

should their lawsuits prevail .  

Responding to the ruling, Kristen Waggoner, an Alliance Defending Freedom Attorney for 

Barronelle Stutzman and Arlene's Flowers said, " In America, the government is supposed 

to protect freedom, not intimidate citizens into speaking and acting contrary to their faith 

under threat of severe punishment. The government is sending a clear message to 

Barronelle and the people of Washington: dare to d isagree with the government, and you 

put your home, your family business, and your life savings at risk." 

Judge Eckstrom is expected to rule on a summary judgment motion in the next week. 

Trial is currently scheduled for March 23rd. 

The narrow question of personal liability in a specific lawsuit is not itself a conspiracy 

against conscience rights and religious freedom. 

However, there is l ittle doubt that the government's ability to go after the personal assets 

of business owners who prefer not to be part of certain events will continue to chill the free 

http://www.fpiw.org/blog/201 5/01 /08/ru Ii n g-owner-arlenes-flowe rs-can-personally-liable/ 



exercise of religion that until recently was celebrated and protected in America. 

Whatever the outcome of this specific case, the real solution is a state legislature that respects a 

marketplace of ideas that makes room for people of different backgrounds, faiths, and 

perspectives. 

But the legislature won't act unless the public insists on it. 

If you are concerned that the government is suing grandmothers because of their beliefs about 

marriage and sexuality, please contact your state legislators and ask them to support protections 

for conscience rights and religious freedom. Then encourage your friends and family to do the 

same. 

Every American is guaranteed the freedom to live and work faithfully. 

The Washington State Attorney General is working hard to change that. 

Don't let him win. 

Tags: Alliance Defending Freedom, Arlene's Flowers, conscience 
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D I STRICT O RD E R E D  TO PAY 
TRAN SG E N D E R STU D E NT 
$75K 
ORONO, Maine (AP) -- A Maine court has awarded the family 

of a transgender girl $75,000 in a settlement of her 

discrimination lawsuit against a school district where 

administrators made her use a staff, not student, bathroom. 

Nicole Maines won her lawsuit against the Orono school district 

in January before the Maine Supreme Judicial Court, which 

ruled that the school district violated the Maine Human Rights z 
Act. It was the first time a state high court in the U.S. concluded 

AP Photo/Robert F. Bukaty 

that a transgender person should use the bathroom of the gender with which they identify. 

A lower court awarded her the financial settlement last week. It will go to the Maines 

family, the Boston-based Gay & Lesbian Advocates & Defenders, and Berman Simmons, a 

Portland law firm that represented Maines, said GLAD spokeswoman Carisa Cunningham. 

The Penobscot County Superior order, dated Nov. 25, represents the conclusion of the court 

case that began in 2009 when the Maines family and the Maine Human Rights Commission 

sued the school district. The order prohibits the district from "refusing access by transgender 

students to school restrooms that are consistent with their gender identity." 

School administrators across the country are grappling with the issue. 

Nicole, now 17, is a biological male who identified as a girl beginning at age 2. 

Nicole was using the girls' bathroom in her elementary school until the grandfather of a 

fifth-grade boy complained to administrators. The Orono school district determined that she 

should use a staff bathroom, but her parents said that amounted to discrimination. 

l l 
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EVERGREEN STATE COLLEGE POLICE SERVICES 

2700 EVERGREEN PKWY NW OLYMPIA, WA 98505 
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Case Nwnbcr: 

CONTACT # 3 (WITNESS) 

CONTACT # 4 (WITNESS) 

Incident Narrati\·e 
On Thursday, September 27th at 1 1  :50 am I was contacted in person by who is •••• 

••••here at the Evergreen State College and mother o� . who is a 17 year old student in the swim 
club at Capital High School She reported her daughter was u�ecause she observed a. person at the 
women's locker room naked and displaying male genitalia. - felt her daughter shouldn't have been victim to 

CHIEF ED SORGER 9/28/2012 at 10:03:45 

Printed At: 1 0/121201 2  10:58:50AM 

CHIEF ED SORGER 

9/28/2012 

Report Exec c(2012) 
---



this type of situation and wanted something done about it. I advised her I would be following up on her 

_, -. complaint and asked her to have her daughter forward a statement in reference to what she observed. 

NOTE: The day ptior on Wednesday, September 26th at 1712  hours, Officers Brewster and Koppenhaver 

responded to the Campus Recreation Center (CRC) on a report of a man in the women's locker room. The 

person who called Police Services was a Joshua Trotte1· (coach with the Evergreen Swim Club - not affiliated 

with Evergreen College.) When the officers arrived they were advised the individual in question was 

trans-gender and the CRC was handling the situation and misunderstanding. Apparently Colleen Francis's 

(trans-gender person) friend Lacy Malloy had a conversation with someone at the CRC and was upset with 

Colleen's identity being questioned. It's unknown at the time of this report who the conversation was with. 

Tiffany W1ight who is a swim coach for Evergreen Swim Club (no affiliation to Evergreen College), called me 

on Friday, September 28th to advise she was the one who confronted Colleen in th.e sauna. Because while she 

was at the pool, a female high school swim student came up to her and stated there was a man in the sam1a. The 

lifeguard (Justin) requested Tiffany to go to the sauna and check it out and she did at which time she observed 

Colleen sitting with her legs open with her male genitalia showing and Tiffany said to her, "you need to leave." 

Tiffany then went to the front desk and asked the person there to call police. She subsequently forwarded an 

email statement to me, which is attached to this report. In this email she states she apologized to Colleen for for 

questioning her but she also explained there were girls 6 to 1 8  years of age and they were not use to seeing 

individuals in situations like this. 

I contacted Joe Wheeler at the Thurston County Prosecutor's Office and advised him of the situation and asked 

him if we-had enot1gh iufonnation for a possible indecent exposure or any other charges based on the complaint 

from the and he advised he would get back to me shortly. I then received a call back and Joe 

ldvised he met with other colleagues to confer and he stated the criminal law is very vague in this area and it 

would be unlikely they could pursue charges. I then advised of this infonnation and also 

explained to her the college is taking this seriously and looking into some avenues to minimize this type of thing 

from occurring in the future. 

CHIEF ED SOR.GER. 9/28/2012 at 10:03:45 CHIEF ED SORGER 

9/28/2012 

Printed At: 10/12/201 2  10:58:50AM p e Report Exec c(2012) 
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Sexual predator jai led after claiming 
to be 'transgender' in order to assau lt 
women in shelter 
Peter Baklinski 

TORONTO, March 4, 2014 (LifeSiteNews.com) - A  biological man claiming to be 'transgender' so as 

to gain access to and prey on women at two Toronto shelters was jailed "indefinitely" last week after 

being declared by a judge a "dangerous offender." 

Pro-family leaders are pointing out that this is exactly the type of incident they warned of as the 

Ontario government passed its "gender identity" bill, dubbed the "bathroom bill," in 2012. 

Christopher Ham brook, 37, leaned on the ever expanding legal "rights" offered to people who 

"identify" with the sex opposite their biology. Under the name "Jessica,'' he was able to get into the 

women's shelters, where he sexually assaulted several women in 2012, the Toronto Sun reports. 

Court heard how one woman awoke to find Hambrook assaulting her on her bed. "Her tights had been 

pulled down past her bottom and her bathing suit had been pulled to the side,'' court documents 

reveal. "She yelled at the accused, demanding to know what he was doing. He simply covered his face 

with his hands, said 'Oops ! '  and started giggling. "  

Court also heard evidence of Ham brook terrorizing a deaf woman living i n  the shelter. "The accused 

grabbed the complainant's hand and forcibly placed it on his crotch area while his penis was erect," 

court heard. 

The same deaf women reported that Ham brook would peer at her through a gap between the door 

and its frame while she showered. 

Justice John McMahon imposed the "indefinite" prison sentence due to Hambrook's long history of 

committing sex crimes. 

Hambrook was a former stripper and escort from Quebec before moving to Toronto in 2009 and 

posing as a woman. While in Montreal he served four years in jail for a 2002 sexual assault of a 

five-year-old girl who was a family friend and for raping a mentally challenged 27-year-old woman 

while on bail for the first crime, reports the Toronto Sun. 

The prosecution successfully convinced the judge that Hambrook's out-of-control sexual urges put the 

public at great risk and that an indefinite jail sentence_ was the only way to protect the public. 

\� 
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"I am satisfied there is no reasonable expectation that a lesser measure would adequately protect the 

public from Christopher Hambrook," said Judge McMahon. 

Ontario amended its Human Rights Code to make "gender identity" and "gender expression" 

prohibited grounds for discrimination in 2012. The bill's sponsors said at the time that the so-called 

"Toby's Law" would open the door to "social change" in Canada. 

Click "like" if you want to defend true marriage. 
Family advocates argued at the time that the NDP sponsored bill would create a legal right for a man 

who calls himself 'trans gender' to use rooms and facilities intended for women so as to exploit 

women. 

The bill was subsequently dubbed the "bathroom bill" by its critics. Allowing a man who calls himself 

'transgender' t<? enter a woman's area has already proved problematic in the United States. 

In 2012 a college in Washington state decided it would not prevent a 45-year-old man who presents 

himself as a transgender "female" from lounging naked in a women's locker room in an area 

frequented by girls as young as six. Teenage girls on a high school swim team were using the facilities 

when they saw "Colleen" Francis deliberately exposing male genitalia through the glass window in a 

sauna. Police told one outraged mother that the university could not bar the biological male from the 

premises. 

Brian Rushfeldt, president of Canada Family Action, told LifeSiteNews that Hambrook's method of 

gaining legal entrance into the woman's shelters proves gender identity legislation is inherently 

flawed. 

"The Ontario law is dangerous. It is unacceptable that any country would allow a law which puts 

citizens at risk. It proves the law was ill planned and executed, and the government should be held 

legally responsible for these crimes."  

Jack Fonseca of Campaign Life Coalition told LifeSiteNews that it "didn't take a brain surgeon to 

predict that letting men into women's bathrooms and other private spaces would eventually lead to 

sexual assaults." 

"I wish we didn't have to say 'I told you so,'  but Ontario's party leaders and MPPs were warned that 

the transsexual 'Bathroom Bill' endangered women and needed to be defeated." 

"Of course this lunatic law could only make it easier for rapists and peeping toms to prey on female 

victims while masquerading as 'transgendered."' 

Fonseca called for a repeal of the law . 

. --- "If this dangero1�s law is not repealed, we will only see a rise in male predators attacking women in 

spaces where they deserve the right to privacy like bathrooms, change rooms and women's shelters." 
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Fonseca took aim at Progressive Conservative leader Tim Hudak for supporting the bill, saying that he 

should take "personal responsibility for the attempted rape of those poor women in the shelters. "  

"Hudak cannot escape blame: He supported this nonsensical law." 

QMI Agency's Christina Blizzard wrote in an opinion piece last week that women have a "right to 

protection." 

"This is a bad law that allows heterosexual predators access to women in their most personal 

moments. Extra care should be taken to protect at-risk women in vulnerable situations, such as 

homeless shelters." 

Ezra Levant said that the gender identity law in Ontario has made the province become a "magnet for 

rapists." 

"Instead of women being protected in Ontario, instead of the law protecting women, the law serves up 

women to a rapist named 'Jessica,"' he said on his show The Source. 

A federal version of the "gender identity" bill currently sits in the Senate after failing to pass its third 

and final reading in August after the Conservatives shut down Parliament for a summer break. 

Fonseca said that the federal legislation puts Canadian women at risk. 

"We urge all concerned Canadians to phone, email and write Canada's Senators pointing out that the 

Ontario version of this law allowed Mr. Ham brook to sexually assault two women, and to ensure that 

Senators do not make the mistake of granting legal cover to would-be rapists at the federal level." 

"Tell the Senators to vote NO to Bill C-279 when it comes up again." 

Contact Canada's senators here. 

https://www. l ifesitenews.com/news/sexual-predator-jailed-after-claiming-to-be-transgender-in-order-to-assault 



Testimony from Alison Grotberg 
RE: SB 2279 
3/23/1 5 
House H uman Services Committee 

Chairman Weisz and committee members, 

Should the Law Protect Human Conscience or Punish It? 

:Jr JO 

It has been said that this bil l ,  SB 2279 is only about discrimination in housing and employment 
and that it has nothing to do with religion. The truth is this bil l  asks you as legislators to make 
a law that violates the free exercise of orthodox Christianity (and other religions). By 

"orthodox," I mean the original,  historical teachings of the Christian chu rch consistent with 
biblical revelation and the creeds carried on for centuries by both the Catholic and Protestant 
expressions of Christianity. 

The First Amendment in the U.S. Constitution says: "Congress s hall  make no law respecting 

an establish ment of religion, or prohibiting the free exercise thereof." 

Orthodox Christians believe that God, as the Creator of al l  things, makes certain claims 
on their lives. They seek to faithfully align their decisions and actions according to the 
revelation of God from the Bible and church teaching. If Bob, an orthodox Christian ,  is 
asked to make a t-shirt for a strip club and one to promote gay pride, both situations create a 
moral dilemma. One is asking Bob to promote the exploitation of women by inspiring lust 

,,..--.. through the objectification of the female body, and the other asks Bob to promote pride in a 
lifestyle that experiences human sexuality in a way that goes against God's design for sexuality 
as laid out in the Bible and taug ht in orthodox Christian churches. Because of this, Bob sends 
both customers to another t-shirt shop for the same reason. It is not because of who they are 
as individuals; it is because of the message they seek to promote. I n  other words, if these 
same customers came in wanting to promote their cheese-making business or lawn care 
company, Bob would have no problem. 

Orthodox Christians don't desire to inflict pain on anybody. They are saved from their sin 
by God's grace through Jesus and they feel compassion for those who are hurting. This bill is 
problematic for them ,  however, because it forces them to do things that violate their 
conscience and the religious protections in this bil l  are so narrow as to be meaningless 
in application to the individual believer. When Christians object they are called haters, 
bigots, homophobes. Their fidelity to God is labeled "discrimination." Just because orthodox 
Christians don't want their beliefs silenced doesn't mean they are haters , bigots, homophobes. 
Has anyone considered that their love for their fel low human beings just looks different 
than the way somebody else wants them to express it? 

Does that sound familiar? 

Discriminating against one group in pursuit of relieving discrimination for another group 
is completely devoid of wisdom and will only create societal discord as it has in other 
states. That is why this bil l  is the wrong tool for North Dakota. This bil l  demands that the 
state g row in sympathy and advocacy for those who have gender identity and sexual 
orientation concerns, while at the same time stripping tens of thousands of people of 
their constitutional right to follow their conscience under God without legal 



repercussion. This lack of toleration for others is exactly what proponents say they want to 
erase in the name of equality. It is their refusal to acknowledge the very real burden and pain 
they are placing on orthodox Christians (and other people of faith) that makes their plea for 
"equality" so disingenuous. Legislators, please ask yourself, does this bill increase toleration for 
all or does it just tip the balance in the opposite direction? 

There is much social science data on the value, stability, and well-being religious people bring to 
society. Does the state of North Dakota really want to punish them for following the tenets of 
their faith? With this bil l ,  you will be forcing orthodox Christians to make a choice: 

• Accept revelation from God, act accordingly, face being fined, jailed, and/or go out of 

business - in other words, punished for one's conscience under God. 
• OR accept the dictates other human beings make to harness conscience, suppress 

belief, and through the force of law s uffer under the weight of a compromised heart. 

Chairman Weisz and committee members, I am asking you to see that both of these options 
create consequences for the tens of thousands of orthodox Christians in the state of 
North Dakota that are utterly u nacceptable in a free country. 

Thomas Jefferson agrees. In a letter to the Society of the Methodist Episcopal Church he 
asserts that "[n]o provision in our Constitution ought to be dearer to man than that which 
protects the rights of conscience against the enterprises of the civil authority." He says it 
best, informed by an age when conscience rights were very new, unique in the history of 
humankind, and hard-won.  Let's not forget our unparalleled heritage in the exercise of freedom 

----- of conscience. 

Chairman and committee members, should the law protect human conscience or punish it? 

Give SB 2279 a 'do not pass' recommendation and please vote against it on the floor, 
educating and encouraging your colleagues to do the same. Protect freedom of 
conscience in North Dakota. 

Thank you for you r  time and consideration of my concerns. 



Represenring rhe Diocese of Fargo 
and rhe Dioce.ff of Bismarck 

Christopher T. Dodson 

Executive Director and 

General Counsel 

To: House Human Services Committee 
From: Christopher T. Dodson , Executive Director 
Subject: Senate Bill 2279 
Date: March 23 , 20 1 5  

if J l 

The Catholic Church affirms the God-given dignity of every human life and 

rejects unjust discrimination. Acts of violence, degradation, or diminishment 

toward any human person, including anyone with a homosexual inclination, are 

contrary to the teachings of the Catholic Church. There is no place for arbitrary 

discrimination and prej udice against a person because of the person's sexual 

attraction. Moreover, all human persons, including those with homosexual 

inclinations, have a right to obtain employment and housing. 

But this legislation is not about how we feel about discrimination based on sexual 

orientation. It is not about whether a nondiscrimination policy is good for 

business. It is not about whether we should be like other states. It is about this 
bill.  

This bill  gives individuals a right to sue - and some would say harass - based on a 

set of undefined or poorly defined phrases. Moreover, the only thing clear about 

the definitions is that, u:J.l ike race, sex, and age, they encompass chosen activities, 

including sexual activi ties outside of marriage. Civil rights categories should not 

be used to cover a particular group's sexual activities. Current law already 

protects lawful activities outside the place of employment. This bi ll, however, 

would c reate special protections for a certain class of activities - not persons. 1 

This bill i s  also replete with infringements upon conscience, religious liberty, and 

the right to engage in commerce and social service without sacrificing sincerely­

held beliefs. The bill  has a religious "exemption," but that exemption actually 

provides less protection than federal law. More troubling, the bill's exemptions 

do not exempt religious entities or anyone from the bill's sexual orientation 
provisions. 

We realize this is  an emotionally-charged issue. However, respect and 

cooperation, among people with legitimate differences of opinion is what makes 

North D akota great. There is no place for hate, name-calling, or stereotyping by 

people on either side of this issue or this particular bill. Keeping those principles 

in mind we urge this committee to carefully review what this bill actually does 

and give it a Do Not Pass recommendation. 

__ __, ___ _ 

1 Here l i es the fundamental error of any "sexual orientation" legislation. Unl ike something 
l ike race or sex that does require overt behavior, the sexual orientation of an individual is 
not known unless the individual publ icly expresses his or her sexual orientation with 
overt speech or actions. 
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GRAND FORKS -- Under current North Dakota law, it is completely legal to fire or evict a 
fellow North Dakotan based on the fact that he or she is gay or transgender. To me, as the co­
owner of a business, an active member of my community and a husband and father, that lack of 
common-sense protection under the law is simply wrong. And passing SB 2279 in the North 
Dakota Legislature would correct it. 

My business partners and I have worked hard to create a safe, fair and inclusive employment 
environment for our team. But we are charged with more than that objective. It is our duty to 
create the best business climate for our communities and for our state that we possibly can. 

And our current law is not conducive to being our best or to attracting and retaining talent in our 
state. 

Our current law does not send the message of inclusiveness for all, that all people are welcome to 
live and work here and that fairness is one of the principles that we hold dear. 

In contrast, passing SB 2279 would prove to our citizens that we value them all equally, and it 
would show to people who are looking to move to North Dakota that they can do so without 
reservation. 

As a result, a "yes" vote for SB 2279 is a vote that will continue to strengthen our business 
climate and our economy across the state. 

I've had the chance to be a part of a number of community-building efforts in Grand Forks, 
Bismarck and Fargo over the past few years. One thing that I've learned is certain: It's up to us to 
build and create the communities in which that we want to live. 

In working closely with many individuals and organizations, I've learned that the strength of a 
community often is parallel to its ability to be fair and inclusive. Passing SB 2279 is critical 
because it shows our LGBTQ friends that they are valued as a member of community just as 
much as anyone else. 

Building on and improving policies that support fairness, safety and inclusion let us work 
together to create the very best North Dakota that we can. 

A yes vote on SB 2279 is a vote that strengthens our communities. 

Last but not least, I'm a husband, and I'm also a father to two young daughters, with another baby 
girl on the way. Author H. Jackson Brown, Jr. once said, "Live so that when your children think 
of fairness, caring and integrity, they think of you." 

I fully understand that my daughters will (more than likely) not think of me as cool, hip, funny or 
a host of other positive adjectives as we navigate the parent/child relationship over the next few 
years. But I do hope that someday, they'll look at me and think of their dad as someone who was 
honest, caring and fair. 

I 



By treating our LGBTQ friends under the law as we are treated, we give our children a better 
chance of succeeding in anything they choose to do. A yes vote for SB 2279 is a vote that sets an 
example and strengthens our future, our children's future and our grandchildren's future. 

I support the passage of SB 2279, and I encourage Herald readers to do the same. 



House H u m a n  Services Com m ittee 

Representative Robin Weisz, Cha ir  

600 East Bou levard Avenue 

Bismarck, ND 58505-0360 

M em bers of the House H u m a n  Services Com m ittee, 

As you r  resident of North Da kota, I appreciate a l l  you do to ensure North Da kota is a leader and 

a great state to l ive in,  work, a n d  ra ise fa mi l ies.  I am writing tod ay to u rge you to vote yes on 

SB2279. 

SB2279 would amend the North Da kota Human Rights Act and the North Da kota Fa ir  Housing 

Act to provid e  the same protections from d iscrimi nation for al l  N o rth Dakota ns.  Th is is  

i m portant so that no N o rth Dakotan has to l ive i n  fea r  of being fired from a job or kicked out of 

an apartment based on their  sexua l  o rientation . 

Businesses, job seekers and their  fam i l ies look for strong and supportive com m u n ities where 

they can th rive and ca l l  home.  Cu rrently, 2 1  other states i n  the cou ntry provid e  protections and 

i t  is  t ime for North Da kota to do the same.  Our lesbian, gay, b isexual  and tra nsgender fami ly 

members, friend, ne igh bors, co-workers and fe l low congregants shou l d n 't l ive i n  fea r  of losing 

their job o r  their home based on who they a re or who they love. 

A recent poll cond u cted by DFM Research reported that 59% of North Dakota res idents over 

the age of 18 support SB2279 to pro h ibit d iscrimination based on sexu a l  orientatio n .  

I u rge you t o  fol low t h e  d i rection o f  t h e  majority o f  North Dakotans i n  su pporting SB2279. As 

you r  constituent, I a p p reciate a l l  you do to ensure North Dakota ns contin ues to be a leader and 

a great state for a l l  fam i l ies. Vote yes on SB2279. 

S incerely, 

Lisa Kronoviek 

16 2nd Ave N E  

Bowm an,  N D  50623 



PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE B I LL No. 2279 

Page 8,  remove l ines 1 0  through 3 1  

Page 9,  remove l ines 1 through 3 

j:F-1 



Page 1 Line 2: Delete "14-02.4-14" 

Page 1 Line 2: Delete "14-02.4-15" 

SB 2279 Amendments 

Page 3 Line 22: Delete "actual or perceived" 

Page 4 Line 29: Delete "actual or perceived" 

Remove Sections 9 and 10 of the Bill 

-Page 8: Lines 10-31 

-Page 9: Lines 1-3 

Renumber Accordingly 
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Prepared by the Legislative Council staff for 
Representative Boschee 

March 20, 2015 

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO SENATE BILL NO. 2279 

Page 2, line 13, after "disability" insert", sexual orientation" 

Page 6, line 3, remove "or who adhere to the religion's tenets unless" 

Page 6, line 4, remove "membership is restricted because of race, color, or national origin" 

Page 6, line 7, remove "or who adhere to the religion's tenets" 

Page 11 , line 18, after "origin" insert", sexual orientation" 

Renumber accordingly 

Page No. 1 15.0742.01005 


